Topics in Safety, Risk, Reliability and Quality

Ehsan Goodarzi Mina Ziaei Edward Zia Hosseinipour

Introduction to Optimization Analysis in Hydrosystem Engineering



Topics in Safety, Risk, Reliability and Quality

Volume 25

Series editor

Adrian V. Gheorghe, Old Dominion University, Norfolk, VA, USA

Editorial Advisory Board

P. Sander, Technical University of Eindhoven, Eindhoven, The Netherlands

D. C. Barrie, Lakehead University, Thunder Bay ON, Canada

R. Leitch, Royal Military College of Science (Cranfield), Shrivenham, UK

For further volumes: http://www.springer.com/series/6653 Ehsan Goodarzi · Mina Ziaei Edward Zia Hosseinipour

Introduction to Optimization Analysis in Hydrosystem Engineering



Ehsan Goodarzi School of Civil and Environmental Engineering Georgia Institute of Technology Atlanta, GA USA

Mina Ziaei Department of Civil and Environmental Engineering Georgia Institute of Technology Atlanta, GA USA Edward Zia Hosseinipour Ventura County Watershed Protection District Ventura, CA USA

ISSN 1566-0443 ISSN 2215-0285 (electronic) ISBN 978-3-319-04399-9 ISBN 978-3-319-04400-2 (eBook) DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-04400-2 Springer Cham Heidelberg New York Dordrecht London

Library of Congress Control Number: 2014930225

© Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2014

This work is subject to copyright. All rights are reserved by the Publisher, whether the whole or part of the material is concerned, specifically the rights of translation, reprinting, reuse of illustrations, recitation, broadcasting, reproduction on microfilms or in any other physical way, and transmission or information storage and retrieval, electronic adaptation, computer software, or by similar or dissimilar methodology now known or hereafter developed. Exempted from this legal reservation are brief excerpts in connection with reviews or scholarly analysis or material supplied specifically for the purpose of being entered and executed on a computer system, for exclusive use by the purchaser of the work. Duplication of this publication or parts thereof is permitted only under the provisions of the Copyright Law of the Publisher's location, in its current version, and permission for use must always be obtained from Springer. Permissions for use may be obtained through RightsLink at the Copyright Clearance Center. Violations are liable to prosecution under the respective Copyright Law. The use of general descriptive names, registered names, trademarks, service marks, etc. in this publication does not imply, even in the absence of a specific statement, that such names are exempt from the relevant protective laws and regulations and therefore free for general use.

While the advice and information in this book are believed to be true and accurate at the date of publication, neither the authors nor the editors nor the publisher can accept any legal responsibility for any errors or omissions that may be made. The publisher makes no warranty, express or implied, with respect to the material contained herein.

Printed on acid-free paper

Springer is part of Springer Science+Business Media (www.springer.com)

To my lovely wife, Mina

Preface

Population increase and socioeconomic rise of developing countries in many parts of the world has escalated the water demand for various uses including agriculture, municipal, recreational, and industrial demands. The increased demands in the past few decades have put severe stresses on the available water resources across the world particularly in arid and semi-arid regions. Hence, optimal management of water resources is a crucial issue and it is imperative to adopt realistic policies to ensure that water is used more efficiently in various sectors. In this book, we present the latest tools and methods to assist the students, researchers, engineers, and water managers to properly conceptualize and formulate the resource allocation problems, and deal appropriately with the complexity of constraints in water demand and available supplies. Although existing references supply total information relevant to the optimization analysis in water resources engineering, providing a book for undergraduate and graduate students and newcomers to this field is a requirement. In other words, what is needed is to present concepts more simply on the basics of optimization theories, get directly to the principal points, and apply simple examples in preparation for the use of more advanced texts.

In this book, the basics of linear and nonlinear optimization analysis for both single and multiobjective problems in conjunction with several examples with various levels of complexity in different fields of water resources engineering are presented. The main advantages of the current book rather than existing publications briefly are:

- 1. The authors' idea is to use simple examples and solve them step by step as the best way to introduce the materials in the book, and also to provide useful information to better understand the implementation of theoretical concepts. Hence, each chapter of the book contains some examples related to the basic principles of linear and nonlinear optimization analysis for both single and multiobjective problems (Chaps. 2–4).
- 2. As EXCEL, LINGO, and MATLAB are three of the well-known computer programs used today in optimization analysis, the process of solving optimization problems using those programs are presented in details as an alternative. This characteristic teaches the application of the noted computer programs in optimization analysis and makes analyzing, organizing, interpreting, and presenting results quick and easy (Chap. 5).

- 3. Real case studies are important resources for students to apply theoretical formulas, and computer programs to analyze real events. Hence, three real case studies as a valuable source for students, practitioners, and researchers are presented in the last chapters of book to show how the optimization concepts and theoretical formulas are used in analyzing real world problems (Chaps. 6–8). The case studies in brief are;
 - Reservoir Optimization and Simulation Modeling,
 - Reservoir Operation Management by Optimization and Stochastic Simulation, and
 - Water supply optimization in central Florida (simulation-optimization using integrated surface and groundwater modeling to allocate groundwater pumping that is protective of the natural ecosystem while meeting water supply demands of over two million people using a mix of surface water, groundwater, and desalinated water).
- 4. Finally, complete lists of most optimization studies on hydrosystem engineering (1963–2013) are presented in the Appendix of the book in table format. These tables include authors' names, dates of study, and a brief description of their work. With the help of these tables, readers can easily find all previous studies related to hydrosystem optimization analyses that may of particular interest to them.

To sum up, the main purpose of this book is to serve as a guide for conducting and incorporating optimization analyses in water resource planning processes. This book's main theme is to improve the understanding of the quantity and quality of information we have, and the importance of information we do not have, for the take only out purpose of improving decision making. The principal audiences of this book are undergraduate and graduate students of water engineering and all new researchers who are interested in academic research associate with optimization analysis as well as practitioners in the field of water resources management. Furthermore, this book can be used as reference for teaching in various fields of water engineering including: hydrology, hydraulic, water resources analysis, water quality analysis, etc. This book is also a useful reference for practicing engineers/ professionals as well as students and individual researchers. They can apply optimization analysis as a useful tool to make best informed decisions when designing for unaccounted loads.

Acknowledgments

I would like to gratefully and sincerely thank Dr. AliReza Aghasi for his help, guidance, and expertise on this book. The authors also want to acknowledge Dr. Zia Hosseinipour not only for his contributions to this book, but also for the outstanding mentorship that he has provided me. I correspondingly would like to gratefully acknowledge the contribution of Drs. Nisai Wanakule and Alison Adams from Tampa Bay Water, Florida, on this book. In addition, I appreciate all Dr. Ozeair Abessi help during writing this book.

Contents

1	Importance of Optimization Analysis				
	1.1	Introdu	uction	1	
	1.2	Challenges Facing Water Management			
		and Po	blicy Professionals	3	
	1.3	.3 Local, Regional, and International Competition for W			
		and Er	nsuing Conflicts.	4	
	1.4	Urban	and Agricultural Water Supply Challenges	7	
	1.5		l Climate Change Impacts on Integrated		
			nal Water Management.	11	
	1.6	The In	centive for this Book.	12	
	Refe			15	
2	Line	ar Optiı	mization	17	
-	2.1	-	Programming	17	
	2.2		ical Method	19	
	2.3	-		22	
		2.3.1	Optimization of Water Distribution Networks	35	
		2.3.2	Optimization of One-Dimensional Confined Aquifers	41	
		2.3.3	Optimization of Two-Dimensional Confined Aquifers	46	
	2.4		lems		
	Refe	rences			
	11010				
3	Nonl	inear O	ptimization	55	
	3.1		uction	55	
	3.2.		Dimensional Search Methods		
	0.2.	3.2.1	Fibonacci Method (Elimination Technique).	62 64	
		3.2.2	Golden Section Method (Elimination Technique)	72	
		3.2.3	Newton Method (Approximation Technique).	76	
	3.3		Unconstrained Optimization Methods		
	0.0	3.3.1	Random Search Method	79 80	
		3.3.2	Univariate Method	84	
		3.3.3	Steepest Descent Method	89	
		5.5.5		09	

	3.4	Constrained Optimization Methods.	92				
		3.4.1 Lagrange Multiplier Method	92				
		3.4.2 Generalized Reduced Gradient Method	95				
	3.5	Problems.					
References							
4	Mult	iobjective Optimization	111				
-	4.1	Basic Concepts	111				
	4.2	Weighted Method	114				
	4.2	4.2.1 Optimization of Hydropower and Turbine.	120				
		4.2.1 Optimization of Hydropower and Furblic	120				
	4.3	ε-Constraint Method.	130				
	4.5	4.3.1 Optimization of Marine Outfalls	140				
	4.4	Problems	140				
			140				
	Relei	rences	14/				
5	_	mization Analysis Using LINGO and MATLAB	149				
	5.1	LINGO	149				
		5.1.1 Creating an Input Model	150				
		5.1.2 Solving Linear Models	151				
		5.1.3 Solving Nonlinear Models	159				
	5.2	MATLAB	165				
		5.2.1 Solving Linear Optimization Problems	168				
		5.2.2 Solving Unconstrained Nonlinear					
		Optimization Problems	177				
		5.2.3 Solving Constrained Nonlinear					
		Optimization Problems	180				
		5.2.4 Solving Multiobjective Optimization Problems	186				
	5.3	Problems	193				
	Refe	rences	193				
	P						
6		rvoir Optimization and Simulation Modeling: ase Study	195				
	6.1	Introduction	195				
	6.2	Optimization Analysis	196				
	6.3	Simulation Analysis	198				
	6.4	Case Study	199				
	6.5	Optimization Model	202				
	0.5	6.5.1 Boundary Conditions	202				
	6.6	Finding Outlier Data	203				
	6.7	e					
		Simulation by HEC-ResSim	205 207				
	6.8	Study Results					
		6.8.1 Reservoir Operation Policy	207				

		6.8.2	Operation Policy Performance	207						
		6.8.3	Optimization Outcomes	208						
	6.9	Discus	ssions	209						
	6.10		usions	214						
	Refer			214						
7	Reservoir Operation Management by Optimization									
	and S	Stochas	tic Simulation: A Case Study	217						
	7.1	Introd	uction	217						
	7.2	Mater	ials and Methods	220						
		7.2.1	Study Area	220						
		7.2.2	Linear Programming and LINGO	221						
		7.2.3	The Optimization Model and Constraints	223						
		7.2.4	Reliability Index	225						
	7.3	Result	s and Discussion	226						
		7.3.1	Optimization Analysis Based on Observed Inflows	226						
		7.3.2	Reliability Analysis	229						
		7.3.3	Optimization Analysis Based on Synthetic							
			Inflow Data	233						
		7.3.4	Performance of the Model	234						
	7.4		usions	237						
	Refer	ences .		237						
8			nization in Wellfield Operations:							
			entation Case Study at Tampa Bay Water	239						
	8.1		uction	239						
	8.2	-	ized Regional Operation Plan	242						
		8.2.1	Background	242						
		8.2.2	Optimization Formulation	244						
	8.3	-	mentation Details	252						
		8.3.1	Unit Response	252						
		8.3.2	Solving the Optimization Problem	253						
		8.3.3	Current OROP Implementation Procedure.	254						
	8.4		ary of Models	256						
		8.4.1	Weekly Demand Forecast Models	257						
		8.4.2	Groundwater Level Forecast Models	258						
		8.4.3	Surface Water Availability Models	258						
	8.5		ol Points	260						
		8.5.1	Preferential Weights for Objective Function	260						
	8.6		onmental Management Plan Wetland Referrals	262						
	Refer	ences .		263						
Ap	pendi	х		265						

Chapter 1 Importance of Optimization Analysis

Abstract This introductory chapter introduces the challenges that the water professionals will encounter in water management and allocation of water supply, factors that impact the water availability, water-energy-climate change relationships, water transfer and the role of various stakeholders, and finally policy decisions deriving the investments needs for planning and maintaining water supply systems.

1.1 Introduction

The world's readily available fresh water resources are becoming increasingly scarce due to higher demands by municipal, industrial, recreational, and agricultural sectors mostly because of population increase and higher standards of living in many areas, but also in part due to changes in land use and global climate change as a result of rapid development. In fact, the nexus between water and energy use seems to be a real issue that needs the attention of decision makers at all levels of governments and international organizations. The water energy nexus and related stresses do not subscribe to jurisdictional and political boundaries recognized nationally or internationally, and hence requires multi-organizational/ stakeholders solutions. Effective management of natural and water resources is becoming one of the most important challenges of our era to resolve, for maintaining and/or improving the living standards we enjoy in the developed and developing counties. In addition, the relations between energy, water, food, and environmental issues must be considered carefully in the development of water management plans and ultimately towards the goal of Integrated Regional Water Management (IRWM) Plan which is closely tied to sound watershed planning. The realities of water management include a limit to the availability of water whether local or imported supplies. This places a greater emphasis on innovative local/ regional projects that are multi-faceted and multi-purpose considering a holistic approach and consensus from various stakeholders. The water professionals must

E. Goodarzi et al., *Introduction to Optimization Analysis in Hydrosystem Engineering*, Topics in Safety, Risk, Reliability and Quality 25, DOI: 10.1007/978-3-319-04400-2_1, © Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2014

focus on many aspects when performing initial studies as a building block for water management plan developments, those include:

- 1. Future water supply availability/reliability,
- 2. Direct and indirect municipal/irrigation water reuse,
- 3. Water quality through salinity management and desalting opportunities,
- 4. Water projects and tie-into climate change adaptation,
- 5. Future funding needs and revenue streams,
- 6. What are the pros and cons of various funding options? As well as other site specific consideration.

To overcome the stresses on natural resources and in particular the fresh water supply sources multi-purpose and multi-objective water/natural resources management is taking root across the world. These days we see professionals in various fields of environmental and water resources engineering as well as allied disciplines of economics and social sciences collaborate to develop water resources management solutions that meet the urban, agriculture, industrial, habitat, environmental, recreational, and ecosystems requirements with constraints and priorities that must be consensus based by the stakeholders.

Water is a valuable resource everywhere in the world even areas that have seemingly plenty of precipitation. For example, although southeastern USA and Great Lakes states in Midwest receive above average rainfall with respect to other regions of the world, these areas still have water management challenges because of extreme events, water quality issues and management of non-point source pollution. The world is facing water supply challenges that will test the technical and managerial skills of trained professionals and the expertise of water scientists to the fullest extent in the next two-three decades. The effects of climate change, extreme floods and the economic and structural damages by frequent floods, pollution from urban and agricultural run-off, require collaboration from multitude of engineering and scientific experts as well as other stakeholders. In short, often there are competing interests in managing and protecting this vital resource in every region of the world. One area of utmost importance is the key component of how stakeholders consider water issues and make appropriate policy decisions or rank different priorities during water shortage and other emergencies.

Water management requires input from a multidisciplinary team from hydrologists to ecologists and other experts. To assess the availability of water for various uses under different conditions experts often develop water management models for a proposed project. These models often look at all sources available considering economics, water quality, specific use, and socioeconomic issues. For example, specialists may be looking at the hydrogeology of the area (ground and surface water interaction) in high water table conditions like much of south and central Florida and how exploitation of a water source impacts the other and the surrounding ecosystem; the economic aspects of water use and the impact of water use on the environment is of great interests to social scientists and ecologists. For instance, the potential relation between the ecosystem value and economic benefits of water use has been studied by ecological economists over the last decades. Climate scientists also are looking at the effects of climate change and variability on water availability and scarcity, while behavioral scientists are examining people's biases and beliefs and the effects on the policy and decision making process.

1.2 Challenges Facing Water Management and Policy Professionals

Water resources management presents a variety of challenges, and growing world population make certain demands on the existing water resources across the world. Industry and industrial waste management cause other impacts, while agricultural water use bring about a variety of challenges from meeting water demand during droughts to soil water logging, salinization to nutrient and pesticide migration to groundwater aquifers and surface waters. Economic development and vitality is quite simply dependent on water availability at a reasonable price.

Water resources are among the most important factors which could be affected by climate changes and recent global warming. In addition, increasing water use in turn can increase the negative impacts of climate changes on ecosystems and local hydro-climate. With most developments the environment typically gets shortchanged, that is why we need to look at ecosystem sustainability as part of the equation. Engineers need to work closely with economists, information technologists, and ecologists for information on the economic value of ecosystem services and the impacts of water use on ecosystems. Resource management professionals want to figure out how we can support both ecosystem protection and economic development with the limited amount of available water. This requires managing the water supplies using schemes that can take into account various objectives and constraints with given priorities, this is called "optimization". The water management system that uses optimization is amenable to an adaptive management approach, based on various scenarios, which the study team can analyze and provide the results to the stakeholders for informed decision making. For example in a given area the scenarios may assume significant sea level rise and its impact on groundwater availability and quality degradation, rainfall and temperature changes over land, and a range of population and economic growth rates, and economic trade off among various uses.

Various stakeholders as well as scientists/engineers participate in the study helping the team in the course of developing appropriate plans for water management to find out public support on data and latest technological tools. The water resources professionals job is not only to solve the problem of water scarcity in every region, say for example in south Florida or southern California, rather to use a regional example as a case study to see how multiple stakeholders can cope with complex issues and move towards more sustainable water use on a consensus based approach that optimizes the use of available supplies simply because there are very limited additional sources often at much higher costs. Another area that requires input from water professionals as well as social scientist, economists and well informed stakeholders is considering reclaimed water as an available resource that can be used for various uses including municipal supply.

1.3 Local, Regional, and International Competition for Water and Ensuing Conflicts

In 2010 United Nations (U.N.) General Assembly declared 2013 as the International Year of Water Cooperation (IYWC). The U.N. is aware about the competition over the existing finite fresh water resources in the world. Current and past water conflicts and disputes have included confrontations between countries in the Middle East (Israel and Jordan, Israel and Lebanon, Turkey and Iraq, Palestine and Israel, etc.), in Southwest Asia (India and Pakistan, India and Bangladesh), in Africa (Egypt, Sudan and Ethiopia), and in South America (Bolivia, Peru and Chile), among many other places. Even within countries there are sometimes conflicts among different regions over water allocations of trans-boundary water resources and inter-basin transfers; for example in the USA, states of Alabama, Georgia and Florida have been fighting for decades over Apalachicola-Chattahoochee-Flint River System (ACF) and tributaries' inflow that end up in the Gulf of Mexico; and Colorado River transfer to California, Nevada and Arizona has been a source of hot debates for the past few decades; in central west Iran, water transfer from Zayandehrud in Isfahan to Yazd and from Karoon Basin to Zayandehrud Basin have caused local protests and in some cases physical conflicts. Another recent example is the damming of tributaries of Lake Urmia in northwest Iran which has caused the lake to shrink significantly posing irreversible ecological damage in the region and a lively national debate on dam building and irrigation water use (Fig. 1.1).

In the case of ACF, water allocation and establishment of Minimum Flows and Levels (MFLs) required for aquatic and ecologic health of downstream habitats especially during low flows and droughts was a source of conflict that took decades of negotiations and law suits and eventually an act of US Congress to develop an agreement among tri-states which was hard to accept by the parties, but their best options was to agree to share the limited resource rather than devoting time and money to endless conflict resolution (Fig. 1.2).

Conflicts like these have shown that the water professional/managers need not only to be well versed in the science and engineering aspect, but also need knowledge of applicable laws, regulations, negotiation skills and applied optimization principles in order to formulate feasible options that can be looked at as win–win for all parties involved. So, the upcoming conflicts will be extremely dependent on the human ability to deal with the water demand challenges; if we are able to increase water use efficiency and productivity such that we can free up



Fig. 1.1 Lake Urmia, the third largest salt water lake on earth at a 2003, and b 2010 (Payvand 2011)



Fig. 1.2 Map of the ACF river basin watershed in the southeast USA showing the Apalachicola river and its two main tributaries, the Chattahoochee river and Flint river (Atlanta Regional Commission 2010)

water resources for protecting our environment, thereby ensuring the sustainability of the supply, and allowing for new users and uses, it will be easier to cooperate. If we cannot manage the available water demands, water management will become difficult like a zero-sum exercise, and so there would be permanent challenges on the available water resources.

According to the recent figures, nearly 800 million people in the world live without safe water, that is, roughly 15 % of the world population. Some 2.5 billion others live without access to sanitation, about 40 % of the world's population (United Nation Water 2013). These figures portray a grim scenario for political and social stability in many areas of the world for the foreseeable future: ethnic conflicts, regional tensions, political instability and mass migrations would prevail without immediate actions by governments and international organizations.

In the not too distant future, many countries will certainly face water related problems including shortages, water quality issues, epidemics due to contaminated water, or floods, and these problem increase the risk of instability and regional tensions (Global Water Security: Intelligence Community Assessment 2012). In this report these issues are connected to a world where the population is growing fast and the demand for freshwater is growing even faster. Therefore, close coordination and cooperation between various sectors in governments, NGOs, international organizations is of fundamental importance if we are to successfully share and manage our most precious resource (fresh water), for which we need reliable and defensible information to make sound and consensus based decisions.

To address these issues there is a need to cooperate with players outside the water sector, to foster collaboration between the various decision-making entities, between the private, public and civic sectors as well as between actors who work in water research, public policy and public relations. That is, only through sound and forward-looking consensus based partnerships a water wise world may be achieved. Because of population growth and pressures on water and natural resources within and among nations, sound and fair resource management is a clear imperative; water professionals will have no time to waste to come up with a solution to natural resources management in general, and water resources in particular.

One area of great need is the optimal management and operation of existing reservoirs and water allocation which are critical issues in sustainable water resource management due to increasing water demand by various sectors. Multiplicity of stockholders with different objectives and especially water utilities make reservoir operation and other sources of available water a complicated problem with a variety of constraints, and at times conflicting objectives to be met. In such cases, the conflict resolution models can be efficiently used to determine the optimal water allocation scheme considering the utility and relative authority of different stakeholders. Water resources planning and management is a combined process of sharing water that very often involves specific difficulties and complex decisions on resolving conflicts among decision makers, water users and stakeholders. Because of limitations on the quantity and quality of water resources, the optimal operation of reservoirs in a watershed is very important for providing a secure water supply from a system's point of view, Karamouz et al. (2003) discuss this issue in details.

1.4 Urban and Agricultural Water Supply Challenges

Worldwide approximately more than 70 % of available freshwater is used for irrigation of crops to supply food and fiber for the growing populations. Although great strides have been made in irrigation efficiency in a number of developed and developing countries to reduce water use in the agricultural sector, there is still progress to be made into save water and reduce environmental impacts. The remaining 30 % is used for other uses including municipal water supply. For a new framework for urban water systems to become fully established, industrialized countries should serve as a model for future water supply management in developing countries. Sweeping changes will be needed in the ways that engineers and managers of urban water systems approach the planning, design, and operation of urban water infrastructure. For this change to take hold, it will be necessary to embrace not only new technologies but also innovative management strategies that can create more resilient, economically sustainable water systems that will better serve society's present and future needs. Public acceptance, particularly for new technologies and unfamiliar practices (e.g., grey water recycling, reclaimed water use), will require more effective communication about the processes and their established safety.

For the purpose of understanding current and future development needs, the elements of the new framework for urban water systems may be subdivided into four themes: increasing water availability through improved system efficiency, demand management, desalination to augment water supply, stormwater harvesting, and water reuse/reclaimed water. Broadening treatment options by developing technologies that lead to more resilient systems, linking water quality to its intended use and incorporating managed natural systems into urban water infrastructure; considering wastewater as a resource through energy and nutrient recovery; and establishing an enabling environment by explicitly addressing institutional and management challenges related to a need to account for non-monetary benefits, manage tradeoffs among alternatives and more effectively engaging stakeholders and public at large. Let's look at each of these themes in more details.

- 1. *Increasing Water Availability*: In the past, water supply issues were frequently solved by building huge structures such as dams or water distribution networks for storage, transfer and conveyance of water. Conservation has been another way to save water in the residential, agricultural, and industrial sectors over the last decades. For example, Singapore applied a water conversation tax to reach 11 % reduction in average monthly water consumption between 1995 and 2004 to improve water availability (Tortajada 2006). These efforts are definitely helping to meet increasing demands and should be encouraged.
- 2. *Demand Management*: Many water utilities in the USA and other countries have provided incentives to households to replace older home water fixtures with newer ones that use less water (e.g., low use shower heads, toilets using less water per flush, etc.). While water use efficiency will continue to serve as

an important component of urban water supply in the coming decades, there are signs that it will eventually become less attractive, as the least expensive water conserving appliances and industrial process modifications are implemented. Using water losses strategies is one of the best practical approaches to increase the efficiency of urban water systems and better manage demands. For example, about 14 and 40 % of treated water in the U.S. and developing countries respectively, is lost to leaks (Grant et al. 2012). A common occurrence in many old cities of the world is pipe breakage which is not only the cause of significant water loss, but it is also the cause of collateral damage like flooding. In this case, the modern management techniques can be used to save water through effective leak detection and in a more cost-effective manner.

- 3. Desalination: Although many challenges remain with regard to environmental impacts and large initial capital costs, desalination is now considered a viable option for urban water supply, particularly in situations where either climate change or short-term events (e.g., catastrophic floods) compromise water quantity and quality. The acceptability of seawater desalination has come about principally because of the reduction in power consumption of the reverse osmosis stage due to improved membrane design and implementation of energy recovery technologies. Many cities in different regions of the world rely partially or fully on desalinated sea water or brackish groundwater (e.g., Arab nations of the Persian Gulf, Tampa Bay Region of Florida, Australia's driest capital city of Perth, San Diego Region in southern California, among many others. The examples cited, receive up to half of their water supply by desalination plants. Many other municipalities are also planning for desalination plants as supplementary source during droughts and other emergency situations (i.e., disruptions in regional transmission facilities). One are of concern is the potential increase of greenhouse gas emissions associated with operation of the desalination plants, but that could be offset by energy from renewable sources (wind farms and solar panels).
- 4. Stormwater Harvesting: Based on this scheme the runoff could be captured and recharged into the aquifers or stormwater and reuse for non-drinkable usages by combination of urban runoff and flood control management. This underutilized water source can be used to supply some parts of water requirements of cities. A known example in the course of stormwater harvesting is the Los Angeles County Department of Public Works which runs 27 spreading basins that recharge about 150 million m³ of surface water runoff in one year (Los Angeles County Department of Public Work 2012). Similar approaches are implemented in other areas of southwest USA as well as arid countries in the Middle East (central and southeastern Iran). Although some of the recharged runoff consists of dry weather flows from rivers that receive wastewater effluent, the majority of the recharged water is associated with wet weather flows. Other areas in southern California are also pursuing efforts to further enhance the recharge of stormwater as part of a strategy for coping with possible decreases in imported water sources (Ventura County). One caveat in this scheme is that more research is needed to assess the water quality implications

of this practice, and, when necessary, integrate passive treatment processes into recharge systems. Even, in high rainfall regions like southeast USA aquifer storage and recovery (ASR) has been studied and in some cases implemented in the last two decades for water supply augmentation.

5. Water Reuse/Wastewater Reclamation: This option is becoming more and more attractive and even imperative in areas with limited water supply of their own that relay on imported water and/or desalinated water. Options for reuse include using highly treated wastewater (tertiary treated) for irrigating urban landscape (parks, gulf courses, and lawns), in some cases for agricultural uses (greenbelts around cities in the arid and semi arid areas of the world, or tree farming), use in industrial operations when applicable such as fertilizer manufacturing and steel mill cooling requirements, and in the case of advanced treatment for municipal water supply (Orange County, California has constructed and currently operates the most advance treatment plant which is more like a refinery than a wastewater treatment plant) for municipal use by injecting the reclaimed water into the underground aquifer to maintain a seawater intrusion barrier and feeding percolation basins used to augment their imported source via groundwater recharge, in effect an ASR with reclaimed water. This plant is an acclaimed state-of-the-art in wastewater treatment/reclamation and attracts visitors from all over the world (www.ocwd.com or www.gwrsystem.com). Orange County Water District (OCWD) operates the plant in a series of steps. After wastewater is treated at the Orange County Sanitation District, it flows to the Groundwater Replenishment System (GWRS) where it undergoes a state-of-the-art purification process involving microfiltration, reverse osmosis, ultraviolet light and lastly treatment with hydrogen peroxide. The product water is near-distilled-quality. About 70 million gallons (265,000 m³) per day of the GWRS water are used to both pumped into injection wells to create a seawater intrusion barrier to protect freshwater aquifers, and transfer to the percolation basins in Anaheim where the GWRS water naturally filters through sand and gravel to the deep aquifers of the groundwater basin; about half the total is used for each operation (Groundwater Replenishment System 2003).

As seen various approaches are being used to meet water supply requirements of municipalities. However, water allocation rules may lose their validity in terms of supplying reliable water to current and future water demands due to changing hydrologic and socio-economic conditions, as well as, changes in land use and development requirements in a given region. Therefore, water sector decision makers are very interested in knowing when and how they must update the water allocation rules, especially the withdrawal ratios from reservoirs, river and groundwater, to fulfill the current water demands while minimizing the costs associated with fulfillment of unmet water demands; in short, how to factor in uncertainty. Hydrologic and socio-economic uncertainties are the most influential parameters in water supply and demand management, which in turn affect water allocation rules for long-term planning. Hydrologic uncertainty may be included explicitly in water supply management models for minimizing the long-term

operational cost or maximizing the water supply reliability in drought conditions. Integrated water supply and demand simulation is also useful for achievable improvements in water supply reliability by a combined supply-demand management strategy like the scheme used by Tampa Bay Water (Chap. 8). However, the challenge is that integrated holistic models put serious restrictions on the predictive accuracy and the size of the problem to be solved. In addition to long-term impacts, uncertainty and integrated modeling for water allocation, inclusion of operational and performance objectives in terms of equity, reliability and social acceptability are the required criteria for assessment of dependable water allocation systems (Dinar et al. 2005; Joshi and Gupta 2010). Water allocation rules need to be derived and classified based on hydrologic and socio-economic conditions in the basin, for example Normal Operation Policy (NOP) and Emergency Operation Policy (EOP) that are triggered based on a drought index value for reservoir operation rules (Eum et al. 2011). Engineers dealing with hydro-systems mostly focus on optimum operational analysis that reveals how much improvement is achievable by changing the attitude towards water system operation in terms of preferences or the degree of integration between different disciplines influencing the project. Within this framework, different constraints on optimal operation (i.e., spatial interactions, uncertainties, long-term impacts and performance indices) can be incorporated for analysis and classification of different water allocation rules.

Optimization application in conjunctive use of surface water-groundwaterdesalinized water, and managing downstream water quality, as well as, aquatic and ecosystem needs related to Minimum Flows and Levels (MFL) and power production is an area of much interest in face of uncertain hydrologic conditions. Many examples of these applications are cited in the literature, for example, Tampa Bay Region of Florida in the USA (Chap. 8 in this volume), south-eastern USA like Tennessee Valley Authority (TVA) and Zayandehrud and Karoon Rivers in Iran, Euphrates and Tigris in Turkey-Syria-Iraq, as well as others. Water allocation using integrated Water Quality-Quantity modeling has been applied to study water resource issues and conjunctive use by Javier et al. (2010), Zhang et al. (2010), Qin et al. (2009), and Wang et al. (2008) to use water for beneficial consumptions while making sure ecosystem and aquatic needs are met while meeting local and national regulations.

Water Management on a regional and national basis is even more complex and requires a multi-purpose and multi-disciplinary approach. For example, let's consider an inter-basin water transfer that will be crucial for economic survival of the receiving basin but will also affect the donor basin in many aspects (Zayandehrud and Karoon Rivers in Iran). For such analysis an Integrated Stochastic Dynamic Programming (ISDP) approach seems appropriate, but what are the factors and parameters that need to be considered and optimized? Let's contrast an ISDP for reservoir operation with an inter-basin water transfer. In the former, the water storage and inflow are state variables and the release from the reservoir is the decision variable. In the latter, the operation of both reservoir in the donor and GW in the receiving basin would be state variable in addition to many other parameters in order to arrive at an optimum water transfer policy. Many parameters may have to be considered in an ISDP such as: net benefits to the water users in both basins, water demands of both basins, characteristics of the reservoir in the donor and the aquifer in the receiver basin, pumping costs for the receiver, etc. An example of a potential ISDP application is the operation of the three Gorges Dam in China that needs to incorporate all these factors as well as many others.

1.5 Global Climate Change Impacts on Integrated Regional Water Management

Recently, many proposed and enacted Integrated Regional Water Management Planning (IRWMP) have required that the plans must include an evaluation of the adaptability to Climate Change and its impact on the water management systems in the region. Given the currently predicted effects of Climate Change on water resources, IRWM Plans are to address adapting to changes in the various characteristics of runoff, storage, and recharge such as their timing, intensity, amount, and quality (RMC 2013). For example, areas of southern California that receive water from the Sacramento-San Joaquin River Delta, the area within the San Francisco Bay Delta, and areas served by coastal aquifers will have to consider the effects of sea level rise on water supply conditions and identify suitable adaptation measures. Decisions about adapting water management schemes, as well as, mitigating Climate Change through reductions in Green House Gases (GHG) emissions, should take into account the risks to the region of no action alternative. A key factor in assessing the effects of Climate Change and adapting to those changes as it relates to water supply is the use of adaptive management. IRWM plans need to contain policies and procedures that promote adaptive management. As more effects of Climate Change manifest and new tools are developed, new information becomes available that the Regional Water Management officials must adjust for in their IRWM plans accordingly. However, tools to properly assess the risk of any one effect of Climate Change on a region are currently not well developed, and the abilities of different regions to use such tools vary considerably. The challenge is how to account for this impact in an IRWM?

In addition to responding to the effects of Climate Change, IRWM plans can also help mitigate Climate Change by reducing energy consumption, especially the energy embedded in water use, and ultimately help decreasing GHG emissions. Water management in developed countries results in the consumption of significant amounts of energy and the accompanying production of GHG emissions, especially where water must be pumped for long distances; from the underground aquifers; or over significant elevations. As an example, according to California Energy Commission November, 2005 CEC-700-2005-011 California's Water—Energy Relationship Final Staff Report, 19 % of the electricity and 30 % of the non-power plant natural gas of the State's energy consumption are spent on water-related activities.



Fig. 1.3 The Cornalvo dam, Spain—1,500 years young—a well maintained dam can be operated for many years for sustainable water supply. The Cornalvo dam in Spain was built by the Romans almost 1,500 years ago and it is still fully functional (WikiPedia 2013)

The close connection between water resource management and energy is an important consideration to meet national and international GHG emission reduction goals. All aspects of water resources management have an impact on GHG emissions, including the development and use of water for habitat management and recreation, domestic, municipal, industrial, and agricultural supply and hydro-electric power production and flood control. Therefore, water professionals need to be also cognizant of water-energy nexus and its impact on GHGs as a driver of Global Climate Change (Fig. 1.3).

1.6 The Incentive for This Book

The above introductory sections enumerated the challenges that water professional face in designing, building, and managing water supply infrastructures of all kinds (canals, reservoirs, desalinization plants, wastewater reclamation, etc.). The main driver behind all this is to provide more water supply while reducing costs both in building the systems and maintaining them through their design life (sustainability). Therefore, students in this field as well as practitioners need to become well versed in optimal use of resources both to build and maintain the facilities, as well as managing the output from the facilities (source of water supply for all users). This applied optimization book is designed to fill the gap that currently exists for all parties interested in learning how to use the optimization principles to solve their water management problems. There are many text books in the field of

operations research and engineering systems, as well as water management that discuss optimization theory and its application areas, but they lack clear and so, concise example problems that a beginner student needs to easily relate to the theories discussed here. This book is different in the sense that after introduction of various methods and concepts, example problems that are readily understandable are introduced and solved step-by-step using commonly available software to help the reader connect the theory with applications. Various example problems that are commonly encountered by water professionals are introduced after the presentation of each topic and then solved to elaborate the application of the method in the real world. This introductory chapter introduces the challenges that the water professionals will encounter in water management and allocation of water supply, factors that impact the water availability, water-energy-climate change relationships, water transfer and the role of various stakeholders, and finally policy decisions deriving the investments needs for planning and maintaining water supply systems.

Chapter 2 introduces the reader to the concept of Linear Optimization and its applicability to solve classes of problems that are amenable to this method. Chapter 2 covers the basic concepts of linear optimization analysis and its applications in water resources engineering. In this chapter, the graphical and simplex solution methods for solving linear optimization problem are discussed and then illustrated step by step with some example problems. In addition, the applications of simplex method in solving water distribution network plus one- and two- dimensional confined aquifer optimization problems using the Solver tool in Excel are presented. The graphical and simplex methods are discussed in detail with example problems in urban water management and aquifer pumping optimization.

Chapter 3 introduces the reader to nonlinear programming and the conceptual framework for nonlinear optimization, as well as its applications in water resources engineering. In addition, different nonlinear optimization methods including one-dimensional optimization techniques, unconstrained and constrained optimization methods in conjunction with a number of example problems to indicate why and how nonlinearities arise in a wide range of water resources optimization problems. Random search method, Newton method, Univariate Method, and Steepest Descent Method are then discussed with example problems in each section to help readers connect the concepts with applications.

In Chap. 4, the reader is introduced to Multi-objective Optimization (MOO) and the fact that most real world problems are multi-objective in nature and require consideration of several minimizing or maximizing objective functions to be optimized simultaneously. For multi-objective problems, a set of optimal solutions instead of a single solution needs to be determined. This chapter provides the idea behind multi-objective optimization in water resources engineering projects in today's complex world of water supply-water demand management and lays the foundation for using readily available software to address and solve these multi-faceted problems. This chapter also provides a number of applicable and commonly encountered example problems and their step-by-step solutions to help the reader better understand the concept and applied side of multi-objective optimization. In these examples, Weighted Method and its application to different aspect of water supply and environmental management issues are demonstrated.

Chapter 5 introduces the reader to LINGO and MATLAB softwares and their adaptability to solve all classes of optimization problems. These well-known applications in science and engineering field can be readily used to formulate, express, and solve optimization models. In this chapter, the process of solving both single and multi-objective optimization problems using these programs is presented in details. Furthermore, a number of useful examples are provided and solved step-by-step to help readers better understand the application of LINGO and MATLAB in solving linear and nonlinear optimization problems. The remaining chapters of this book discuss case studies applying optimization schemes to address real world water supply-water demand issues.

Chapter 6 presents a combination of optimization (LINGO) and simulation (HEC-ReSim) models to determine monthly operating rules for the Zayandehrud Reservoir system in central west Iran. A single-objective framework is used to optimize and determined outflow-storage of the reservoir and simulate the system behavior over 47 years. The results show that optimizing the operation of Za-yandehrud reservoir could increase its storage by 88.9 % as well as increase the reliability index of regulated water for all downstream demands more than 10 %.

Chapter 7 presents Stochastic Simulation principles and its application for optimized reservoir operation and water supply management. Managing optimal use of available water supplies resources is a vital issue in many parts of the world especially in arid and semi-arid regions. It is imperative to adopt realistic policies to ensure that not only water is used efficiently in various sectors, but it is also allocated effectively for best use during droughts and/or high demand periods. This chapter presents an optimization analysis to determine monthly operating rules for the Doroudzan Reservoir located in southern Iran. Different strategies under limited water availability conditions are analyzed by running an optimization model based on observed and synthetic inflow data, and the performance indicators of each strategy are presented. Each strategy includes a minimum requirement release in the optimization process that results in a specific operational policy. In this example, LINGO is applied to determine optimum operational parameters and synthetic inflows are generated using the Monte Carlo simulation method. The results demonstrated that the applied methods could effectively optimize the current operational policy of an existing reservoir in a single-objective framework.

Chapter 8 presents a comprehensive application of real world simulation-optimization scheme to manage multi-wellfield, reservoir, and desalinated water supply in central west Florida. Tampa Bay Water is Florida's largest wholesale water supplier, serving more than 2.3 million people with annual average daily demand ranging from 220 to 262 million gallons (mgd). The water supply agency mission has been to develop, store, and supply water for municipal purposes in a manner to reduce adverse environmental impacts due to excessive groundwater withdrawals from concentrated areas. Conflict between meeting water demands and preventing harm to surrounding wetlands and lake systems was intensified in the early 1990's, making it difficult to manage wellfields effectively. In 1996, the predecessor Agency was mandated by Florida Legislature to develop regional water supply solutions and a comprehensive answer to the water supply needs of the Tampa Bay area in a manner that is protective of the environment (groundwater cutback) and meets the long term water demand of the region.

To relieve ecosystem stress and develop an environmentally sustainable water supply system, Tampa Bay Water implemented an Optimized Regional Operation Plan (OROP) that incorporated additional water supply sources (surface water and desalinated water). The Optimized Regional Operations Plan (OROP), includes a region wide integrated ground water-surface water simulation–optimization model that is used to schedule well pumpage among eleven wellfields with an objective of maximizing surficial aquifer water levels which are correlated closely to wetland and lake water levels in the surrounding areas of wellfields. This scheme also envisioned a mitigation plan which provides rehydration for hydrologicallystressed wetlands and lakes. As additional water supply sources came on-line, the OROP model and the mitigation plan were used to ensure that water production would not result in unacceptable adverse environmental impacts, and that historical impacts from groundwater production were gradually addressed.

The OROP was designed to minimize production impacts to wetlands and lakes by rotating among sources in response to target levels set in surficial aquifer monitoring wells. These target levels were determined by statistical correlations between minimum levels established for wetlands and lakes and surficial aquifer water levels (the applied concept of Minimum Flows and Levels, MFLs). The establishment of minimum wetland and lake levels was based on regulatory criteria that relate environmental health to indicators of historical wetland and lake levels (known as historical normal pool).

References

- Atlanta Regional Commission (ARC) (2010) Overview of the tri-state litigation. Retrieved from http://www.atlantaregional.com/environment/tri-state-water-wars#7
- Dinar A, Rozegrant MW, Meinzen-Dick R (2005) Water allocation mechanisms-principles and examples. World Bank, Agriculture and Natural Resources Department, Working Paper 1779
- Eum H, Kim YO, Palmer RN (2011) Optimal drought management using sampling stochastic dynamic programming with a hedging rule. J Water Resour Plann Manag ASCE 137(1):113–122
- Global Water Security: Intelligence Community Assessment (2012) National intelligence estimate, ICA
- Grant SB, Saphores JD, Feldman DL, Hamilton AJ, Fletcher TD, Cook PLM, Stewardson M, Sanders BF, Levin LA, Ambrose RF, Deletic A, Brown R, Jiang SC, Rosso D, Cooper WJ, Marusic I (2012) Taking the "waste" out of "wastewater" for human water security and ecosystem sustainability. Science 337(6095):681–686
- Groundwater Replenishment System (2003) What is the groundwater replenishment system? Retrieved from http://www.gwrsystem.com/about-gwrs/questions-a-answers.html

- Javier PA, Joaquin AA, Miguel M, Abel S (2010) Water quantity and quality models applied to Jucar river basin, Spain. Water Resour Manag 24(1):2759–2779
- Joshi GS, Gupta K (2010) Performance evaluation model for multipurpose multireservoir system operation. Water Resour Manage 24:3051–3063
- Karamouz M, Szidarovszky F, Zahraie B (2003) Water resources systems analysis. Lewis Publishers, Boca Raton
- Los Angeles County Department of Public Works (2012) Water resources division. Retrieved from http://ladpw.org/wrd/SpreadingGround/watercon/file/Water%20Conserved%20Data% 202011-2012.pdf
- Payvand (2011) Lake Urmia-Iran, the third largest salt water lake on earth. Retrieved from http:// payvand.com/blog/blog/2011/01/18/

photos-lake-urmia-iran-the-third-largest-salt-water-lake-on-earth/

- Qin X, Huang G, Chen B, Zhang B (2009) An interval-parameter waste-load allocation model for river water quality management under uncertainty. Environ Manage 43:999–1012
- RMC (2013) Climate change planning study public review draft. San Diego Integrated Regional Water Management

Tortajada C (2006) Water management in Singapore. Int J Water Resour Dev 22(2):227-240

- United Nation Water (2013) International year of water corporation. Retrieved from http://www. unwater.org/water-cooperation-2013/water-cooperation/facts-and-figures/
- Wang L, Fang L, Hipel KW (2008) Basin-wide cooperative resources allocation. Eur J Oper Res 190(3):798–817

WikiPedia (2013) Cornalvo dam. Retrieved from http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Cornalvo_Dam

Zhang W, Wang Y, Peng H, Li Y, Tang J, Wu KB (2010) A coupled water quantity-quality model for water allocation analysis. Water Resour Manage 24:485–511

Chapter 2 Linear Optimization

Abstract The purpose of this chapter is to cover the basic concept of linear optimization analysis and its applications in water resources engineering. The graphical and simplex solution methods for solving linear optimization problems are illustrated step by step. In addition, the applications of simplex method in solving water distribution network and one and two dimensional confined aquifer optimization problems using the Solver tool in Excel are presented.

2.1 Linear Programming

A linear optimization problem can be defined as solving an optimization problem in which the objective function and all associated constraints are linear. The linear optimization is also known as linear programming (LP) and it can be defined as the process of minimizing or maximizing a linear function to find the optimum value (minimum or maximum) for linear and non-negative constraints. The term *programming* here implies the way of planning and organizing (formulation) to find the optimal solutions, and it is different from its meaning in coding and computer programming. In general, this method is a relatively simple technique to find realistic solutions for a wide range of optimization problems and includes three essential elements listed below:

- 1. Identify decision variables: decision variables are the unknown variables of the problem statement that need to be determined to solve the problem. Defining decision variables precisely is a fundamental step in formulating a linear optimization model.
- 2. Obtain the objective function: in this step we need to define the objective of desired problem statement which shows the main goal of the decision-maker. Afterward, the relations between decision variables and the objective should be accurately determined. It should be noted that the function cannot include any nonlinear component such as exponential, products, or division of variables,

and variables under a root sign. All variables only must be added or subtracted in a linear fashion.

3. Determine the constraints: constraints explain the requirements that desired problem shall meet, and it can be in the forms of either equalities (=) or inequalities (\leq , \geq).

The general form of linear programming model can be written as:

$$\min f(x_1, x_2, \dots, x_n) = c_1 x_1 + c_2 x_2 + \dots + c_n x_n$$
(2.1)

Subject to the following constraints:

$$a_{11}x_{1} + a_{12}x_{2} + \dots + a_{1n}x_{n} = b_{1}$$

$$a_{21}x_{1} + a_{22}x_{2} + \dots + a_{2n}x_{n} = b_{2}$$

$$\vdots$$

$$a_{k1}x_{1} + a_{k2}x_{2} + \dots + a_{kn}x_{n} = b_{k}$$

$$x_{i} \ge 0 \quad \text{for} \quad i = 1, 2, \dots, n$$

$$(2.2)$$

where, x_i are decision variables and a, b, c are known constants. The above equations also can be presented in the matrix form as:

$$\min f(X) = c^T X \tag{2.3}$$

in which,

$$c = \begin{bmatrix} c_1 \\ c_2 \\ \vdots \\ c_n \end{bmatrix} \text{ and } X = \begin{bmatrix} x_1 \\ x_2 \\ \vdots \\ \vdots \\ x_n \end{bmatrix}$$

Subject to the following constraints:

$$aX = b \tag{2.4}$$

$$X \ge 0 \tag{2.5}$$

where,

$$a = \begin{bmatrix} a_{11} & a_{12} & \dots & a_{1n} \\ a_{21} & a_{22} & \dots & a_{2n} \\ \dots & \dots & \dots & \dots \\ a_{k1} & a_{k2} & \dots & a_{kn} \end{bmatrix} \text{ and } b = \begin{bmatrix} b_1 \\ b_2 \\ \dots \\ b_n \end{bmatrix}$$

It is important to note that maximization of any objective function is equivalent to negative minimization of that function. Hence, a maximization problem can be simply converted to a minimization problem in any linear programming.

$$\max f(X) = \min - f(X) \tag{2.6}$$

In addition, the constraints sometimes are presented in the form of inequalities, while, they can be simply presented in the form of equalities by adding or sub-tracting slack variables (s) as:

inequality constraint
$$a_{k1}x_1 + a_{k2}x_2 + \dots + a_{kn}x_n \le b_k$$

equality constraint $a_{k1}x_1 + a_{k2}x_2 + \dots + a_{kn}x_n + s = b_k$ (2.7)

or

inequality constraint
$$a_{k1}x_1 + a_{k2}x_2 + \dots + a_{kn}x_n \ge b_k$$

equality constraint $a_{k1}x_1 + a_{k2}x_2 + \dots + a_{kn}x_n - s = b_k$ (2.8)

The solution to an optimization problem can be categorized into four types as: (1) a unique optimal solution, (2) an infeasible solution, (3) an unbounded solution, and (4) multiple solutions. The unique optimal solution is obtained when all of the constraints are satisfied and the minimum or maximum values of the objective function are precisely determined. In this case, the set of all feasible solutions is called the feasible region. On the other hand if we cannot find any solution that satisfies the desired constraints, the problem is called infeasible. Therefore, the feasible region is empty and there is no optimal solution since there is no solution in this condition. The unbounded solution in LP problems happens when the objective value is feasible while its value increases or decreases indefinitely and approaches to negative or positive infinity. And finally, there are multiple solutions, if more than one solution can be found for the desired optimization problem. In this case, all values of objective function are equaled and can be considered as optimum value.

In the following sections, the graphical and simplex methods for linear programming are presented with a few examples for each technique.

2.2 Graphical Method

Graphical methods can be applied to solve linear optimization problems involving two decision variables and a limited numbers of constraints. As the graphical methods are visual approach, they can increase our understanding from the basics of linear programming and the steps to find the optimal value in an optimization problem. To be more familiar with the concept of these methods, a simple example is presented in the following section. *Example 2.1* Maximize the function f(x)

$$f(x) = 15x_1 + 18x_2$$

Subject to the following constraints:

$$2x_1 + 3x_2 \le 35$$
$$4x_1 + 2x_2 \le 50$$
$$x_1 \ge 0 \quad \text{and} \quad x_2 \ge 0$$

Solution: The first step is drawing the constraints to find the feasible region. In this case, we need to replace the inequality sign of each constrain with the equality sign as follow:

$$2x_1 + 3x_2 = 35 4x_1 + 2x_2 = 50$$

Now, assume $x_1 = 0$ and solve for x_2 from first constraint equation and repeat the process again by assuming $x_2 = 0$ and solving for x_1 . For the first constraint, we have:

If
$$x_1 = 0 \to x_2 = 11.66$$

If $x_2 = 0 \to x_1 = 17.5$

And, for the second constraint equation:

If
$$x_1 = 0 \rightarrow x_2 = 25$$

If $x_2 = 0 \rightarrow x_1 = 12.5$

Now, draw a line to connect the points (0, 11.66) to (17.5, 0) for the first constraint and (0, 25) to (12.5, 0) for the second constraint, as shown in the Fig. 2.1.

The shaded area in Fig. 2.1 shows the feasible region and all points that are in this domain satisfy both constraints of the model. The best points in the feasible region that maximize the function f(x) would be the optimal solution. For the sake of analysis, the feasible solution is redrawn as shown in Fig. 2.2. The intersection point between the two constraints can be calculated by solving the following two equations with two unknowns simultaneously as:

$$\begin{cases} 2x_1 + 3x_2 = 35\\ 4x_1 + 2x_2 = 50 \end{cases} \Rightarrow (x_1, x_2) = (10, 5)$$

Therefore, we need to draw a straight line from points (0, 11.66) to (10, 5), and (10, 5) to (12.5, 0).

To find the optimal solution in the feasible area, we assume a value for the objective function, for example f(x) = 270, and draw a line to see it is inside the



Fig. 2.1 The feasible solution domain for Example 2.1



Fig. 2.2 The feasible region of the problem

feasible region for $15x_1 + 18x_2 = 270$ or not (Fig. 2.3). In this case, the line does not intersect the solution domain, therefore we know that the value for the objective function must be less than 270. It is important to note that all points with different values of x_1 and x_2 on this line have the same value of 270. We can consider other values for the objective function and draw new lines with lower values for f(x). The optimal point which is the maximum value will happen at the intersection of the last possible point in the feasible region and the associated objective line. In this problem, the maximum value occurs when f(x) = 240 since it is the last line that intersects the boundary of feasible solution domain (constraints). As noted above, the values of x_1 and x_2 can simply be calculated by solving the constraints equations simultaneously and the results will be $x_1 = 10$ and $x_2 = 5$.



Fig. 2.3 The procedure of finding maximum of f(x)

This problem also can be solved as minimization problem by changing the sign of function f(x) into -f(x) and write it as following:

min
$$g(x) = -f(x) = -(15x_1 + 18x_2)$$

In this case we need to find the line that intersects the boundary of constraints to determine the minimum for the function g(x). Based on Fig. 2.4, the line g(x) = -240 is the last intersecting point, and so, it can be considered as the optimal value of the function g(x). As described above, the values of x_1 and x_2 can be simply calculated by solving the constraint equations simultaneously as $x_1 = 10$ and $x_2 = 5$. If the minimum value of g(x) or -f(x) is multiplied by a negative sign, it will result in the maximum for the function f(x).

2.3 Simplex Method

As noted above, the graphical method can only be used for LP problems with one or two decision variables, while many real LP problems involve more than two decision variables and so, we need to apply other optimization techniques to find the optimal solution. The simplex method is a well-known mathematical technique for solving LP models by constructing an acceptable solution domain and improving it step by step until the best solution is found and the optimum value is reached. The necessary steps in simplex method to find the optimal solution are presented in the following example.



Fig. 2.4 The procedure of finding minimum of g(x)

Example 2.2 Maximize the objective function f(x) using the simplex method.

$$\max f(x) = 2x_1 + 3x_2$$

Subject to

$$x_{1} + x_{2} \le 27$$

$$2x_{1} + 5x_{2} \le 90$$

$$-x_{1} + x_{2} \le 11$$

$$x_{1} \ge 0 \text{ and } x_{2} \ge 0$$

Solution: The following steps illustrate the whole process of solving a LP model using the simplex method.

Step 1: Convert desired LP problem into a standard form.

To convert a LP model to its standard form, all inequality constraints should be presented in the equality forms by considering the following conditions:

1. Adding a non-negative *slack* variable s_i for the constraints in the form of:

$$a_{i,1}x_1 + a_{i,2}x_2 + \cdots + a_{i,m}x_m \leq b_i$$

Hence, the constraint can be written as:

$$a_{i,1}x_1 + a_{i,2}x_2 + \cdots + a_{i,m}x_m + s_i = b_i$$

2. Subtracting a non-negative surplus variable s_i for the constraints in the form of:

$$a_{i,1}x_1 + a_{i,2}x_2 + \cdots + a_{i,m}x_m \geq b_i$$

Therefore, the constraint can be written as:

$$a_{i,1}x_1 + a_{i,2}x_2 + \dots + a_{i,m}x_m - s_i = b_i$$

Thus, transforming equalities into the standard form based on the above conditions can be written as:

$$\begin{cases} x_1 + x_2 + s_1 = 27\\ 2x_1 + 5x_2 + s_2 = 90\\ -x_1 + x_2 + s_3 = 11\\ x_1 \ge 0 \quad \text{and} \quad x_2 \ge 0 \end{cases}$$

It is important to note that non-negative constraints remain in inequality forms of \geq or \leq . Figure 2.5 shows the feasible region and the corresponding constraints for example 2.2.

Step 2: Determine the basic and non-basic variables.

By considering f(x) as objective function and putting it along with the constraints, we will get the following system of linear equations:

$$Z - 2x_1 - 3x_2 = 0$$

$$\begin{cases} x_1 + x_2 + s_1 = 27 \\ 2x_1 + 5x_2 + s_2 = 90 \\ -x_1 + x_2 + s_3 = 11 \\ x_1 \ge 0 \text{ and } x_2 \ge 0 \end{cases}$$

The variables x_1 and x_2 are considered as *non-basic* variables and the other slack variables (s_1 , s_2 , and s_3) denoted as *basic* variables. In other words, the variables that only appear in one equation are basic and the other ones which are repeated in objective function and other equations are non-basic variables.

Step 3: Obtain entering and leaving variables.

The LP model in this problem includes five unknown variables $(n = 5) x_1, x_2$, s_1, s_2 , and s_3 and three equations (m = 3) which are the constraints of the problem. As the numbers of unknown variables are more than equations (n > m), we will assume that the two non-basic variables are equal zero in order to find a basic solution for desired problem. It is important to note that the possible solution for LP model can be obtained if n - m non-basic variables exist at the Zero level. By setting $x_1 = x_2 = 0$, we have: $f(x) = 0, s_1 = 27, s_2 = 90, s_3 = 11$.

Now the question is: can we still increase the objective function, or should this answer be considered as the optimal solution? By looking at the objective function equation, it can be seen that increasing x_1 or x_2 results in an increase in the values of f(x). Because both variables x_1 and x_2 have negative coefficients -2 and -3 respectively (or positive coefficients 2 and 3 in the original form as $f(x) = 2x_1 + 3x_2$), we still can increase the value of f(x) by setting higher values



Fig. 2.5 The feasible region and corresponding constraints of f(x)

for non-basic variables. On the other hand, if all coefficients of the objective function are nonnegative, it can be concluded that the current basic solution, f(x) = 0 that is obtained by setting $x_1 = x_2 = 0$, is the optimum solution.

In this problem, the coefficients of both non-basic variable are negative, and hence, still it is possible to increase one of the variables x_1 , or x_2 from zero to a higher value to increase the value of f(x). By increasing one of the non-basic variables from zero to a higher value, one of the basic variables should be pushed down to zero in order to maintain a feasible solution with n - m non-basic variables. The selected non-basic variable which are going to be a basic variable, is called the *entering variable* and the basic variable that is changed to a non-basic variable is named *leaving variable*. The largest negative coefficient in the function f(x) or the largest positive coefficient in the original f(x) function can be selected as the entering variable in the maximization problems. The main reason for choosing a variable with the most negative coefficient is its potential to increase the objective function as much as possible. It is important to note that there is an inverse way to choose the entering variable for a minimization problem. In other words, the variable with largest positive coefficient of f(x) is selected as the entering variable. However, in the simplex method it is easier to convert minimization problems into a maximization problem and then find the optimum value of the desired objective function. The maximized function can be found by seeking the minimum of the negative of the same function by changing f(x) to -f(x).

Based on discussions above, the entering variable candidates in this problem are x_1 and x_2 . As x_2 has the largest negative coefficient in $f(x) - 2x_1 - 3x_2 = 0$, it is selected as the entering variable. Once the *entering* variable is chosen, we need to determine one of the basic variables as *leaving* variable. The problem in the equality form can be written as:
$$\begin{cases} R_1 \to f(x) - 2x_1 - 3x_2 = 0\\ R_2 \to x_1 + x_2 + s_1 = 27\\ R_3 \to 2x_1 + 5x_2 + s_2 = 90\\ R_4 \to -x_1 + x_2 + s_3 = 11 \end{cases}$$

where, R_i means the *i*th row of the equality system. To solve this LP model, the initial tableau corresponding to the equations can be represented as following:

The leaving variable can be selected by calculating the ratio of right side of equations (last column of table) to the non-negative coefficients of selected entering variable in the rows linked to the basic variables (here R_2 , R_3 , R_4). The entering variable and its coefficients are **bold** in Table 2.1. Finally, the leaving variable will be the current basic variable associated with the row with minimum ratio. In this problem the ratios are calculated as:

$$R_2 \rightarrow \frac{27}{1} = 27$$
$$R_3 \rightarrow \frac{90}{5} = 18$$
$$R_4 \rightarrow \frac{11}{1} = 11$$

The minimum value among the rations (27, 18, 11) is 11 and so, the current basic variable associated with this ratio which is s_3 is selected as the leaving variable and consequently become a non-basic variable.

Step 4: Determine pivot equation.

In this step, the row associated with the minimum ratio is selected as *pivot* equation and the coefficient of entering variable in the pivoting row is the pivot element. In this example, the pivot equation is R_4 and the pivot element is 1. To make a new simplex table, both side of pivot equation should be divided by pivot element to have a unit value for pivot element, and then, add or subtract multiples of the pivot equation to or from the other rows (here R_1 , R_2 and R_3) in order to eliminate the selected entering variable (here x_2) from them. It is important to note that this method is called Gauss-Jordan elimination method. The equality equations after applying Gauss-Jordan elimination method will be changed as follows:

$$\begin{cases} R_1 + 3R_4 \to f(x) - 5x_1 + 3s_3 = 33\\ R_2 - R_4 \to 2x_1 + s_1 - s_3 = 16\\ R_3 - 5R_4 \to 7x_1 + s_2 - 5s_3 = 35\\ R_4 \to -x_1 + x_2 + s_3 = 11 \end{cases}$$

The new coefficients of all basic and non-basic variables based on the simplex method are shown in the Table 2.2.

Equations	All variables \rightarrow	f(x)	<i>x</i> ₁	<i>x</i> ₂	s_1	<i>s</i> ₂	<i>s</i> ₃	Right side of equations
R_1	f(x) Basic variables	1	-2	-3	0	0	0	0
R_2	<i>s</i> ₁	0	1	1	1	0	0	27
R_3	<i>s</i> ₂	0	2	5	0	1	0	90
R_4	<i>s</i> ₃	0	-1	1	0	0	1	11

Table 2.1 Simplex tableau based on the coefficients of basic and non-basic variables

Table 2.2 Simplex tableau based on the new coefficients of basic and non-basic variables

Equations	All variables \rightarrow	f(x)	x_1	<i>x</i> ₂	s_1	s_2	<i>s</i> ₃	Right side of equations
$R_1 + 3R_4$	f(x)	1	-5	0	0	0	+3	33
	Basic variables							
$R_2 - R_4$	<i>s</i> ₁	0	2	0	1	0	-1	16
$R_3 - 5R_4$	<i>s</i> ₂	0	7	0	0	1	-5	35
R_4	<i>x</i> ₂	0	-1	1	0	0	1	11

Step 5: Find the optimal solution.

Once the new basic and non-basic variables are determined and the new simplex table is generated, we need to examine if the computed value for f(x) is an optimal solution or not. Based on Table 2.2, there is a non-basic variable (i.e., x_1) in the first row of the tableau with negative coefficient -5 that has potential to improve the value of f(x). In other words, for this maximization problem by setting higher values for non-basic variable x_1 , the value of f(x) will be increased. Hence, the non-basic variable x_1 (it is **bold** in the Table 2.2) is considered as the entering variable and by using the same procedure described above the leaving variable should be selected. The ratios based on the new simplex table are:

$$R_2 - R_4 \rightarrow \frac{16}{2} = 8$$

 $R_3 - 5R_4 \rightarrow \frac{35}{7} = 5$

As the leaving variable is chosen by dividing the ratio of right side of equations to the non-negative coefficients of entering variable in the constraint rows, the coefficient -1 should not be considered. The minimum of values (8, 5) is 5, and so, the current basic variable associated with this ratio, which is s_2 , is chosen as the leaving variable. The pivot equation and pivot element here are $R_3 - 5R_4$ and 7, respectively. Afterward, both side of pivot equation is divided by pivot element to have a unit value for pivot element, and then, add or subtract multiples of the pivot equation to or from the other rows as $R_1 + 3R_4$, $R_2 - R_4$ and R_4 to eliminate the selected entering variable x_1 from them. The elimination procedure is:

$$\begin{cases} R'_1 = (R_1 + 3R_4) + 5R'_3 & \to & Z + \frac{5}{7}s_2 - \frac{4}{7}s_3 = 58\\ R'_2 = (R_2 - R_4) - 2R'_3 & \to & s_1 - \frac{2}{7}s_2 + \frac{3}{7}s_3 = 6\\ R'_3 = \frac{1}{7}(R_3 - 5R_4) & \to & x_1 + \frac{1}{7}s_2 - \frac{5}{7}s_3 = 5\\ R'_4 = R_4 + R'_3 & \to & x_2 + \frac{1}{7}s_2 + \frac{2}{7}s_3 = 16 \end{cases}$$

The new coefficients of all new basic and non-basic variables are shown in the Table 2.3.

As it can be seen from this new tableaux, the value of the objective function is increased from 33 to 58. Now the question is "is this the optimal solution?" To find the appropriate answer for this question, we need to examine the coefficients of variables in the first row (R'_1) and find the negative coefficient. If all coefficients are nonnegative, the optimization process is done and so, the final value of 58 will be the maximum for f(x). But, there still is a coefficient with negative value in the row of objective function of Table 2.3. Therefore, it can be concluded that s_3 is the entering variable and the leaving variable should be determined in this step. The ratios based on the previous simplex tableau are:

$$R'_2 \to \frac{6}{3/7} = 14$$

 $R'_4 \to \frac{16}{2/7} = 56$

The minimum value of (14, 56) is 14 and so, the current basic variable associated with this ratio, which is s_1 is chosen as the leaving variable. The pivot equation and pivot element here are R'_2 and 3/7 respectively. Now we will try to eliminate the selected entering variable s_1 from the equation system as follow:

$$\begin{cases} R_1'' = R_1' + \frac{4}{7}R_2'' & \to \quad Z + \frac{4}{3}s_1 + \frac{1}{3}s_2 = 66\\ R_2'' = R_2' & \to \quad \frac{7}{3}s_1 - \frac{2}{3}s_2 + s_3 = 14\\ R_3'' = R_3' + \frac{5}{7}R_2'' & \to \quad x_1 + \frac{5}{3}s_1 - \frac{1}{3}s_2 = 15\\ R_4'' = R_4' - \frac{2}{7}R_2'' & \to \quad x_2 - \frac{2}{3}s_1 + \frac{1}{3}s_2 = 12 \end{cases}$$

The calculated coefficients for all new basic and non-basic variables are presented in the Table 2.4. As it can be seen from the objective coefficients in the row of R_1'' , all coefficients are nonnegative and hence, no non-basic variable to increase the value of the objective function. Therefore, the current solution $x_1 = 15$ and $x_2 = 12$ are the optimum solution, and the maximum value of Z is 66.

The LP problems with many constraints and objective functions also can be solved quickly by applying powerful software like Excel. Excel contains a powerful tool, called Solver, to find the optimal solution of linear programming using the simplex method. This tool can be found on the Data tab of the Excel worksheet in which the opening window looks like Fig. 2.6. As seen from this figure, the first section of Solver Parameters window is *Set Objective*. In this part, we need to address the cell reference or name for the objective cell which contains a formula. Afterward, the value of the objective cell should be determined as: Max, Min, or a Value (the objective cell to be a certain value). The third part is *By Changing Variable Cells*

Equations	All variables \rightarrow	Ζ	<i>x</i> ₁	<i>x</i> ₂	<i>s</i> ₁	<i>s</i> ₂	<i>s</i> ₃	Right side of equations
R'_1	Ζ	1	0	0	0	$\frac{5}{7}$	$-\frac{4}{7}$	58
	Basic variables							
R'_2	<i>s</i> ₁	0	0	0	1	$-\frac{2}{7}$	$\frac{3}{7}$	6
R'_3	<i>x</i> ₁	0	1	0	0	$\frac{1}{7}$	$-\frac{5}{7}$	5
R'_4	<i>x</i> ₂	0	0	1	0	$\frac{1}{7}$	$\frac{2}{7}$	16

Table 2.3 New coefficients of basic and non-basic variables based on the simplex method

Table 2.4 New coefficients of basic and non-basic variables based on the simplex method

Equations	All variables \rightarrow	f(x)	<i>x</i> ₁	<i>x</i> ₂	s_1	<i>s</i> ₂	<i>s</i> ₃	Right side of equations
R_1''	f(x)	1	0	0	$\frac{4}{3}$	$\frac{1}{3}$	0	66
	Basic variables							
R_2''	<i>s</i> ₃	0	0	0	$\frac{7}{3}$	$-\frac{2}{3}$	1	14
R_3''	<i>x</i> ₁	0	1	0	53	$-\frac{1}{3}$	0	15
R_4''	<i>x</i> ₂	0	0	1	$-\frac{2}{3}$	$\frac{1}{3}$	0	12

that is used for choosing the decision variable cell ranges. It is important to note that the decision variables must be related to the objective cell. To enter all constraints of the problem, the *Subject to the Constraints* box should be applied. In this case, click the *Add* option and in the *Cell Reference* box, enter the cell reference of constraints. Excel provides the following three different techniques to solve an optimization problem: (1) Simplex LP, (2) GRG Nonlinear, and (3) Evolutionary approaches. The application of Excel in solving LP problems are illustrated in the following examples. The following example is a linear problem, and the Simplex LP method is selected to find the optimum value of profit (*R*). It should be noted that Solver is not a very robust tool for non-linear and complex optimization problems, but it is useful to find solution of simple problems.

Example 2.3 The proper monitoring of earth dams and safety evaluation of the large structure under operational conditions require using a number of instruments such as piezometers to monitor the earthen embankment pore water pressures for potential engineering improvement (filter systems, cut off walls, sheet piles, low permeability apron, etc.) to prevent failure. The Caspian Company has two production lines and produces two types of piezometers called " P_1 " and " P_2 ". The P_1 production line has a capacity of 25 piezometers per day, whereas the daily capacity of the P_2 line is only 35 piezometers. The labors requirement to produce P_1 and P_2 are 2 man-hours and 3 man-hours, respectively. The maximum capacity of Caspian Company is 140 labor hours per day to produce two types of piezometers. Determine the daily production, if the profit for the P_1 piezometer is \$20 and for the P_2 piezometer is \$25.

Set Objective:	\$A\$2			
To: O Max	© Mi <u>n</u>	© <u>V</u> alue Of:	0	
By Changing Variable Ce	ells:			
\$8\$2:\$C\$2				
Subject to the Constrain	nts:			
\$8\$2 <= 25 \$C\$2 <= 35 \$D\$2 <= 140			*	Add
\$0\$2 <= 14)			[Change
				<u>D</u> elete
			[Reset All
			-	Load/Save
Make Unconstrained	Variables Non-	Negative		
Select a Solving Method	Si	mplex LP		Options
Solving Method				
Select the GRG Nonline engine for linear Solver non-smooth.				

Fig. 2.6 The Solver parameters in Excel 2010

Solution:

- 1. The first step is to determine the objective and associated constraints of example problem. It is obvious that the objective function is maximizing the profit R(\$) subject to the following constraints:
 - (a) The number of P_1 piezometers (n_{p1}) produced each day are less than or equal to 25,
 - (b) The number of P_2 piezometers (n_{p2}) produced each day are less than or equal to 35,
 - (c) The total number of labor hours is a linear function of 2 and 3 man-hours for production of piezometers, that is: $2n_{p1} + 3n_{p2} \le 140$.

And the profit function in this example can be written as follow:

$$R(\$) = (n_{p_1} \times 20\$) + (n_{p_2} \times 25\$)$$

Then, the exact statement of this problem or the objective function is:

$$\max R(\$) = (n_{p_1} \times 20\$) + (n_{p_2} \times 25\$)$$

Subject to:

$$n_{p_1} \le 25; \quad n_{p_2} \le 35; \quad 2n_{p_1} + 3n_{p_2} \le 140$$

Figure 2.7 shows the governing conditions in the Caspian Company to produce the piezometers. Based on the constraints, the feasible production combinations are the points in the shaded area of Fig. 2.7 and we need to find a point in this area that makes the highest profit. To solve this problem, different values for n_{p1} are considered, then associated n_{p2} are calculated, and finally the target point considering all constraints is found. Based on the presented results in Table 2.5, the acceptable ranges that meet all constraints of this problem are from 30 to 34, for n_{p2} and from 19 to 25 for n_{p1} which are shown in a gray color. According to this range, the highest profit for n_{p2} and n_{p1} are equal to 30 and 25, respectively.

The first column of Table 2.5 includes various numbers of P_2 piezometers (n_{p2}), while the second column (n_{p1}) is calculated based on the relationship between two variables P_1 and P_2 . According to the results, if the Caspian Company produces 25 P_1 type and 30 P_2 type piezometers per day, the highest profit will occur.

In summary, the procedure for finding optimal solution using the Excel Solver can be explained as:

- 1. Set Objective: set the profit as target value that should be maximized,
- 2. By Changing Variables Cells: consider n_{p1} and n_{p2} as decision variables,
- 3. Subject to the Constraints: determine the constraints as: $n_{p1} \le 25$, $n_{p2} \le 35$, and $2n_{p1} + 3n_{p2} \le 140$.

The achieved results using the Solver tool are the same as the computed results in the previous section. It is important to note that the existence of solution is only dependent on the defined constraints of the desired problem and it is not a function of objective function.

2. If the maximum capacity of Caspian Company is changed from 140 to 170 persons-hour of labor per day, there would not be feasible solution regarding this new production constraint, and there is no single point to satisfy all constraints. Figure 2.8 and Table 2.6 illustrate the feasible production combinations of piezometer productions by considering new values for the labor constraint.



Fig. 2.7 The feasible production combinations for Caspian Company

n_{p2}	$n_{p1} = (140 - 3n_{p2})/2$	<i>R</i> (\$)	n_{p2}	$n_{p1} = (140 - 3n_{p2})/2$	<i>R</i> (\$)
0	70	1,400	24	34	1,280
2	67	1,390	26	31	1,270
4	64	1,380	28	28	1,260
6	61	1,370	30	25	1,250
8	58	1,360	32	22	1,240
10	55	1,350	34	19	1,230
12	52	1,340	36	16	1,220
14	49	1,330	38	13	1,210
16	46	1,320	40	10	1,200
18	43	1,310	42	7	1,190
20	40	1,300	44	4	1,180
22	37	1,290	46	1	1,170

Table 2.5 The possible combination of piezometer productions in Caspian Company

As can be seen from Table 2.6, there is no solution that satisfies all constraints, and hence, this problem is infeasible for the new value of labor constraint.

Using the Solver tool in Excel, the same results will be achieved and the program shows the following message as: *The Objective Cells values don't converge* (Fig. 2.9).

3. As mentioned previously, the unbounded solution happens when the feasible region (shaded area in Fig 2.7) is unbounded and so the value of objective



Fig. 2.8 The feasible production combinations for new labor constraint

n_{p2}	$n_{p1} = (170 - 3n_{p2})/2$	R(\$)	n_{p2}	$n_{p1} = (170 - 3n_{p2})/2$	R(\$)
0	85	1,700	24	49	1,580
2	82	1,690	26	46	1,570
4	79	1,680	28	43	1,560
6	76	1,670	30	40	1,550
8	73	1,660	32	37	1,540
10	70	1,650	34	34	1,530
12	67	1,640	36	31	1,520
14	64	1,630	38	28	1,510
16	61	1,620	40	25	1,500
18	58	1,610	42	22	1,490
20	55	1,600	44	19	1,480
22	52	1,590	46	16	1,470

Table 2.6 The possible combination of piezometer productions with new labor constraint

function can be increased or decreased to infinity without leaving the feasible region. For instance if we don't consider any constraint for n_{p1} (ignore constraints 1 and 3) its value can be varied from zero to infinity, and hence, the profit (*R*) simultaneously rises and approaches infinity (Fig. 2.10).

4. If the profit for each P_2 piezometer is changed from 25\$ to \$30, the profit function will be changed as follow:

$$R(\$) = (n_{p_1} \times 20\$) + (n_{p_2} \times 30\$)$$

In this case, there may be more than one combination of producing P_1 and P_2 piezometers to reach the maximum profit. As can be seen in Table 2.7, the

The Objective Cell values do not converge.	
	Reports
⊙ Keep Solver Solution	
O <u>R</u> estore Original Values	
Return to Solver Parameters Dialog	Outline Reports
<u>O</u> K <u>C</u> ancel	Save Scenario
The Objective Cell values do not co	nverge.
Solver can make the Objective Cell minimizing) as it wants.	as large (or small when

Fig. 2.9 The solver results



Fig. 2.10 The unbounded condition

production of different numbers of P_1 and P_2 piezometers resulted in same profit for Caspian Company. In other words, it is possible to produce several different combination of P_1 piezometer (e.g., 19, 22, or 25) or P_2 piezometer (e.g., 34, 32, or 30), while the profit is still constant and it is 1,400\$. Hence, there are multiple optimal solutions to produce n_{p2} and n_{p1} in comparison to a unique optimal solution discussed above.

5. It is important to note that addition or subtraction of a positive constant value to or from the objective function will not change the optimum solution of the problem. This rule also is confirmed for multiplication or division of objective function by a positive constant value. In this section, the Caspian Company's profits are calculated for different profit functions as follows, and then the optimum solutions are determined in each case.

$$R(\$) = [(n_{p_1} \times 20) + (n_{p_2} \times 25)] + 35$$

$$R(\$) = [(n_{p_1} \times 20) + (n_{p_2} \times 25)] - 20$$

$$R(\$) = [(n_{p_1} \times 20) + (n_{p_2} \times 25)] \times 1.5$$

$$R(\$) = [(n_{p_1} \times 20) + (n_{p_2} \times 25)]/5$$

The results show that the optimum solutions in all cases are constant as $n_{p1} = 25$, and $n_{p2} = 30$ and they are not changed by changing the profit function with a positive constant value (Table 2.8).

Figure 2.11 shows any addition, subtraction, multiplication, and division of a constant value to or from desired objective function doesn't change the optimum solution for n_{p1} .

In the following section the application of simplex method for solving three types of common optimization problems in the field of water resources engineering are presented. The problems cover the process of linear programming for water distribution networks with and without pump stations, confined aquifer with one-dimensional steady-state flow, and confined aquifer with two-dimensional steady-state flow.

2.3.1 Optimization of Water Distribution Networks

A water distribution network is a major urban infrastructure which distributes water supply to residential, industrial, and commercial customers under various demand conditions at adequate pressures and flows. In general, water distribution systems are composed of pipes, pumps, distribution storages like reservoirs, and other hydraulic components. In addition to design and analysis of a water distribution system form a hydraulic point of view, a designer needs to determine the minimum cost of a distribution system to meet demands for all users at required pressure level. The overall cost of a water distribution system includes:

- 1. Cost of piping and appurtenances such as pumps, valves, flush hydrants, reservoirs, tanks, etc.,
- 2. Cost of energy for pumping the water to desired network connections to provide the minimum required pressure head elevation, and

	1	1	1		
n_{p2}	$n_{p1} = (140 - 3n_{p2})/2$	R(\$)	n_{p2}	$n_{p1} = (140 - 3n_{p2})/2$	<i>R</i> (\$)
0	70	1,400	24	34	1,400
2	67	1,400	26	31	1,400
4	64	1,400	28	28	1,400
6	61	1,400	30	25	1,400
8	58	1,400	32	22	1,400
10	55	1,400	34	19	1,400
12	52	1,400	36	16	1,400
14	49	1,400	38	13	1,400
16	46	1,400	40	10	1,400
18	43	1,400	42	7	1,400
20	40	1,400	44	4	1,400
22	37	1,400	46	1	1,400

Table 2.7 The possible combination of piezometer productions with multiple solutions

Table 2.8 The values of different profit function for Caspian Company

n_{p1}	n_{p2}	R(\$)	R + 35 (\$)	R -	$R \times 1.5$ (\$)	<i>R</i> /
	-			20 (\$)		5 (\$)
25	30	1,250	1,285	1,230	1,875	250
22	32	1,240	1,275	1,220	1,860	248
19	34	1,230	1,265	1,210	1,845	246



Fig. 2.11 Variation of profits versus n_{p1}

3. Operation and maintenance costs that includes administration and management of personnel, flushing the system at a particular time interval, repairing pipes, servicing of the pumps, billing customers, etc.

2.3 Simplex Method

In this problem, we will optimize the piping cost (pipe length with a specific diameter of a simple branched water distribution system) with and without considering a pump station in the system. In other words, the main objective function here is obtaining the length of pipe with specific diameter (*d*) in each reach $(L_{i,j})$ between two connections of desired water distribution networks to minimize the cost of piping. A water distribution system tends to use a pipe or a combination of pipes in each reach to have minimum piping cost, while it has to satisfy the water demands and pressure requirements at all nodes as well as hydraulic constraints. The optimization process in the form of linear programming (LP) can be written as follow:

min
$$Z = \sum_{i,j} \sum_{d_{i,j}} C_{i,j,d} l_{i,j,d} + \sum_{n} C_{p_n} H_{p_n}$$
 (2.9)

where, $C_{i,j,d}$ and $l_{i,j,d}$ are the cost per unit length, and the length of pipe between nodes *i* and *j* with diameter *d*, respectively: H_{pn} is the pumping head, *n* is the total number of pumps in the system, and C_{pn} is the cost per unit of pumping head. It is important to note that when there is no pump station in a water distribution system, the second term of Eq. (2.9) should be omitted. The main constraints for a water distribution network are energy and length constraints in conjunction with nonnegativity of all pipes length and pumping head elevation. The constraints in this case can be written as:

1. Energy constraint:

$$H_{min,k} \le H_c + \sum_n H_{p_n} - \sum_{i,j} \sum_{d_{i,j}} I_{i,j,d} l_{i,j,d} \le H_{max,k}$$
(2.10)

where, $H_{min,k}$ and $H_{max,k}$ are the minimum and maximum required head at the demand point k, respectively: k is the total number of demand points, H_c is the constant elevation of piping system, and $I_{i,j,d}$ is the hydraulic gradient or gradient between two hydraulic head measurements over the length of the flow path. The energy loss for water flow in a pipe can be estimated using the Darcy-Weisbach equation as:

$$H_L = I \times l = \frac{8fQ^2}{\pi^2 g d^5} l \tag{2.11}$$

where, f is Darcy-Weisbach friction factor, Q is flow rate (cfs), and d is diameter of pipe (ft).

2. Length constraint:

$$\sum_{i,j,d} l_{i,j,d} = L_{i,j} \tag{2.12}$$

where, $L_{i,j}$ is the total reach length between each two connections that is a known variable in these types of problems. In other words, the total length of pipe in every reach, which can be a combination of pipes with different diameters, must be equaled to the total reach length between two connections.

3. Non-negativity conditions:

$$\begin{cases} l_{i,j,d} \ge 0\\ H_{p_n} \ge 0 \end{cases}$$
(2.13)

Example 2.4 According to the above statements, determine the minimum cost of pipe and pump (head elevation) in various demand nodes in the following conditions:

- 1. When there is no pump in the system (Fig. 2.12), and
- 2. When there is a pump station in the system (Fig. 2.13).

Other necessary information includes:

- (a) The unit cost of pipe for two standard diameters (Table 2.9),
- (b) The minimum required pressure head elevations for all determined users (A, B, and C) are 550 (ft) and the demand discharges are presented in Table 2.10.
- (c) Darcy-Weisbach friction factor is 0.02,
- (d) The unit cost of pumping head is 220\$,
- (e) The total length of pipe between each connection is 1,000 ft.
- (f) The constant elevation of piping system is assumed 650 ft when there is no pump in the system, and 555 ft when a pump is considered in the system.

Solution:

1. As noted above, the objective function is to minimize the cost, of pipes (smaller diameter) and it can be defined as follow:

$$\begin{aligned} \min Z &= \left(C_{0,1,1}l_{0,1,1} + C_{0,1,2}l_{0,1,2}\right) + \left(C_{1,2,1}l_{1,2,1} + C_{1,2,2}l_{1,2,2}\right) + \left(C_{2,3,1}l_{2,3,1} + C_{2,3,2}l_{2,3,2}\right) \\ &+ \left(C_{2,4,1}l_{2,4,1} + C_{2,4,2}l_{2,4,2}\right) + \left(C_{1,5,1}l_{1,5,1} + C_{1,5,2}l_{1,5,2}\right) \\ &= \left(10 \times l_{0,1,1} + 15 \times l_{0,1,2}\right) + \left(10 \times l_{1,2,1} + 15 \times l_{1,2,2}\right) + \left(10 \times l_{2,3,1} + 15 \times l_{2,3,2}\right) \\ &+ \left(10 \times l_{2,4,1} + 15 \times l_{2,4,2}\right) + \left(10 \times l_{1,5,1} + 15 \times l_{1,5,2}\right) \end{aligned}$$

Subject to

- (a) The length constraints as:
 - $l_{0,1,1} + l_{0,1,2} = 1,000 \text{ ft}$ $l_{1,2,1} + l_{1,2,2} = 1,000 \text{ ft}$ $l_{2,3,1} + l_{2,3,2} = 1,000 \text{ ft}$ $l_{2,4,1} + l_{2,4,2} = 1,000 \text{ ft}$ $l_{1,5,1} + l_{1,5,2} = 1,000 \text{ ft}$



Table 2.9 The cost information of pipes based on diameters

Diameter (in)	Diameter (ft)	Cost (\$/ft)
21.0	1.75	10.0
24.0	2.00	15.0

Table 2.10 Demand discharges information

	Demand discharges								
	Q_1	Q_2	Q_3	Q_4	Q_5	Q_6			
User A	$Q_{A} = 10$	$Q_{A} = 14$	$Q_{A} = 18$	$Q_{A} = 15$	$Q_{A} = 18$	$Q_{\rm A} = 20$			
User B	$Q_{\rm B} = 12$	$Q_{\rm B} = 18$	$Q_{\rm B} = 20$	$Q_{\rm B} = 17$	$Q_B = 18$	$Q_{\rm B} = 21$			
User C	$Q_{\rm C} = 14$	$Q_{\rm C}=20$	$Q_{\rm C}=24$	$Q_C = 36$	$Q_C = 31$	$Q_{\rm C}=23$			

(b) The energy constraints for all users is as follows:

For user A:

$$650 - (I_{0,1,1} \times l_{0,1,1} + I_{0,1,2}l_{0,1,2}) - (I_{1,2,1}l_{1,2,1} + I_{1,2,2}l_{1,2,2}) - (I_{2,3,1}l_{2,3,1} + I_{2,3,2}l_{2,3,2}) \ge 550$$

where,

$$I_{0,1,1} = \frac{8fQ^2}{\pi^2 g d^5} = \frac{8 \times 0.02 \times (Q_A + Q_B + Q_C)^2}{\pi^2 \times 32.2 \times (1.75)^5}$$

2 Linear Optimization

The hydraulic gradient for Q_1 is:

$$I_{0,1,1} = \frac{8 \times 0.02 \times (36)^2}{\pi^2 \times 32.2 \times (1.75)^5} = 0.0398 \, \text{ft/ft}$$

and for $I_{2,4,2}$ and Q_3 the hydraulic gradient is:

$$I_{2,4,2} = \frac{8 \times 0.02 \times (20)^2}{\pi^2 \times 32.2 \times (2)^5} = 0.0063 \, \text{ft/ft}$$

Then, the hydraulic constraint for user A in Q_1 will be calculated as:

$$\begin{aligned} & 650 - \left(0.0398 \times l_{0,1,1} + 0.0204 \times l_{0,1,2}\right) - \left(0.0149 \times l_{1,2,1} + 0.0076 \times l_{1,2,2}\right) \\ & - \left(0.0031 \times l_{2,3,1} + 0.0016 \times l_{2,3,2}\right) \ge 550 \end{aligned}$$

and for user B in Q_1 is:

$$650 - (I_{0,1,1} \times l_{0,1,1} + I_{0,1,2}l_{0,1,2}) - (I_{1,2,1}l_{1,2,1} + I_{1,2,2}l_{1,2,2}) - (I_{2,4,1}l_{2,4,1} + I_{2,4,2}l_{2,4,2}) = 650 - (0.0398 \times l_{0,1,1} + 0.0204 \times l_{0,1,2}) - (0.0149 \times l_{1,2,1} + 0.0076 \times l_{1,2,2}) - (0.0044 \times l_{2,4,1} + 0.0023 \times l_{2,4,2}) \ge 550$$

and finally for user C in Q_1 is:

$$650 - (I_{0,1,1} \times l_{0,1,1} + I_{0,1,2}l_{0,1,2}) - (I_{1,5,1}l_{1,5,1} + I_{1,5,2}l_{1,5,2}) \\ = 650 - (0.0398 \times l_{0,1,1} + 0.0204 \times l_{0,1,2}) - (0.0060 \times l_{1,5,1} + 0.0031 \times l_{1,5,2}) \ge 550$$

The noted procedure above should be repeated for existing users in different demand points. The values of hydraulic gradient for all reaches and various demand discharges are shown in the Table 2.11

In the next step, the optimum values of pipes length are calculated by minimizing the objective function, Z. The simplex LP method (ExcellDatalSolver) is applied for optimization analysis and the results are presented in the Table 2.12.

2. In this section, the optimization problem is formulated for desired water distribution network by considering a pump station in the system (Fig. 2.13). Therefore, the objective function in this case can be written as:

$$\begin{split} \min Z &= \left(C_p H_p\right) + \left(C_{0,1,1} l_{0,1,1} + C_{0,1,2} l_{0,1,2}\right) + \left(C_{1,2,1} l_{1,2,1} + C_{1,2,2} l_{1,2,2}\right) \\ &+ \left(C_{2,3,1} l_{2,3,1} + C_{2,3,2} l_{2,3,2}\right) + \left(C_{2,4,1} l_{2,4,1} + C_{2,4,2} l_{2,4,2}\right) + \left(C_{1,5,1} l_{1,5,1} + C_{1,5,2} l_{1,5,2}\right) \\ &= \left(220 \times H_p\right) + \left(10 \times l_{0,1,1} + 15 \times l_{0,1,2}\right) + \left(10 \times l_{1,2,1} + 15 \times l_{1,2,2}\right) \\ &+ \left(10 \times l_{2,3,1} + 15 \times l_{2,3,2}\right) + \left(10 \times l_{2,4,1} + 15 \times l_{2,4,2}\right) \\ &+ \left(10 \times l_{1,5,1} + 15 \times l_{1,5,2}\right) \end{split}$$

The length constraints are the same as presented in the previous section, and the energy constraint for user *A* can be written as:

Hydraulic gradient	$Q_{A} = 10$	$O_{A} = 14$	$Q_{A} = 18$	$Q_{A} = 18$	$Q_{A} = 15$	$O_{A} = 20$
, ,	$Q_{\rm B} = 12$	$Q_{\rm B} = 18$	$Q_B = 20$	$Q_{\rm B} = 18$	$Q_{\rm B} = 17$	$Q_{\rm B} = 21$
	$Q_{\rm C} = 14$	$Q_C = 20$	$Q_{\rm C} = 24$	$Q_{\rm C} = 31$	$Q_{\rm C} = 36$	$Q_{\rm C} = 23$
<i>I</i> _{0,1,1}	0.0398	0.0830	0.1180	0.1378	0.1420	0.1258
$I_{0,1,2}$	0.0204	0.0426	0.0605	0.0707	0.0728	0.0645
$I_{1,2,1}$	0.0149	0.0314	0.0443	0.0398	0.0314	0.0516
$I_{1,2,2}$	0.0076	0.0161	0.0227	0.0204	0.0161	0.0265
I _{2,3,1}	0.0031	0.0060	0.0099	0.0099	0.0069	0.0123
I _{2,3,2}	0.0016	0.0031	0.0051	0.0051	0.0035	0.0063
$I_{2,4,1}$	0.0044	0.0099	0.0123	0.0099	0.0089	0.0135
I _{2,4,2}	0.0023	0.0051	0.0063	0.0051	0.0046	0.0069
$I_{1,5,1}$	0.0060	0.0123	0.0177	0.0295	0.0398	0.0162
I _{1,5,2}	0.0031	0.0063	0.0091	0.0151	0.0204	0.0083

$$555 + H_p - (I_{0,1,1} \times l_{0,1,1} + I_{0,1,2}l_{0,1,2}) - (I_{1,2,1}l_{1,2,1} + I_{1,2,2}l_{1,2,2}) - (I_{2,3,1}l_{2,3,1} + I_{2,3,2}l_{2,3,2}) \ge 550$$

and for user B is:

$$555 + H_p - (I_{0,1,1} \times l_{0,1,1} + I_{0,1,2}l_{0,1,2}) - (I_{1,2,1}l_{1,2,1} + I_{1,2,2}l_{1,2,2}) - (I_{2,4,1}l_{2,4,1} + I_{2,4,2}l_{2,4,2}) \ge 550$$

and finally for user C has following form:

$$555 + H_p - (I_{0,1,1} \times l_{0,1,1} + I_{0,1,2}l_{0,1,2}) - (I_{1,5,1}l_{1,5,1} + I_{1,5,2}l_{1,5,2}) \ge 550$$

The optimized lengths for different demand points are presented in Table 2.13.

2.3.2 Optimization of One-Dimensional Confined Aquifers

The occurrence and movement of water beneath the surface of the Earth is called groundwater flow, and it when occurs in the saturated soil and rock below the water table, it is called saturated flow. Groundwater flow is an important part of the hydrologic cycle where different types of surface water such as reservoirs, rivers, streams, and overland flow from precipitation infiltrate into the earth crust and become subsurface water. A significant part of the subsurface water can be either stored or transmitted through a geological unit called *aquifer*. In other words, an aquifer is an underground water-saturated formation or layer consisting of permeable rock, sediment, or soil that yields usable amounts of water to wells and springs. Wells can be drilled into the aquifers to pump groundwater from the aquifer and deliver it to various demand points such as domestic, industrial, agricultural,

Pipe segment	$Q_{A} = 10$	$Q_{A} = 14$	$Q_{A} = 18$	$Q_{A} = 18$	$Q_{A} = 15$	$Q_{A} = 20$
	$Q_{\rm B} = 12$	$Q_{\rm B} = 18$	$Q_{\rm B} = 20$	$Q_B = 18$	$Q_{\rm B} = 17$	$Q_{\rm B} = 21$
	$Q_{\rm C} = 14$	$Q_C = 20$	$Q_C = 24$	$Q_{C} = 31$	$Q_{\rm C} = 36$	$Q_{\rm C} = 23$
$l_{0,1,1}$	1,000	396.21	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
$l_{0,1,2}$	0.00	603.79	1,000	1,000	1,000	1,000
$l_{1,2,1}$	1,000	1,000	205.42	0.00	142.02	0.00
l _{1,2,2}	0.00	0.00	794.57	1,000	857.97	1,000
l _{2,3,1}	1,000	1,000	1,000	781.85	1,000	454.29
l _{2,3,2}	0.00	0.00	0.00	218.14	0.00	545.70
l _{2,4,1}	1,000	1,000	1,000	781.85	1,000	314.15
l _{2,4,2}	0.00	0.00	0.00	218.14	0.00	685.84
$l_{1,5,1}$	1,000	1,000	1,000	985.69	349.02	1,000
$l_{1,5,2}$	0.00	0.00	0.00	14.30	650.97	0.00
min $Z(\$)$	50,000	53,018.95	58,972.86	62252.99	62,544.721	66,157.75

 Table 2.12 The optimized lengths when there is no pumping station

 Length of pipe (ft)

Table 2.13 The optimized lengths when there is a pumping station

Length of pipe (f	t)					
Pipe segment	$\begin{array}{l} Q_A = 10 \\ Q_B = 12 \\ Q_C = 14 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{l} Q_A = 14 \\ Q_B = 18 \\ Q_C = 20 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{l} Q_A = 18 \\ Q_B = 20 \\ Q_C = 24 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{l} Q_A = 18 \\ Q_B = 18 \\ Q_C = 31 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{l} Q_A = 15 \\ Q_B = 17 \\ Q_C = 36 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{l} Q_A=20\\ Q_B=21\\ Q_C=23 \end{array}$
$\begin{array}{c} l_{0,1,1} \\ l_{0,1,2} \\ l_{1,2,1} \\ l_{1,2,2} \\ l_{2,3,1} \\ l_{2,3,2} \\ l_{2,4,1} \\ l_{2,4,2} \\ l_{1,5,1} \\ l_{1,5,2} \\ l_{2,5,1} \\ l_{3,5,2} \\ l_{3,5,1} \\$	1,000	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
	0.00	1,000	1,000	1,000	1,000	1,000
	1,000	1,000	1,000	1,000	1,000	0.00
	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	1,000
	1,000	1,000	1,000	1,000	1,000	1,000
	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
	1,000	1,000	1,000	1,000	1,000	1,000
	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
	1,000	1,000	1,000	1,000	1,000	1,000
	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
Optimum of <i>Hp</i>	54.077	78.977	112.160	115.441	108.140	99.524
min <i>Z</i> (\$)	61,897.00	72,374.83	79,675.28	80,396.92	78,790.82	81,895.20

or environmental segments. Based on the physical characteristics of aquifers, they can be categorized into confined and unconfined aquifers. The confined or artesian aquifer is one in which the groundwater is sandwiched between two layers with low permeability and it is under pressure greater than atmospheric. On the other hand, the unconfined aquifers contain a water table instead of impermeable layer above the saturation zone (Fig. 2.14). It is important to note that when a well is drilled into confined aquifers, the groundwater rises above the upper boundary of aquifer and may even flow from the well onto the land surface, while, the water level in wells will be at the same elevation as the water table in an unconfined aquifer.



Fig. 2.14 Confined and unconfined aquifers

The general form of a two-dimensional diffusion equation for flow through a heterogeneous anisotropic media considering recharge or discharge (for example from a well) can be written as:

$$T_x \frac{\partial^2 h}{\partial x^2} + T_y \frac{\partial^2 h}{\partial y^2} = S \frac{\partial h}{\partial t} + W$$
(2.14)

where $T(L^2/T)$ is transmissivity, h(L) is hydraulic head, *S* is the storage coefficient (dimensionless), *t* is time, and W(L/T) is a sink term. The transmissivity is an important hydraulic property of aquifers which shows the capability of aquifer to transmit water through its whole saturated thickness. In other words, transmissivity can be defined as the rate of water flow through a cross-sectional area of an aquifer with a unit width and thickness *b* under unit hydraulic gradient. This parameter in a confined aquifer is calculated, as follow:

$$T = K.b \tag{2.15}$$

where, K(L/T) and b(L) are the hydraulic conductivity and the saturated thickness of aquifer respectively. For unconfined aquifers the saturated thickness can be replaced with the hydraulic head h as:

$$T = K.h \tag{2.16}$$

The other variable in Eq. (2.14) is the dimensionless factor storage coefficient or storativity that is defined as volume of water the aquifer will store or release per unit surface area and per unit decrease or increase in hydraulic head. This factor shows the ability of aquifer to store water and can be computed as:

$$S = b.S_s \tag{2.17}$$

where, $S_s(L^{-1})$ is the specific storage and it is defined as amount of water that an aquifer releases from storage per unit volume of saturated area per unit decline or raise in hydraulic head while remaining fully saturated. It is important to know that the values of storage coefficient in confined aquifers are less than 5×10^{-3} and more than 5×10^{-5} (Todd 1980). For unconfined aquifer, the storage coefficient varies from 0.01 to 0.30. The sink term *W* is the net discharge (e.g., withdrawal from a well) or recharge (*q*) from the control volume and is equal to:

$$W_{ij} = \frac{q_{ij}}{\Delta x_i \Delta y_j} \tag{2.18}$$

The positive and negative values of q represents pumping and recharge, respectively.

Example 2.5 Consider a confined aquifer with one-dimensional steady-state flow and fixed hydraulic heads along the boundaries, as is shown in Fig. 2.15. Develop an LP model to maximize the hydraulic heads for various pumping rates and determine the optimum head in each well for the following conditions:

- 1. The minimum value of the total desired discharge (W_{min}) from all wells is equal to 4 ft/day,
- 2. The minimum value of the desired discharge (W_{min}) from each well is equal to 4 ft/day.

The necessary information to solve this problem are: $W_{min} = 4$ ft/day, $\Delta x = 100$ ft, T = 10,000 ft²/day, $h_0 = 125$ ft, $h_4 = 100$ ft.

Solution: The governing equation for the one-dimensional steady-state flow in(only x - direction) considering the pumping wells in confined aquifer can be derived from Eq. (2.14) as follows:

$$T_x \frac{\partial^2 h}{\partial x^2} + \underbrace{T_y \frac{\partial^2 h}{\partial y^2} = S \frac{\partial h}{\partial x^2}}_{\text{This term becomes } 0} + W \Rightarrow \frac{\partial^2 h}{\partial x^2} = \frac{W}{T_x}$$
(2.19)

The implementation form of the Eq. (2.19) based on the central finite difference technique has the following form:

$$\frac{h_{i+1} - 2h_i + h_{i-1}}{\left(\Delta x\right)^2} = \frac{W_i}{T_x}$$
(2.20)

The objective function to maximize the hydraulic heads for various pumping rates can be written as (Aguado et al. 1974):



Fig. 2.15 A confined aquifer with one-dimensional steady-state flow and fixed hydraulic heads

$$\max Z = \sum_{i=1}^{n} h_i \tag{2.21}$$

where, *n* is the number of wells (in this example n = 3), and h_i is the hydraulic head in each well. The constraints that should be applied in this problem are:

Subject to
$$\begin{cases} \frac{h_{i+1} - 2h_i + h_{i-1}}{(\Delta x)^2} = \frac{W_i}{T_x} \\ W_i \ge 0 \quad i = 1 \text{ton} \\ h_i \ge 0 \end{cases}$$
(2.22)

It should be noted that to provide a minimum specific pumping rates for all wells together, the following constraint also must be considered:

$$\sum_{i=1}^{n} W_i \ge W_{min} \tag{2.23}$$

in which, W_{min} is the minimum value of the total desired discharge from wells. The following supplementary constraint is useful for finding the optimum hydraulic heads in wells:

$$h_i \ge h_{i+1} \quad i = 0 \text{ to } n \tag{2.24}$$

The developed LP model for having minimum value of 4 (ft/day) discharge from all wells together, can be written as:

$$\max Z = h_1 + h_2 + h_3$$

Subject to the following constraints as:

$$\begin{cases} i = 1 \to \frac{h_2 - 2h_1 + h_0}{(\Delta x)^2} = \frac{W_1}{T_x} \\ i = 2 \to \frac{h_3 - 2h_2 + h_1}{(\Delta x)^2} = \frac{W_2}{T_x} \\ i = 3 \to \frac{h_4 - 2h_3 + h_2}{(\Delta x)^2} = \frac{W_3}{T_x} \end{cases}$$

Which can be summarized as:

2 Linear Optimization

$$\begin{cases}
i = 1 \to h_0 = 125 = (2h_1 - h_2) + \left(\frac{W_1 \times \Delta x^2}{T_x}\right) \\
i = 2 \to 0 = (2h_2 - h_1 - h_3) + \left(\frac{W_2 \times \Delta x^2}{T_x}\right) \\
i = 3 \to h_4 = 100 = (2h_3 - h_2) + \left(\frac{W_3 \times \Delta x^2}{T_x}\right)
\end{cases}$$

and the other constraints are:

 $W_1 + W_2 + W_3 \ge W_{\min}$ $h_1, h_2, h_3 \ge 0$ $W_1, W_2, W_3 \ge 0$ $h_0 \ge h_1 \ge h_2 \ge h_3 \ge h_4$

Therefore, the unknowns in this problem are h_1 , h_2 , h_3 and W_1 , W_2 , W_3 for all wells completed in the confined aquifer. The essential point here is considering negligible values for well losses and well diameters in this optimization analysis. This problem can be solved simply by using Excel (DatalSolver) and applying the simplex method. The achieved results are presented in the following Table 2.14

The developed LP model for having the minimum value of 4 (ft/day) discharge from each well is almost the same as the previous section except Eq. (2.23) which should be applied as:

$$W_i \ge W_{min}; \quad i = 1 \text{ to } n$$

$$(2.25)$$

The estimated hydraulic heads and discharge rates for all wells based on the new constraint are presented in Table 2.15.

2.3.3 Optimization of Two-Dimensional Confined Aquifers

The governing equation for steady-state flow in two-dimensional (x and y—directions) considering the pumping wells in the confined aquifer can be derived from Eq. (2.19) as follows:

$$\underbrace{T_x \frac{\partial^2 h}{\partial x^2} + T_y \frac{\partial^2 h}{\partial y^2}}_{T_x = T_y = T} = \underbrace{S \frac{\partial h}{\partial t}}_{0} + W \Rightarrow \underbrace{\frac{\partial^2 h}{\partial x^2} + \frac{\partial^2 h}{\partial y^2}}_{T} = \underbrace{W}_{T}$$
(2.26)

The implementation form of Eq. (2.26) using the central finite difference technique can be written as:

Z(ft)	Hydraulic head (ft)					Discharge rate (ft/day)		
	h_0	h_1	h_2	h_3	h_4	$\overline{W_1}$	W_2	W_3
331.5	125.0	117.75	110.5	103.25	100.0	0.0	0.0	4.0

 Table 2.14
 Hydraulic heads and discharge rates with a minimum specific discharge for all wells

Table 2.15 Hydraulic heads and discharge rates with a minimum specific discharge in each well

Z(ft) Hydraulic head (ft)					Discharge rate (ft/day)			
	h_0	h_1	h_2	h_3	h_4	$\overline{W_1}$	W_2	W_3
317.5	125.0	112.75	104.5	100.25	100.0	4.0	4.0	4.0

$$\frac{h_{i+1,j} - 2h_{i,j} + h_{i-1,j}}{(\Delta x)^2} + \frac{h_{i,j+1} - 2h_{i,j} + h_{i,j-1}}{(\Delta y)^2} = \frac{W_{i,j}}{T}$$
(2.27)

With the assumption of $\Delta x = \Delta y$, Eq. (2.27) can be presented as:

$$h_{i+1,j} - 4h_{i,j} + h_{i-1,j} + h_{i,j+1} + h_{i,j-1} = \frac{(\Delta x)^2}{T} W_{i,j}$$
(2.28)

The following problem shows the application of these equations in solving an optimization problem.

Example 2.6 Consider the plan view of steady-state flow in a two-dimensional (x. and y—directions) confined aquifer shown in Fig. 2.16. Develop a LP model to determine the maximum hydraulic heads of wells located at nodes (2, 1), (1, 2), and (2, 3) that are shown as solid red circle, and one well located at any one of nodes (1, 1), (2, 2), and (1, 3) which are shown as hashed circles on the Fig. 2.16. The boundaries (dark hexagon nodes) are considered as fixed hydraulic heads to prevent any drawdown in wells and dewatering of aquifer that can be resulted in aquifer deformation and soil layer compression/consolidation.

The necessary information for this problem are: $W_{min} = 0.5-2$ ft/day, $\Delta x = \Delta y = 500$ ft, T = 10,000 ft²/day, and $h_{(0,1)} = h_{(0,2)} = h_{(0,3)} = h_{(1,0)} = h_{(1,4)}$ $= h_{(2,0)} = h_{(2,4)} = h_{(3,1)} = h_{(3,2)} = h_{(3,3)} = 25$ ft.

In this problem, it is assumed that the aquifer is homogeneous, and so, its hydraulic properties are the same at any point of aquifer $(T_x = T_y)$. It is good to know that the terms homogeneous and heterogeneous are related to hydraulic conductivity of the aquifer at different locations. If the hydraulic conductivity remains constant, the aquifer is homogeneous, while, the aquifer is heterogeneous (or non-homogeneous), if hydraulic conductivity varies throughout the aquifer.

Solution: The objective function for this problem is (Aguado et al. 1974):

$$\max Z = h_{(1,2)} + h_{(2,1)} + h_{(2,3)} + h_{(1,1)} + h_{(2,2)} + h_{(1,3)}$$



The constraints at desired nodes can be written as

$$h_{2,1} - 4h_{1,1} + h_{0,1} + h_{1,2} + h_{1,0} = \frac{(\Delta x)^2}{T} W_{1,1}$$

$$\Rightarrow 4h_{1,1} - h_{1,2} - h_{2,1} + \frac{(\Delta x)^2}{T} W_{1,1} = h_{0,1} + h_{1,0}$$

For node (2, 1):

For node (1, 1):

$$h_{3,1} - 4h_{2,1} + h_{1,1} + h_{2,2} + h_{2,0} = \frac{(\Delta x)^2}{T} W_{2,1}$$

$$\Rightarrow 4h_{2,1} - h_{1,1} - h_{2,2} + \frac{(\Delta x)^2}{T} W_{2,1} = h_{3,1} + h_{2,0}$$

For node (1, 2):

$$h_{2,2} - 4h_{1,2} + h_{0,2} + h_{1,3} + h_{1,1} = \frac{(\Delta x)^2}{T} W_{1,2}$$
$$\Rightarrow 4h_{1,2} - h_{2,2} - h_{1,3} - h_{1,1} + \frac{(\Delta x)^2}{T} W_{1,2} = h_{0,2}$$

For node (2, 2):

$$h_{3,2} - 4h_{2,2} + h_{1,2} + h_{2,3} + h_{2,1} = \frac{(\Delta x)^2}{T} W_{2,2}$$
$$\Rightarrow 4h_{2,2} - h_{1,2} - h_{2,3} - h_{2,1} + \frac{(\Delta x)^2}{T} W_{2,2} = h_{3,2}$$

Fig. 2.16 Plan view a twodimensional confined aquifer For node (1, 3):

$$h_{2,3} - 4h_{1,3} + h_{0,3} + h_{1,4} + h_{1,2} = \frac{(\Delta x)^2}{T} W_{1,3}$$
$$\Rightarrow 4h_{1,3} - h_{1,2} - h_{2,3} + \frac{(\Delta x)^2}{T} W_{1,3} = h_{0,3} + h_{1,4}$$

For node (2, 3):

Node (2,3)
$$\rightarrow h_{3,3} - 4h_{2,3} + h_{1,3} + h_{2,4} + h_{2,2} = \frac{(\Delta x)^2}{T} W_{2,3}$$

 $\Rightarrow 4h_{2,3} - h_{2,2} - h_{1,3} + \frac{(\Delta x)^2}{T} W_{2,3} = h_{3,3} + h_{2,4}$

These constraints also can be written in the form of matrix as follow:

$$\begin{bmatrix} 4 & -1 & -1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ -1 & 4 & 0 & -1 & 0 & 0 \\ -1 & 0 & 4 & -1 & -1 & 0 \\ 0 & -1 & -1 & 4 & 0 & -1 \\ 0 & 0 & -1 & 0 & 4 & -1 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & -1 & -1 & 4 \end{bmatrix} \times \begin{bmatrix} h_{1,1} \\ h_{2,1} \\ h_{1,2} \\ h_{2,2} \\ h_{1,3} \\ h_{2,3} \end{bmatrix} + \frac{(\Delta x)^2}{T} \begin{bmatrix} w_{1,1} \\ w_{2,1} \\ w_{1,2} \\ w_{2,2} \\ h_{1,3} \\ h_{2,3} \end{bmatrix}$$
$$= \begin{bmatrix} h_{0,1} + h_{1,0} = 50 \\ h_{3,1} + h_{2,0} = 50 \\ h_{3,2} = 25 \\ h_{3,2} = 25 \\ h_{0,3} + h_{1,4} = 50 \\ h_{3,3} + h_{2,4} = 50 \end{bmatrix}$$

Additional constraints for solving this problem are:

$$\left\{ \begin{array}{l} W_{1,1} + W_{2,2} + W_{1,3} \geq W_{min} \\ W_{1,2} \geq W_{min} \\ W_{2,1} \geq W_{min} \\ W_{2,3} \geq W_{min} \\ h_{i,j} \geq 0 \end{array} \right.$$

The following table shows the hydraulic heads and discharge rates at desired nodes of two-dimensional confined aquifer for different minimum value of the total discharge from internal wells. As it can be seen from the Table 2.16, when the minimum discharge from the well reaches 2 (ft/day) wells cannot meet the requirement, and so, the LP problem is infeasible. To find the optimum value of

2 Linear Optimization

	$W_{min} = 0.5 \text{ (ft/day)}$	$W_{min} = 1.0 \text{ (ft/day)}$	$W_{min} = 1.5 \text{ (ft/day)}$	$W_{min} = 2.0 \text{ (ft/day)}$
$h_{(1,1)}$	22.16	19.33	16.49	No feasible solution
$h_{(2,1)}$	20.10	15.20	10.30	No feasible solution
$h_{(1,2)}$	18.56	12.11	5.67	No feasible solution
$h_{(2,2)}$	20.73	16.46	12.19	No feasible solution
$h_{(1,3)}$	18.83	12.66	6.49	No feasible solution
$h_{(2,3)}$	19.27	13.53	7.80	No feasible solution
$W_{(1,1)}$	0.00	0.00	0.00	No feasible solution
$W_{(2,1)}$	0.50	1.00	1.50	No feasible solution
$W_{(1,2)}$	0.50	1.00	1.50	No feasible solution
$W_{(2,2)}$	0.00	0.00	0.00	No feasible solution
$W_{(1,3)}$	0.50	1.00	1.50	No feasible solution
$W_{(2,3)}$	0.50	1.00	1.50	No feasible solution
Ζ	119.64	89.29	58.93	No feasible solution

Table 2.16 The Hydraulic heads and discharge rates at all internal nodes in various W_{min}

Table 2.17 Hydraulic heads and discharge rates at all internal nodes in various Δx

	$\Delta x = 45$ (ft)	$\Delta x = 200 \text{ (ft)}$	$\Delta x = 500 \text{ (ft)}$
$h_{(1,1)}$	24.90	24.09	19.33
$h_{(2,1)}$	24.91	23.43	15.20
$h_{(1,2)}$	24.89	22.94	12.11
$h_{(2,2)}$	24.93	23.63	16.46
$h_{(1,3)}$	24.95	23.02	12.66
$h_{(2,3)}$	24.92	23.16	13.53
$W_{(1,1)}$	1.00	0.00	0.00
$W_{(2,1)}$	1.00	1.00	1.00
$W_{(1,2)}$	1.00	1.00	1.00
$W_{(2,2)}$	0.00	0.00	0.00
$W_{(1,3)}$	0.00	1.00	1.00
$W_{(2,3)}$	1.00	1.00	1.00
Ζ	149.50	140.28	89.29

hydraulic heads at all internal nodes, you can simply use Excel (DatalSolver) and choose the simplex method.

In addition to considering the effect of different values of minimum discharge (W_{min}) on the hydraulic heads (discharge from the wells and desired objective function in $\Delta x = 500$ ft), the effect of decreasing Δx on those parameters also are considered in $W_{min} = 1.0$, and $\Delta x = 45$ and 200 ft. The results of this part of example are shown in the Table 2.17.

2.4 Problems

Problem 2.1 Minimize the function f(x) using graphical method.

$$\mathbf{f}(\mathbf{x}) = 6x_1 + 3x_2$$

Subject to the following constraints:

$$3x_1 + 2x_2 \le 21$$

$$x_1 - x_2 \le 4.5$$

$$x_1 + 2x_2 \ge 3$$

$$4x_1 + x_2 \ge 5.5$$

$$x_1 \ge 0 \text{ and } x_2 \ge 0$$

Problem 2.2 Convert the following LP problem in standard form.

$$\min f = x_1 + 3x_2 - 7x_3$$

Subject to

$$x_{1} + x_{2} + x_{3} \le 5$$

$$5x_{1} - 4x_{2} \ge -11$$

$$x_{2} + x_{3} \ge -2$$

Problem 2.3 Maximize the following objective function using the simplex method.

max
$$f(x) = x_1 + 8x_2$$

Subject to the below constraints:

$$x_1 - 2x_2 \le 11$$

$$2x_1 + 6x_2 \le 13$$

$$x_1 - x_2 \ge 6$$

$$x_1 \ge 0 \quad \text{and} \quad x_2 \ge 0$$

Problem 2.4 Minimize the following objective function using the simplex method.

min
$$f(x) = 0.35x_1 - x_2 + 2.5x_3$$

Subject to

$$x_1 - 3x_2 \ge 4$$

$$x_2 + 1.5x_3 \ge 1$$

$$x_1 - x_3 \le 5$$

$$x_1 \ge 0 \quad \text{and} \quad x_2 \ge 0$$

Problem 2.5 Determine the minimum cost of pipe and pump (head elevation) in various demand nodes in Example 2.4 by changing the location of pump station from pipe section 1–2 to the pipe section 0–1, and then, compare the optimization results.



Problem 2.6 Determine the optimal pumpage for a confined aquifer with onedimensional steady-state flow and fixed hydraulic heads along the boundaries in Example 2.5 where $W_{min} = 50$ ft/day, $\Delta x = 25$ ft, T = 8,000 ft²/day, $h_0 = 85$ ft, $h_4 = 75$ ft.

Problem 2.7 Consider the plan view of steady-state flow in a two-dimensional (x and y—directions) confined aquifer shown in the following figure. Develop a LP model to determine the maximum hydraulic heads of wells located at nodes (2, 1) and (1, 2), that are shown as solid red circle, and one well located at any one of nodes (1, 1) and (2, 2), which are shown as hashed circles on the figure below. The boundaries (dark hexagon nodes) are considered as fixed hydraulic heads to prevent any drawdown in wells and dewatering of aquifer that can be resulted in aquifer deformation and soil layer compression/consolidation.



The necessary information for this problem are: $W_{min} = 90$ ft/day, $\Delta x = \Delta y = 240$ ft, T = 10,000 ft²/day, and $h_{(0,1)} = h_{(1,0)} = h_{(2,0)} = h_{(3,1)} = h_{(0,2)} = h_{(1,3)} = h_{(2,3)} = h_{(3,2)} = 105$ ft. In this problem, it is assumed that the aquifer is homogeneous, and so, its hydraulic properties are the same at any point of aquifer $(T_x = T_y)$.

References

Aguado E, Remson I, Pikul MF, Thomas WA (1974) Optimal pumping for aquifer dewatering. J Hydraul ASCE 100(HY7):869–877 Proceedings Paper 10639

Todd DK (1980) Ground water hydrology, 2nd edn. Wiley, New York

Chapter 3 Nonlinear Optimization

Abstract This chapter begins with an introduction to nonlinear programming and continues with introducing the conceptual framework of nonlinear optimization problems as well as their applications in water resources engineering. In addition, different nonlinear optimization methods including one-dimensional optimization techniques, unconstrained and constrained optimization methods in conjunction with a number of useful examples are provided to indicate why and how non-linearities arise in wide ranges of water resources optimization problems.

3.1 Introduction

Although linear programming is a powerful and widely applicable tool in modeling a variety of practical optimization problems, but many problems are inherently nonlinear and they can only be modeled using nonlinear functions. An optimization problem is a nonlinear problem if some of the objective function or some of the constraints are nonlinear. The nonlinear programming (NLP) or nonlinear optimization is an extension of linear programming to find the optimal solution of nonlinear problems. In the case of nonlinearity, the problems are considerably more complex than the linear problems and finding the optimal solution is more difficult. A common difficulty regarding nonlinear problems is finding the global or absolute optimal solution; and often a local or relative solution is found for the nonlinear problems. A global optimum can be defined as the best minimum or maximum value of the objective function in the entire feasible region, whereas, a local optimum is an optimum value over a subset of the domain and it happens in an immediate neighborhood (Fig. 3.1). A global minimum for function f(x) at the point x^* over the space S occurs if;

$$f(x^*) \le f(x) \quad \text{for } \forall x \in S$$
 (3.1)

E. Goodarzi et al., *Introduction to Optimization Analysis in Hydrosystem Engineering*, 55 Topics in Safety, Risk, Reliability and Quality 25, DOI: 10.1007/978-3-319-04400-2_3, © Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2014

Fig. 3.1 The local and global optimum solutions



and in the case of global maximum x^* should satisfies the below relationship as;

$$f(x^*) \ge f(x) \quad \text{for } \forall x \in S$$

$$(3.2)$$

A local minimum of function f(x) happens at the point x^* over the space S if the following relationship is satisfied for an $\varepsilon > 0$;

$$f(x^*) \le f(x)$$
 for $\forall x \in S$ with $|x - x^*| < \varepsilon$ (3.3)

And a local maximum occurs if;

$$f(x^*) \ge f(x)$$
 for $\forall x \in S$ with $|x - x^*| < \varepsilon$ (3.4)

In general, there are multiple local solutions for nonlinear optimization problems and so, finding the global solution is a difficult task except for some special cases such as convex or unimodal functions. The function f(x) is a convex function on the space *S* if the line segment that connects any two pairs of function occurs entirely above the graph. On the other hand, the function f(x) is a concave function on the space *S* if the line segment joining two arbitrary points of f(x) is located wholly below the graph. A convex function can be defined mathematically as;

$$\mathbf{f}[(1-\lambda)x_1 + \lambda x_2] \le (1-\lambda)\mathbf{f}(x_1) + \lambda \mathbf{f}(x_2) \tag{3.5}$$

The function f(x) is strictly convex if the Eq. (3.5) hold with a less than sign (<) instead of a \leq .

On the other hand, the function f(x) is concave if;

$$\mathbf{f}[(1-\lambda)x_1+\lambda x_2] \ge (1-\lambda)\mathbf{f}(x_1) + \lambda \mathbf{f}(x_2) \tag{3.6}$$

In this case, the function is strictly concave if the above equation holds only the greater sign (>).

Figure 3.2 shows a convex and a concave function, respectively. It is important to note that the convex function is always a bowl-shaped up, while the concave one is always a bowl-shaped down. Any local minimum and maximum of a convex and concave function is also a global minimum and maximum.



Fig. 3.2 The convex and concave functions

In addition to applying Eqs. (3.5) and (3.6), the convexity and concavity of function f(x) for $x \in (x_1, x_2, ..., x_n)$ can be determined using the Hessian matrix. This symmetric matrix is defined as;

$$H(x) = \begin{bmatrix} \frac{\partial^2 f}{\partial x_1^2} & \frac{\partial^2 f}{\partial x_1 \partial x_2} & \cdots & \frac{\partial^2 f}{\partial x_1 \partial x_n} \\ \frac{\partial^2 f}{\partial x_2 \partial x_1} & \frac{\partial^2 f}{\partial x_2^2} & & \frac{\partial^2 f}{\partial x_2 \partial x_n} \\ \vdots & & \ddots & \vdots \\ \frac{\partial^2 f}{\partial x_n \partial x_1} & & \cdots & \frac{\partial^2 f}{\partial x_n^2} \end{bmatrix}$$
(3.7)

Consider f(x) as continuous second partial derivatives, then the convexity and concavity can be obtained as;

- 1. The function f(x) is convex, if and only if H(x) is positive semidefinite,
- 2. The function f(x) is strictly convex, if and only if H(x) is positive definite,
- 3. The function f(x) is concave, if and only if H(x) is negative semidefinite,
- 4. The function f(x) is strictly concave, if and only if H(x) is negative definite.

The definitions of positive definite and semidefinite, and negative definite and semidefinite of Hessian matrix H are defined as;

1. Positive semidefinite:

$$x^T H x \ge 0$$
 for all x (3.8)

2. Positive definite:

$$x^{T}Hx > 0 \quad \text{for all } x \neq 0 \tag{3.9}$$

3. Negative semidefinite:

$$x^T H x \le 0 \quad \text{for all } x \tag{3.10}$$

4. Negative definite:

$$x^{T}Hx < 0 \quad \text{for all } x \neq 0 \tag{3.11}$$

5. Indefinite:

$$x^{T}Hx > 0$$
 for some x
 $x^{T}Hx < 0$ for some other x (3.12)

where,

$$x^{T}Hx = (x_{1}, \dots, x_{n}) \begin{pmatrix} a_{11} & \cdots & a_{1n} \\ \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ a_{n1} & \cdots & a_{nn} \end{pmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} x_{1} \\ \vdots \\ x_{n} \end{bmatrix}$$
(3.13)

Example 3.1 Classify the following 2×2 matrix.

$$H = \begin{bmatrix} 7 & -3 \\ -4 & 8 \end{bmatrix}$$

Solution: To classify matrix A, we need to estimate $x^{T}Ax$ as follow;

$$x^{T}Hx = \begin{bmatrix} x_{1} & x_{2} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} 7 & -3 \\ -4 & 8 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} x_{1} \\ x_{2} \end{bmatrix}$$
$$= \begin{bmatrix} 7x_{1} - 4x_{2} - 3x_{1} + 8x_{2} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} x_{1} \\ x_{2} \end{bmatrix}$$
$$= 7x_{1}^{2} - 4x_{1}x_{2} - 3x_{1}x_{2} + 8x_{2}^{2}$$
$$= 7x_{1}^{2} + 8x_{2}^{2} - 7x_{1}x_{2}$$

As the final function is positive for all $x_1 \neq 0$, and $x_2 \neq 0$, the Hessian matrix is positive definite.

Another way to test the status of H(x) is using its eigenvalues. The Hessian matrix is positive definite if all of its eigenvalues are positive, and it is negative definite if all of its eigenvalues are negative. To find the eigenvalues (λ) of an $n \times n$ Hessian matrix H(x), the following condition should be satisfied;

$$|H - \lambda I_n| = 0 \tag{3.14}$$

where, the sign || is determinant of (.), and I_n is the identity matrix.

Example 3.2 Find the Eigenvalues of the presented matrix in Problem 3.1, and classify the matrix.

$$H = \begin{bmatrix} 7 & -3 \\ -4 & 8 \end{bmatrix}$$

Solution: Based on Eq. (3.14), we need to solve the following equation;

$$\begin{aligned} H - \lambda I_2 &| = 0 \\ &= \left| \begin{bmatrix} 7 & -3 \\ -4 & 8 \end{bmatrix} - \lambda \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix} \right| \\ &= \left| \begin{bmatrix} 7 & -3 \\ -4 & 8 \end{bmatrix} - \begin{bmatrix} \lambda & 0 \\ 0 & \lambda \end{bmatrix} \right| \\ &= \left| \begin{bmatrix} 7 - \lambda & -3 \\ -4 & 8 - \lambda \end{bmatrix} \right| \\ &= \left[(7 - \lambda)(8 - \lambda) \right] - \left[(-3) \times (-4) \right] = \lambda^2 - 15\lambda + 44 = 0 \end{aligned}$$

The matrix has two Eigenvalues $\lambda = 4$ and $\lambda = 11$. As all of Eigenvalues are positive, the Hessian matrix is positive definite.

Another important way to test the status of Hessian matrix is using the concept of *leading principal submatrix* and *leading principal minors*. A $k \times k$ submatrix of an $n \times n$ matrix H, which is known as leading principal submatrix, can be determined by removing the last n - k columns and rows from matrix H. The determinant of this submatrix is called leading principal minor of H. Some leading principal minors of an $n \times n$ can be written as follow;

• First leading principle minors;

$$H_1 = |a_{11}|$$

• Second leading principle minors;

$$H_2 = \begin{vmatrix} a_{11} & a_{12} \\ a_{21} & a_{22} \end{vmatrix}$$

• Third leading principle minors;

$$H_3 = \begin{vmatrix} a_{11} & a_{12} & a_{13} \\ a_{21} & a_{22} & a_{23} \\ a_{31} & a_{32} & a_{33} \end{vmatrix}$$

• The nth leading principle minors;

$$H_n = \begin{pmatrix} a_{11} & a_{12} & a_{13} & \dots & a_{1n} \\ a_{21} & a_{22} & a_{23} & \dots & a_{2n} \\ a_{31} & a_{32} & a_{33} & \dots & a_{3n} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots \\ a_{n1} & a_{n2} & a_{n3} & \dots & a_{nn} \end{pmatrix}$$

The matrix H is a positive definite matrix if and only if all of its leading principal minors are positive, and it is positive semidefinite if its entire principal minors are non-negative. On the other hand, the matrix H is a negative definite if

and only if the sign of leading principal minors H_i is negative for odd values of i and positive for even values of i.

Example 3.3 Determine if the following functions are convex or concave.

$$f_1(x) = 7x_1^2 - 5x_1x_2 + 3x_2^2$$

$$f_2(x) = -7x_1^2 - 5x_1x_2 - 3x_2^2$$

$$f_3(x) = -5x^2 + 6$$

Solution: To obtain the convexity and concavity of each function, we need to calculate the leading principal minors as;

$$H(x) = \begin{bmatrix} \frac{\partial^2 f_1}{\partial x_1^2} & \frac{\partial^2 f_1}{\partial x_1 \partial x_2} \\ \frac{\partial^2 f_1}{\partial x_2 \partial x_1} & \frac{\partial^2 f_1}{\partial x_2^2} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} 14 & -5 \\ -5 & 6 \end{bmatrix}$$

Therefore,

$$H_{i=1} = |14| = 14$$

$$H_{i=2} = \begin{vmatrix} 14 & -5 \\ -5 & 6 \end{vmatrix} = (14 \times 6) - [(-5) \times (-5)] = 59$$

As all of the leading principal minors are positive, the matrix H is positive definite and so, the function $f_1(x)$ is strictly convex. For the second function, we have;

$$H(x) = \begin{bmatrix} \frac{\partial^2 f_2}{\partial x_1^2} & \frac{\partial^2 f_2}{\partial x_1 \partial x_2} \\ \frac{\partial^2 f_2}{\partial x_2 \partial x_1} & \frac{\partial^2 f_2}{\partial x_2^2} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} -14 & -5 \\ -5 & -6 \end{bmatrix}$$

Hence,

$$H_{i=1} = |-14| = -14$$

$$H_{i=2} = \begin{vmatrix} -14 & -5 \\ -5 & -6 \end{vmatrix} = [(-14) \times (-6)] - [(-5) \times (-5)] = 59$$

As the sign of leading principal minors H_i is negative for odd values of i (i = 1), and it is positive for even values of i (i = 2), the matrix H is a negative definite and so, the function f_2 is strictly concave. For a single variable function like $f_3(x)$ we can simply examine the sign of second derivative in which a positive sign shows the function is convex, while, a negative sign demonstrates a concave function. In the case of this problem, we have;

$$\frac{\partial^2 \mathbf{f}_3}{\partial x} = -10 < 0$$

Fig. 3.3 The concave function $f_3(x)$



Therefore, it can be concluded that the function f_3 is a concave function (Fig. 3.3).

Nonlinear optimization techniques can be divided into three main classes as; (1) one-dimensional optimization methods, (2) unconstrained optimization techniques, and (3) constrained optimization methods. Each of these three classes includes a number of important optimization techniques that are useful in finding the optimum solution of nonlinear functions; and the most important of them are explained in the following sections.

The one-dimensional search methods use an iterative process to find the optimum values and it is classified into two main categorizes as; elimination and approximation approaches. These two categorizes also are divided into several useful methods in which some of them are presented in Table 3.1. In this chapter the Fibonacci and golden section methods from elimination category, and the Newton method from approximation groups with appropriate examples are described in the next sections.

The second nonlinear optimization technique is unconstrained optimization methods which are classified into two main types as Direct Search Methods and Indirect Search (or Descent) Methods. The direct search methods do not use the derivatives of the desired objective functions and only the values of objective function that should be minimized or maximized are used here, while, indirect search methods need both values of objective functions and the derivatives of objective functions. Some of the most important direct and indirect search methods for solving nonlinear optimization problems are presented in the Table 3.2. In this chapter, the random search and univariate methods from direct search group and the steepest descent method from indirect category are illustrated.

As noted above, the third category of nonlinear optimization approaches is constrained optimization methods that include the following techniques to solve an optimization problem; penalty function method, Lagrange multiplier, quadratic programming, and generalized reduced gradient (GRG) method. In the following sections, the Lagrange multiplier and GRG methods in conjunction with a number of useful examples are presented.

Table 3.1 Different types of	Elimination methods	Approximation methods	
one-dimensional search methods (Rao 2009)	Unrestricted search method Exhaustive search method Dichotomous search method Interval halving method Fibonacci method	Quadratic interpolation method Cubic interpolation method Direct root methods: • Newton method • Quasi–Newton method	
	Golden section method	• Secant method	
Table 3.2 Direct and indirect search methods	Direct search methods	Indirect search methods	
mullect search methods	Random search method:	Steepest descent (Cauchy) method	
	 Random jump method 		
	 Random walk method 		
	 Random walk method with direction exploitation 		
	Grid search method	Conjugate gradient (Fletcher–Reeves) method	
	Univariate method	Newton's method	
	Pattern direction method	Marquardt method	
	Rosen Brock's method of rotating coordinates	Quasi-Newton method	
	Simplex method		

3.2 One-Dimensional Search Methods

The nonlinear objective functions are usually very complicated and finding an analytical solution for them is very cumbersome or even impossible. In these cases, one may apply trial based techniques, such as one-dimensional search methods that use a trial procedure to estimate an initial solution for the objective function, and improve the calculated solution consecutively until the pre-determined convergence criterion is met. The main objective function in one-dimensional optimization problem is;

$$\min F = \mathbf{f}(x) \tag{3.15}$$

in which, f(x) is function of a single variable *x*, and it has a unique solution if f(x) is a unimodal function over some ranges of a closed interval like $[x_l, x_u]$. The closed interval here is called a *bracket*. A unimodal function is a function with unique minimum or maximum in a region that is going to be searched, and for x_1 and x_2 which are placed in the interval $[x_l, x_u]$ it can be mathematically defined as;

1. A unimodal function with minimum value (Fig. 3.4a); if the points x_1 and x_2 are both on the same side of the optimum point (x^*) , and $x_1 < x_2 < x^*$, then the point near the optimum has the lower values in which $f(x^*) < f(x_2) < f(x_1)$.


Fig. 3.4 Two arbitrary unimodal functions

- 2. A unimodal function with maximum value (Fig. 3.4b); if the points x_1 and x_2 are both on the same side of the optimum point (x^*), and $x^* < x_1 < x_2 < x_u$, then the point near the optimum has the higher values as $f(x^*) > f(x_1) > f(x_2)$.
- 3. A unimodal function with minimum value (Fig. 3.4c); if the points x_1 and x_2 are both on the same side of the optimum point (x^*) , and $x^* < x_1 < x_2 < x_u$, then the point near the optimum has the lower values as $f(x^*) < f(x_1) < f(x_2)$.
- 4. A unimodal function with maximum value (Fig. 3.4d); if the points x_1 and x_2 are both on the same side of the optimum point (x^*), and $x_1 < x_1 < x_2 < x^*$, then the point near the optimum has the higher values as $f(x^*) > f(x_2) > f(x_1)$.

The interval $[x_l, x_u]$ also is known as *range of uncertainty* that includes the optimum value and it is established for desired unimodal function regardless of whether the function is continuous or discontinuous; or differentiable or non-differentiable. Based on this method, a portion of the range of uncertainty continually eliminated on the basis of function evaluations until the remaining interval gets adequately small. In other words, for a unimodal function f(x) with a minimum at x^* and considering two points x_i and x_j in which $x_l < x_i < x_j < x_u$, we can write;

- 1. If $f(x_i) > f(x_j)$, the minimum of f(x) is not in the interval $[x_l, x_i]$, and so, $x^* \in [x_i, x_u]$. Hence, some ranges of the interval can be eliminated and narrowed down into two different points in the range (Fig. 3.5a).
- 2. If $f(x_i) < f(x_j)$, the minimum of f(x) is not in the interval $[x_j, x_u]$, and so, $x^* \in [x_l, x_j]$. Therefore, the range $[x_j, x_u]$ can be eliminated in searching for minimum value of objective function (Fig 3.5b).
- 3. If $f(x_i) = f(x_j)$, both intervals $[x_l, x_i]$ and $[x_j, x_u]$ can be eliminated.



Fig. 3.5 Reducing the range of uncertainty



3.2.1 Fibonacci Method (Elimination Technique)

In mathematics, the Fibonacci numbers are the numbers that are defined as;

$$F_m = F_{m-1} + F_{m-2} \tag{3.16}$$

with the initial values of $F_0 = F_1 = 1$. Therefore, the Fibonacci series for m = 0-4 can be calculated as;

$$\begin{cases} F_{m=0} = F_{m=1} = 1 \\ F_{m=2} = F_{m=1} + F_{m=0} = 1 + 1 = 2 \\ F_{m=3} = F_{m=2} + F_{m=1} = 2 + 1 = 3 \\ F_{m=4} = F_{m=3} + F_{m=2} = 3 + 2 = 5 \end{cases}$$

The Fibonacci numbers for m = 0-13 are presented in the Table 3.3.

Assume two points x_i^1 and x_j^1 are located in the range of uncertainty (d_n) in which $d_n = [x_l, x_u]$, and $f(x_i^1) > f(x_j^1)$. As it can be seen in the Fig. 3.6, the minimum of



Fig. 3.6 The process of elimination intervals

f(x) does not lie in the interval $[x_l, x_i^1]$ and so, the left interval $[x_l, x_i^1]$ can be eliminated and the uncertainty range will be narrowed down into the right interval d_{n+1}^R . It is important to note that, after eliminating the interval $[x_l, x_i^1]$, the point x_i^1 is the starting point of new reduced range of uncertainty and so $d_n = [x_i^1, x_u]$. In the case of $f(x_i^1) < f(x_j^1)$, the interval $[x_i^1, x_u]$ will be discarded. In the next step, another interior point, say x_j^2 , can be selected to repeat the process of reducing uncertainty range getting closer to the optimum value. Since $f(x_j^1) > f(x_j^2)$, the minimum value is placed in the interval d_{n+2}^R and the uncertainty range of $[x_i^1, x_j^1]$ can be deleted. This procedure should be repeated in order to find the final reduced uncertainty range and the optimum value.

Based on Fig. 3.6, the following relation can be written as;

$$d_1 = d_2^L + d_3^R$$

If we assume all the sub-intervals are equal (e.g., $d_2^L = d_2^R = d_2$ and $d_3^L = d_3^R = d_3$), it can be concluded that;

$$d_1 = d_2^L + d_3^R = d_2 + d_3 \tag{3.17}$$

Based on this equation, a sequence of intervals for n experiments can be generated as follows;

$$\begin{cases} d_1 = d_2 + d_3 \\ d_2 = d_3 + d_4 \\ d_3 = d_4 + d_5 \\ \vdots \\ d_n = d_{n+1} + d_{n+2} \end{cases}$$
(3.18)

According to the presented sequence of intervals for *n* experiments, there are *n* equations with n + 2 unknown variables, and so, it is possible to generate unlimited sequences by considering some additional assumptions. To generate the Fibonacci sequences, it can be assumed that the interval d_{n+2} will be eliminated at step *n*, and hence;

$$d_{n+1} = d_n - \underbrace{d_{n+2}}_{0}$$

$$\Rightarrow d_{n+1} = d_n = F_0 d_n$$
(3.19)

Therefore, the following relations can be established;

$$d_{n} = d_{n+1} + \underbrace{d_{n+2}}_{0} = d_{n} = F_{1}d_{n}$$

$$d_{n-1} = d_{n} + d_{n+1} = F_{1}d_{n} + F_{0}d_{n} = 2d_{n} = F_{2}d_{n}$$

$$d_{n-2} = d_{n-1} + d_{n} = F_{2}d_{n} + F_{1}d_{n} = 3d_{n} = F_{3}d_{n}$$

$$d_{n-3} = d_{n-2} + d_{n-1} = F_{3}d_{n} + F_{2}d_{n} = 3d_{n} + 2d_{n} = 5d_{n} = F_{4}d_{n}$$

$$\vdots$$

$$d_{n-m} = d_{k} = d_{k+1} + d_{k+2} = F_{m+1}d_{n} = F_{n-k+1}d_{n}$$

$$\vdots$$

$$d_{1} = d_{2} + d_{3} = F_{n}d_{n}$$
(3.20)

According to the above equations, the last interval of uncertainty that happens at n = m is;

$$d_n = \frac{d_1}{F_n} \tag{3.21}$$

Based on above equation, the location of *n*th experiments (d_n^*) can be calculated as;

$$d_n^* = \frac{F_{m-n}}{F_{m-(n-2)}} d_{n-1} \tag{3.22}$$

and the range of uncertainty at the end of this experiment (d_n) is;

$$d_n = d_{n-1} - d_n^* = \frac{F_{m-(n-1)}}{F_m} d_1$$
(3.23)

For example in the case of n = 2, the location of 2nd and the range of uncertainty at this location are;

$$d_{2}^{*} = \frac{F_{m-2}}{F_{m}} d_{1}$$
$$d_{2} = d_{1} - d_{2}^{*} = \frac{F_{m-1}}{F_{m}} d_{1}$$

It is important to note that the interior points in one-dimensional search methods can be calculated based on the following relations;

$$x_{1} = x_{l} + d_{2}^{*}$$

$$\Rightarrow x_{2} = x_{l} + (x_{u} - x_{1})$$

$$x_{2} = x_{u} - d_{2}^{*}$$
(3.24)

The following example provides all necessary steps for obtaining the minimum value of a unimodal function based on Fibonacci technique.

Example 3.4 Minimize f(x) in the interval [0.0,4.0] using the Fibonacci method for the total number of experiments n = 8.

$$f(x) = 3x^2 - 4x + 5.5$$

Solution: The required steps to find the minimum value of desired objective function based on the above principles are presented in the following sections. It is important to note that the initial range is $d_1 = x_u - x_l = 4.0 - 0.0 = 4$, m = 8 and n varies from 2 to m.

Step 1: Determine d_n^* for n = 2 from the following equation;

$$d_2^* = \frac{F_{8-2}}{F_{8-(2-2)}} d_{2-1} = \frac{F_6}{F_8} d_1 = \frac{13}{34} \times 4 = 1.529$$

Now, the interior points x_1 and x_2 in conjunction with $f(x_1)$ and $f(x_2)$ can be calculated as (Fig. 3.7);

$$x_1 = x_l + d_2^* = 0 + 1.529 = 1.529 \rightarrow f(x_1) = 6.399$$

$$x_2 = x_u - d_2^* = 4.0 - 1.529 = 2.470 \rightarrow f(x_2) = 13.929$$

Step 2: Compare the values of $f(x_1)$ and $f(x_2)$ to determine the range of interval that should be eliminated. As $f(x_1) < f(x_2)$, the interval $[x_2, x_u] = [2.470, 4.0]$ is discarded using the unimodality assumption (Fig. 3.8). Therefore, the range of uncertainty at the end of this experiment will be;

$$d_2 = d_1 - d_2^* = 4.0 - 1.529 = 2.470$$

Or,

$$d_2 = \frac{F_7}{F_8} d_1 = \frac{21}{34} \times 4 = 2.470$$



Fig. 3.7 The objective function f(x)



Fig. 3.8 The eliminated interval in step one

By discarding the interval [2.470, 4], the range of uncertainty reduces to [0.0, 2.470], and hence, $x_l = 0.0$, and $x_{u_{new}} = x_2 = 2.470$.

Step 3: In this step, the value of d_3^* , the interior point and x_3 should be computed, and then, the functions $f(x_1)$ and $f(x_3)$ will be compared.

$$d_3^* = \frac{F_5}{F_7} d_2 = \frac{8}{21} \times 2.470 = 0.941$$



Fig. 3.9 The second eliminated interval

And

$$x_3 = x_l + (x_u - x_1) = 0 + (2.470 - 1.529)$$

= 0.941 \rightarrow f(x_3) = 4.392

As $f(x_1) > f(x_3)$, the interval $[x_1, x_{u_{new}}]$ which is [1.529, 2.470] will be eliminated (Fig. 3.9). So, the range of uncertainty in this step is;

$$d_3 = d_2 - d_3^* = 2.470 - 0.941 = 1.529$$

Or

$$d_3 = \frac{F_6}{F_8} d_1 = \frac{13}{34} \times 4 = 1.529$$

The new interval reduces to [0.0, 1.529], and hence, $x_l = 0.0$, and $x_{u_{new}} = x_1 = 1.529$.

Step 4: The process of elimination is continued based on the new evaluated interval as follows;

$$d_4^* = \frac{F_4}{F_6} d_3 = \frac{5}{13} \times 1.529 = 0.588$$

And,

$$x_4 = x_l + (x_u - x_3) = 0.0 + (1.529 - 0.941)$$

= 0.588 $\rightarrow f(x_4) = 4.185$



Fig. 3.10 The third eliminated interval

As $f(x_3) > f(x_4)$, the interval $[x_3, x_{u_{new}}]$ which is [0.941, 1.529] is deleted (Fig. 3.10). The range of uncertainty here is;

$$d_4 = d_3 - d_4^* = 1.529 - 0.588 = 0.941$$

Therefore, the interval reduces to [0.0, 0.941], and $x_{u_{new}}$ are 0.0 and 0.941, respectively.

Step 5: The necessary calculations in this step are;

$$d_5^* = \frac{F_3}{F_5} d_4 = \frac{3}{8} \times 0.941 = 0.352$$

And,

$$x_5 = x_l + (x_u - x_4) = 0.0 + (0.941 - 0.588)$$
$$= 0.352 \rightarrow f(x_5) = 4.461$$

As $f(x_5) > f(x_3)$, the interval $[0, x_5]$ which is [0.0, 0.352] should be excluded (Fig. 3.11), and the range of uncertainty is computed as;

$$d_5 = d_4 - d_5^* = 0.941 - 0.352 = 0.588$$

In this step, the interval reduces to [0.352, 0.941], and so, $x_{l_{new}} = 0.352$ and $x_u = 0.941$. The remaining steps for calculating the minimum value of desired objective function are presented in Table 3.4.

The final range of uncertainty due to Fibonacci search can be calculated as;

$$d_n = \frac{d_1}{F_m} \tag{3.25}$$



Fig. 3.11 The fourth eliminated interval

n	d_n^*	<i>xi</i>	x_j	f(x _i)	f(x _j)	Greater f(x)	d_n	<i>x</i> _{<i>l</i>}	<i>x</i> _u
2	1.5294	$1.5294(x_1)$	$2.4706(x_2)$	6.3997	13.9291	f(x ₂)	2.4706	0.0000	2.4706
3	0.9412	$1.5294(x_1)$	$0.9412(x_3)$	6.3997	4.3927	$f(x_1)$	1.5294	0.0000	1.5294
4	0.5882	$0.9412(x_3)$	$0.5882(x_4)$	4.3927	4.1851	f(x ₃)	0.9412	0.0000	0.9412
5	0.3529	$0.5882(x_4)$	$0.3529(x_5)$	4.1851	4.4619	f(x ₅)	0.5882	0.3529	0.9412
6	0.2353	$0.5882(x_4)$	$0.7059(x_6)$	4.1851	4.1713	f(x ₄)	0.3529	0.5882	0.9412
7	0.1176	$0.7059(x_6)$	$0.8235(x_7)$	4.1713	4.2405	f(x ₇)	0.2353	0.5882	0.8235
8	0.1176	$0.7059(x_6)$	$0.7059(x_8)$	4.1713	4.1713	-	0.1176	0.5880	0.7059

Table 3.4 The Fibonacci method procedure

Now, the final interval in Table 3.4 can be compared with Eq. (3.25), as;

$$d_8 = \frac{d_1}{F_8} = \frac{4}{34} = 0.118$$

In addition, at the point n = m the ratio of the final interval d_n to the initial range of uncertainty can be compared with the ratio $1/F_m$, as;

$$\frac{d_n}{d_0} = \frac{1}{F_m} \tag{3.26}$$

Therefore;

$$\frac{d_8}{d_0} = \frac{0.118}{4.0} = 0.0294$$



Fig. 3.12 The final interval

And,

$$\frac{1}{F_8} = \frac{1}{34} = 0.0294$$

The minimum value $f(x^*)$ occurs at the center of interval [0.5882,0.7059], and so (Fig. 3.12);

$$x^* = \frac{0.5882 + 0.7059}{2} = 0.6471$$
$$\Rightarrow f(x^*) = f(0.6471) = 4.1678$$

To see how we are close to the exact optimum value, the minimum value can be obtained simply by setting the first derivative equal to zero as;

$$\frac{d\mathbf{f}(x)}{dx} = 0 \to f'(x) = 6x - 4 = 0$$
$$\Rightarrow x = x^* = \frac{4}{6} = 0.6666$$

and so, $f(x^*) = 4.1666$.

Comparing the results of analytical method with the Fibonacci technique shows the answers are very close.

3.2.2 Golden Section Method (Elimination Technique)

In general, the entire procedure of finding an optimum value using Fibonacci and Golden Section Methods (GSM) are almost the same and their basic idea is

reducing the range of uncertainty and generating the new smaller interval for minimizing the desired unimodal function. However, the total number of iterations (n) must be obtained before beginning calculations in the Fibonacci approach, while, this is not an initial condition in GSM and the search process is stopped when an acceptable accuracy is achieved and the bracketing interval is reasonably small. The fundamental rule in the GSM is based on splitting an interval in which the ratio of every two nearby segments remains constant as;

$$\frac{d_1}{d_2} = \frac{d_2}{d_3} = \frac{d_3}{d_4} = \dots + \frac{d_n}{d_{n+1}} = \omega$$
(3.27)

Based on the Eq. (3.27), we can write;

$$\frac{\frac{d_1}{d_2} = \omega \to d_2 = \frac{d_1}{\omega}}{\frac{d_2}{d_3} = \omega \to d_2 = \omega \cdot d_3} \Rightarrow \frac{d_1}{d_3} = \omega^2$$
(3.28)

And,

$$\frac{d_2}{d_3} = \omega \to d_3 = \frac{d_2}{\omega}$$

$$\Rightarrow \frac{d_2}{d_4} = \omega^2 \to \frac{d_1}{d_4} = \omega^3$$
(3.29)

Therefore, the ratio of the first interval to the last one is;

$$\frac{d_1}{d_{n+1}} = \omega^n \tag{3.30}$$

On the other hand, according to the evaluated sequence of intervals for n experiments which are presented in Eq. (3.18) as $d_1 = d_2 + d_3$, we can write;

$$\frac{d_1}{d_3} = \frac{d_2}{d_3} + 1 \tag{3.31}$$

By applying Eq. (3.28) into Eq. (3.31), it can be concluded that;

$$\omega^2 = \omega + 1$$

That is;

$$\omega^2 - \omega - 1 = 0 \tag{3.32}$$

As the positive root of this equation is $\omega = 1.618$, we can say the ratio of each interval to the next interval is the constant value of 1.618. Therefore, the length of uncertainty range at this location is a multiple of d_1 , as shown below;

$$d_2 = \frac{d_1}{\omega} = \frac{d_1}{1.618} = 0.618 \ d_1$$

And so,

$$d_{n+1} = \frac{d_n}{\omega} = \frac{d_n}{1.618} \Rightarrow d_{n+1} = 0.618 \ d_n \tag{3.33}$$

In addition to the range of uncertainty, the location of the *n*th experiment can be evaluated as;

$$d_{n+1} = d_n - d_{n+1}^* \tag{3.34}$$

where,

$$d_{n+1}^* = 0.382 \ d_n \tag{3.35}$$

For example, the range of uncertainty for n = 2 is $d_2 = 0.618 d_1$, and based on Eq. (3.34), we have; $d_2 = d_1 - d_2^*$. Therefore, it can be concluded that $d_2^* = 0.382 d_1$.

All necessary steps to find an optimum value based on the GSM are presented in the following example.

Example 3.5 Using the GSM with the convergence criterion of $\delta = 0.045$, solve example 3.4 and compare the results with the outcome of Fibonacci approach.

$$f(x) = 3x^2 - 4x + 5.5$$

x \equiv [0.0, 4.0]

Solution: The procedure in the GSM is same as the Fibonacci approach and includes the following steps;

Step 1: Put n = 1 and determine d_2^* and d_2 as;

$$d_2^* = 0.382d_1 = 0.382 \times 4.0 = 1.528$$

And,

$$d_2 = d_1 - d_2^* = 4.0 - 1.528 = 2.472$$

 $d_2 = 0.618d_1 = 0.618 \times 4 = 2.472$

Now, the values of x_1 and x_2 should be calculated as follows;

$$x_1 = x_l + d_2^* \to x_1 = 0 + 1.528 = 1.528$$

 $x_2 = x_u - d_2^* \to x_1 = 4.0 - 1.528 = 2.472$

And so,

$$f(x_1) = f(1.528) = 6.392$$
$$f(x_2) = f(2.472) = 13.944$$

Comparing the two functions $f(x_1)$ and $f(x_2)$ we see $f(x_1) < f(x_2)$, and so, the interval $[x_2, x_u] = [2.472, 4.0]$ is discarded by using the unimodality assumption and the range of uncertainty reduces to [0.0, 2.472]. As the convergence criterion (δ) is still larger than specified criteria, we have to continue calculations to approach closer to the specified convergence criterion.

$$\delta = x_u - x_l = 2.472 - 0.0 = 2.472 > 0.045$$

Step 2: In this step, d_3^* , d_3 , the interior point x_3 , and the function $f(x_3)$ are evaluated as follows;

$$d_3^* = 0.382 d_2 = 0.382 \times 2.472 = 0.944$$

And,

$$d_3 = d_2 - d_3^* = 2.472 - 0.944 = 1.528$$

$$d_3 = 0.618d_2 = 0.618 \times 2.472 = 1.528$$

And then,

$$x_3 = x_l + (x_u - x_1) = 0.0 + (2.472 - 1.528)$$

= 0.944 \rightarrow f(x_3) = 4.397

As $f(x_1) > f(x_3)$, the interval [1.528,2.472] is eliminated and the new interval is [0.1,528]. Now, we need to check the convergence criterion (δ) as follows;

$$\delta = 1.528 - 0.0 = 1.528 > 0.04$$

Based on the evaluated value of δ , we still need to continue the calculations. All necessary steps to solve this problem using the GSM are presented in the Table 3.5.

The minimum value $f(x^*)$ can be computed as;

$$x^* = \frac{0.6400 + 0.6800}{2} = 0.6600$$
$$\Rightarrow f(x^*) = f(0.6600) = 4.1668$$

and the convergence criterion (δ) in the last step is;

$$\delta = 0.68 - 0.64 = 0.04 < 0.045$$

As it can be seen, the convergence criterion is met and the answer is in an acceptable range. To compare the results of Fibonacci and GSM, the ratio of the final to the initial range of uncertainty in the same number of iteration (here n = 8) can be applied as;

For Fibonacci method

$$\frac{d_n}{d_1} = \frac{d_8}{d_1} = \frac{0.1176}{4.0} = 0.0294$$

n	d_n^*	d_n	<i>xi</i>	<i>x_j</i>	$f(x_i)$	$f(x_j)$	Greater f(x)	x_l	<i>x</i> _u
2	1.5280	2.4720	$1.5280(x_1)$	$2.4720(x_2)$	6.3924	13.9444	$f(x_2)$	0.0000	2.4720
3	0.9443	1.5277	$1.5280(x_1)$	$0.9440(x_3)$	6.3924	4.3974	$f(x_1)$	0.0000	1.5280
4	0.5836	0.9441	$0.9440(x_3)$	$0.5840(x_4)$	4.3974	4.1872	$f(x_3)$	0.0000	0.9440
5	0.3607	0.5835	$0.5840(x_4)$	$0.3600(x_5)$	4.1872	4.4488	f(<i>x</i> ₅)	0.3600	0.9440
6	0.2229	0.3606	$0.5840(x_4)$	$0.7200(x_6)$	4.1872	4.1752	$f(x_4)$	0.5840	0.9440
7	0.1377	0.2228	$0.7200(x_6)$	$0.8080(x_7)$	4.1752	4.2266	$f(x_7)$	0.5840	0.8080
8	0.0851	0.1377	$0.7200(x_6)$	$0.6720(x_8)$	4.1752	4.1668	$f(x_6)$	0.5840	0.7200
9	0.0526	0.0851	$0.6720(x_8)$	$0.6320(x_9)$	4.1668	4.1703	$f(x_9)$	0.6320	0.7200
10	0.0325	0.0526	$0.6720(x_8)$	$0.6800(x_{10})$	4.1668	4.1672	$f(x_{10})$	0.6320	0.6800
11	0.0201	0.0325	$0.6720(x_8)$	$0.6400(x_{11})$	4.1668	4.1688	$f(x_{11})$	0.6400	0.6800

Table 3.5 The golden section method procedure

and for Golden Section Method

$$\frac{d_n}{d_1} = \frac{d_8}{d_1} = \frac{0.138}{4.0} = 0.0344$$

Based on the computed values, the Fibonacci technique is more efficient than the GSM technique in reducing the range of uncertainty. However, the GSM allows to continue the searching process to meet the convergence criterion, and so, the ratio of length of final interval to the initial one in this method is;

$$\frac{d_n}{d_1} = \frac{d_{11}}{d_1} = \frac{0.033}{4.0} = 0.0081$$

3.2.3 Newton Method (Approximation Technique)

Consider the polynomial function f(x) as differentiable function with relative minimum or maximum at $x = x^*$, we can write;

$$\left. \frac{d\mathbf{f}(x)}{dx} \right|_{x=x^*} = \mathbf{f}'(x^*) = 0 \tag{3.36}$$

In other words, the first derivative of f(x) demonstrates how whether a function is decreasing or increasing. The second derivative tells us whether the first derivative is raising or declining, and so, it can be concluded that;

$$\frac{d^2 f(x)}{dx^2}\Big|_{x=x_0} = f''(x_0) > 0 \to \text{ there is a minimum}$$

$$\frac{d^2 f(x)}{dx^2}\Big|_{x=x_0} = f''(x_0) < 0 \to \text{ there is a maximum}$$
(3.37)

Based on the Taylor's theorem, if function f(x) and its derivatives are known at the $x = x_0$, then;

$$f(x) = \frac{f(x_0)}{0!} + \frac{f'(x_0)}{1!} (x - x_0) + \frac{f'(x_0)}{2!} (x - x_0)^2 + \dots + \frac{f^n(x_0)}{n!} (x - x_0)^n + R_n(x)$$
$$= \left[\sum_{k=0}^n \frac{f^k(x_0)}{k!} (x - x_0)^k\right] + R_n(x)$$
(3.38)

where, R_n is the error term.

The Taylor series converge to the f(x), if and only if $\lim_{n\to\infty} R_n(x) = 0.0$. By using the first two terms of Taylor's series and setting the first derivative of this series equal to zero to find the minimum value function f(x), we can write;

$$f'(x) = f'(x_0) + f''(x_0)(x - x_0) = 0$$

And so,

$$x = x_0 - \frac{f'(x_0)}{f''(x_0)}$$

or (3.39)
$$x_{k+1} = x_k - \frac{f'(x_k)}{f''(x_k)}$$

where, x_0 (or x_k) denotes an approximation to the minimum value of f(x).

The Newton's method uses the Eq. (3.39) iteratively till meet the convergence criterion which is defined as a very small value such as ε .

Example 3.6 Apply Newton method to find the minimum of the function f(x) shown in Fig. 3.13 considering $\varepsilon = 0.01$, and two starting points $x_0 = 0.1$ and $x_0 = 2.5$.

$$f(x) = 3x^2 - 4 \ln(x) x \in [0.1, 2.5]$$

Solution: Based on Eq. (3.39), we need to evaluate the first and second derivative of function f(x) as;

$$f'(x) = 6x - \frac{4}{x}$$
$$f''(x) = 6 + \frac{4}{x^2}$$



Step 1: Apply the first starting point $x_{k=0} = 0.2$ and calculate $x_{k+1} = x_1$ as;

$$f'(x) = 6x - \frac{4}{x} = 6 \times 0.1 - \frac{4}{0.1} = -39.4$$
$$f''(x) = 6 + \frac{4}{x^2} = 6 + \frac{4}{0.1^2} = 406.0$$

and so,

$$x_1 = x_0 - \frac{f'(x_0)}{f''(x_0)} = 0.1 - \left(\frac{-39.4}{406.0}\right) = 0.197$$

Now, we need to check the convergence criterion;

$$|\mathbf{f}'(x_{k+1})| = |\mathbf{f}'(0.197)| = |-19.118| > 0.01$$

Step 2: Put k = 1 and then calculate x_2 as follows;

$$f'(x) = 6 \times 0.197 - \frac{4}{0.197} = -19.118$$
$$f''(x) = 6 + \frac{4}{0.197^2} = 109.020$$

and so,

$$x_2 = x_1 - \frac{f'(x_1)}{f''(x_1)} = 0.197 - \left(\frac{-19.118}{109.020}\right) = 0.372$$

The convergence check shows the procedure should still be continued.

$$|\mathbf{f}'(0.372)| = |-8.507| > 0.01$$

Table 3.6 and Fig. 3.14 show the entire procedure for evaluating minimum of f(x), and the path that the function approaches from the first starting point (0.1) to the minimum using the Newton method.

As it can be seen from this table, the convergence criterion is already met at k = 5, but the procedure is continued up to k = 6, where the f'(x) = 0.

k	<i>x</i> _{<i>k</i>}	$f(\mathbf{x})$	f'(x)	$f^{\prime\prime}(x)$	x_{k+1}	Convergence check
0	0.100	9.240	-39.400	406.000	0.197	Continue
1	0.197	6.614	-19.118	109.023	0.372	Continue
2	0.372	4.367	-8.507	34.843	0.617	Continue
3	0.617	3.075	-2.788	16.523	0.785	Continue
4	0.785	2.817	-0.382	12.486	0.816	Continue
5	0.816	2.811	-0.007	12.009	0.816	Stop
6	0.816	2.811	0.000	12.000	0.816	-

Table 3.6 The entire procedure of evaluation minimum of f(x) for starting point 0.1

Fig. 3.14 The approaching routes from starting point 0.1 toward the minimum value



All of the necessary steps to calculate the minimum value and also the routes of approaching toward the minimum point using the Newton method based on the starting point 2.5 are presented in Table 3.7 and Fig. 3.15.

3.3 Unconstrained Optimization Methods

The main concern of unconstrained optimization is finding the optimum point of nonlinear functions when there is no constraint and restriction on the decision variables. These types of problems commonly arise in many areas of engineering and science including economic, physics, hydrosystem engineering, environmental engineering, mechanical engineering, and so on. The following section focuses on the unconstrained optimization problems and looks into three different methods to solve nonlinear and unconstrained optimization problems;

- 1. Random search methods that is placed in direct search category (see Table 3.2),
- 2. Univariate method which is a member of direct search methods (see Table 3.2),
- 3. Steepest descent method from descent category (see Table 3.2).

3.0

		1		,	· ·	51
k	<i>x</i> _{<i>k</i>}	f(x)	$f^{\prime}(x)$	$f^{\prime\prime}(x)$	x_{k+1}	Convergence check
0	2.500	15.085	13.400	6.640	0.482	Continue
1	0.482	3.617	-5.408	23.223	0.715	Continue
2	0.715	2.876	-1.307	13.828	0.809	Continue
3	0.809	2.811	-0.086	12.107	0.816	Continue
4	0.816	2.811	0.000	12.000	0.816	Stop

Table 3.7 The entire procedure of evaluation minimum of f(x) for starting point 2.5

16 -> X0-X1 X1-X2 X2-X3 Fig. 3.15 The approaching X3-X4 Min of f(x) routes from starting point 2.5 14 toward the minimum value 12 10 8 Z 6 4 2 0 1.0 0.0 0.5 1.5 2.0 2.5 x

3.3.1 Random Search Method

Random search methods are known as numerical optimization techniques that use various types of randomness algorithms in the form of a pseudo-random number generator to find the optimum value for a continuous or discrete objective function. For example, Monte Carlo method is an important numerical technique that commonly is used to generate sequences of random numbers. This method is one of the most famous and widely used numerical methods from the early of 1940. With the remarkable increase in computer capabilities and the development of variance reduction schemes in recent years, applying this method has been increased in different scientific fields. The basic element of this method is iteration and generation of random variables from a specific range. In other words, it is a numerical simulation which replicates stochastic input random variables from desired probability distribution (Goodarzi et al. 2012). The random search methods are capable to handle large optimization problems, it converges quickly to the global optimal solutions, and they are relatively easy to use in various types of optimization problems. Three of the most important random search methods are; random jumping method, random walk method, and random walk method with directional exploitation. The random jumping method with appropriate example is illustrated in the following section.

The random jumping method is one of the simplest techniques to find the minimum value of function f(x) subject to the lower and upper bounds x_{l_i} and x_{u_i} ,

Fig. 3.16 Open-top water cylindrical tank



respectively, for design variable x_i , i = 1, 2, 3, ..., n in which $x_{l_i} < x_i < x_{u_i}$. The main step in this technique is generating different sets of random numbers R_i which are uniformly distributed between 0 and 1, and then, evaluating function f(x) at the points x_i , i = 1, 2, 3, ..., n to find the smallest f(x) as minimum value.

$$x_{i} = \begin{bmatrix} x_{1} \\ x_{2} \\ \vdots \\ x_{n} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} x_{l_{1}} + R_{1}(x_{u_{1}} - x_{l_{1}}) \\ x_{l_{2}} + R_{2}(x_{u_{2}} - x_{l_{2}}) \\ \vdots \\ x_{l_{n}} + R_{n}(x_{u_{n}} - x_{l_{n}}) \end{bmatrix}$$
(3.40)

It is important to note that although the problem is unconstrained, two upper and lower bounds are considered on the vector x_i . The following example shows how this method works in finding the minimum value of the desired function.

Example 3.7 Water Cylindrical Tank

Consider an open-top water cylindrical tank that can be used for storing water in the emergency cases in small urban area. Assume the required volume (V) for this cylindrical tank is 200 m³ with the dimensions r and h as radius and height of the cylinder, respectively (Fig. 3.16). As the cost of building the open-top cylindrical water tank is a function of the amount of material used, find the minimum dimensions of the tank based on the random jumping method to minimize the cost of building the water tank.

Solution: To minimize the cost of building an open-top cylindrical water tank, we need to minimize the outside surface area of the tank which is function of radius and height as follows;

$$\mathbf{f}(r,h) = A = \pi r^2 + 2\pi rh$$

In other words, the objective function here is the outside surface area and the decision variables are r and h. As the volume of this cylindrical tank is already known, the variable h also can be written based on radius of cylinder r as follow;

$$V = \pi r^2 h \to h = \frac{V}{\pi r^2} = \frac{200}{\pi r^2}$$

	view Vi	w De	veloper Ad	d-3m			2	Random Number Generation	9
Connections Properties Edit Links	ģ↓ <u>호</u>	Filter	K Ceal S Response Advanced iter	Text to Columns	Remove Duplicates			Number of Sandoles: 1 Number of Random Numbers: 2000 Qistribution: Uniform •	OK Cancel Belo
F	G	н	1	1	ĸ	Deta Analysis 3 9 12 drivyos Tools Correction Correction Description Statistics	5	Parameters Bgbween 0 grd 1	
								Bandom Seed: Output spitons	

Fig. 3.17 Generate random numbers using Excel



Fig. 3.18 The outside surface area versus radius of cylindrical tank

Therefore, the number of decision variables is reduced to one variable and so, the objective function can be written as;

$$f(r) = A = \pi r^2 + 2\pi r \left(\frac{200}{\pi r^2}\right) = \pi r^2 + \frac{400}{r}$$

When the objective function is established, we need to generate a large number of random numbers that are uniformly distributed between 0 and 1. The Data Analysis tool in Excel can be used to produce a specified numbers of random variables. Figure 3.17 shows the necessary steps to apply available tool in Excel for generating random numbers based on the uniform distribution.

Figure 3.18 is presented to show the trend of varying the outside surface area of cylindrical water tank versus the radius of cylinder as the main decision variable in this problem, and also to graphically track the approximate location of the minimum point.

This problem is solved for six different conditions to see the effect of number of generated random numbers and different lower and upper bound of the problem on

Upper bound (r_l)	Lower bound (r_u)	<i>i</i> (iteration)	Generated random numbers (sorted)	$r = x_l + R_i(x_u - x_l)$	f(<i>r</i>)
1	10	1	0.037	1.337	304.790
		2	0.049	1.442	283.987
		3	0.059	1.533	268.377
			:	:	÷
		22	0.315	3.832	150.515
		23	0.334	4.010	150.268
		24	0.347	4.120	150.414
			:	:	÷
		98	0.981	9.833	344.449
		99	0.995	9.954	351.436
		100	0.998	9.981	353.046
			minimum		150.268

Table 3.8 The results for 100 generated random numbers and $r_l = 1$ and $r_u = 10$

the optimal solution in random jumping method. To compare the estimated results with the analytic solution, the minim value of the outside surface area is evaluated as;

$$\frac{df(r)}{dr} = 0 \to 2\pi r - \frac{400}{r^2} = 0$$

$$\Rightarrow r = 3.993(m) \text{ and } f(3.993) = 150.265 \ (m^2)$$

In addition, the height of cylinder simply can be calculated as;

$$h = \frac{200}{\pi r^2} = 3.993$$

The following tables show the achieved results based on the random jumping method in various conditions. The presented results in Table 3.8 are based on 100 generated random numbers considering 1 and 10 as the lower and upper bounds, respectively.

Table 3.9 illustrates the results of optimization analysis for 1,000 random numbers considering 1 as the lower bound and 10 as the upper bound.

The final outcomes for all considered condition in this problem are briefly presented in the Table 3.10. According to the results, using larger numbers of sample sizes resulted in increasing the precision of calculations, while, expanding the interval of upper and lower bounds gives the results with lower precision.

In general, the random search methods have lots of advantages including their simplicity to use, applicability for discontinuous and non-differentiable objective functions in addition to continues functions, and capability to find the global minimum while there are several relative minima.

Upper bound (r_l)	Lowe bound (<i>r_u</i>)	<i>i</i> (iteration)	Generated random numbers (sorted)	$r = x_l + R_i(x_u - x_l)$	f(<i>r</i>)
1	10	1	0.0006	1.005	401.098
		2	0.0008	1.007	400.991
		3	0.0012	1.011	400.350
			:	÷	÷
		346	0.3315	3.983	150.266
		347	0.3318	3.986	150.265
		348	0.3330	3.997	150.265
			:	:	÷
		998	0.9961	9.965	352.095
		999	0.9981	9.983	353.158
		1,000	0.9987	9.988	353.449
			minimum		150.265

Table 3.9 The results for 1,000 generated random numbers and $r_l = 1$ and $r_u = 10$

Table 3.10 The final results of random jumping method in various conditions

Upper bound (r_l)	Lower bound (r_u)	<i>n</i> (number of iteration)	Decision variable r	min $f(r)$
1	10	100	4.009	150.268
1	20	100	4.041	150.287
1	40	100	3.672	151.292
1	10	1,000	3.996	150.265
1	20	1,000	3.991	150.265
1	40	1,000	4.001	150.266

3.3.2 Univariate Method

The univariate method is a simple direct search method that is based on choosing n fixed search directions for the objective function f(x) and performs a series of iterations to reach the optimal point. Based on this technique, a multivariable function is reduced to a single variable function and a sequence of one-dimensional minimization search will be performed by changing one variable at the time while holding the remaining variables constant. Afterward, the selected starting point of non-constant variable is improved and the objective function is estimated using this new value. In the next step, the process is repeated for the second variable to improve its initial estimation whereas keeping the other constants. This process should be continued for all variables and change the objective function step by step to meet the convergence criterion to reach the minimum point. It is important to note that each iteration of a univariate search method includes a search direction d_k and a step length α_k in the *k*th iteration in which;

$$x_{i,k+1} = x_{i,k} + \alpha_k d_k \tag{3.41}$$

In general, the search direction needs to be a descent direction to reduce the objective function in the direction of search. Therefore, the value of objective function for the new points should be less than or equal to the previous points. The search direction can be obtained as;

$$[d_k]^T = \begin{cases} (1,0,0,\dots,0) & \text{for } k = 1\\ (0,1,0,\dots,0) & \text{for } k = 2\\ & \vdots\\ (0,0,0,\dots,1) & \text{for } k = n \end{cases}$$
(3.42)

After this, we need to determine whether the decreasing trend of objective function is in the positive or negative direction by choosing an examination length (ε) , and estimating;

$$f_{k} = f(x_{i,k})$$

$$f_{+} = f(x_{i,k} + \varepsilon d_{k})$$

$$f_{-} = f(x_{i,k} - \varepsilon d_{k})$$
(3.43)

In the next step, the following conditions should be checked;

- 1. If $f_+ < f_k$, d_k is the correct direction and so, $f_k = f(x_{i,k} + \alpha_k d_k)$,
- 2. If $f_- < f_k$, $-d_k$ is the correct direction and hence, $f_k = f(x_{i,k} + \alpha_k d_k)$, and
- 3. If $f_k < f_+$ and $f_k < f_-$, the search procedure should be stopped.

The step length α_k which is a positive scalar should be determined based on an optimization analysis as follows;

$$\alpha_k^* = \min_{\alpha} f(x_{i,k} + \alpha_k d_k) \tag{3.44}$$

Then, the previous point is replaced with the estimated new value;

$$\begin{aligned} x_{i,k+1} &= x_{i,k} + \alpha_k^* d_k \\ f_{k+1} &= f(x_{i,k+1}) \end{aligned}$$
 (3.45)

The process of finding minimum value will be terminated if the convergence condition is satisfied.

Example 3.8 Minimize f(x) using univariate method with the starting points $x_1 = 0$ and $x_2 = 0$, and $\varepsilon = 0.05$.

$$f(x) = 1.25x_1 - 0.45x_2 + x_1^4 + x_1x_2 + x_2^2$$

Solution: The following sections include the necessary steps in details to find the optimal solution.

Step 1: *K* = 1

(a) The first direction for search is chosen as $d_{k=1} = (1,0)$ by considering the starting points $x_{i,k} = (0,0)$. Then, the functions f_1 , f_+ , and f_- are computed as;

$$f_1 = f(x_{i,1}) = 1.25(0) - 0.45(0) + (0)^4 + (0) \times (0) + (0)^2 = 0$$

and

$$\begin{cases} x_{1,1} + \varepsilon d_1 = 0 + 0.05 \times 1 = 0.05 \\ \Rightarrow f_+ = f(0.05, 0) = 0.0625 \\ x_{2,1} + \varepsilon d_1 = 0 + 0.05 \times 0 = 0 \\ \begin{cases} x_{1,1} + \varepsilon d_1 = 0 - 0.05 \times 1 = -0.05 \\ \Rightarrow f_- = f(-0.05, 0) = -0.0624 \\ x_{2,1} + \varepsilon d_1 = 0 - 0.05 \times 0 = 0 \end{cases}$$

(b) Now, we need to determine the correct direction of d_k . As $f_- < f_1$, the correct direction is $-d_1$ and so, $f_1 = f(x_{i,1} - \alpha_1 d_1)$.

$$\begin{cases} x_{1,1} - \alpha_1 d_1 = 0 - \alpha_1 \times 1 = -\alpha_1 \\ x_{2,1} - \alpha_1 d_1 = 0 - \alpha_1 \times 0 = 0 \end{cases}$$

and so,

$$\begin{split} f(-\alpha_1,0) &= 1.25(-\alpha_1) - 0.45(0) + (-\alpha_1)^4 + (-\alpha_1)(0) + (0)^2 \\ &= -1.25\alpha_1 + \alpha_1^4 \end{split}$$

The optimum value of α can be obtained by setting the first derivative equal to zero as;

$$\frac{df}{d\alpha} = 0 \Rightarrow -1.25 + 4\alpha_1^3 = 0 \Rightarrow \alpha_1 = \alpha_1^* = -0.6786$$

(c) In this step, the calculated step length α_1 is substituted in the appropriate equations and the optimum value of f(x) will be estimated in the first iteration.

$$\begin{cases} x_{1,2} = 0 - (-0.6786) \times 1 = 0.6786 \\ \Rightarrow f_2 = f(0.6786, 0) = 1.0603 \\ x_{2,2} = 0 - (-0.6786) \times 0 = 0 \end{cases}$$

As it can be seen the variable x_2 is held constant and the variable x_1 is improved in the first iteration.

Step 2: *K* = 2

(a) The second direction is selected as $d_2 = (0,1)$ by considering the starting point of $x_{i,2} = (0.6786, 0)$. Therefore, the functions, f_+ , and f_- are;

$$\begin{cases} x_{1,2} + \varepsilon d_2 = 0.6786 + 0.05 \times 0 = 0.6786 \\ \Rightarrow f_+ = f(0.6786, 0.05) = 1.0742 \\ x_{2,2} + \varepsilon d_2 = 0 + 0.05 \times 1 = 0.05 \\ x_{1,2} - \varepsilon d_2 = 0.6786 - 0.05 \times 0 = 0.6786 \\ \Rightarrow f_- = f(-0.05, 0) = 1.0513 \\ x_{2,2} - \varepsilon d_2 = 0 - 0.05 \times 1 = -0.05 \end{cases}$$

(b) As $f_- < f_2$, the correct direction is $-d_2$ and so, $f_2 = f(x_{i,2} - \alpha_2 d_2)$.

$$\begin{cases} x_{1,2} - \alpha_2 d_2 = 0.6786 - \alpha_2 \times 0 = 0.6786 \\ x_{2,2} - \alpha_2 d_2 = 0 - \alpha_2 \times 1 = -\alpha_2 \end{cases}$$

and so,

$$\begin{split} f(0.6786,-\alpha_2) &= 1.25(0.6786) - 0.45(-\alpha_2) + (0.6786)^4 \\ &\quad + (0.6786)(-\alpha_2) + (-\alpha_2)^2 = \alpha_2^2 - 0.2286\alpha_2 + 1.0603 \end{split}$$

After that, the optimum value of α can be obtained as;

$$\frac{df}{d\alpha} = 0 \Rightarrow 2\alpha_2 - 0.2286 = 0 \rightarrow \alpha_2 = \alpha_2^* = 0.1143$$

(c) Finally, the optimum of f(x) can be estimated as;

$$\begin{cases} x_{1,3} = 0.6786 - 0.1143 \times 0 = 0.6786 \\ x_{2,3} = 0 - 0.1143 \times 1 = -0.1143 \end{cases} \Rightarrow f_3 = f(0.6786, -0.1143) = 1.0472$$

As it can be seen, the variable x_1 is fixed in the second iteration while, the variable x_2 has been changed. The entire procedure of finding the minimum value of function f(x) are shown in the Table 3.11. The values of f_+ and f_- are both greater than f_k in the iteration 8, and so, the optimization process is terminated in this step and the value of -0.9831 is considered as minimum of f(x) at the $x_1 = -0.7745$ and $x_2 = 0.6084$.

Tablé	The process	e process of finding minimum value using univariate search method	num value usir	ig univariate s	search method				
k	d_k	$X_{i,k}$	\mathbf{f}_k	\mathbf{f}_+	f	Correct direction	$lpha_k^*$	$X_{i,k+1}$	f_{k+1}
-	(1,0)	(0,0)	0	0.0625	-0.0624	$-d_1$	-0.6786	(0.6786, 0)	1.0603
0	(0,1)	(0.6786, 0)	1.0603	1.0742	1.0513	$-d_2$	0.1143	(0.6786, -0.1143)	1.0472
б	(1,0)	(0.6786, -0.1143)	1.0472	1.1737	0.9345	$-d_3$	1.3358	(-0.6572, -0.1143)	-0.4953
4	(0,1)	(-0.6572, -0.1143)	-0.4953	-0.5596	-0.4260	d_4	0.6679	(-0.6572, 0.5536)	-0.9414
5	(1,0)	(-0.6572, 0.5536)	-0.9414	-0.9018	-0.9680	$-d_5$	0.1096	(-0.7668, 0.5536)	-0.9799
9	(0,1)	(-0.7668, 0.5536)	-0.9799	-0.9829	-0.9719	d_6	0.0548	(-0.7668, 0.6084)	-0.9829
٢	(1,0)	(-0.7668, 0.6084)	-0.9829	-0.9717	-0.9764	$-d_7$	0.0077	(-0.7745, 0.6084)	-0.9831
8	(0,1)	(-0.7745, 0.6084)	-0.9831	-0.9810	-0.9802	I	Ι	I	I

method
e search
variat
univ
Ising
value t
nding minimum
finding
of
process
The
3.11
le

3.3.3 Steepest Descent Method

The steepest descent method or the Cauchy's method is a well-known and old optimization technique which was proposed by Cauchy (1847) for solving unconstrained and non-linear minimization problems. The main idea behind this approach is considering the negative of gradient of objective function f(x) at any individual point as search direction d, in which this direction results in maximum descent in the function f(x). Hence, this method is called the steepest descent or gradient descent method. Although this method is very simple and also recognized as fundamental approach in the developing optimization theory, it is not known as very efficient method and the convergence rate also can be very slow in the most of real problems. The necessary steps to find the minimum of continuously differentiable function $f(x_i)$ in which $x_i = x_1, x_1, \ldots, x_n$, using the steepest descent method are;

- 1. Choose an initial starting point $x_{i,k}$ in the first iteration (k = 1),
- 2. Determine the search direction d_k as;

$$d_{i,k} = -\nabla f(x_{i,k}) = \left[\frac{\partial f}{\partial x_{1,k}} \frac{\partial f}{\partial x_{2,k}} \frac{\partial f}{\partial x_{3,k}} \cdots \frac{\partial f}{\partial x_{n,k}}\right]^T$$
(3.46)

3. Compute the optimal step length α_k along a given search direction as follow;

$$\begin{aligned} x_{i,k+1} &= x_{i,k} + \alpha_k^* d_k \\ \alpha_k^* &= \min_{\alpha} f(x_{i,k} + \alpha_k d_k) \end{aligned} \tag{3.47}$$

4. Check the convergence criterion based on the following formula;

$$\left|\frac{\mathbf{f}(x_{i,k+1}) - \mathbf{f}(x_{i,k})}{\mathbf{f}(x_{i,k})}\right| \le \varepsilon \tag{3.48}$$

where, ε is the convergence tolerance. If the convergence criterion is not met, the estimated points become the starting point and we need to lunch the search from step 2 using this new evaluated point.

Example 3.9 Apply the steepest descent method to solve the Problem 3.7 by considering $\varepsilon = 0.001$.

Solution: Based on the Problem 3.7, the objective function is;

$$\mathbf{f}(r) = \pi r^2 + \frac{400}{r}$$

Firstly, an initial starting point is chosen at the first iteration as $r_{k=1} = 0.4$ and then, the value of f(r) has been evaluated in this point as;

$$f(r) = \pi \times 0.4^2 + \frac{400}{0.4} = 1,000.503$$

The gradient of f(r) in this point can be calculated as;

$$abla \mathbf{f}(r) = rac{\partial f}{\partial r} = 2\pi r - rac{400}{r^2}$$

and

$$\nabla f(r_{k=1}) = \frac{\partial f}{\partial r_1} = 2\pi (0.4) - \frac{400}{(0.4)^2} = -2,497.49$$

Therefore,

$$d_k = -\nabla f(r_1) = 2,497.49$$

Now, we need to calculate the optimal step length α_k^* by minimizing $f(r_k + \alpha_k d_k)$ as follow;

$$\alpha_1^* = \min_{\alpha} f(r_1 + \alpha_1 d_1) = \min_{\alpha} f(0.4 + \alpha_1 2, 497.49)$$

in which the minimum value can be evaluated as;

$$\frac{df(0.4 + \alpha_1 2,497.49)}{d\alpha_1} = 0$$

$$\rightarrow \frac{d}{d\alpha_1} \left[\pi (0.4 + \alpha_1 2,497.49)^2 + \frac{400}{(0.4 + \alpha_1 2,497.49)} \right] = 0$$

$$\Rightarrow \alpha_1 = \alpha_1^* = 0.00143$$

and so,

$$r_2 = r_1 + \alpha_1 d_1 = 0.4 + 0.00143 \times 2,497.49 = 3.9714$$

$$\Rightarrow f(r_1 + \alpha_1 d_1) = 150.2694$$

The convergence criterion is not met yet since;

$$\left|\frac{150.2694 - 1,000.503}{1,000.503}\right| = 0.8498 > 0.001$$

In the second iteration, set k = 2 and $r_2 = 3.9714$ and then, calculate the gradient as follow;

$$\nabla f(r_{k=2}) = \frac{\partial f}{\partial r_2} = 2\pi (3.9714) - \frac{400}{(3.9714)^2} = -0.4082$$
$$\Rightarrow d_2 = -\nabla f(r_2) = 0.4082$$

Afterward,

$$\frac{df(3.9714 + \alpha_2 0.4082)}{d\alpha_2} = 0 \Rightarrow \alpha_2 = \alpha_2^* = 0.0537$$

Hence,

$$r_3 = r_2 + \alpha_2 d_2 = 3.9714 + 0.0537 \times 0.4082 = 3.9933$$

$$\Rightarrow f(r_2 + \alpha_2 d_2) = 150.2650$$

The convergence criterion is met here as;

$$\left|\frac{150.2650 - 150.2694}{150.2694}\right| = 2.9193 \times 10^{-5} < 0.001$$

Therefore, it can be concluded that the minimum of f(r) is 150.2650 that happens in r = 3.9933.

Example 3.10 Apply the steepest descent method to solve the Problem 3.8 with the starting points $x_1 = 0$ and $x_2 = 0$, and $\varepsilon = 0.0005$.

$$\mathbf{f}(x) = 1.25x_1 - 0.45x_2 + x_1^4 + x_1x_2 + x_2^2$$

Solution: The value of function f(x) in the selected starting points is;

$$f(0,0) = 1.25(0) - 0.45(0) + (0)^{4} + (0)(0) + (0)^{2} = 0$$

Then, the gradient of $f(x_{i,k})$ can be computed as;

$$\nabla f(x_{i,k}) = \frac{\partial f}{\partial x} = \begin{bmatrix} \frac{\partial f}{\partial x_{1,1}} \\ \frac{\partial f}{\partial x_{2,1}} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} 4x_1^3 + x_2 + 1.25 \\ x_1 + 2x_2 - 0.45 \end{bmatrix}$$

Now, we need to evaluate the gradient of $f(x_{i,k})$ at the selected points as follow;

$$\nabla \mathbf{f}(0,0) = \begin{bmatrix} 1.25\\ -0.45 \end{bmatrix}$$

Therefore,

$$-\nabla \mathbf{f} = \begin{bmatrix} -d_{1,1} \\ -d_{2,1} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} -1.25 \\ 0.45 \end{bmatrix}$$

To estimate the optimal step length α_k^* , the minimum of $f(x_{i,k} + \alpha_k d_k)$ should be calculated as;

$$\alpha_1^* = \min_{\alpha} f(x_{1,1} + \alpha_1 d_{1,1}, x_{2,1} + \alpha_1 d_{2,1}) = \min_{\alpha} f(-1.25\alpha_1, 0.45\alpha_1)$$

and

$$\frac{df(-1.25\alpha_1, 0.45\alpha_1)}{d\alpha_1} = 0$$

$$\rightarrow \frac{d}{d\alpha_1} \left[2.4414\alpha_1^4 - 0.36\alpha_1^2 - 1.765\alpha_1 \right] = 0$$

$$\Rightarrow \alpha_1 = \alpha_1^* = 0.6087$$

and hence,

$$\begin{cases} x_{1,2} = x_{1,1} + \alpha_1 d_{1,1} = 0 + 0.6087 \times (-1.25) = -0.7608 \\ x_{2,2} = x_{2,1} + \alpha_1 d_{2,1} = 0 + 0.6087 \times (0.45) = 0.2739 \end{cases}$$

and this calculations resulted in;

$$f(-0.7608, 0.2739) = -0.8726$$

The convergence criterion is not met yet, and we need to proceed to the next iteration. All necessary calculations to find the minim value are presented in the Table 3.12.

3.4 Constrained Optimization Methods

A large class of optimization problems lies in constrained optimization problems that can be formulated as constrained maximization or minimization problems with complex constraints. In a constraint optimization problem, the feasible areas are bounded and there are restrictions on the points that the decision variables may be taken and we are interested in. In this case, the optimum value should be determined such that all constraints are simultaneously satisfied. In the following sections the Lagrange Multiplier and Generalized Reduced Gradient methods as two important constrained optimization techniques with a few examples associated with each method are presented.

3.4.1 Lagrange Multiplier Method

The Lagrange multiplier is an optimization technique to find the local minima or maxima of desired objective function which are subject to equality constraints. In other words, it is a mathematical tool to find the optimum value of differentiable

Table	able 3.12 The proceed	lu	re of finding minimum value based on steepest descent method	n value based	on steepest	descent met	hod			
k	x ₁	x_2	$f(x_1,x_2)$	$d_{1,k}$	$d_{2,k}$	α_k^*	$\chi_{1,k+1}$	$\chi_{2,k+1}$	$\mathrm{f}(x_{1,k+1},x_{2,k+1})$	Convergence criterion
_	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000	-1.2500	0.4500	0.6087	-0.7609	0.2739	-0.8726	I
7	-0.7609	0.2739	-0.8726	0.2381	0.6630	0.3201	-0.6847	0.4861	-0.9514	0.0903
б	-0.6847	0.4861	-0.9514	-0.4522	0.1624	0.1914	-0.7712	0.5172	-0.9744	0.0242
4	-0.7712	0.5172	-0.9744	0.0677	0.1868	0.3110	-0.7502	0.5753	-0.9805	0.0063
5	-0.7502	0.5753	-0.9805	-0.1366	0.0496	0.1745	-0.7740	0.5840	-0.9824	0.0019
9	-0.7740	0.5840	-0.9824	0.0209	0.0561	0.3061	-0.7676	0.6011	-0.9829	0.0006
L	-0.7676	0.6011	-0.9829	-0.0419	0.0154	0.1705	-0.7748	0.6037	-0.9831	0.0002

functions by converting a constrained non-linear problem into an unconstrained problem by applying an augmented function known as Lagrangian function. The Lagrangian function for a minimization problem can be defined as;

$$L(x,\lambda) = f(x) + \sum_{k=1}^{m} \lambda_k g_k(x) = f(x)\lambda^T g(x)$$
 (3.49)

where, λ is an $m \times 1$ vector of Lagrange multipliers, and g(x) is a vector of constraint equations.

To find the minimum of f(x) based on the Lagrange multiplier method, we need to set the following partial derivatives equal to zero;

$$\frac{\partial L}{\partial x_i}(x^*,\lambda^*) = \frac{\partial f}{\partial x_i} + \sum_{k=1}^m \lambda_k \frac{\partial g}{\partial x_i} = 0 \quad \text{for } i = 1, 2, \dots, n$$

$$\frac{\partial L}{\partial \lambda_k}(x^*,\lambda^*) = g_k(x) = 0 \qquad \text{for } k = 1, 2, \dots, m$$
(3.50)

in which, x^* is the optimum solution and λ^* is the associated Lagrange multipliers.

The following problems explain the procedure of using Lagrange multiplier method in finding the optimal solution of unconstrained optimization problems.

Example 3.11 Find the minimum of function f(x) based on the Lagrange multiplier method;

min f(x) =
$$6.34(x_1 - 0.5)^2 + 4.5(x_2 - 1.5)^2$$

Subject to:

$$x_1 + 3.35(x_2 - 1) = 0$$

Solution: In the first step, the Lagrangian function should be established as;

$$L(x,\lambda) = \left[6.34(x_1 - 0.5)^2 + 4.5(x_2 - 1.5)^2\right] + \lambda[x_1 + 3.35(x_2 - 1)]$$

Based on the Eq. (3.50), the derivatives can be calculated as;

$$\frac{\partial L}{\partial x_1} = 12.68x_1 + \lambda - 6.34 = 0$$
$$\frac{\partial L}{\partial x_2} = 9x_2 + 3.35\lambda - 13.5 = 0$$
$$\frac{\partial L}{\partial \lambda} = x_1 + 3.35(x_2 - 1) = 0$$

Solving the above equations simultaneously resulted in $x_1^* = 0.3706$, $x_2^* = 0.8893$, and $\lambda^* = 1.6405$. The minimum of f(x) associated to these optimal solutions is 1.7840.

Example 3.12 Apply the Lagrange multiplier method to solve the Problem 3.7.

$$\mathbf{f}(r,h) = \pi r^2 + 2\pi rh$$

Subject to:

$$h - \frac{200}{\pi r^2} = 0$$

Solution: The Lagrangian function can be written as;

$$L(r,h,\lambda) = \left(\pi r^2 + 2\pi rh\right) + \lambda \left(h - \frac{200}{\pi r^2}\right)$$

Now, we need to calculate the derivatives as follows;

$$\frac{\partial L}{\partial r} = 2\pi(h+r) + \frac{400\lambda}{\pi r^3} = 0$$
$$\frac{\partial L}{\partial h} = 2\pi r + \lambda = 0$$
$$\frac{\partial L}{\partial \lambda} = h - \frac{200}{\pi r^2} = 0$$

The optimal solution for this problem, which are the minimum dimensions of tank, are; r= 3.992, h = 3.992, $\lambda = -25.088$. And the value of f(r) is 150.265.

3.4.2 Generalized Reduced Gradient Method

The Generalized Reduced Gradient (GRG) method is a popular optimization method to solve constrained nonlinear optimization problems. This method includes an implicit variable elimination procedure and it can be considered as extensions of the Simplex method for linear programming that is presented in Chap. 2. Based on the GRG algorithm, the inequality constraints are converted into equality constraints by adding nonnegative slack variables to constraint equations, and express the basic (or dependent) variables in terms of non-basic (or independent) variables to solve desired nonlinear optimization problem. Consider the following non-linear optimization problem as;

$$\min f(x_i) \quad i = 1, 2, \dots, n \tag{3.51}$$

Subject to:

$$g_k(x_i) \le 0 \quad k = 1, 2, \dots, m$$

$$x_l \le x_i \le x_u$$
(3.52)

where, $f(x_i)$ and $g_k(x_i)$ are continuously differentiable, *n* is the number of independent decision variables, *m* is the number of constrains, and *l* and *u* are the lower and upper bounds, respectively. In the first step, we need to add a non-negative slack variable to each of the inequality constraints. Therefore, the Eq. (3.51) and Eq. (3.52) can be written as;

$$\min(x_i) \quad i = 1, 2, \dots, n$$
 (3.53a)

Subject to:

$$g_k(x_i) + x_{n+k} = 0$$
 $k = 1, 2, ..., m$
 $x_l \le x_i \le x_u$
 $x_{n+k} \ge 0$
(3.53b)

The idea behind the GRG method is to convert a constraint problem into an unconstrained problem and eliminate some variables using the equality constraints. Based on this method, the independent variables are expressed in terms of m basic variable (x_b) and n-m non-basic variable (x_{nb}) , and then, m constraint equations is solved for the all basic variables in terms of non-basic variables. All necessary steps to solve a non-linear optimization problem using the GRG method are presented in the following section, as;

- 1. Add nonnegative slack variables to all inequalities except the non-negativity inequalities,
- 2. Choose initial feasible trial values for non-basic variables,
- 3. Present objective function in terms of non-basic variables,
- 4. Determine the search direction d in each iteration as;

$$\boldsymbol{d} = \nabla_{nb} \mathbf{f} = \begin{bmatrix} \frac{\partial \mathbf{f}}{\partial x_{nb}} \end{bmatrix} - \pi^T \begin{bmatrix} \frac{\partial g}{\partial x_{nb}} \end{bmatrix}$$
(3.54)

in which ∇ is the gradient operator. Based on the steepest decent method, the search direction when applied to a function f is ∇f in which ∇ is the gradient operator and shows the direction of the maximum rate of increase in the objective function. It is important to note that $-\nabla f$ should be applied for minimization problems. The parameter in Eq. (3.54) π^T can be computed as;

$$\pi^{T} = \left[\frac{\partial f}{\partial x_{b}}\right]^{T} \left[\frac{\partial g}{\partial x_{b}}\right]^{-1}$$
(3.55)

in which, $[\partial g/\partial x_b] = \mathbf{B}$ is a nonsingular or regular matrix, and $[\partial F/\partial x_b]^T$ is the transpose of matrix $[\partial F/\partial x_b]$. It is important to note that nonsingular matrix such as **B** is a square invertible matrix which its inverse is denoted by \mathbf{B}^{-1} . Therefore Eq. (3.55) can be written as;

$$\boldsymbol{\pi}^{T} = \begin{bmatrix} \frac{\partial \mathbf{f}}{\partial x_{b}} \end{bmatrix}^{T} \boldsymbol{B}^{-1}$$
(3.56)

5. Determine the optimal feasible step size β for the line search procedure by substituting the non-basic variables using the following equation to obtain the new objective function $f[(x_{nb})_{new}]$

$$(x_{nb})_{new} = (x_{nb})_{old} + \beta \boldsymbol{d}$$

$$f[(x_{nb})_{new}] = f[(x_{nb})_{old} + \beta \boldsymbol{d}]$$
(3.57)

Now, we need to determine a basic variable which should be became non-basic one based on the optimal and feasible value of β . In other words, different values of β in a desired step must be used till one of the basic variables drops to zero, and then, use that variable as non-basic variable in the next iteration to find the new reduced objective function.

All of the aforementioned steps must be repeated till the optimum value is reached. In order to be more familiar with the main concepts behind GRG technique, the following problem discusses the principles of GRG technique to solve a non-linear optimization problem.

Example 3.13 Solve the following maximization problem using GRG method;

$$\max f(x) = x_1^2 + 3x_1 - x_2$$

Subject to the below constraints;

$$\begin{cases} x_1^2 + 4x_2 \le 15\\ 2x_1^2 - 3x_2 \le 20\\ x_1 \ge 0, \ x_2 \ge 0 \end{cases}$$

Solution: The solution procedure which is including the necessary steps of GRG method, are presented in the following section.

Step 1: At the first, nonnegative slack variables are added to all inequalities except the non-negativity inequalities. Here there are two inequalities, and so, two slack variables like x_3 and x_4 should be added to the constraint equations as;

$$\begin{cases} g_1(x_{nb}, x_b) = x_1^2 + 4x_2 + x_3 - 15 = 0\\ g_2(x_{nb}, x_b) = 2x_1^2 - 3x_2 + x_4 - 20 = 0 \end{cases}$$

Hence, the non-basic variables (x_{nb}) and basic variables (x_b) are (x_1, x_2) and (x_3, x_4) , respectively, that can be shown as;

$$X = \begin{bmatrix} x_{nb} \\ x_b \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} x_1, x_2 \\ x_3, x_4 \end{bmatrix}$$

Step 2: The desired initial feasible trial values should be selected for the current non-basic variables. The initial selected values in the first iteration are $x_{nb}^{i=1} = (x_1 = 2, x_2 = 2)$. (Fig. 3.19).



Fig. 3.19 The feasible region and the initial selected values for non-basic variables

The values of objective function and slack variables based on the selected initial values can be calculated as;

$$f(x) = x_1^2 + 3x_1 - x_2 = 2^2 + (3 \times 2) - 2 = 8.0$$

$$x_3 = 15 - x_1^2 - 4x_2 = 15 - 2^2 - (4 \times 2) = 3.0$$

$$x_4 = 20 - 2x_1^2 + 3x_2 = 20 - (2 \times 2^2) + (3 \times 2) = 18.0$$

Step 3: In this step, the objective function should be presented in terms of non-basic variables as;

$$\max f(x_{nb}) = f(x_1, x_2) = x_1^2 + 3x_1 - x_2$$

It is important to note that the objective function which is expressed in terms of non-basic variables is called the *reduced objective*.

Step 4: To improve the current solution using the selected initial values for nonbasic variables, we need to determine the search direction d in each step. The reduced gradient of f(x) (or ∇f), and consequently the search direction d are computed as;

$$\boldsymbol{d} = \nabla_{nb} \mathbf{f} = \begin{bmatrix} \frac{\partial \mathbf{f}}{\partial x_{nb}} \end{bmatrix} - \pi^T \begin{bmatrix} \frac{\partial g}{\partial x_{nb}} \end{bmatrix}$$
(3.58)

where,

$$\begin{bmatrix} \frac{\partial \mathbf{f}}{\partial x_{nb}} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} \frac{\partial \mathbf{f}}{\partial x_1} \\ \frac{\partial \mathbf{f}}{\partial x_2} \end{bmatrix}_{(x_1=2,x_2=2)} = \begin{bmatrix} 2x_1+3 \\ -1.0 \end{bmatrix}_{(2,2)} = \begin{bmatrix} 7.0 \\ -1.0 \end{bmatrix}$$
and

$$\begin{bmatrix} \frac{\partial g}{\partial x_{nb}} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} \frac{\partial g_1}{\partial x_1} & \frac{\partial g_1}{\partial x_2} \\ \frac{\partial g_2}{\partial x_1} & \frac{\partial g_2}{\partial x_2} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} 2x_1 & 4\\ 4x_1 & -3 \end{bmatrix}_{(2,2)} = \begin{bmatrix} 4 & 4\\ 8 & -3 \end{bmatrix}$$

and the value of π^T in this problem is;

$$\pi^{T} = \begin{bmatrix} \frac{\partial f}{\partial x_{3}} & \frac{\partial f}{\partial x_{4}} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \frac{\partial g_{1}}{\partial x_{3}} & \frac{\partial g_{1}}{\partial x_{4}} \\ \frac{\partial g_{2}}{\partial x_{3}} & \frac{\partial g_{2}}{\partial x_{4}} \end{bmatrix}^{-1} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix}^{-1} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix} = (0,0)$$

One of the simplest tools which can be used to estimate the inverse of desired matrices is the *WolframAlpha* computational knowledge engine. It is an online service that answers many mathematical questions that can be reached using the following address; http://www.wolframalpha.com. According to the above computations, the search direction vector d is;

$$\boldsymbol{d} = \begin{bmatrix} d_1 \\ d_2 \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} 7.0 \\ -1.0 \end{bmatrix} - (0,0) \begin{bmatrix} 4 & 4 \\ 8 & -3 \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} 7.0 \\ -1.0 \end{bmatrix}$$

Step 5: To find the optimal feasible step size β for the line search procedure, the non-basic variables should be substituted as $(x_{nb})_{new} = (x_{nb})_{old} + \beta d$, and so, the new objective function is;

$$\max \quad f[(x_{nb})_{new}] = f(x_1 + \beta \boldsymbol{d}_1, x_2 + \beta \boldsymbol{d}_2) = f\left(\underbrace{x_1 + \beta \boldsymbol{d}_1}_{x_{1_{new}}}, \underbrace{x_2 + \beta \boldsymbol{d}_2}_{x_{2_{new}}}\right)$$

and so,

$$\max \left[(x_{nb})_{new} \right] = f(2.0 + 7\beta, 2.0 - \beta) = (2.0 + 7\beta)^2 + 3(2.0 + 7\beta) - (2.0 - \beta)$$
$$= 49\beta^2 + 50\beta + 8$$

Afterward, we need to determine a basic variable which should be became nonbasic variable for an optimal and feasible value of β . As mentioned above, various values of β must be used till one of the basic variables drops to zero, and then, pick that variable as non-basic variable in the next iteration. The estimated results for current basic and non-basic variables and $F(x_{nb})$ associated with various β are presented in the Table 3.13.

As it can be seen from the table, by increasing β both basic variables x_3 and x_4 are decreasing and approaching to zero. The negative value for x_3 (-1.70) at $\beta = 0.15$ demonstrates this solution is an infeasible solution since the slack variables should be nonnegative, and also it shows x_3 drops to zero for a particular

β	x_1	x_2	<i>x</i> ₃	x_4	$F(x_1, x_2)$
0.00	2.00	2.00	3.00	18.00	8.00
0.05	2.35	1.95	1.68	14.81	10.62
0.10	2.70	1.90	0.11	11.12	13.49
0.15	3.05	1.85	-1.70	6.95	16.60
0.1032	2.72	1.90	0.00	10.87	13.68

Table 3.13 The optimal value of β

value of β between 0.1 and 0.15. The feasible β is simply found as 0.1032 and the associated values of other variables and objective function are shown in the last row of Table 3.13. The new solution points here are ($x_1 = 2.72, x_2 = 1.90$).

Step 6: As the variable x_3 is dropped to zero, it should be selected as new non-basic variable, while, x_2 will be the new basic variable. Therefore, we have;

$$X = \begin{bmatrix} x_{nb} \\ x_b \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} x_1, x_3 \\ x_2, x_4 \end{bmatrix}$$

The new basic variables in terms of new non-basic variables can be expressed as;

$$x_2 = \frac{1}{4} \left(15 - x_1^2 - x_3 \right)$$

and

$$x_4 = 20 - 2x_1^2 + 3x_2 = 20 - 2x_1^2 + 3\left[\frac{1}{4}\left(15 - x_1^2 - x_3\right)\right]$$
$$= \frac{1}{4}\left(-11x_1^2 - 3x_3 + 125\right)$$

The reduced objective function in terms of new non-basic variables x_1 and x_3 is;

$$\max(x_{nb}) = f(x_1, x_3) = x_1^2 + 3x_1 - x_2$$

= $x_1^2 + 3x_1 - \left[\frac{1}{4}\left(15 - x_1^2 - x_3\right)\right] = \frac{5}{4}x_1^2 + 3x_1 + \frac{x_3}{4} - \frac{15}{4}$

Step 7: All calculations in Step 4 should be repeated for the new reduced objective function at point $x_1 = 2.72$ and $x_3 = 0$, as;

$$\begin{bmatrix} \frac{\partial \mathbf{f}}{\partial x_{nb}} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} \frac{\partial \mathbf{f}}{\partial x_1} \\ \frac{\partial \mathbf{f}}{\partial x_3} \end{bmatrix}_{(x_1=2.72, x_3=0.0)} = \begin{bmatrix} \frac{10}{4}x_1 + 3 \\ \frac{1}{4} \end{bmatrix}_{(2.72, 0.0)} = \begin{bmatrix} 9.8 \\ 0.25 \end{bmatrix}$$

β	<i>x</i> ₁	<i>x</i> ₃	<i>x</i> ₂	<i>x</i> ₄	$f(x_{1new}, x_{3_{new}})$
0.00	2.72	0.00	1.90	10.90	13.66
0.05	3.21	0.01	1.17	2.90	18.76
0.10	3.70	0.03	0.32	-6.42	24.47
0.06637	3.37	0.02	0.91	0.00	20.57

Table 3.14 The optimal value of β

and

$$\begin{bmatrix} \frac{\partial g}{\partial x_{nb}} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} \frac{\partial g_1}{\partial x_1} & \frac{\partial g_1}{\partial x_3} \\ \frac{\partial g_2}{\partial x_1} & \frac{\partial g_2}{\partial x_3} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} 2x_1 & 1 \\ 4x_1 & 0 \end{bmatrix}_{(2.72,0.0)} = \begin{bmatrix} 5.44 & 1.0 \\ 10.88 & 0.0 \end{bmatrix}$$

and

$$\pi^{T} = \begin{bmatrix} \frac{\partial f}{\partial x_{2}} & \frac{\partial f}{\partial x_{4}} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \frac{\partial g_{1}}{\partial x_{2}} & \frac{\partial g_{1}}{\partial x_{4}} \\ \frac{\partial g_{2}}{\partial x_{2}} & \frac{\partial g_{2}}{\partial x_{4}} \end{bmatrix}^{-1} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} 4 & 0 \\ -3 & 1 \end{bmatrix}^{-1} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} 4 & 0 \\ -3 & 1 \end{bmatrix}$$
$$= (0, 0)$$

Based on the above computations, the new search direction vector **d** in this step is;

$$\boldsymbol{d} = \begin{bmatrix} d_1 \\ d_3 \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} 9.8 \\ 0.25 \end{bmatrix} - (0,0) \begin{bmatrix} 4 & 0 \\ -3 & 1 \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} 9.8 \\ 0.25 \end{bmatrix}$$

Step 8: The new reduced objective function is calculated based on the new search direction vector as;

$$\max f[(x_{nb})_{new}] = f\left[\underbrace{x_1 + \beta d_1}_{x_{1new}}, \underbrace{x_3 + \beta d_3}_{x_{3new}}\right]$$
$$= f(2.72 + 9.8\beta, 0.0 + 0.25\beta)$$
$$= \frac{5}{4}(2.72 + 9.8\beta)^2 + 3(2.72 + 9.8\beta) + \frac{0.25}{4} - \frac{15}{4}$$
$$= 120.05\beta^2 + 96.10\beta + 13.66$$

The results of line search to determine the feasible and optimal β is shown in Table 3.14.

The new solution in this step are $x_1 = 3.37$, $x_2 = 0.91$, and $f(x_{1new}, x_{3new}) = 20.57$.

Step 9: As the variable x_4 drops to zero, it is considered as new non-basic variable, and x_1 will be a new basic variable. Therefore, we can write;

$$X = \begin{bmatrix} x_{nb} \\ x_b \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} x_3, x_4 \\ x_1, x_2 \end{bmatrix}$$

Hence, the basic variables in terms of non-basic variables can be written as;

$$x_1 = (15 - 4x_2 - x_3)^{\frac{1}{2}}$$
$$x_2 = \frac{1}{3} (2x_1^2 + x_4 - 20)$$

We need to eliminate x_1 and x_2 from right sides of the above equation to express the basic variables only in terms of non-basic variables. The easier way is to solve the following system of equations one time for x_2 and x_1 .

$$\begin{cases} g_1(x) = x_1^2 + 4x_2 + x_3 - 15 = 0\\ g_2(x) = 2x_1^2 - 3x_2 + x_4 - 20 = 0 \end{cases}$$

Solve for x_2 resulted in;

$$\begin{cases} -2(x_1^2 + 4x_2 + x_3 - 15) = 0 \\ + \\ 2x_1^2 - 3x_2 + x_4 - 20 = 0 \end{cases} \Rightarrow x_2 = \frac{1}{11}(-2x_3 + x_4 + 10)$$

and solving the system for x_1 resulted in;

$$\begin{cases} \frac{3}{4}(x_1^2 + 4x_2 + x_3 - 15) = 0\\ - \\ 2x_1^2 - 3x_2 + x_4 - 20 = 0 \end{cases} \Rightarrow x_1 = \left(\frac{-3}{11}x_3 - \frac{11}{4}x_4 + \frac{125}{11}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}$$

The reduced objective in terms of x_3 and x_4 can be written as;

$$\max f(x_{nb}) = F(x_3, x_4) = x_1^2 + 3x_1 - x_2$$

$$= \left[\left(\frac{-3}{11} x_3 - \frac{11}{4} x_4 + \frac{125}{11} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \right]^2 + 3 \left(\frac{-3}{11} x_3 - \frac{11}{4} x_4 + \frac{125}{11} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} - \left[\frac{1}{11} (-2x_3 + x_4 + 10) \right]$$

$$= \frac{1}{44} \left[6\sqrt{11} \sqrt{-12x_3 - 121x_4 + 500} - 4x_3 - 125x_4 + 540 \right]$$

Step 10: All computations in Step 4 should be repeated based on the new reduced objective function at point $x_3 = 0$ and $x_4 = 0$, as follow;

$$\begin{bmatrix} \frac{\partial f}{\partial x_{nb}} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} \frac{\partial f}{\partial x_3} \\ \frac{\partial f}{\partial x_4} \end{bmatrix}_{(x_3=0,0x_4=0.0)} = \begin{bmatrix} \frac{-9}{\sqrt{11}\sqrt{-12x_3 - 121x_4 + 500}} - \frac{1}{11} \\ \frac{33\sqrt{11}}{4\sqrt{-12x_3 - 121x_4 + 500}} - \frac{125}{44} \end{bmatrix}_{(0.0,0.0)} = \begin{bmatrix} -0.21 \\ -1.61 \end{bmatrix}$$

As it can be seen $\nabla_{nb}f$ has negative value for the current non-basic variables as -0.21 and -1.61. The negative gradient points for a maximization problem that the function is expected to increase, indicates moving the parameters in this direction will be resulted in a lower value of desired function. In other words, an increase in one of the non-basic variables will decrease the value of objective function. Therefore, the optimal solution for this nonlinear problem occurs in



Fig. 3.20 The solution points, constraints, feasible region, and the objective functions associated with its different values

 $x_1 = 3.37$, $x_2 = 0.91$, and $f(x_{1new}, x_{2new}) = 20.57$. Figure 3.20 shows the solution points in different steps, constraints and feasible region, and the objective functions associated with its different values.

Example 3.14 An unconfined aquifer, shown in Fig. 3.21, includes three observation wells which are located 15 m apart in the direction of flow. The constant upstream and downstream heads are 100 and 95 m, respectively; and the aquifer made up of gravelly course sand with the hydraulic conductivity of 40 m/day. The typical values of hydraulic conductivity for various materials are presented in Table 3.15.

Determine the optimum head in each well for various minimum values of the total discharge (W_{min}) from 20 to 80 (m/day).

Solution: The governing equation for steady-state flow in a one-dimensional unconfined aquifer by considering the pumping wells can be written as;

$$T_x \frac{\partial^2 h}{\partial x^2} = W \tag{3.59}$$

As mentioned in the Chap. 2, the saturated thickness will be replaced with the hydraulic head h in unconfined cases $(T_x = Kh)$, and so,

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial x} \left[h \frac{\partial h}{\partial x} \right] = \frac{W}{K} \tag{3.60}$$



Fig. 3.21 Schematic view of unconfined aquifer

 Table 3.15
 Hydraulic conductivity for different materials (Smedema and Rycroft 1983)

Material	Hydraulic conductivity (m/day)
Gravelly course sand	10–50
Medium sand	1–5
Sandy loam, fine sand	1–3
Loam, well-structured clay loam and clay	0.5–2
Very fine sandy loam	0.2–0.5
Poorly structured clay loam and clay	0.002-0.2
Dense clay (no cracks, no pores)	<0.002

Apply the following derivative trick as;

$$\frac{dh}{dx}h = \frac{1}{2}\frac{dh^2}{dx} \tag{3.61}$$

The implementation form of the Eq. (3.60) can be written as follow;

$$\frac{d^2h^2}{dx^2} = \frac{2W}{K} \tag{3.62}$$

Based on the central differencing technique Eq. (3.62) can be discretized as;

$$\frac{h_{i+1}^2 - 2h_i^2 + h_{i-1}^2}{\left(\Delta x\right)^2} = \frac{2W_i}{K}$$
(3.63)

In this case, the objective function to maximize the hydraulic heads for various pumping rates is (Aguado et al. 1974);

3.4 Constrained Optimization Methods

$$\max Z = \sum_{i=1}^{n} h_i^2$$
 (3.64)

where *n* is the number of wells (here n = 3), and h_t is the hydraulic head in each well. The constraints that should be applied in this problem are;

$$\begin{cases} \frac{h_{i+1}^2 - 2h_i^2 + h_{i-1}^2}{(\Delta x)^2} = \frac{2W_i}{K} \\ W_i \ge 0 & i = 1 \text{ to } n \\ \sum_{i=1}^{n=3} W_i \ge W_{min} \\ h_i \ge h_{i+1} & i = 0 \text{ to } n \end{cases}$$
(3.65)

Therefore, the developed optimization model for having minimum value of 20–80 m/day from all wells simultaneously, can be written as;

$$\max Z = h_1^2 + h_2^2 + h_3^2$$

and the constraints are;

$$\begin{cases} i = 1 \rightarrow \frac{h_2^2 - 2h_1^2 + h_0^2}{(\Delta x)^2} = \frac{2W_1}{K} \\ i = 2 \rightarrow \frac{h_3^2 - 2h_2^2 + h_1^2}{(\Delta x)^2} = \frac{2W_2}{K} \\ i = 3 \rightarrow \frac{h_4^2 - 2h_3^2 + h_2^2}{(\Delta x)^2} = \frac{2W_3}{K} \end{cases}$$
$$\Rightarrow \begin{cases} i = 1 \rightarrow h_0^2 = 100^2 = (2h_1^2 - h_2^2) + \left(\frac{2 \times \Delta x^2}{K} W_1\right) \\ i = 2 \rightarrow 0 = (2h_2^2 - h_1^2 - h_3^2) + \left(\frac{2 \times \Delta x^2}{K} W_2\right) \\ i = 3 \rightarrow h_4^2 = 95^2 = (2h_3^2 - h_2^2) + \left(\frac{2 \times \Delta x^2}{K} W_3\right) \end{cases}$$

And,

$$W_1 + W_2 + W_3 \ge W_{min}$$

 $h_1, h_2, h_3 \ge 0$
 $W_1, W_2, W_3 \ge 0$
 $h_0 > h_1 > h_2 > h_3 > h_4$

The unknowns in this problem are h_1 , h_2 , h_3 and W_1 , W_2 , W_3 in all wells of desired aquifer. As noted in previous chapter, the amount of well losses and well diameters are considered as negligible value. This problem is solved simply by using Excel (Data|Solver) and applying the GRG method. The achieved results are presented in the Table 3.16.

$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	-	,	U		
h_1 98.2097.5496.4495.35 h_2 96.9596.3795.7995.20 h_3 95.7095.1995.1395.05 h_4 95.0095.0095.0095.00 W_1 10.2623.0150.9578.20 W_2 0.000.000.000.00 W_3 9.7416.999.051.80		$W_{min} = 20 \text{ (m/day)}$	$W_{min} = 40 \text{ (m/day)}$	$W_{min} = 60 \text{ (m/day)}$	$W_{min} = 80 \text{ (m/day)}$
h_2 96.9596.3795.7995.20 h_3 95.7095.1995.1395.05 h_4 95.0095.0095.0095.00 W_1 10.2623.0150.9578.20 W_2 0.000.000.000.00 W_3 9.7416.999.051.80	h_0	100.00	100.00	100.00	100.00
	h_1	98.20	97.54	96.44	95.35
h_4 95.0095.0095.0095.00 W_1 10.2623.0150.9578.20 W_2 0.000.000.000.00 W_3 9.7416.999.051.80	h_2	96.95	96.37	95.79	95.20
W_1 10.2623.0150.9578.20 W_2 0.000.000.000.00 W_3 9.7416.999.051.80	h_3	95.70	95.19	95.13	95.05
W_2 0.000.000.000.00 W_3 9.7416.999.051.80	h_4	95.00	95.00	95.00	95.00
$W_3 = 9.74$ 16.99 9.05 1.80	W_1	10.26	23.01	50.95	78.20
	W_2	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
Z 28200 27,862.5 27,525 27,187.5	W_3	9.74	16.99	9.05	1.80
	Ζ	28200	27,862.5	27,525	27,187.5

Table 3.16 Hydraulic heads and discharge rates in various W_{min} using GRG method

It is important to note that this problem also can be solved using simplex method by applying a simple linearization procedure for hydraulic head. As the only non-linear variable here is h^2 , the substitution $m = h^2$ can be applied, and so, the Eq. (3.65) will be changed as;

$$\frac{m_{i+1} - 2m_i + m_{i-1}}{\left(\Delta x\right)^2} = \frac{2W_i}{K}$$
(3.66)

Therefore, the objective function of problem in this case is;

$$\max Z = m_1 + m_2 + m_3$$

and the constraints are;

$$\begin{cases} i = 1 \rightarrow \frac{m_2 - 2m_1 + m_0}{(\Delta x)^2} = \frac{2W_1}{K} \\ i = 2 \rightarrow \frac{m_3 - 2m_2 + m_1}{(\Delta x)^2} = \frac{2W_2}{K} \\ i = 3 \rightarrow \frac{m_4 - 2m_3 + m_2}{(\Delta x)^2} = \frac{2W_3}{K} \end{cases}$$
$$\Rightarrow \begin{cases} i = 1 \rightarrow m_0 = 100^2 = (2m_1 - m_2) + \left(\frac{2 \times \Delta x^2}{K} W_1\right) \\ i = 2 \rightarrow 0 = (2m_2 - m_1 - m_3) + \left(\frac{2 \times \Delta x^2}{K} W_2\right) \\ i = 3 \rightarrow m_4 = 95^2 = (2m_3 - m_2) + \left(\frac{2 \times \Delta x^2}{K} W_3\right) \end{cases}$$

And,

$$W_1 + W_2 + W_3 \ge W_{min}$$

 $m_1, m_2, m_3 \ge 0$
 $W_1, W_2, W_3 \ge 0$
 $m_0 \ge m_1 \ge m_2 \ge m_3 \ge m_4$

	5	U	min O	1
	$W_{min} = 20 \text{ (m/day)}$	$W_{min} = 40 \text{ (m/day)}$	$W_{min} = 60 \text{ (m/day)}$	$W_{min} = 80 \text{ (m/day)}$
m_0	10,000.00	10,000.00	10,000.00	10,000.00
m_1	9,700.00	9,643.75	9,587.50	9,531.25
m_2	9,400.00	9,287.50	9,175.00	9,062.50
m_3	9,100.00	8,931.25	8,762.50	8,593.75
m_4	9,025.00	9,025.00	9,025.00	9,025.00
h_0	100.00	100.00	100.00	100.00
h_1	98.49	98.20	97.92	97.63
h_2	96.95	96.37	95.79	95.20
h_3	95.39	94.51	93.61	92.70
h_4	95.00	95.00	95.00	95.00
W_1	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
W_2	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
W_3	20.00	40.00	60.00	80.00
Ζ	28,200	27,862.5	27,525	27,187.5

Table 3.17 Hydraulic heads and discharge rates in various W_{min} using simplex method

The unknowns in this problem are m_1 , m_2 , m_3 and W_1 , W_2 , W_3 in all wells of unconfined aquifer. This problem is solved simply by using Excel (Data|Solver) and applying the Simplex method, and the achieved results are presented in Table 3.17

As it can be seen from Table 3.17, the values of objective function Z have not been changed using both GRG and Simplex methods, while, the values of h and W are different regarding difficulties in the complexities of nonlinear functions.

3.5 Problems

Problem 3.1 Find the eigenvalues of the following matrices and then classify them.

(a) $H = \begin{bmatrix} 5 & -2 \\ -3 & 6 \end{bmatrix}$ (b) $H = \begin{bmatrix} 12 & 5 \\ 1 & 8 \end{bmatrix}$ (c) $H = \begin{bmatrix} -4 & 9 \\ 1 & 3 \end{bmatrix}$

Problem 3.2 Determine the concavity or convexity of the following functions.

(a) $f_1(x) = x_1^4 - x_1x_2 + 3x_2^3$ (b) $f_2(x) = -x_1^3 - x_2^2 + 5$ (c) $f_3(x) = x_1x_2 - x^2$ Problem 3.3 Explain how one-dimensional search method works.

Problem 3.4 Define the Fibonacci sequence and calculate the 15th, 21th, and 50th Fibonacci number.

Problem 3.5 Minimize f(x) on the interval [-4,2] using the Fibonacci method for the total number of experiments n = 10.

$$f(x) = (x+1)^2 + 0.25x + 1.5$$

Problem 3.6 Solve problem 3.5 using the golden section method with the convergence criterion of $\delta = 0.065$, and then compare your results with the outcome of Fibonacci approach.

Problem 3.7 Apply Newton method to find the minimum of function f(x) by considering $\varepsilon = 0.01$, and starting point $x_0 = 0.2$.

$$f(x) = x^4 - 2.45 \exp(x)$$

 $x \in [0.2, 2]$

Problem 3.8 Find the minimum of function f(x) in Problem 3.7 using random jumping method.

Problem 3.9 Minimize f(x) using univariate method with the starting points $x_1 = 0$ and $x_2 = 0$, and $\varepsilon = 0.1$.

$$f(x) = x_1^2 + x_2^2 - 3.8x_1 - 2.11x_2$$

Problem 3.10 Apply the steepest descent method to solve Problem 3.9 with the starting points $x_1 = 0$ and $x_2 = 0$, and $\varepsilon = 0.005$.

Problem 3.11 Explain main difference between constrained and unconstrained optimization problems.

Problem 3.12 Find the minimum of function f(x) based on the Lagrange multiplier method.

$$f(x) = x_1^2 + (x_2 - 3)^2 - x_1 - x_2$$

Subject to:

$$x_1^2 - x_2 < 11$$

Problem 3.13 Apply GRG method to find the maximum of function f(x).

$$-x_1^4 + x_2^2 - x_1 x_2$$

Subject to the following constraints;

$$\begin{cases} x_1^2 - 2x_2 \le 31 \\ x_1 + 3x_2 \le 14 \end{cases}$$

Problem 3.14 Solve Example 3.9 by considering $\varepsilon = 0.01$ and $\varepsilon = 0.1$, and compare your results to see how changing ε will effect on the optimization results.

Problem 3.15 Solve Example 3.14 by assuming three observation wells are located 5, 10, and 30 m apart in the direction of flow.

References

- Aguado E, Remson I, Pikul M F, and Thomas W A (1974) Optimal pumping for aquifer dewatering. J. of Hydr. Div., ASCE, 100(7):869–877
- Cauchy A (1847) Methodes generals pour la resolution des syst emes dequations simultanees. C.R. Comptes Rendus de l'Academie des Sciences de Paris 25:536–538
- Goodarzi E, Ziaei M, Teang Shui L (2012) Introduction to risk and uncertainty in Hydrosystem Engineering. Springer. ISBN:978-94-007-5850-6

Rao SS (2009) Engineering optimization theory and practice. Wiley, Hoboken

Smedema LK, Rycroft DW (1983) Land drainage: planning and design of agricultural drainage systems. Batsford, London, p 376

Chapter 4 Multiobjective Optimization

Abstract Many real-world problems require multiobjective evaluation that involves several minimizing or maximizing objective functions to be optimized simultaneously. In the case of multiobjective problems, a set of optimal solutions instead of a single solution will be determined. This chapter provides a basic introduction to the application of multiobjective optimization in water resources engineering and also provides a number of useful and applicable examples to better understand the concept of multiobjective optimization.

4.1 Basic Concepts

In some situations, the optimization problems include more than one objective function to be optimized simultaneously. In these cases, the process of optimizing a number of objective functions (at least two objectives) is called multiobjective optimizations (MOO). Based on the single objective optimization concept, a particular global maximum or minimum value is found in the desired search space, whereas, in the multi-objective problems a set of solutions instead of a single value will be determined. In other words, the main purpose of multiple objective optimizations is generating a set of optimal solutions, known as *Pareto front*, that show the best trade-off relations between all objectives. In general, there are conflicts between objectives of multiple objective problems in which improvement in one of them results in declining another one, and so, all desired objectives cannot be met simultaneously.

Most of the water resources optimization problems are naturally multiobjective and they are usually nonlinear and multi-dimensional. Some examples for multiple and conflictive objectives in the water resources engineering are; designing water distribution system with the highest efficiency, while, reducing the cost of design simultaneously; or minimizing cost of building hydraulic structures, whereas, the flow capacity should be maximized; or keep the water level in the dam reservoir as high as possible to generate maximum electricity, while keep it at appropriate level to prevent overtopping due to unexpected heavy rainfall.

E. Goodarzi et al., *Introduction to Optimization Analysis in Hydrosystem Engineering*, 111 Topics in Safety, Risk, Reliability and Quality 25, DOI: 10.1007/978-3-319-04400-2_4, © Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2014 The general form of a multiobjective problem, also known as a vector minimization problem, with n objectives is;

min
$$[f_1(X), f_2(X), \dots, f_k(X)]; \quad X = \begin{bmatrix} x_1 \\ x_2 \\ \vdots \\ x_n \end{bmatrix}$$
 (4.1a)

Subject to;

$$g_j(X) \le 0, \quad j = 1, 2, \dots m$$
 (4.1b)

where, $f_1(x)$, $f_2(x)$, ..., $f_k(x)$ denote the objective functions, $g_j(x_i)$ represent the constraints of the problem, and x is the decision variable. It is important to note that for n = 1, the MOO problem is reduced to a single objective function, and so, the traditional optimization method can be used to solve the problem.

The term "min" here means all of the objective functions are minimized simultaneously, while, it is not possible to find a single solution as an optimal solution for all of the functions together. In general, it is very difficult to find all possible solutions of all objectives simultaneously in a multiobjective optimization problem, and so, most engineers would like to make a balance among optimal solutions. In other words, the main objective of MOO is finding a collection of acceptable optimal solutions, known as Pareto optimal set or Pareto efficiency, and selects the best answer from the obtained *Pareto* set. Mathematically, a feasible solution X^* is a Pareto optimal solution if (1) for every feasible solution like X and i = 1, ..., k, $f_i(X) > f_i(X^*)$, which is known as strict Pareto optimum or a strict efficient solution; or (2) for at least one objective function $f_i(X) > f_i(X^*)$, that is known as weak Pareto optimum or a weak efficient solution (Caramia and Dell'olmo 2008). In other words, a vector solution $X = (x_1, x_2, ..., x_n)$ is considered as Pareto optimal solution if and only if reducing an objective function causes a simultaneous increase of one or more other objective functions. To be more familiar with this concept, consider two arbitrary objectives functions $f_1(x)$ and $f_2(x)$ as shown in Fig. 4.1. The Pareto optimal solutions here include all the values of x between 3 and 8 which are plotted as bold blue and red lines on the graph.

It is important to note that any optimal solution of Pareto optimal set cannot be better off without making at least one component of the other objective functions worse off. For example, when we are producing less of one product while producing more of another simultaneously, we can say an economy is productively efficient. It is interesting to know that the appropriate balance among the multiple objectives is called trade-off in the business and economic analyses and this term also is used in engineering optimization problems. Hence we can say, the Pareto set represents the trade-off among objective functions and a collection of efficient solutions instead of one solution in a desired optimization analysis. It should be noted that if any improvement in at least one objective function doesn't make any other objective function worse off, the Pareto optimal is called *Pareto improvement*.



Fig. 4.1 The Pareto optimal solutions for two arbitrary objectives functions $f_1(x)$ and $f_2(x)$

The other important concept in this case is *Pareto frontier* or *Pareto curve* that simply shows the trade-off between all of the objective functions. When a set of solution of desired multiobjective optimization problem is plotted in the objective space, the Pareto optimal set is called Pareto frontier or Pareto curve and all the points on this curve are Pareto optimal (Alba et al. 2009). Figure 4.2 and Table 4.1 show the values of $f_1(x)$ and $f_2(x)$ for different values of $x \in [0, 13]$, and the Pareto frontier (between B and C) are Pareto optimal, since reduction of $f_1(x)$ on this curve causes a simultaneous increase of $f_2(x)$.

On the other hand, other points such as A and D are not Pareto optimal since decreasing value of $f_1(x)$ from point A to B results in simultaneous reduction of $f_2(x)$; or increasing $f_1(x)$ from point C to D causes reduction of values of $f_2(x)$ simultaneously. While, by increasing the values of $f_1(x)$ from B to C all values of $f_2(x)$ are decreased.

The Pareto curve shows all the combination of optimal solution for desired objective functions. However, still there are a number of significant questions about this curve as; what determines whether the points B or D or any point between B and D is the best answer? Or, how can we determine the right combination form the Pareto set? Or how decision makers can make the best decision based on the Pareto curve?

There are several different ways for solving multiobjective optimization problems in which some of them with a number of examples are presented in this chapter. In general, the classical methods can be categorized into three approaches as; Weighted method, Goal Programming, and ε -Constraint method. The ultimate goal of these techniques are maximizing or minimizing the new single objective based on the determined constraints of the system. In the following sections, solving a multi objectives problem based on weighted, and ε -constraints methods are presented.



Fig. 4.2 The Pareto frontier for two arbitrary objectives functions $f_1(x)$ and $f_2(x)$

		9-()	0=()				
x		$f_1(x)$	$f_2(x)$	x		$f_1(x)$	$f_2(x)$
0		68	385	7		70.50	70
1		43	310	8	С	98.67	65
2	А	26	245	9	D	134.83	70
3	В	17.83	190	10		180.00	85
4		24.00	145	11		235.17	110
5		34.17	110	12		301.33	145
6		49.33	85	13		379.50	190

Table 4.1 The values of $f_1(x)$ and $f_2(x)$ for different values of x

4.2 Weighted Method

The Weighted method is one of the most widely used classical techniques in multiobjective optimization analysis. Based on this method, all objective functions are combined together and converted into a single objective function using different coefficient for each function as weight factor. In other words, a new objective function is constructed, and then, the Pareto set is built to find the optimal solution. Consider $f_1(x), f_2(x), \ldots, f_n(x)$ as a set of objective functions that should be minimized or maximized. The new objective function for the optimization process can be written as a scalar optimization form;

$$F(x) = w_1 \cdot f_1(x) + w_2 \cdot f_2(x) + \dots + w_n \cdot f_n(x) = \sum_{k=1}^n w_k \cdot f_k(x)$$
(4.2a)

4.2 Weighted Method

with

$$w_k \in [0,1]; \quad \sum_{k=1}^n w_k = 1$$
 (4.2b)

in which, w_k are the scalar-valued weights that show the relation between the objective functions.

The most difficult part of this method is finding the appropriate weights for all objectives based on the relative importance of each objective function when there is insufficient information about the desired problem. In other words, the problem can be solved repeatedly with various values for weight coefficients, then; the decision makers select the proper solutions regarding the importance of the each objective function. The advantages of using this method are its efficiency, simplicity to apply, and finding the optimal solutions on the entire Pareto set. However, there are a number of disadvantages regarding the weighted method as;

- 1. Decision-makers need to determine the weights by their intuition/experience or judgment,
- 2. Changing the weights maybe cause a big or small changes in the objectives,
- 3. The method cannot find the appropriate solutions on the non-convex part of Pareto set,
- 4. There is possibility to have a number of minimum solutions for a particular set of weights in which it generates various solutions in the Pareto set.

Example 4.1 Consider the functions $f_1(x)$ and $f_2(x)$ as follows;

$$f_1(x) = 6(x-7)^2 + 2x + 17$$

$$f_2(x) = (x-2)^3 + 23$$

Subject to;

 $2 \le x \le 10$

Minimize $F(x) = g[f_1(x), f_2(x)]$ using the weighted method.

Solution: Figure 4.3 shows the objective functions and the obtained constraint of the problem. In order to minimize the $f_1(x)$ and $f_2(x)$ based on the weighted method, F(x) should be written as;

$$F(x) = w_1 f_1(x) + w_2 f_2(x)$$

where w_1 and w_2 are the weights of each objective function.

The simplest way to solve this problem is considering different values for weights and then solving the single objective equation to find the optimal solution. However, without prior information about the weights, choosing the appropriate values for them is difficult while, the quality of solution highly depends on the selection of the weights.



Fig. 4.3 The objective functions and constraints of the problem

Table 4.2 Minimum of F(x) in different weights

x	$f_1(x)$	$f_2(x)$	$F_{w_1=0, w_2=1}$	$F_{w_1=0.3, w_2=0.7}$	$F_{w_1=0.5, w_2=0.5}$	$F_{w_1=0.8, w_2=0.2}$	$F_{w_1=0, w_2=1}$
2	171.00	23.00	23.00	67.40	97.00	141.40	171.00
2.5	143.50	23.13	23.13	59.24	83.31	119.43	143.50
3	119.00	24.00	24.00	52.50	71.50	100.00	119.00
3.5	97.50	26.38	26.38	47.71	61.94	83.28	97.50
4	79.00	31.00	31.00	45.40	55.00	69.40	79.00
4.5	63.50	38.63	38.63	46.09	51.06	58.53	63.50
5	51.00	50.00	50.00	50.30	50.50	50.80	51.00
5.5	41.50	65.88	65.88	58.56	53.69	46.38	41.50
6	35.00	87.00	87.00	71.40	61.00	45.40	35.00
6.5	31.50	114.13	114.13	89.34	72.81	48.03	31.50
7	31.00	148.00	148.00	112.90	89.50	54.40	31.00
7.5	33.50	189.38	189.38	142.61	111.44	64.68	33.50
8	39.00	239.00	239.00	179.00	139.00	79.00	39.00
8.5	47.50	297.63	297.63	222.59	172.56	97.53	47.50
9	59.00	366.00	366.00	273.90	212.50	120.40	59.00
9.5	73.50	444.88	444.88	333.46	259.19	147.78	73.50
10	91.00	535.00	535.00	401.80	313.00	179.80	91.00

In this problem, different values from 0 to 1 (with 0.1 increments) are assigned and the problem is solved in each value. The weights are used to compare the results and to contribute to the relative importance of each objective function. First, we have tried to find the minimum of F(x) without using Excel or any other computer program and the results are presented for five combinations of w_1 and w_2 in Table 4.2. The bold values in this table show the minimum value of F(x) based on the allocated weights to $f_1(x)$ and $f_2(x)$. For example, $F_{w_10.3, w_2=0.7}$ means the value of F(x) as;

$$F(x) = 0.3 \times f_1(x) + 0.7 \times f_2(x)$$

x	<i>w</i> ₁	<i>w</i> ₂	$f_1(x)$	$f_2(x)$	min $F(x)$
2.00	0.0	1.0	171.00	23.00	23.00
3.26	0.1	0.9	107.44	25.00	33.24
3.75	0.2	0.8	87.70	28.40	40.26
4.15	0.3	0.7	74.16	32.89	45.27
4.50	0.4	0.6	63.60	38.56	48.57
4.83	0.5	0.5	54.90	45.68	50.29
5.16	0.6	0.4	47.55	54.69	50.40
5.51	0.7	0.3	41.31	66.31	48.81
5.89	0.8	0.2	36.19	81.79	45.31
6.32	0.9	0.1	32.44	103.39	39.54
6.83	1.0	0.0	30.83	135.91	30.83

Table 4.3 The minimums of F(x) for each combination of w_1 and w_2



Fig. 4.4 Values of F(x) in different weights in conjunction with its minimums

However, there is a problem with the results and we cannot trust them readily. For instance, the minimum values in the fifth and seventh columns are 45.40, but how can we be assured that the minimum happened at x = 4, and not at x = 3.8 or x = 4.1? The minimum of F(x) which are calculated using the Solver Tools in Excel for each new combination of w_1 and w_2 , are presented in Table 4.3.

It is important to note that the GRG nonlinear solver method of Excel is applied to compute the minimum values of F(x). In addition, Figs. 4.4 and 4.5 show the value of F(x) with different weights in conjunction with its minimums; and the Pareto points in the objective space, respectively.

Figure 4.5 illustrates the Pareto optimal solutions in which each solution corresponds to a particular decision and it helps decision-makers to make trade-off decisions between all objective functions.



Fig. 4.5 The Pareto frontier for the objectives functions $f_1(x)$ and $f_2(x)$

It is important to note that the weighted method is not a robust approach as the solutions are sensitive to the selected weights. In other words, the applied increment of weights is 0.1 in this problem, while the minimum of F(x) may happen in some other weights such as $w_1 = 0.25$ and $w_2 = 0.75$ that needs lower increment to be found. Therefore, decision-makers need to perform several optimization analyses using various weights to make an appropriate decision.

Example 4.2 Find the optimal solution of the following two-objective optimization problems using the weighted method.

min
$$f_1(x_1, x_2) = 1.5(x_1 - 1)^2 + (x_2 + 1)^2$$

min $f_2(x_1, x_2) = 0.35(x_1 + x_2 - 1)^2 + (2x_2 - x_1)^2 + 4$

Subject to:

$$\begin{array}{l}
0 \le x_1 \le 5 \\
0 \le x_2 \le 6 \\
2x_1 - x_2 \le 6 \\
x_1 - 4x_2 \le 0
\end{array}$$

Solution: All necessary steps to solve this problem are presented in the following section.

1. The first step to minimize both $f_1(x_1, x_2)$ and $f_2(x_1, x_2)$ is building the function $F(x_1, x_2)$ as, $F(x_1, x_2) = w_1 f_1(x_1, x_2) + w_2 f_2(x_1, x_2)$. Then, different values of w_i should be considered to find the Pareto set and optimal solutions. Figure 4.6 shows the linear constraints in this problem and the shaded area as the feasible region.



Fig. 4.6 Linear constraints of the problem

<i>w</i> ₁	<i>w</i> ₂	<i>x</i> ₁	<i>x</i> ₂	$\mathbf{f}_1(x_1, x_2)$	$\mathbf{f}_2(x_1, x_2)$	$\min F(x_1, x_2)$
0	1	0.67	0.33	1.94	4.00	4.00
0.1	0.9	0.67	0.30	1.86	4.00	3.79
0.2	0.8	0.67	0.26	1.76	4.02	3.57
0.3	0.7	0.68	0.22	1.64	4.06	3.34
0.4	0.6	0.69	0.17	1.52	4.13	3.08
0.5	0.5	0.72	0.18	1.51	4.13	2.82
0.6	0.4	0.74	0.18	1.51	4.14	2.56
0.7	0.3	0.75	0.19	1.50	4.14	2.30
0.8	0.2	0.77	0.19	1.50	4.15	2.03
0.9	0.1	0.79	0.20	1.50	4.15	1.77
1	0	0.80	0.20	1.50	4.16	1.50

Table 4.4 The minimums of $F(x_1, x_2)$ when both f_1 and f_2 should be minimized

The problem is solved using the weighted method by applying the Solver tool in Excel and results are listed in Table 4.4. As can be seen in this table, the values of x_1 and x_2 are placed in the feasible region and also by reducing f_1 the values of f_2 increased simultaneously.

In addition to the table, Fig. 4.7 shows the Pareto optimal solutions for all used weights in this example. Based on the Pareto curve, the decision-maker can make a trade-off decision for the problems, however, the optimum value cannot be simply determined at a single point in the design space.

Based on Fig. 4.7, the least value of f_2 occurs when the weight of f_1 or w_1 is zero, while by moving on the curve the weights of f_1 will be increased, that means the order of importance of f_1 is increased. However, from the point $w_1 = 0.4$ to $w_1 = 1.0$ any changes of f_2 causes little change in f_1 . In other words, the sensitivity of f_2 with respect to f_1 is not high in this part of curve. It is important to note that this sensitivity information can be a useful source for decision makers to make trade-off decision in this problem. For instance, point $w_1 = 0.4$, $w_2 = 0.6$ is an



Fig. 4.7 The Pareto frontier for the objectives functions $f_1(x_1, x_2)$ and $f_2(x_1, x_2)$

appropriate choice when the minimum value of f_2 is more acceptable and also we don't like to totally forgo the objective function f_1 . In this case the GRG nonlinear solution method of Excel is applied to compute the minimum value of MOO function F(x).

4.2.1 Optimization of Hydropower and Turbine

Hydropower is the power extracted from the natural potential of falling or flowing water to generate electricity. It is the most widely-used renewable sources of energy and generating power based on this method is one of the oldest methods for centuries. Water turbine is a turbo-machine that takes kinetic energy from moving water and converts it into a mechanical energy. A hydropower plant generally includes three main parts as; (1) dam to control water flow, (2) reservoir to store water, and (3) power plant to generate electricity. Firstly, water goes through an intake screen and then continues in a large pipe which is called penstock. Afterward, the kinematic energy of water spins the turbine to generate electricity, and then, the water goes out of the penstock flowing downstream of dam (Fig. 4.8). The amount of power that a hydroplant generates is function of two factors;

- 1. The effective or net head (H_e) which is the difference between water level in the reservoir and the water level in the tail race minus losses in the conveying system of the plant.
- 2. Flow (Q) which is the amount of stream passes through the turbine to spin.

The key equation to estimate the available power from falling water is;

$$P(w) = \eta \rho g Q H_e \tag{4.4}$$



Fig. 4.8 Schematic view of a hydropower dam

Table 4.5 Basic	information	of	dam
-----------------	-------------	----	-----

$\overline{R_{in}(\mathrm{msl})}$	R_{s} (msl)	R_c (msl)	R_T (msl)	R_{tail} (msl)	R_b (msl)	$H_{b}\left(\mathbf{m} ight)$	<i>D</i> (m)	<i>L</i> (m)	η
1,040.0	1,057.0	1,060.0	997.0	994.0	1,000.0	3.5	3.0	50.0	0.9

where, η is the turbine efficiency, ρ is density of water (1,000 kg/m³), g is acceleration of gravity (9.81 m/s²), Q is the flow rate (m³/s), and H_e is the effective head.

Making trade-off between hydropower generation and control flood in downstream area are two of the highest priorities for water resources engineers. On the one hand, reducing the water level at reservoirs to prevent downstream flood damages is an important issue, while providing necessary electricity for downstream areas which is main priority, needs high water water level at the reservoir. It is clear that these two objectives are in conflict with each other, and so, we have to optimize both objectives simultaneously to improve regulation operations. The main objective functions in this problem are;

- 1. Minimizing downstream flood peak to minimize flood damages,
- 2. Maximizing the hydropower generation to supply downstream electricity needs.

Example 4.3 Consider a dam with a crest width of 10 m, a crest length of 350 m, and structural height of 60 m. The elevation of spillway is 3.0 m below the dam crest and it is placed at 1,057 (m) above sea-level.

The other basic information for desired hydropower dam including elevations of penstock entrance (R_{in}) , spillway (R_s) , dam crest (R_c) , turbine (R_T) , tailrace (R_{tail}) , reservoir bed level (R_b) , downstream base flow (H_b) , penstock diameter (D), penstock length (L), and turbine efficiency (η) are shown in Fig. 4.8 and Table 4.5.

In this problem, downstream water depth (H_d) is considered as a function of water elevation in the reservoir (R_u) and it is computed based on one of the following equations.

1. If $R_u \leq R_{in}$, there is no release and so,

$$H_d = 0 \tag{4.5}$$

where, R_u is water elevation in the reservoir. In this case, the flow that passes through the turbine is zero (Q = 0).

2. If $R_{in} \leq R_u \leq R_{in} + 0.75(R_s - R_{in})$, then;

$$H_d = 0.74 (R_u - R_{in})^{0.65} \tag{4.6}$$

The flow rate in this condition is $Q = 100 \text{ m}^3/\text{s}$.

3. If $R_{in} + 0.75(R_s - R_{in}) \le R_u \le R_s$, the amount of flow that passes through the turbine is $Q = 200 \text{ m}^3/\text{s}$, and so;

$$H_d = 0.94(R_u - R_{in})^{0.71} \tag{4.7}$$

4. If $R_s \leq R_u \leq R_c$, the amount of water that spills from spillway also is added to the downstream river, and hence, the depth of water will be increased.

$$H_d = 1.2(R_u - R_{in})^{0.83} \tag{4.8}$$

The flow rate in this case is same as previous condition and it is equal to $200 \text{ m}^3/\text{s}$.

In addition, the damage cost D(\$) due to downstream flooding is considered as direct function of downstream water elevation and follows the equations below:

$$\begin{cases} H_d > H_b & D(\$) = 825 \exp[0.35(H_d - H_b]] \\ H_d \le H_b & D(\$) = 0.0 \end{cases}$$
(4.9)

where, H_b is base flow depth in the river in which its value is 3.5 m in this problem.

Set up and solve the optimization model to find the optimum values of flood peak (H_d) and hydropower generation (P). It is important to note that the downstream water depth should not be less than 3.5 m (or 993.5 msl) regarding some environmental issues like keeping fish, plants and wildlife alive, and also water elevation in the reservoir must not be less than 1,040 msl. Consider the penstock pipe as a steel—smooth pipe with 50 m length.



Fig. 4.9 Objective functions f_1 and f_2 versus water level in the reservoir for m = 2

Solution: The objective functions in this case can be expressed as (Ngo et al. 2007);

min
$$\begin{aligned} & \operatorname{f}_1(R_u) = (R_c - R_u)^m \\ & \operatorname{f}_2(H_d) = (H_d + H_b)^m \end{aligned}$$

This problem is solved for two different forms of objective functions by considering m = 2, and m = 1 with the following constraints;

$$H_d \ge 0$$
$$1,040 \le R_u \le 1,060$$

1. For m = 2

Figure 4.9 shows how both objective functions vary by changing the water level in the reservoir. As it can be seen from this figure, there are conflicts between two objectives and increasing one of them due to raising water level in the reservoir results in decreasing another one simultaneously.

Therefore, the aggregated objective function F which should be minimized using the weighted method, can be written as (Fig. 4.10);

$$F(R_u, H_d) = w_1 f_1(R_u) + w_2 f_2(H_d) = w_1 (R_c - R_u)^2 + w_2 (H_d + H_b)^2$$

In order to estimate the Pareto front and find the trade-off between desired objectives, the GRG nonlinear solution method of Excel is used in different combinations of weights to find the optimum points (Fig. 4.11).



Fig. 4.10 Values of F and its minimums in different weights for m = 2

1	T	U	V	W	X	Y	Target is minim	izing r		A
1	f1 = (Rc-Ru)^2	f2 = (Hdi)^2	W1	W2	Min F	Solver Parameters	U		The local division of	13
2	52.56	54.33	0.30	0.7	53.80019853			-		
3						Set Objective:	Town (1
4		Cha	anging water o	elevation in the	e reservoir 🔸	set colective:	\$452			
5						To: O Max	💌 Mg 🕐 Yalue Ofi	0		
6	W1	W2	Eta	Rou	Q (cms)	By Changing Variable Cells				
7	0.00	1.00	0.9	1000	0.00	\$812	R			
8	0.10	0.90	0.9	1000	100.00	1014				0.00
8 9	0.20	0.80	0.9	1000	100.00	Sybject to the Constraints	E			
10	0.30	0.70	0.9	1000	100.00	\$852 <= \$F52 \$852 >= \$652		-	8dd	
11	0.40	0.60	0.9	1000	100.00	\$0\$2 >= 0				_
12	0.50	0.50	0.9	1000	100.00		-	_	ghange	
13	0.60	0.40	0.9	1000	200.00	U	sing these constraints		Qelete	-
14	0.65	0.35	0.9	1000	200.00		and a second sec			
15	0.80	0.20	0.9	1000	200.00				Beset Al	
16	0.90	0.10	0.9	1000	200.00			- [Loed/Save	
17	0.96	0.04	0.9	1000	200.00	Make Unconstrained V	ariables Non-Alexañoa		Provinsie	0
18	1.00	0.00	0.9	1000	200.00					_
19						Sglect a Solving Method:	GRG Nonlinear	•	Options	-

Fig. 4.11 Using Excel's Solver tool for optimization analysis

The Pareto optimum points, minimum values of F and the Pareto curve are shown in Table 4.6 and Fig. 4.12, respectively.

The Pareto curve which provides useful information to verify all possibly conflicting and quantitative properties of an optimization system is shown in the Fig. 4.12. As it can be seen in this figure, by increasing f_2 the first objective function (f_1) is decreasing and this reduction is more considerable for f_1 when w_1 varies from 0.1 to 0.6. However, increasing w_1 from 0.6 to 1.0 resulted in small changes of f_1 while f_2 varies significantly. Choosing the optimum point on the Pareto curve depends on the priority of dam administrative, and the operator can choose a single point among all the available Pareto solutions.

<i>w</i> ₁	<i>w</i> ₂	$R_u - R_b$ (m)	$Q(m^3/s)$	H_d (m)	min F
0.00	1.00	40.00	0.00	3.50	12.25
0.10	0.90	46.52	100.00	6.00	50.61
0.20	0.80	52.75	100.00	7.37	53.97
0.30	0.70	52.75	100.00	7.37	53.80
0.40	0.60	52.75	100.00	7.37	53.62
0.50	0.50	52.75	100.00	7.37	53.45
0.60	0.40	57.00	200.00	10.53	49.72
0.65	0.35	57.00	200.00	10.53	44.63
0.80	0.20	57.00	200.00	10.53	29.36
0.90	0.10	57.00	200.00	10.53	19.18
0.96	0.04	59.55	200.00	17.66	12.66
1.00	0.00	60.00	200.00	17.92	0.00

Table 4.6 The minimums of F with generated hydropower and damage costs



Fig. 4.12 The Pareto frontier for the objectives functions f_1 and f_2 for m = 2

To compute the value of power in all desired steps, we need to calculate the effective head as follows;

$$H_e = H_g - h_f - H_T \tag{4.9}$$

where, H_g is the gross head, h_f is the head losses due to loss at penstock, and H_T is the differential level between center of turbine and tailrace level. The variables H_g and H_T can be computed as follow, respectively;

$$H_{\rm g}=R_u-R_{tail}=R_u-994$$

and

Table 4.7 Manning's roughness coefficient (n) for different materials	Material	Manning's roughness coefficient (n)	
different materials	Earth asphalt	0.025	
	Steel—smooth	0.012	
	Wood	0.012	
	Asphalt	0.016	
	Concrete-steel forms	0.011	
	Plastic	0.009	

$$H_T = R_T - R_{tail} = 997 - 994 = 3.0$$

The friction loss at penstock (h_f) for a circular pipe can be computed using the Darcy-Weisbach equation as;

$$h_{\rm f} = {\rm f} \frac{L}{D} \frac{V^2}{2g} \tag{4.10}$$

where, *f* is friction factor that can be found from Moody diagram, *L* is length of penstock (m), *V* is velocity at penstock (m/s), *D* is diameter of penstock (m), and *g* is gravitational acceleration (m/s^2) . The friction factor also can be calculated as function of pipe diameter and coefficient of roughness (*n*) using the following equation;

$$f = 124.5 \frac{n^2}{D^3} \text{ in SI unit}$$

$$f = 185 \frac{n^2}{D^3} \text{ in English unit}$$

$$(4.11)$$

The coefficient of roughness or Manning's roughness coefficient for different materials can be found in various references. However, the values of this coefficient for several commonly used materials are presented in Table 4.7.

According to the presented information above, the value of f can be estimated as;

$$f = 124.5 \frac{n^2}{D^3} = 124.5 \frac{0.012^2}{3^3} = 6.64 \times 10^{-4}$$

The next important parameter in Eq. (4.10) is velocity at penstock. In general, this parameter is expressed in terms of flow rate in the pipe as;

$$V^2 = \frac{Q^2}{A_w^2}$$
(4.12)

where, A_w is the cross-sectional wetted area (m²) that is an implicit function of pipe flow, cross-sectional area of flow, pipe slope, etc. For simplicity and considering the maximum losses, it is assumed pipe is flowing full and so, the wetted area is calculated as;

w_1	w_2	R_u	$R_u - R_{tail}$ (m)	$H_{e}\left(\mathrm{m} ight)$	P (MW)	D(1,000\$)
0.00	1.00	1,040.00	46.00	42.55	0.00	0.00
0.10	0.90	1,046.52	52.52	49.07	43.32	1.98
0.20	0.80	1,052.75	58.75	55.30	48.82	3.20
0.30	0.70	1,052.75	58.75	55.30	48.82	3.20
0.40	0.60	1,052.75	58.75	55.30	48.82	3.20
0.50	0.50	1,052.75	58.75	55.30	48.82	3.20
0.60	0.40	1,057.00	63.00	59.55	105.15	9.65
0.65	0.35	1,057.00	63.00	59.55	105.15	9.65
0.80	0.20	1,057.00	63.00	59.55	105.15	9.65
0.90	0.10	1,057.00	63.00	59.55	105.15	9.65
0.96	0.04	1,059.55	65.55	62.10	109.65	117.05
1.00	0.00	1,060.00	66.00	62.55	110.45	128.42

Table 4.8 The generated powers and damage costs based on optimized water elevations for m = 2

$$A_w^2 = \left(\frac{\pi D^2}{4}\right)^2 = \frac{\pi^2 D^4}{16}$$
(4.13)

and hence, the Darcy-Weisbach equation can be written as;

$$h_{f_1} = \frac{8fLQ^2}{g\pi^2 D^5} \tag{4.14}$$

Therefore, the value of h_{f_1} in this problem is;

$$h_{f_1} = \frac{8fLQ^2}{g\pi^2 D^5} = \frac{8 \times (6.64 \times 10^{-4}) \times 50 \times 200^2}{9.81 \times \pi^2 \times 3^5} = 0.452 \text{ m}$$

The values of the effective heads, generated powers, and damage costs based on the optimized water elevations are presented in Table 4.8.

For example, the values of generated hydropower and damage cost at $w_1 = 0.5$ and $w_2 = 0.5$ in Table 4.8 are calculated as;

$$\begin{aligned} H_g &= R_u - R_{tail} = 1,052.75 - 994 = 58.75 \text{ (m)} \\ H_T &= R_T - R_{tail} = 997 - 994 = 3.0 \text{ (m)} \\ H_e &= H_g - h_f - H_T = 58.75 - 0.452 - 3.0 = 55.30 \text{ (m)} \\ P(\text{MW}) &= \eta \rho g Q H_e = \frac{0.9 \times 1,000 \times 9.81 \times 100 \times 55.30}{10^6} = 48.82 \text{ (MW)} \\ D(1,000 \,\$) &= 825 \exp[0.35(H_d - H_b]] = \frac{825 \exp[0.35(7.37 - 3.5]]}{1,000} = 3.20(1,000 \,\$) \end{aligned}$$

Figure 4.13 shows the effect of increasing water elevation in the reservoir on the generated powers and downstream flood damage costs. Based on this figure, both functions are increasing by raising water elevations in the reservoir, while the



Fig. 4.13 The generated powers and downstream flood damages for m = 2

main purpose of optimization analysis in this problem is increasing the generated power and decreasing downstream flood damage simultaneously. Therefore, the results of optimization analysis can be applied to make trade-off between generated power and flood damage cost in this problem.

2. For m = 1

As it can be seen in Fig. 4.14 the first objective function is a linear function of water elevation in the reservoir for m = 1 and still there is conflict between two objectives in which increasing one of them results in decreasing the other simultaneously.

In this case, the aggregated objective function F can be written as;

$$F(R_u, H_d) = w_1 f_1(R_u) + w_2 f_2(H_d) = w_1(R_c - R_u) + w_2(H_d + H_b)$$

The constraints are the same as the previous condition, and the GRG nonlinear solution method of Excel is used in different combinations of weights to find the optimum points. The Pareto optimum points, minimum values of F, and the Pareto curve are shown in Table 4.9 and Figs. 4.15 and 4.16, respectively.

As noted above, the Pareto curve provides valuable information to verify all possibly conflicting and quantitative properties of an optimization system and it is shown in the Fig. 4.16.

The values of effective heads, generated powers, and damage costs based on the optimized water elevations in the case of m = 1 are presented in Table 4.10.



Fig. 4.14 The objective functions f_1 and f_2 versus water level in the reservoir for m = 1

w_1	<i>w</i> ₂	$R_u - R_b$ (m)	$Q (m^3/s)$	H_d (m)	min F
0.00	1.00	40.00	0.00	3.50	3.50
0.10	0.90	40.00	0.00	3.50	5.15
0.20	0.80	52.75	100.00	7.37	7.34
0.30	0.70	52.75	100.00	7.37	7.34
0.40	0.60	52.75	100.00	7.37	7.32
0.50	0.50	57.00	200.00	10.53	6.76
0.60	0.40	57.00	200.00	10.53	6.01
0.65	0.35	57.00	200.00	10.53	5.63
0.80	0.20	60.00	200.00	17.92	3.58
0.90	0.10	60.00	200.00	17.92	1.79
0.96	0.04	60.00	200.00	17.92	0.72
1.00	0.00	60.00	200.00	17.92	0.00

Table 4.9 The minimums of F with generated hydropower and damage costs for m = 1

Figure 4.17 illustrates how the generated powers and downstream flood damage costs are changing by increasing water elevation in the reservoir. As it can be seen in this figure, the generated power and damage costs are increasing a little more smoothly in the case of m = 2 in comparison to m = 1. For example, *P* changes from 0 to 48.82 by changing w_1 from 0 to 0.2 for m = 1, while it varies from 0 to 43.32 and then to 48.82 by increasing w_1 from 0 to 0.2 in the case of m = 2. However, the overall trend is same and both achieved values are acceptable as results of optimization analysis.



Fig. 4.15 Values of F and its minimums in different weights for m = 1



Fig. 4.16 The Pareto frontier for the objectives functions f_1 and f_2 for m = 1

4.2.2 Optimization of Broad-Crested Weir

Flow measurement is the quantification of fluid movement parameters. Since the early days of hydraulics, various flow measuring devices such as hydraulic structures have been developed and used in waterways such as open channels or rivers to estimate rate of flow based on the measured upstream water level (Boiten 1993). For instance, weirs as a type of hydraulic structure consist of some obstruction to increase water level and are commonly used to measure discharge. Among different

w_1	w_2	R_u	$R_{u}-R_{tail}(\mathbf{m})$	$H_{e}(\mathbf{m})$	P (MW)	$D(1,000\)$
0.00	1.00	1,040.00	46.00	42.55	0.00	0.00
0.10	0.90	1,046.52	46.00	42.55	0.00	0.83
0.20	0.80	1,052.75	58.75	55.30	48.82	3.20
0.30	0.70	1,052.75	58.75	55.30	48.82	3.20
0.40	0.60	1,052.75	58.75	55.30	48.82	3.20
0.50	0.50	1,052.75	63.00	59.55	105.15	9.65
0.60	0.40	1,057.00	63.00	59.55	105.15	9.65
0.65	0.35	1,057.00	63.00	59.55	105.15	9.65
0.80	0.20	1,057.00	66.00	62.55	110.45	128.42
0.90	0.10	1,057.00	66.00	62.55	110.45	128.42
0.96	0.04	1,059.55	66.00	62.55	110.45	128.42
1.00	0.00	1,060.00	66.00	62.55	110.45	128.42

Table 4.10 The generated powers and damage costs based on optimized water elevations for m = 1



Fig. 4.17 The generated powers and downstream flood damages for m = 1 and m = 2

types of weirs, rectangular broad-crested weir is one of the most widely used hydraulic structures in open channels and rivers. It is a common engineering structure with a horizontal crest above which the streamlines are practically straight and parallel. This simple structure has often been used in irrigation systems, hydroelectric schemes, and highways. The rectangular broad-crested weirs with 90° upstream face slope which is known as square-edged weir (edge refers to the entrance from the approach channel) is a simple design structure with the following advantages;

- 1. Constant discharge coefficient in optimum flow condition,
- 2. Less sensitivity to downstream submergence,
- 3. Simple design and construction,
- 4. Low construction and utility costs (Goodarzi et al. 2012a).

In particular situations, the weir's structural design can present some flexibility for modifying the upstream face slopes to provide better hydraulic characteristics and measure discharge efficiency at higher precision. Goodarzi et al. (2012a) experimentally studied different models of broad-crested weirs with a rectangular compound cross section. In their study, the upstream slope of weir was changed from 90° to 75°, 60°, 45°, 30°, 22.5°, 15°, and 10° and a new correction factor to estimate the discharge coefficient over weirs with various upstream slopes were introduced. The results of this study showed decreasing upstream slopes from 90° to 10° leading to increasing discharge coefficient. In general, the rate of flow and the upstream water level over the crest can be related as;

$$Q = C_{d_x} \left[\frac{2}{3} \left(\frac{2}{3} g \right)^{1/2} \right] B \cdot h_1^{3/2}$$
(4.15)

where Q is flow discharge (m³/s), B is the weir's breadth which spans the full channel width, g is gravitational acceleration (m/s²), and C_{d_x} is discharge coefficient for the weir with upstream face slope α . This coefficient can be calculated using the parameter C_r which is the ratio of C_{d_x} to the discharge coefficient of a standard broad-crested weir ($C_{d_{90}}$) as follow;

$$C_r = 1.0 + \frac{4.63 \cos^{3/2}(\alpha)}{g(2.33 + \xi^4)}$$
(4.16a)

$$C_r = \frac{C_{d_x}}{C_{d_{90}}} \tag{4.16b}$$

where *P* is weir height, *L* is weir length, h_1 is depth of flow upstream of the standard broad-crested weir, $\xi = h_1/L$.

Example 4.4 Consider a broad crested weir with the crest length, L = 1.75 (m), weir's breadth B = 3.1 (m) which spans the full channel width, weir height P = 1.25 (m), and $C_{d_{90}} = 0.9$ in a channel with the average flow of $Q_u = 1.5$ (m³/s) and the standard deviation of $\sigma_Q = 0.2$ (m³/s). The schematic view of the weir is shown in the Fig. 4.18. The cost of building the weir including the construction cost and the expense of materials is estimated using the following equation;

$$Cost(\$) = 115 + 365.156 V_T^{0.0775}$$

where, $V_T(m^3)$ is the total volume of the weir.



Fig. 4.18 Schematic view of broad-crested weir

It is important to note that the volume of weir is computed based on the following relation;

$$V_T = V_r + V_p$$

in which, V_r is the volume of cubic central part of the weir with a constant value and it can be calculated as;

$$V_r(m^3) = B \times P \times L$$

and V_p is the volume of prism section which is function of upstream face slope, as;

$$V_p(\mathbf{m}^3) = \frac{P \times L_1}{2} \times B = \frac{P^2 \times B}{2} Tan(\alpha)$$

Based on the aforementioned information, design a weir with the maximize discharge coefficient $(C_{d_{\alpha}})$ and minimum cost of construction. Determine the appropriate objective functions and obtain the Pareto front for this problem based on the weighted method.

Solution: The objective functions in this problem can be defined as;

max
$$C_{d_{\alpha}} = C_r \times C_{d_{90}} = \left[1.0 + \frac{4.63 \, Cos^{3/2}(\alpha)}{g(2.33 + \xi^4)}\right] \times C_{d_{90}}$$

and

min Cost(1,000 \$) =
$$\frac{\left[115 + 365.156 V_T^{0.0775}\right]}{1,000}$$

As the average discharge in the channel is $Q_u = 1.5 \text{ (m}^3/\text{s)}$ with the standard deviation of $\sigma_Q = 0.2 \text{ (m}^3/\text{s)}$, and the upstream face slopes should be varied between 90° to 10°, the following constraints should be considered in the design of the weir;



Fig. 4.19 The objective functions versus upstream face slopes

$$\underbrace{Q_u - \sigma_Q}_{1.5 - 0.2 = 1.3} \leq Q \leq \underbrace{Q_u + \sigma_Q}_{1.5 + 0.2 = 1.7}$$
$$10^\circ \leq \alpha \leq 90^\circ$$

If the upstream face slope approaches to 90°, the cost of weir construction decreases since the volume reduces, whereas the discharge coefficient also decreases. In this problem, on the one hand we need to decrease the upstream face slopes (approach to 10°) to get higher value for discharge coefficient and on the other hand, the values of α should be increased (approach to 90°) to decrease the cost of building. To convert the problem into a single objective function and solve it using the weighted method, the objective functions should be written as;

min
$$f_1(\alpha, \xi) = -C_{d_{\alpha}} = -\left[1.0 + \frac{4.63 \cos^{3/2}(\alpha)}{g(2.33 + \xi^4)}\right] \times C_{d_{90}}$$

min $f_2(V_T) = \text{Cost}(1,000\,\$) = \frac{\left[115 + 365.156 V_T^{0.0775}\right]}{1,000}$

Based on the weighting method, we have;

$$F = w_1 f_1 + w_2 f_2 = w_1 C_{d_{\pi}} + w_2 \text{Cost}$$

As it can be seen in the Fig. 4.19, there is conflict between two defined objective functions in which by increasing the upstream face slopes (α), the first objective f₁ is increasing, while, the second objective function f₂ is decreasing.

The GRG nonlinear method of Excel is applied to find the optimal solution and estimate the values of discharge coefficient, upstream depth, total volume of weir, and cost of building in different weights and the results are presented in the Table 4.11.

w_1	<i>w</i> ₂	F	α	$-C_d$	C_d	<i>h</i> (m)	Volume (m ³)	Cost (\$)
1	0	-1.078	10.00	-1.078	1.078	0.533	12.320	558.609
0.9	0.1	-0.914	10.00	-1.078	1.078	0.533	12.320	558.609
0.8	0.2	-0.750	10.00	-1.078	1.078	0.533	12.320	558.609
0.7	0.3	-0.587	10.00	-1.078	1.078	0.533	12.320	558.609
0.6	0.4	-0.423	11.03	-1.077	1.077	0.533	11.793	557.110
0.5	0.5	-0.260	12.93	-1.075	1.075	0.534	11.036	554.842
0.4	0.6	-0.097	15.15	-1.072	1.072	0.535	10.388	552.786
0.3	0.7	0.065	18.01	-1.068	1.068	0.536	9.785	550.761
0.2	0.8	0.227	22.29	-1.062	1.062	0.538	9.163	548.549
0.1	0.9	0.387	31.15	-1.044	1.044	0.544	8.397	545.624
0	1	0.539	90.00	-0.900	0.900	0.601	6.781	538.551

Table 4.11 The optimized values of decision variables



Fig. 4.20 The Pareto front for desired broad crested weir

Figure 4.20 shows the Pareto front for two objective functions f_1 and f_2 . As it can be seen from this figure, any optimal solution for discharge coefficient cannot be better off without making the other objective functions worse off. In other words, the higher values of discharge coefficient impose much more costs of construction. Therefore, the decision maker needs to make the appropriate decision based on the hydraulic requirement efficiency of weir and also the available financial resources of the project.

Figure 4.21 shows how the discharge coefficient and the cost of building of weir are changed by increasing the upstream face slope. Based on this figure, both of those decision variables are increasing by approaching the upstream slopes from 90° to 10° . The presented results in Table 4.11 are only for 11 different weights


Fig. 4.21 Changing discharge coefficient and the cost of building versus upstream face slope

with the step 0.1, while, many in-between values can be used by choosing smaller step size. An efficient way to produce much more weights is applying random generator techniques such as Monte Carlo technique.

Monte Carlo is one of the most famous and widely used statistical methods from the early 1940s. With the remarkable increase in computer capabilities and the development of variance reduction schemes in recent years, application of this method has increased in different scientific fields. The basic part of this method is iteration and generation of random variables from a specific range. In other words, it is a numerical simulation which replicates stochastic input random variables from desired probability distribution (Goodarzi et al. 2012b). In the case of this problem, 200 random numbers which are uniformly distributed between [0, 1] are generated for w_1 by using Excel Data Analysis Tools. The estimated Pareto curve in conjunction with values of discharge coefficient, upstream depth, total volume of weir, and cost of building are presented in the Fig. 4.22 and Table 4.12, respectively.

4.3 ε-Constraint Method

In addition to the weighted method, the ε -constraint approach can also be used to build the Pareto set for a multi-objective optimization problem. This method was first proposed by Chankong and Haimes in 1983 to transform a multiobjective problem into a traditional single objective problem by choosing one objective as main objective function and considering the remaining objectives as constraints in



Fig. 4.22 Pareto curve based on generated random data

the desired optimization problem. Based on this method, the optimization problem mathematically can be defined as;

min
$$f_i(X); \quad X = \begin{bmatrix} x_1 \\ x_2 \\ \vdots \\ x_n \end{bmatrix}$$
 (4.15)

Subject to;

$$g_j(X) \le 0, \quad j = 1, 2, \dots m$$

 $f_k(X) \le \varepsilon_k \quad k = 1, \dots n; \ k \ne n$

where, $\varepsilon = \varepsilon_1, \varepsilon_2, \ldots, \varepsilon_{i-1}, \varepsilon_{i+1}, \ldots, \varepsilon_n$.

Therefore, the Pareto set is generated by solving the optimization problem repeatedly for different values of ε . It is important to note that this method is not very efficient for problems with more than two objective functions, and also finding the Pareto solution strongly depends on the choice of ε . Example 4.5 is solved using the ε -constraint method to become more familiar with the concept of this technique in solving optimization problems, and also compare the achieved results based on this method with the outcomes of weighted approaches.

Example 4.5 Minimize the following functions $f_1(x)$ and $f_2(x)$;

$$f_1(x) = 6(x-7)^2 + 2x + 17$$

$$f_2(x) = (x-2)^3 + 23$$

Subject to

$$2 \le x \le 10$$

i	w_1	<i>w</i> ₂	C_d	<i>h</i> (m)	α	Cost (\$)
1	0.9963	0.0037	1.0775	0.5331	10.00	558.60
2	0.9948	0.0052	1.0775	0.5331	10.00	558.60
3	0.9948	0.0052	1.0775	0.5331	10.00	558.60
•						
64	0.6575	0.3425	1.0775	0.5331	10.00	558.60
65	0.6536	0.3423	1.0775	0.5331	10.00	558.00
66	0.6509	0.3404	1.0773	0.5331	10.07	558.49
00	0.0509	0.3491	1.0774	0.5551	10.119	556.42
•	•	•	•	•	•	•
80	0.6005	0.3995	1.0766	0.5333	11.01	557.12
81	0.5983	0.4017	1.0766	0.5334	11.05	557.06
82	0.5947	0.4053	1.0765	0.5334	11.12	556.98
102	0.4852	0.5148	1.0744	0.5341	13.23	554.53
103	0.4823	0.5177	1.0744	0.5341	13.29	554.47
104	0.4799	0.5201	1.0743	0.5341	13.34	554.42
•						
123	0.3948	0.6052	1.0721	0.5349	15.28	552.68
123	0.3948	0.6067	1.0721	0.5349	15.28	552.65
124	0.3933	0.6081	1.0720	0.5349	15.35	552.62
125	0.3717	0.0001	1.0720	0.5547	15.55	552.02
•	•	•	•	•	•	•
167	0.1827	0.8173	1.0598	0.5390	23.31	548.12
168	0.1797	0.8203	1.0595	0.5391	23.50	548.05
169	0.1790	0.8210	1.0594	0.5391	23.55	548.03
	•	•	•	•	•	
187	0.0806	0.9194	1.0356	0.5473	34.59	544.82
188	0.0612	0.9388	1.0223	0.5521	39.77	543.82
189	0.0549	0.9451	1.0159	0.5544	42.16	543.42
•		•	•	•	•	•
198	0.0096	0.9904	0.9000	0.6010	90.00	538.55
199	0.0080	0.9920	0.9000	0.6010	90.00	538.55
200	0.0038	0.0249	0.9000	0.6010	90.00	538.55

Table 4.12 The optimized values based on the random weights

Solution: As mentioned above, one of the objective functions would be considered as the main objective and the second one will be added to the constraints. It should be noted that it really doesn't matter which function is kept as the main objective and which one is considered as a constraint of the problem. Here the objective function $f_1(x)$ is chosen to be minimized and hence, the problem can be written as;

x	$min\;f_1(x)$	$f_2(x)$	3	х	$min \ f_1(x)$	$f_2(x)$	3
-	-	-	15	5.476	41.887	65.000	65
-	_	_	22	5.733	38.104	75.000	75
2.019	169.915	23.000	23	5.958	35.432	85.000	85
3.000	119.000	24.000	24	6.254	32.845	100.000	100
3.913	82.006	30.000	30	6.514	31.444	115.000	115
4.289	69.662	35.000	35	6.747	30.878	130.000	130
4.571	61.535	40.000	40	6.820	30.834	135.000	135
4.802	55.590	45.000	45	6.833	30.833	135.912	136
5.000	51.000	50.000	50	6.833	30.833	135.912	150
5.175	47.338	55.000	55	6.833	30.833	135.912	190

Table 4.13 Different values of x, $f_1(x)$, and $f_2(x)$ for the values of selected ε_2



Fig. 4.23 The Pareto set based on ε -constraints method

min
$$f_1(x) = 6(x-7)^2 + 2x + 17$$

subject to;

$$2 \le x \le 10$$

f₂(x) = (x - 2)³ + 23 ≤ a

Now, we need to solve the problem for different values of ε_2 to find the Pareto set in this problem. Table 4.13 shows the values of x, $f_1(x)$, and $f_2(x)$ for the selected values of ε . Based on the results, there is no feasible solution for $\varepsilon < 23$, shown by the dash line in the table, while the values of x, $f_1(x)$, and $f_2(x)$ approaches to a constant value for $\varepsilon > 135$.

In this problem, the GRG nonlinear method of Excel is applied to solve the optimization problem. Figure 4.23 demonstrates the Pareto optimal solutions based on ε -constraint technique for desired two-objective minimization problem.



Fig. 4.24 A marine wastewater disposal system

4.3.1 Optimization of Marine Outfalls

Wastewater can be defined as combination of liquid and solid wastes and it can be generated from many resources like domestic (e.g., household wastes like toilets, shower, cooking, laundry, and the floor drains) and industrial sources (e.g., food waste, mining, oil waste, fertilizers, and toxic chemicals). Three important types of wastewater can be named as sewage, influent, and effluent. In general, the domestic wastewater is known as *sewage*, the wastewater which is flowing into a treatment plant is known as *influent*, and the treated wastewater from treatment plant which can be discharged into a stream, river, lagoon, lake or ocean is called *effluent*. The main purpose of wastewater treatment before disposal is removing industrial and human wastes to protect the health of our community and preventing the potential diseases as well as supplying clean water. The treatment process typically includes three main steps as;

- 1. Preliminary treatment; to remove large particles and materials in raw wastewater,
- 2. Primary treatment; to remove suspended solids by sedimentation, and
- 3. Secondary treatment; to remove or reduce residual organics that are left from the previous steps.

After completion of the treatment procedures, the wastewater flows through a marine outfall to the sea. The marine outfall is an important part of costal infrastructure to transform sewage or effluent from desired sources to an undersea disposal point far from coast. The main objectives of marine outfall systems are disposing of wastewater in a safe point to reduce the health risk of coastal communities, swimmers, and temporary coastal visitors. A marine outfall system generally consists of three main parts as follows;

- 1. An outfall pipe or feeder pipe,
- 2. Diffuser pipe, and
- 3. Risers and ports (Fig. 4.24).



Fig. 4.25 Near-field and far-field locations for a single outfall pipe

It is important to note that mixing zone is defined as a limited area around diffusers where an effluent discharges into ocean, and mixing the effluent with the water body results in dilution of effluent in the vicinity of the plume. To estimate dilution the following relation can be applied;

$$S_n = \frac{C_0 - C_a}{C - C_a}$$
(4.16)

where, C, C_0 , and C_a are conductivity at sampling point, effluent source, and ambient water, respectively (Abessi et al. 2012). It is important to note that although mixing changes the quality of ambient, the standards of water quality in this zone should be limited to critical toxicity condition.

Near-field (or initial mixing region) and far-field are two major phases of mixing processes of an effluent. In the near-field region, rapid mixing takes place and the shape of this area is affected by the source characteristics, outfalls geometry and interaction of buoyancy flux with the ambient current (Roberts et al. 1989). On the other hand in the far-field region, the effect of source is reduced and also the rate of increasing dilution is slower than near-field area (Kang et al. 1999). Figure 4.25 shows the near-field and far-field locations for a single outfall pipe that discharges effluent into the ocean. Based on Tian et al. (2004), the edge of near-field region is approximately placed within 10 % of whole mixing zone.

In the following section optimization analysis of an outfall system as a practical example in designing marine outfalls is presented.

Example 4.6 Assume, a city needs to discharge an average municipal wastewater of $Q_T = 1.6 \text{ m}^3/\text{s}$ into the ocean though a marine outfall. In preliminary design, outfall considered as a long pipe on the floor at the shallow coast of the study area. The outfall terminates to a diffuser with T-shape nozzles spaced equal to *S* from each other (Fig. 4.26). The discharge needs to be released at least 200 m (or $L \ge 200 \text{ m}$) far from the shore due to local environmental regulations. To diminish environmental impacts of sewage in local marine ecosystem reaching minimum dilution 100 at the end of near-field suggested in receiving ambient water quality standards.



Fig. 4.26 Sketch of outfall in primarily design (Tian et al. 2004)

It is assumed that the receiving water is unstratified (homogeneous) for the sake of design procedure, and the diffusers are shortly spaced and flow behave as line plume;

$$\frac{S_n q}{b^{1/3} H} = 0.49 \quad \text{for } \frac{S}{H} \le 0.3 \tag{4.17}$$

and when the diffuser in long spaced and flow behave as point plume, we have;

$$\frac{S_n q}{b^{1/3} H} = 0.41 \left(\frac{S}{H}\right)^{-2/3} \quad \text{for } \frac{S}{H} \ge 1$$
(4.18)

where, H(m) is the water depth, S_n is dilution, S(m) space between nozzles, $L_d(m)$ diffuser length, *n* total number of ports, *q* is volume flux, *b* is buoyancy flux and they are defined as;

$$q = \frac{Q_T}{L_d}$$

$$b = g'_0 q$$
(4.19)

in which, g'_0 is modified acceleration due to gravity and can be calculated as;

$$g_0' = \frac{g(\rho_a - \rho_0)}{\rho_0}$$
(4.20)

in which, $\rho_0(\text{kg/m}^3)$ is effluent density and $\rho_a(\text{kg/m}^3)$ is ambient density (Tian et al. 2004).

As the nozzles are T-shaped, each riser has two ports on it in which $L_d = \frac{n}{2}S$. In addition, it is assumed that the effluent and ambient densities are 998 and 1,021 kg/m³, respectively; and the ambient depth in the area changes linearly from the shore as follow;

$$H = 0.03 \times (L + L_d)$$

where, L and L_d are the feeder pipe and diffuser pipe lengths.

4.3 ε-Constraint Method

 \Rightarrow

Determine the optimal design of outfall to meet environmental required standards with the minimum cost when the construction cost for each meter of outfall initial pipe in 25,000 \$ and for each meter of diffuser is 45,000 \$. In this problem for the sake of simplicity, it is assumed that diffusers are shortly spaced and flow behaves as line plume, and hence, only Eq. (4.17) should be applied. In addition, the maximum allocated budget for this project is \$25 M.

Solution: In this problem, we are going to maximize dilution while minimizing the cost of building project. Based on Eq. (4.17), we have;

$$\frac{S_n q}{b^{1/3} H} = 0.49 \implies S_n = \frac{0.49 \times b^{1/3} H}{q}$$
$$S_n = \frac{\left[0.49 \times \left(g'_0 \frac{Q_T}{L_d}\right)^{1/3}\right] \times \left[0.03 \times (L + L_d)\right]}{\frac{Q_T}{L_d}}$$
$$= \frac{\left[0.49 \times \left(\frac{g(\rho_a - \rho_0)}{\rho_0}\right)^{1/3}\right] \times \left[0.03 \times (L + L_d)\right]}{\left(\frac{Q_T}{L_d}\right)^{2/3}}$$

By applying the values of g, ρ_a , ρ_0 , and Q_T , dilution can be calculated as;

$$S_{n} = \frac{\left[0.49 \times \left(\frac{9.81 \times (1,021 - 998)}{998}\right)^{1/3}\right] \times [0.03 \times (L + L_{d})]}{\left(\frac{1.6}{L_{d}}\right)^{2/3}}$$

$$S_{n} = 0.0065 \times L_{d}^{2/3} (L + L_{d})$$
(4.21)

On the other hand, it is assumed that there are two ports for each risers or $L_d = \frac{n}{2}S$, and so, Eq. (4.21) can be written in the following form;

$$S_n = 0.0065 \times \left(\frac{n}{2}S\right)^{2/3} \left(L + \frac{n}{2}S\right)$$
 (4.22)

Therefore, the first objective function that should be maximized is Eq. (4.22). The constraints of this problem are;

$$L \ge 200 \text{ (m)}$$
$$\frac{s}{H} \le 0.3$$

The second objective is the cost function that needs be minimized. This function is sum of the cost of feeder pipe and diffuser package (including diffuser pipe, risers, and ports) and can be computed as;

$$C(\$) = C_1 + C_2$$

in which,

$$C_1 = 25,000 \times L$$

 $C_2 = 45,000 \times L_d$

Therefore, the total cost is;

$$C(\$) = 25,000 \times L + 45,000 \times (\frac{n}{2}S)$$

In brief, the objective functions and constraints of this problem are;

$$\min - S_n = -\left[0.0065 \times \left(\frac{n}{2}S\right)^{2/3} \left(L + \frac{n}{2}S\right)\right]$$
$$\min C(\$) = 25,000 \times L + 45,000 \times \left(\frac{n}{2}S\right)$$

Subject to the following constraints;

$$L \ge 200 \, (\mathrm{m})$$
$$\frac{S}{H} \le 0.3$$

It is important to note the values of dilution higher than 100 are acceptable in receiving ambient water quality. By applying the ε -constraint method, one of objective functions can be considered as main objective and the second one will be added to the constraints, and so, the problem will be changed into a single objective function. In this example, dilution function is kept to be maximized and the cost function is considered as constraints. Hence, the objective function and constraints can be written as follows;

min
$$-S_n = -\left[0.0065 \times \left(\frac{n}{2}S\right)^{2/3} \left(L + \frac{n}{2}S\right)\right]$$

Subject to;

$$25,000 \times L + 45,000 \times \left(\frac{n}{2}S\right) \le \varepsilon$$
$$L \ge 200 \text{ (m)}$$
$$\frac{S}{H} \le 0.3$$

As the maximum allocated budget for this project is \$25 M, the value of ε varies between 0 and 25 to find the optimum values of dilution, numbers of ports, length of feeder pipe, and length of diffuser pipe. This problem is solved for different values of ε , and the results of optimization analysis as well as Pareto set are presented in the Table 4.14 and Fig. 4.27, respectively.

n	S	L	S_n	Cost	3	L_d	Н	S/H
_	-	_	-	-	5	-	-	-
79.36	2.80	200	46.74	10	10	111.11	9.33	0.3
97.22	3.20	200	66.84	12	12	155.55	10.66	0.3
116.96	3.80	200	100.68	15	15	222.22	12.66	0.3
122.22	4.00	200	112.94	16	16	244.44	13.33	0.3
126.98	4.20	200	125.67	17	17	266.67	14.00	0.3
131.31	4.40	200	138.87	18	18	288.88	14.66	0.3
135.26	4.60	200	152.53	19	19	311.11	15.33	0.3
138.88	4.80	200	166.66	20	20	333.33	16.00	0.3
142.22	5.00	200	181.23	21	21	355.55	16.66	0.3
145.30	5.20	200	196.26	22	22	3.77.77	17.33	0.3
148.14	5.40	200	211.72	23	23	400.00	18.00	0.3
150.79	5.60	200	227.62	24	24	422.22	18.66	0.3
153.26	5.80	200	243.96	25	25	444.44	19.33	0.3
155.55	6.00	200	260.71	26	26	466.66	20.00	0.3
157.70	6.20	200	277.88	27	27	488.88	20.66	0.3
159.72	6.40	200	295.47	28	28	511.11	21.33	0.3

Table 4.14 The optimized values of dilution and cost



Fig. 4.27 The Pareto set solutions based on *e*-constraints method

4.4 Problems

Problem 4.1 Minimize $F(x) = g[f_1(x), f_2(x)]$ using the weighted method

$$f_1(x) = (x-1)^3$$

 $f_2(x) = -x^2 + 5x$

Subject to the following constraint and plot the Pareto set;

 $2 \le x \le 4$

Problem 4.2 Find the optimal solution of the following optimization problem using the weighted method and plot the Pareto front.

$$\min f_1(x_1, x_2) = (x_1 - 1)^2 + (x_2 - 2)^2$$
$$\min f_2(x_1, x_2) = -x_1^2 - x_2^2 + 13$$

Subject to:

$$5x_1 - 3x_2 \le 9 6x_1 + 3x_2 \le 5 -2 \le x_1 \le 4 -2 \le x_2 \le 6$$

Problem 4.3 Solve Example 4.3 by considering the turbine efficiencies as 65, 75, 85, and 95 %, and then, compare your results to see the effect of different efficiencies values on the optimization results.

Problem 4.4 Solve Example 4.3 by considering the penstock diameter D = 2.5, 2.5, and 3.5 m and then, compare your results to see the effect of different penstock diameters on the optimization results.

Problem 4.5 Assume two different values for discharge coefficients as $C_{d_{90}} = 0.8$ and $C_{d_{90}} = 0.95$ in Example 4.4, and find the Pareto front based on the weighted method.

Problem 4.6 Solve Example 4.4 by applying ε-constraint approach and compare the achieved results with the outcomes of weighted method.

Problem 4.7 Solve Example 4.6 if desired city needs to discharge an average municipal wastewater of $Q_T = 1.0$ and $2.2 \text{ m}^3/\text{s}$ into the ocean though a marine outfall. Compare your results to see the effect of different discharges on the optimization results.

Problem 4.8 Solve Example 4.6 if diffusers are long spaced.

References

- Abessi O, Saeedi M, Bleninger T, Davidson M (2012) Surface discharge of negatively buoyant effluent in unstratified stagnant water. J Hydro-Environ Res
- Alba E, Blum C, Isasi P, Le'on C, G'omez JA (2009) Optimization techniques for solving complex problems. Wiley. ISBN:9780470293324
- Boiten W (1993) Flow-measuring structures. Delf Hydraulics, Wageningen Agricultural University, Nieuwe Kanaal, Wageningen
- Caramia M, Dell'olmo P (2008) Multi-objective management in freight logistics. Springer
- Goodarzi E, Farhoudi J, Shokri N (2012a) Flow characteristics of rectangular broad-crested weirs with sloped upstream face. J Hydrol Hydromech 60(2):87–100
- Goodarzi E, Ziaei M, Teang Shui L (2012b) Introduction to risk and uncertainty in hydrosystem engineering. Springer. ISBN:978-94-007-5850-6
- Kang SW, Oh BC, Park KS, You SH (1999) Near-field dilution of wastewater effluents discharged from submerged ocean outfalls in Masan bay. KSCE J Civil Eng 3(4):395–405
- Ngo LL, Madsen H, Rosbjerg D (2007) Simulation and optimisation modelling approach for operation of the Hoa Binh reservoir, Vietnam. J Hydrol 336:269–281
- Roberts PJW, Snyder WH, Baumgartner DH (1989) Ocean outfalls: submerged wastefield formation, spatial evolution of submerged wastefields, III: effect of diffuser design on submerged wastefields. J Hydraul Div ASCE 115(1):1–70
- Tian X, Roberts PJW, Daviero GJ (2004) Marine wastewater discharges from multiport diffusers. I: unstratified stationary water. J Hydraul Eng 130(12):1137

Chapter 5 Optimization Analysis Using LINGO and MATLAB

Abstract LINGO and MATLAB are two of the well-known computer programs and powerful languages used today for expressing optimization models. In this chapter, the process of solving both single and multiobjective optimization problems using those programs is presented in details. Furthermore, a number of useful examples are provided and solved step by step to better understand the application of LINGO and MATLAB in solving linear and nonlinear optimization problems.

5.1 LINGO

The procedure of solving optimization problems to find the optimal solutions usually needs a large number of mathematical computations in particular when there are numerous objective functions and constraints. With the remarkable increase in the computation power in the past decade, using custom designed computer programs and commercial software provide a smart way to solve different types of optimization problems more efficiently and in a reasonable time. Among all optimization models, LINGO is the most comprehensive optimization tool in solving a wide range of optimization problems and it is capable to model any large or small systems efficiently. The word LINGO is the abbreviation of Linear, Integer, Nonlinear, and Global Optimization that implies the ability of this software in finding optimal solution of linear, integer, and nonlinear problems. The main characteristics of LINGO are;

- 1. Availability of different optimizer functions including general integer and fast linear,
- 2. Useful features for editing input data,
- 3. Linked to the libraries of FORTRAN as a strong programming language in engineering and science,
- 4. Using the subroutines to run a given program in LINGO, and
- 5. Availability of a comprehensive on-line help for all LINGO users.

E. Goodarzi et al., *Introduction to Optimization Analysis in Hydrosystem Engineering*, 149 Topics in Safety, Risk, Reliability and Quality 25, DOI: 10.1007/978-3-319-04400-2_5, © Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2014

5.1.1 Creating an Input Model

As noted in the previous chapters, the structure of any optimization model includes three main elements as; objective function, decision variables, and constraints. Before building a model in LINGO, we need to precisely define and determine those elements to see what model should be optimized, what variables would be changed to find the optimal solution, and what restrictions must be applied on the decision variables to obtain valid solutions in a feasible region. Some of the main operators in LINGO are shown in Table 5.1.

The objective function should be written in the first line and the phrases Min and Max are used to demonstrate the objective as a minimization or maximization problem, respectively. Furthermore, the following points should be considered in writing desired model;

- 1. All comments in the model must be initialized with the exclamation point (!) and the text will be appeared in green color.
- 2. Each line should be ended with a semicolon (;), otherwise the LINGO cannot solve the problem.
- 3. As noted above, the first line involves the objective function and the constraints are immediately after the objective line without any word such as "subject to", "st", and etc.
- 4. The operators "<" and ">" also denote " \leq " and " \geq ", respectively.
- 5. To solve the model, we can use the Solve button or using the CTRL+S shortcut.

To become more familiar with the LINGO in solving an optimization problem, consider the following simple example.

Example 5.1 Maximize the function f(x) as;

$$f(x) = 40x + 25y$$

Subject to;

$$x + y \le 15$$

$$5 \le y \le 35$$

Solution: First we need to define the objective function as following;

$$Max = 40 * x + 25 * y;$$

Then, the constraints should be written immediately below the objective function as;

$$x + y < = 15;$$

 $y < = 35;$
 $y > = 5;$

5.1 LINGO

Operator	Sign	Operator	Sign
Addition	+	Equals	=
Multiplication	*	Greater than	>
Subtraction	-	Less than	<
Division	/	Logics	NOT, AND, OR
Exponent	٨	Strings	& and &&

Table 5.1 The main LINGO operators



Fig. 5.1 Created model in LINGO

Figure 5.1 shows all elements of created model for this simple problem. As it can be seen from Fig. 5.1, the text between exclamation point and semicolon appears in green color and LINGO ignore this line when running the model.

It is important to note that comments can be written anywhere and it is not necessary to input them in the first line and before all commands. For example, Problem 5.1 is solved while each expression in the model includes a comment (Fig. 5.2).

5.1.2 Solving Linear Models

As already noted, the model can be solved using the *Solve* button on the toolbar or applying the CTRL+S shortcut. If an error occurs, LINGO shows an error message to notify user. For example, when a syntax error happens, LINGO provides the following error message as *a syntax error has occurred* (Fig. 5.3).

If no error occurs, LINGO runs the model to find the optimal solution using a solver module, and then, the *Solver Status* and *Solution Report* windows will appear (Figs. 5.4, 5.5). The solver status window includes lots of useful information such as;

• The class of model i.e., LP, NLP, or IP. In the case of this problem, the model is classified as LP or linear programming.



Fig. 5.2 The LINGO model with a number of comments on each line

Lingo 14.0 - Lingo Model - I	Lingo1	
File Edit LINGO Window		
Engo Model - Lingol		
Problem 5.1;	and the set of the set	
x+y<=15; The fire	This is the objective function; at constraint;	
y<=35; 1The const:	raint associated with the second variable;	
y>=5	Lingo 14.0 Solver Status [Lingo1]	
	Solver Status	
	UNGO Error Message	
	EnorCode Copy Explain OK	
	EnorTest Invalid input. A syntax error has occurred.	
	14)	
U		
	00:00:00	
	Update Interval 2 Interrupt Solver Close	

Fig. 5.3 The syntax error in LINGO

- The state of estimated solution which can be global optimum, local optimum, feasible or infeasible solution is presented. Based on Fig. 5.4, the model found a global optimum solution.
- The number of iteration that is used to find the optimal solution.
- The total number of variables as well as the nonlinear and integer variables also is shown by Solver Status. As this problem includes only two linear variables, the total number of variables equals two, while, the number of nonlinear is zero.

The next window that includes the optimal solution and the value of each variable associated with the optimal solution is the Solution Report Window, shown in Fig. 5.5. Based on the presented results in this window, the objective value which shows the maximum of function f(x) is 525.0 and variables *x* and *y* are

Solver Status -			Variables	
Model Class:		LP	Total:	2
			Nonlinear:	0
State:	Global	Opt	Integers:	0
Objective:		525	Constraints	
Infeasibility:		0	Total:	4
			Nonlinear:	0
Iterations:	Status	0	Nonzeros Total:	6
Solver Type:			Nonlinear:	0
Best Obj:			Generator Memory U	sed (K)—
Obj Bound:			19	
Steps:			Elapsed Runtime (hh	:mm:ss)-
Active:		· ·	00:00:00	0

Fig. 5.4 Solver status window

10 and 5, respectively. The Slack or Surplus column can accept the following values;

- Zero; when desired constraint is satisfied as an equality,
- Positive; the number of variable units that should be added to the optimal value before desired constraint becomes an equality,
- Negative; shows the constraint is violated.

Example 5.2 Solve Problem 2.3 using LINGO. The objective function associated with this problem is;

$$\max R(\$) = (n_{p_1} \times 20\,\$) + (n_{p_2} \times 25\,\$)$$

and the constraints are;

 $n_{p_1} \le 25; \quad n_{p_2} \le 35; \quad 2n_{p_1} + 3n_{p_2} \le 140$

Solution: The input model in LINGO and the results of analysis are shown in Fig. 5.6.

Lingo 14.0 - [Solution Report - Lingo1]		Street Manual Party		
File Edit LINGO Window Help				
D 6886 <u>x</u> 66 <u>2</u> 2 <u></u>	> ⊕ ⊕		8 18	
Global optimal solution fou	nd.			
Objective value:		525.0000		
Infeasibilities:		0.000000		
Total solver iterations:		0		
Elapsed runtime seconds:		0.04		
Model Class:		LP		
Total variables:	2			
Nonlinear variables:	0			
Integer variables:	0			
Total constraints:	4			
Nonlinear constraints:	0			
Total nonzeros:	6			
Nonlinear nonzeros:	0			
	Variable	Value	Reduced Cost	
	Variabie	10.00000	0.000000	
	x	5.000000	0.000000	
	Ŷ	5.000000	0.00000	
	Row	Slack or Surplus		
	1	525.0000	1.000000	
	2	0.000000	40.00000	
	3	30.00000	0.00000	
	4	0.000000	-15.00000	

Fig. 5.5 Solution report window

Lingo Model - Prob. 5.2					082	
Problem 5.2, The Ca	spian Company Piezometers;			(Lingo 14.0 Solver Status (Prob. 5.2)	and the second second
! The objective Func !All constraints;	tion; Max= 20*np1+25*np2;				- Solver Status	Valables
np1<=25;	Solution Report - Prob. 5.2				Model Class: 13	Total Norinear
np2<=35;	Global optimal solution four	vi.			State: Global Opt	Integers
2*np1+3*np2<=140;	Objective value:		1250.000		Objective: 1250	Constraints
	Infeasibilities:		0.000000		Inteasibility.	Total
	Total solver iterations:		1			Noninear
	Elapsed runtime seconds:		0.02		Relations:	Norowas
	Model Class:		LP		- Extended Solver Status	Total
	HUGHA CHAPPE					Notinear
	Total variables:	2			Solver Type:	
	Nonlinear variables:	0			Best Obj	Generator Memory Used (K)
	Integer variables:	0			Obi Bound	19
	Total constraints:					
	Nonlinear constraints:					Elapsed Runtime (hhummus
	NUNLINGER CONSCIENCES				Active:	00:00:00
	Total nonzeros:	6				
	Nonlinear nonzeros:	0			Update Interval	Interrigit Solver Close
					oboau manar is -	
		Variable	Value	Reduced Cos	e	
		NP1	25.00000	0.00000		
		NP2	30.00000	0.00000	0	
		Row	Slack or Surplus	Dual Pric		
		1	1250.000	1.00000		
		2	0.000000	3.33333		
		3	5.000000	0.00000	v	

Fig. 5.6 The model and achieved results for Example 5.2

Based on the results, the model class is LP and the solution is a global optimum solution with the maximum profit of \$1,250. The values of variables n_{p_1} and n_{p_2} that will produce the optimal solution are 25 and 30, respectively.

Example 5.3 Apply LINGO to solve the Problem 2.4 only for demand discharge Q_2 ($Q_A = 14$, $Q_B = 18$, and $Q_C = 20$) when there is no pump station. The objective function in that problem is defined as;

$$\begin{aligned} \min Z &= \left(C_{0,1,1}l_{0,1,1} + C_{0,1,2}l_{0,1,2}\right) + \left(C_{1,2,1}l_{1,2,1} + C_{1,2,2}l_{1,2,2}\right) + \left(C_{2,3,1}l_{2,3,1} + C_{2,3,2}l_{2,3,2}\right) \\ &+ \left(C_{2,4,1}l_{2,4,1} + C_{2,4,2}l_{2,4,2}\right) + \left(C_{1,5,1}l_{1,5,1} + C_{1,5,2}l_{1,5,2}\right) \\ &= \left(10 \times l_{0,1,1} + 15 \times l_{0,1,2}\right) + \left(10 \times l_{1,2,1} + 15 \times l_{1,2,2}\right) + \left(10 \times l_{2,3,1} + 15 \times l_{2,3,2}\right) \\ &+ \left(10 \times l_{2,4,1} + 15 \times l_{2,4,2}\right) + \left(10 \times l_{1,5,1} + 15 \times l_{1,5,2}\right) \end{aligned}$$

And, the constraints are;

(a) The length constraints as;

 $l_{0,1,1} + l_{0,1,2} = 1,000 \text{ ft}$ $l_{1,2,1} + l_{1,2,2} = 1,000 \text{ ft}$ $l_{2,3,1} + l_{2,3,2} = 1,000 \text{ ft}$ $l_{2,4,1} + l_{2,4,2} = 1,000 \text{ ft}$ $l_{1,5,1} + l_{1,5,2} = 1,000 \text{ ft}$

(b) The hydraulic constraint for user A in Q_2 will be calculated as;

$$\begin{aligned} 650 - & \left(0.0830 \times l_{0,1,1} + 0.0426 \times l_{0,1,2}\right) - & \left(0.0314 \times l_{1,2,1} + 0.0161 \times l_{1,2,2}\right) \\ & - & \left(0.0060 \times l_{2,3,1} + 0.0031 \times l_{2,3,2}\right) \ge 550 \end{aligned}$$

And, for user B in Q_2 is;

$$650 - (I_{0,1,1} \times l_{0,1,1} + I_{0,1,2}l_{0,1,2}) - (I_{1,2,1}l_{1,2,1} + I_{1,2,2}l_{1,2,2}) - (I_{2,4,1}l_{2,4,1} + I_{2,4,2}l_{2,4,2}) = 650 - (0.0830 \times l_{0,1,1} + 0.0426 \times l_{0,1,2}) - (0.0314 \times l_{1,2,1} + 0.0161 \times l_{1,2,2}) - (0.0099 \times l_{2,4,1} + 0.0051 \times l_{2,4,2}) \ge 550$$

And, finally for user C in Q_2 is;

$$\begin{split} 650 &- \left(I_{0,1,1} \times l_{0,1,1} + I_{0,1,2} l_{0,1,2}\right) - \left(I_{1,5,1} l_{1,5,1} + I_{1,5,2} l_{1,5,2}\right) \\ &= 650 - \left(0.0830 \times l_{0,1,1} + 0.0426 \times l_{0,1,2}\right) \\ &- \left(0.0123 \times l_{1,5,1} + 0.0063 \times l_{1,5,2}\right) \geq 550 \end{split}$$

Solution: The model for water distribution network under demand discharge Q_2 is shown in Fig. 5.7. As it can be seen from this figure, you can simply input the objective function and constraints and also put desired comments for each line as well.

Based on the results, the model class is LP and the optimal solution is a global optimum with the value of \$53,007.4. The estimated minimum value here is close

Lingo 14.0 - Lingo Model - Prob. 5.3	
ie Edit LINGO Window Help	
Lingo Model - Prob. 53	
!Problem 5.3, The water distribution network;	*
! The objective Function;	
Min= (10*L011+15*L012)+(10*L121+15*L122)+(10*L231+15*L232)	
+(10*L241+14*L242)+(10*L151+15*L152);	
!Length constraints;	
L011+L012=1000;	
L121+L122=1000;	
L231+L232=1000;	
L241+L242=1000;	
L151+L152=1000;	-
<pre>!Energy constraint for user A;</pre>	
650-(0.0830*L011+0.0426*L012)-(0.0314*L121+0.0161*L122)-(0.0060*L231+0.0031*L232)>550;	
!Energy constraint for user B;	
650-(0.0830*L011+0.0426*L012)-(0.0314*L121+0.0161*L122)-(0.0099*L241+0.0051*L242)>550;	
!Energy constraint for user B;	
650-(0.0830*L011+0.0426*L012)-(0.0123*L151+0.0063*L152)>550;	. u

Fig. 5.7 Created model in LINGO

		8 8 M			
lution Report - Prob. 5.3					-
Global optimal solution four	d.				
Objective value:		53007.43			
Infeasibilities:		0.000000			
Total solver iterations:		1			
Elapsed runtime seconds:		0.03			
Model Class:		LP			
Total variables:	10		Lingo 14.0 Solver Status [Prob. 5.3]	22	1
Nonlinear variables:	0		Solver Status	Variables	1
Integer variables:	0		Model Class: LP	Total 10	
inceger variables.			MODE CASE. LF	Nonlinear: 0	
Total constraints:	9		State: Global Opt	Integers: 0	
Nonlinear constraints:	0		Objective: 53007.4		
Nonitanear conscrutios.	•			Constraints Total 9	
Total nonzeros:	36		Inteasibility: 0	Nonlinear: 0	
Nonlinear nonzeros:	0		Iterations: 1	Honmede. 0	
				Nonzeros	
			Extended Solver Status	Totak 36	
			Solver Type:	Nonlinear: 0	
	Variable	Value		Generator Memory Used (K)	
	L011	398.5149	Best Obj		
	L012	601.4851	Obj Bound:	23	
	L121	1000.000	Steps:		
	L122	0.000000		Elapsed Runtime (hhtmm:ss)	
	L231	1000.000	Active:	00:00:00	
	L232	0.000000			
	L241	1000.000			
	L242	0.000000	Update Interval: 2	encert Solver Close	
	L151 L152	1000.000			

Fig. 5.8 The optimal values of pipe length

to the archived result in Chap. 2 (min Z = 53,018.95) using the Solver tool of Excel (Fig. 5.8).

Table 5.2 shows the results of optimization analysis using LINGO and Excel for the length of pipes and minimum value of desired objective function

Example 5.4 Solve Example 2.5 by applying LINGO for the following conditions; (1) the minimum value of the total desired discharge (W_{min}) from all wells equals 4 ft/day, and (2) the minimum value of the desired discharge (W_{min}) from each

Pipe segment	LINGO	Excel
<i>l</i> _{0,1,1}	398.51	396.21
$l_{0,1,2}$	601.48	603.79
l _{1,2,1}	1,000	1,000
l _{1,2,2}	0.00	0.00
l _{2,3,1}	1,000	1,000
l _{2,3,2}	0.00	0.00
l _{2,4,1}	1,000	1,000
l _{2,4,2}	0.00	0.00
$l_{1,5,1}$	1,000	1,000
l _{1,5,2}	0.00	0.00
min Z (\$)	53,007.43	53,018.95

 Table 5.2
 The optimized results

well equals 4 ft/day. As noted in Chap. 2, the necessary information to solve this problem are $W_{min} = 4$ ft/day, $\Delta x = 100$ ft, T = 10,000 ft²/day, $h_0 = 125$ ft, and $h_4 = 100$ ft.

Solution: The objective function to maximize the hydraulic heads for various pumping rates is;

$$\max Z = \sum_{i=1}^{n=3} h_i = h_1 + h_2 + h_3$$

And, the constraints of this problem are;

$$(2h_1 - h_2) + \left(\frac{W_1 \times \Delta x^2}{T_x}\right) = 125$$
$$(2h_2 - h_1 - h_3) + \left(\frac{W_2 \times \Delta x^2}{T_x}\right) = 0$$
$$(2h_3 - h_2) + \left(\frac{W_3 \times \Delta x^2}{T_x}\right) = 100$$

For the first part of question, the other constraints are;

$$W_1 + W_2 + W_3 \ge W_{min}$$

 $h_1, h_2, h_3 \ge 0$
 $W_1, W_2, W_3 \ge 0$
 $h_0 \ge h_1 \ge h_2 \ge h_3 \ge h_4$

Figures 5.9 and 5.10 show the model of one-dimensional confined aquifer in LINGO and the optimized values of hydraulic heads and discharge rates, respectively.

Table 5.3 shows the optimized hydraulic heads and discharge rates using two different computer programs. As it can be seen from this table, there is only a little difference between Excel and LINGO outcomes.

Defe inc of the set	
Lingo Model - Prob. 5.4	- B 1
<pre>!Problem 5.4, The one dimensional confined aquifer;</pre>	
!Intial known values;	
Wmin=4;	
DeltaX=100;	
Tx=10000;	
! The objective function;	
Max= h1+h2+h3;	
Constraints;	
(2*h1-h2)+((W1*DeltaX^2)/Tx)=125;	
(2*h2-h1-h3)+((W2*DeltaX^2)/Tx)=0;	
(2*h3-h2)+((W3*DeltaX^2)/Tx)-100=0;	
W1+W2+W3>Wmin:	

Fig. 5.9 Input model in LINGO for one-dimensional confined aquifer

igo 14.0 - Solution Report - Prob. 5.4			"against manage -	and the second the		
Edit LINGO Window Help						
8 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	● O ® ⊠ ■		8 168			
olution Report - Prob. 5.4						0 0
Global optimal solution fou	nd.	331,5000				
Objective value: Infeasibilities:		0.000000				
Infeasibilities: Total solver iterations:		0.000000		Lingo 14.0 Solver Status (Prob. 5.4)		23
Elapsed runtime seconds:		0.03				
Lapsed Lancine seconds.		0.00		Solver Status	Variables	
Model Class:		LP		Model Class:	LP Total	6
				State: Global 0	Nonlinear:	0
Total variables:	6			State: Global 0	pt Integers:	0
Nonlinear variables:	0			Objective: 331	.5 Constraints	
Integer variables:	0			Intestibility.		5
				Infeasibility:	0 Total Noninear	o l
Total constraints:	5			Iterations:	4	
Nonlinear constraints:	0				Nonzeros	
Total nonzeros:	16			Extended Solver Status	Total	16
Nonlinear nonzeros:	10			Solver Type:	Nonlinear:	0
WONTENBER HONEELOS.	v					
				Best Obj:		
				Obj Bound:	21	
	Variable	Value	Reduced Cost			
	WMIN	4.000000	0.000000	Steps:	Elapsed Runtime (hh	mmcss]
	DELTAX	100.0000	0.000000	Active:	. 00.00.0	0
	TX	10000.00	0.000000		00.00.0	~
	81	115.7500	0.000000			
	H2 H3	110.5000	0.000000	Update Interval 2	Interrupt Solver	Close
	H3 W1	105.2500	0.000000	operate one Fill 2		
	W1 W2	4.000000	0.000000			
	82	0.000000	0.000000	·		

Fig. 5.10 The optimized values of hydraulic heads and discharge rates

If the minimum value of the desired discharge (W_{min}) from each well is considered 4 ft/day, the model is almost same as previous section except the following condition as $W_i \ge W_{min}$. The applied model and optimized results using LINGO is shown in Fig. 5.11.

The outcomes of LINGO are compared with the achieved results using Excel in Table 5.4. In this case, both programs resulted in the same values of hydraulic heads and discharge rates.

	Z (ft)	Hydrau	lic head (f	t)			Discha	rge rate (f	ît/day)
		$\overline{h_0}$	h_1	h_2	h_3	h_4	$\overline{W_1}$	W_2	W_3
Excel	331.5	125.0	117.75	110.5	103.25	100.0	0.0	0.0	4.0
LINGO	331.5	125.0	115.75	110	105.25	100.0	4.0	0.0	0.0

Table 5.3 The optimized hydraulic heads and discharge rates in LINGO and Excel



Fig. 5.11 The optimized values of hydraulic heads and discharge rates when $W_i \ge W_{min}$

5.1.3 Solving Nonlinear Models

As mentioned previously, LINGO is capable to find the local or global optimum solution of nonlinear models as well as linear models. To solve a nonlinear optimization problem, LINGO uses the Generalized Reduced Gradient (GRG) technique which is explained comprehensively in Chap. 3. In general, LINGO includes a set of built-in solvers to find the optimal solution of linear and nonlinear optimization problems in which some of the most important solvers in LINGO are;

- 1. Simplex solvers for linear models,
- 2. Barrier solver for linear models,
- 3. Integer solver that works with both linear and nonlinear models,
- 4. General nonlinear solver for nonlinear problems,
- 5. Global solver to find the global optimum of non-convex problems.

In the following section, several nonlinear optimization problems that are already presented in previous chapters are solved using LINGO and the achieved results have been compared with the outcomes of Excel program.

	Z (ft)	Hydrau	lic head (f	t)			Discha	rge rate (f	ft/day)
		h_0	h_1	h_2	h_3	h_4	W_1	W_2	W_3
Excel	331.5	125.0	117.75	110.5	103.25	100.0	4.0	4.0	4.0
LINGO	317.5	125.0	112.7	104.5	100.25	100.0	4.0	4.0	4.0

Table 5.4 The optimized hydraulic heads and discharge rates in LINGO and Excel when $W_i \ge W_{min}$



Fig. 5.12 The optimal solution

Example 5.5 Solve Example 3.4 using LINGO and compare the results with the outcomes of Fibonacci and golden section methods.

$$\min f(x) = 3x^2 - 4x + 5.5$$

Solution: The simple nonlinear model in conjunction with the final solution for this problem is shown in Fig. 5.12. The result shows that the optimal solution is 4.166 and it happens at the point x = 0.666. According to Chap. 3, the estimated result using the Fibonacci method is 4.167 at x = 0.647, while, the minimum value based on the golden section method is 4.166 at x = 0.666.

Example 5.6 Solve the Example 3.7 using LINGO to find the minimum dimensions of cylindrical water tank.

$$\mathbf{f}(r) = \pi r^2 + \frac{400}{r}$$

Solution: The problem can be solved simply like the previous problems shown in Fig. 5.13. As it can be seen in the Solver Status window, the optimal solution is obtained as local solution as f(r) = 150.239 at the point r = 3.993. Now, we need to find an appropriate answer for this question; is the local estimated optimum

! The objective function; Min= (3.14*r^2)+(400/r); Etapsed Model C	ptimal solution four ve value: bilities: d solver steps: olver iterations: runtime seconds:	ıd.	150.2396 0.000000 5 34 0.20	Lingo 14.0 Solver St Solver Status Model Class: State: Objective:	stus (Prob. 5.6) NLP Local Opt	Variables Total Nonlinear Integers	1 1 0
The objective function; in= (3.14*r^2)+(400/r); Model C	ve value: bilities: d solver steps: olver iterations: runtime seconds:	d.	0.000000 5 34	Solver Status Model Class State:	NLP	Total Nonlinear	1
The objective function; in= (3.14*r^2)+(400/r); Infeasi Extender Total s: Elapsed Model C	bilities: d solver steps: olver iterations: runtime seconds:		0.000000 5 34	Model Class: State:		Total Nonlinear	
in= (3.14*r^2)+(400/r); Extender Total s Elapsed Model C	d solver steps: olver iterations: runtime seconds:		5 34	State		Nonlinear:	
n= (3.14*r^2)+(400/r); Elapsed Model C	olver iterations: runtime seconds:			State			
Elapsed Model C	runtime seconds:				Local Opt	Integers:	
Model C			0.20				0
	lass:				150.24		
	lass:					Constraints	
Total w			NLP	Infeasibility.	0	Totat Nonlinear	1
Total W				Insteer	34	Norshear.	1
	ariables:	2				- Norseos	
Nonline	ar variables:	1		- Extended Solver	Chalum	Total	1
Integer	variables:	0		Solver Type:	Multistart	Nonlinear.	1
Total c	onstraints:	2		Best Obj	150.24	Generator Memory U	red (K)-
Nonline	ar constraints:	1		ObiBound		19	
				roleouna			
Total n	onzerosi	2		Steps:	5	- Elapsed Runtime INh	mercel-
Nonline	ar nonzeros:	1		Artice	0	00.00	
						00.0010	•
				Update Interval 2	inter late	nat Solver	Dose
		Variable	Value	obone supra le			

Fig. 5.13 The minimum dimensions of cylindrical water tank

solution the same as the global solution? Or is there another solution for this problem. As noted above, LINGO has a Global Solver engine to find the global optimum of non-convex problems. This engine is a strong tool that searches over the desired problem until the global optimum is found.

To run the model and find the global optimum solution, choose *options* from toolbar and a window like Fig. 5.14 will appear as *Lingo Options*. In this window, click the *Global Solver* button and check mark the *Use Global Solver* and then click OK.

The model is solved again using Global Solver and the results are shown in Fig. 5.15. As it can be seen from the Solver Status window, the solution is global optimum and the results are the same in both conditions.

Example 5.7 Apply LINGO to solve Example 3.8 and compare the results with the univariate method. The objective function is;

$$f(x) = 1.25x_1 - 0.45x_2 + x_1^4 + x_1x_2 + x_2^2$$

Solution: The optimal solution using LINGO is -0.0506 at the points $x_1 = 0.0$ and $x_2 = 0.225$ (see Fig. 5.16). Comparing these results with the outcomes of univariate method shows there is a big difference between them. As the default assumption in LINGO is considering lower bound equals zero for all variables, the results are restricted to the positive value.

To remove this restriction, we need to apply the function @*Free (variable)* for each decision variable to accept any value. The results based on using this new function are shown in Fig. 5.17. The optimal solution here is -0.9831 and at the points $x_1 = -0.775$ and $x_2 = 0.612$.

A number of the variable domain functions of LINGO that restrict variables in different ways in conjunction with their applications are presented in Table 5.5.

Interface	General Solver	Linear Solver
Nonlinear Solver	Integer Pre-Solver	Integer Solve
Global Solver	Model Generator	SP Solver
Global Solver Opti	ons	
✓ Use Global S	olver	
⊢ Variable Upper	Bound:	
Value: 1e+	010 Application: Sele	ected 💌
- Tolerances:		
Optimality:	1e-005 Delta: 1e-	007
optimality.	ie-005 Deita. [ie-	007
Strategies:		
Branching:	Box Selection: Re	formulation:
Rel Violation	▼ Worst Bound ▼ H	igh 💌
- Multistart Solver: -		
Attem	pts: Solver Decides	

Fig. 5.14 Use the global solver in LINGO

le Edit LINGO Window Help						
		18				
Lingo Model - Prob. 5.6	-				(
Problem 5.6,	Solution Report - Prob. 5.6				Lingo 14.0 Solver Status [Prob. 5.6]	
	Global optimal solution for	ind.			Solver Status	Valables
The objective functions	Objective value:		150.2396			LP Total 1
	Objective bound:		150.2396		MODE LIBER N	Noninear 1
n= (3.14*r^2)+(400/r);	Infeasibilities:		0.000000		State: Global O	pt integers 0
	Extended solver steps: Total solver iterations:		37		Objective: 150	
	Elapsed runtime seconds:		0.19		Ubjective: 150	Lorsearts
	Lisped Functive seconds:		0.13		Infeasbilly:	0 Total: 1
	Model Class:		NLP			37 Nonlinear: 1
	invest caterri				Iterations:	Norzeos
	Total variables:	2			Extended Solver Status	Total 1
	Nonlinear variables:	1				Notine v 1
	Integer variables:	0			Solver Type: Glob	al inversion i
					Bert Obi 150	74 Generator Memory Used ICI-
	Total constraints:	2				
	Nonlinear constraints:	1			ObjBound 150	24 19
					Steps	
	Total nonzeros:	2				1 Elapoed Runtime (Montesta)
	Nonlinear nonzeros:	1			Active	0 00:00:00
					-	International Date
		Variable	Value 3.993620	Reduced Cost -0.2676095E-07	Update Interval 2	Internant Solver

Fig. 5.15 The global optimum solution for cylindrical water tank

Lingo 14.0 - Solution Report - Prob. 5.7 File Edit LINGO Window Help			The state of the		
			ø		
			6		factorial for stand house
Lingo Model - Prob. 5.7					
Problem 5.7,					
! The objective function; Min= 1.25*x1-0.45*x2+x1^4		7			
Solution Report - Prob. 5.7			Lingo 14.0 Solver Status (Prob. 5.7)	12	
Local optimal solution found Objective value: Infeasibilities: Extended solver steps: Total solver iterations: Elapsed runtime seconds: Model Class: Total variables: Integer variables:	3 2 0	-0.5062500E-01 0.000000 5 28 0.22 NLP	Solver Status MI State: Local Og Objective: -0.05062 Infeasibility: Beeations: 2 Extended Solver Status Solver Spoe: Multistar	Nonlinear: 2 Indepre: 0 5 Constaints 0 Total: 1 Nonlinear: 8 Total: Nonserot 2 Total: 2 Nonlinear: 2	
Total constraints: Nonlinear constraints: Total nonzeros: Nonlinear nonzeros:	2 1 3 2 Variable	Value	Active:	19 Elapsed Runkime (Nrvmx.ss) 00 : 00 : 00	
	X1 X2	0.000000	Update Interval 2	Interupt Solver Close	

Fig. 5.16 The optimal solution

	Solution Report - Prob. 5.7			(the state of the s		_
Lingo Model - Prob. 5.7	Local optimal solution found			Lingo 14.0 Solver Si	tatus [Prob. 5.7]		
<pre>Problem 5.7, ! The objective function; Pree(x1); Pree(x2); iin= 1.25*x1-0.45*x2+x1^4+x1*x2+x2^2;</pre>	Dess tructures and the second	3	-0.9831559 0.000000 1 11 0.02 NLP	Solver Status Model Class: State Objective: Infeasibility Inerations:	8LP Local Opt -0.983156 0 11 Status	Valables Total Nonlinear: Integen: Total Nonlinear: Nonzeros Total	
	Total constraints; Nonlinear constraints; Total nonzeros;	2 1 3		Solver Type: Best Obj Obj Bound	Multistart -0.983156	Nonlinear Generator Memory U 19	
	Nonlinear nonzeros:	2 Variable X1	Value -0.7750838	Step: Active	1 4	Elapsed Runtime (H 00:00:0	

Fig. 5.17 The optimal solution

Function	Description
@BIN(variable)	To being a binary integer value
@BND(lower bound, variable,	To being greater-than-or-equal-to lower bound and less-than-
upper bound)	or-equal-to upper bound
@FREE(variable)	To being either positive or negative
@GIN(variable)	To being integer value

Table 5.5 The LINGO variable domain functions

Lingo Model - Prob. 5.8				
! Problem 5.8, Unconfined Aquifer:	Solution Report - Prob. 5.8			
<pre>IThe objective function: Max= h1^2+h2^2+h3^2; IKnow variables;</pre>	Local optimal solution found. Objective value: Infeasibilities: Total solver iterations: Elapsed runtime seconds:	28200.00 0.5477428E- 15 0.03	05	
h0=100;	Model Class:	CP	Lingo 14.0 Solver Status (Prob. 5.8)	
h4+95; Memin=20; Deltax=5; K=40; (2*h12+h2*2)+((2*W1*Deltax*2)/K)=h0*2; (2*h12+h1*2-h3*2)+((2*W1*Deltax*2)/K)=0; (2*h3*2-h2*2)+((2*W3*Deltax*2)/K)=b4*2;	Total variables: Monlieser variables: Integer variables: Total constraints: Monlieser constraints: Total nonseros: Monlinger nonseros:	4 3 0 12 4 4 25 10	Solver Statur Model Class: QP Stelex: Local: Opt Disorbre: 28200 Infrasbility: 5:47743e=006 Insutors: 15 Extended Solver Statur Solver Type	Variable: Total Norinea: Integer: Constraints Total Norinea: Nocenco Total 2 Norinea:
W1+W2+W3>Wmin; h1>0; h2>0;		ble Value H1 97.91578 H2 96.95360 H3 95.98177	Best Obj Obj Bound	- Generator Memory Used (K) 20
h3>0; h0>h1;		80 100.0000 84 95.00000	Steps:	Elapsed Pluritime (Mr.mm.ss) 00:00:00

Fig. 5.18 The unconfined aquifer model and local optimum solutions

Example 5.8 Apply LINGO to determine the optimum head in each well for the minimum discharge of 20 (m/day) in Example 3.14. The optimization model in this problem is defined as;

$$\max Z = h_1^2 + h_2^2 + h_3^2$$

Subject to the following constraints;

$$(2h_1^2 - h_2^2) + \left(\frac{2 \times \Delta x^2}{K} W_1\right) = h_0^2 (2h_2^2 - h_1^2 - h_3^2) + \left(\frac{2 \times \Delta x^2}{K} W_2\right) = 0 (2h_3^2 - h_2^2) + \left(\frac{2 \times \Delta x^2}{K} W_3\right) = h_4^2$$

where $h_0 = 100$ m and $h_4 = 95$ m. The other constraints are;

$$W_1 + W_2 + W_3 \ge W_{min}$$

 $h_1, h_2, h_3 \ge 0$
 $W_1, W_2, W_3 \ge 0$
 $h_0 \ge h_1 \ge h_2 \ge h_3 \ge h_4$

Solution: The model used in LINGO and all optimal values of head in each well are shown in Fig. 5.18. It is important to note that the Solver Status shows the estimated results are local optimum solution. The model is re-run again using the global solver engine in LINGO and the outcomes are shown in Fig. 5.19. As it can be seen from these figures, the maximum of function Z are the same in both analyses, while there is a difference between the values of h and W.

Table 5.6 shows the estimated values of hydraulic heads h and the sink term W using both LINGO and Excel.

Lingo Model - Prob. 5.8	Solution Report - Prob. 5.8				
<pre>! Problem S.8, Unconfined Aquifer: !The objective function: Max= h1^2+h2^2+h3^2;</pre>	Global optimal solution four Objective value: Objective bound: Infeasibilities: Extended solver steps: Total solver iterations: Elapsed runtime seconds:	bd.	28200.00 28200.00 0.3612073E-0 119 0.40	15	
!Enow variables: h0=100;	Elapsed runtime seconds: Model Class:		0.40 QP	Lingo 14.0 Solver Status (Prob. 5.8)	
h4=55; Mmin=20; Deltax=15; K=40; (2*h1*2-h1*2)+((2*M1*Deltax*2)/K)=h5*2; (2*h1*2-h1*2)+((2*M2*Deltax*2)/K)=0; (2*h2*2-h1*2)+h(*1*Deltax*2)/K)=h4*2; M1*42*403>min;	Total variables: Nonlinear variables: Integer variables: Total constraints: Nonlinear constraints: Nonlinear nonderos:	6 3 0 12 4 25 10		Solver Status Model Dass: OP State: Global Opt Objective: 28200 Intesability: 3.61207e=006 Intesability: 3.61207e=006 Intended Solver Status Solver Type: Global	Valables Total 6 Noriniear 3 Integes: 0 Containtis Total 12 Norienear 4 Norienear 10
h1>0; h2>0; h3>0; h0>h1; h1>h2;		Variable H1 H2 H3 H0 R4 SMIN	Value 97.95124 96.95360 95.94559 100.0000 95.00000 20.00000	Best Obj 28200 Obj Bound 28200 Steps: 1 Active: 0	- Generator Memory Used (K)

Fig. 5.19 The unconfined aquifer model and global optimum solutions

Variables	Excel	Local optimum solution	Global optimum solution
h_0	100.00	100.00	100.00
h_1	98.20	97.91	97.95
h_2	96.95	96.95	96.95
h_3	95.70	95.98	95.94
h_4	95.00	95	95.00
W_1	10.26	20.00	18.76
W_2	0.00	0.00	0.00
W_3	9.74	0.00	1.23
Ζ	28,200	28,200	28,200

Table 5.6 The values of hydraulic heads h and the sink term W in Excel and LINGO

5.2 MATLAB

MATLAB or Matrix Laboratory is a powerful and high-performance language for numerical computations, programming, data analysis and visualizations with a friendly user interface. The syntax of this high-level language is similar to the C programming language and it can be applied to create models and develop different algorithms to solve simple or complex problems. The applications of MATLAB cover a vast range of areas including; civil engineering, mechanical engineering, signal processing and communications, modeling and simulation, physics, biology, chemistry, economic, etc. This program includes a number of interfaces to import and export data as well as managing the available decision variables. In addition, it has extensive facilities for displaying two and three-dimensional data visualization as graphs with high quality and good resolution.

Operator	Sign	Operator	Sign
Plus	+	Matrix left-division	١
Minus	_	Matrix right-division	/
Matrix multiplication	*	Array left-division	.\
Multiplication	.*	Array right-division	./
Matrix exponentiation	^	Colon operator	:
Array exponentiation	.^	Transpose	.'

 Table 5.7
 Arithmetic operators

Table 5.8 Rational and logical operators

Operator	Sign	Operator	Sign
<	Less than	<u> </u>	Less than or equal to
>	Greater than	\geq	Greater than or equal to
=	Equal to	\neq	Not equal to
&	AND	I	OR

Furthermore, the MATLAB library includes lots of simple and sophisticates mathematical functions for linear algebra, numerical integration, Fourier analysis, and optimization (for more information see the online Documentation Center of MATLAB). Tables 5.7 and 5.8 show a numbers of arithmetic, rational and logical operators which are used in MATLAB.

Furthermore, a numbers of commands for managing a session in MATLAB are presented in Table 5.9.

The Optimization Toolbox of MATLAB is a powerful optimization platform that uses well known algorithms to solve wide ranges of constrained and unconstrained optimization problems. This toolbox includes a numbers of mathematical functions to find the optimal solutions of linear, nonlinear, and multiobjective problems as well as binary integer programming, nonlinear least squares, and nonlinear system of equations (Coleman et al. 1999). The Optimization Toolbox in MATLAB can be opened by using the command *Optimtool* in the Command Window and the toolbox should be as shown in Fig. 5.20.

The Optimization Tool includes two main windows as *Problem Setup and Results* (left side window) and *Options* (right side window), as shown in Fig. 5.21. The *Problem Setup and Results* window is used to choose the Solver method, determine the appropriate algorithm, and define the objective function and constraints of desired optimization problem.

The existing Solver methods in MATLAB can be categorized in six main groups as;

- 1. Linear and quadratic minimization problems; this part involves linear programming (linprog) and quadratic programming (quadprog),
- Linear least squares; this option includes linear least squares with linear constraints (lsqlin) and linear least squares with nonnegative constraints (lsqnonneg),

5.2 MATLAB

Command	Sign	Operator	Sign
Clear command window	clc	Search for a help topic	help
Check for existence of file or variable	exit	Declare variables to be global	global
Remove variables from memory	clear	Searches help entries for a keyword	Look for
List current variables	who	Stops MATLAB	quit
List all files in current directory	dir	Displays contents of a file	type
Display current date	date	Deletes a file	delete

Table 5.9 A numbers of commands for managing a session in MATLAB



Fig. 5.20 Command window and optimization toolbox

- 3. Nonlinear zero finding; this section contains single-variable nonlinear equation solving (fzero) and nonlinear equation solving (fsolve),
- 4. Nonlinear minimization of functions; this option involves unconstrained nonlinear minimization (fminsearch), single-variable fixed interval minimization (fminbnd), constrained nonlinear multivariable minimization (fmincon), minimization of unconstrained multivariable function (fminunc), and minimization of semi-infinitely constrained multivariable nonlinear function (fseminf),
- 5. Nonlinear least squares; this section includes solver for nonlinear curve-fitting (data-fitting) via least-squares (lsqcurvefit) and nonlinear least squares problems,
- 6. Nonlinear minimization of multi-objective optimization problems; this option has two solvers to find the optimal solution for multiobjective goal attainment (fgoalattain) and minimax (fminimax) problems.

The next tab is *Algorithm* that includes four parts as; interior point, SQP, Active set (or medium scale), and trust region reflective or (large scale). All necessary information about all of these options and their applications in different optimization analysis are available in the Help button of MATLAB.

🔥 Optimizat	tion Tool	- 100 Tel	-				×
File Help							
Problem Se	tup and Results			(Options	>>	
	Algorithm: fmincon - Constrained nonlinear minimization fminimax - Minimax optimization		Max function evaluations: Use) Use default: 400) Specify:) Use default: 100°numberOfVariables) Specify:	E		
Start point fzero - Single-variable nonlinear equation solving ga - Genetic Algorithm		l	X tolerance:	Use default: 1e-6 Specify:			
Linear iner		b:		l	Function tolerance:	Use default: 1e-6 Specify:	
Bounds: Nonlinear	Lower: constraint function:	Upper:		=	Nonlinear constraint tolerance:	Use default: 1e-6	
Derivatives: Approximated by solver		er v		SQP constraint tolerance:	Specify: Use default: 1e-6 Specify:		
Start Pause Stop Current iteration: Clear Results Clear Results				Unboundedness threshold:	Use default: -1e20 Specify:	-	

Fig. 5.21 Main options of optimization toolbox

5.2.1 Solving Linear Optimization Problems

The *linprog* function can be used to solve linear programming problems in the following format;

$$\min_{x} Z = f^{t} x \tag{5.1a}$$

Subject to;

$$Ax \le b$$

$$A_{eq}x = b_{eq}$$

$$x \ge lb$$

$$x \le ub$$
(5.1b)

where, f is any vector, the matrices A, A_{eq} and the vectors b and b_{eq} defines the linear constraints, and *lb* and *ub* are lower and upper bounds, respectively.

A linear program in the format of Eq. 5.1a can be solved using the following command in MATLAB;

- 1. x = linprog(f, A, b, Aeq, beq, lb, ub): solve the minimization problem while satisfying the inequality constraint $Ax \leq b$ and equality constraint $A_{eq}x = b_{eq}$ with the lower and upper bounds *lb* and *ub* on decision variable x.
- x = linprog(f, A, b, Aeq, beq, lb, ub, x0); solve the minimization problem same as above while setting x0 as the starting point.
- 3. [x, fval] = linprog(f, A, b, Aeq, beq, lb, ub, x0); return the minimum of function f at solution point x.

- 4. [x, fval, exitflag] = linprog(f, A, b, Aeq, beq, lb, ub, x0); determine *exitflag* value that shows the exit condition.
- 5. [x, fval, exitflag, output] = linprog(f, A, b, Aeq, beq, lb, ub, x0); return useful information about the output of optimization.

A number of linear examples are presented in the following section that shows how to apply the linprog function in MATLAB for linear programming optimization.

Example 5.9 Find the maximum of following linear program using MATLAB.

$$f(x) = 2x_1 + x_2 + 5x_3$$

Subject to the following constraints;

$$x_{1} + 2x_{2} \le 4$$

$$2x_{1} + 2x_{3} \le 5$$

$$x_{1} + x_{2} + x_{3} = 2.5$$

$$1 \le x_{1} \le 2.5$$

$$0.5 \le x_{2} \le 2$$

$$0 \le x_{3} \le 3$$

Solution: The first step is converting the above linear equation and its constraints in the MATLAB format as following;

$$\mathbf{f}(x) = -\begin{bmatrix} 2 & 1 & 5 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} x_1 \\ x_2 \\ x_3 \end{bmatrix}$$

As the linprog is a minimizer we need to use a negative of function f(x) to convert problem into a minimization problem. The constraints in the form of matrix can be written as;

Inequalities:
$$\begin{bmatrix} 1 & 2 & 0 \\ 2 & 0 & 2 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} x_1 \\ x_2 \\ x_3 \end{bmatrix} \le \begin{bmatrix} 4 \\ 5 \end{bmatrix}$$

Equalities: $\begin{bmatrix} 1 & 1 & 1 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} x_1 \\ x_2 \\ x_3 \end{bmatrix} = 2.5$

It important to note that all comments in the model must be initialized with the sign "%", and so, the text will appear in a green color.

Figure 5.22 shows the whole procedure of solving this linear optimization problem and the solution points x_1 , x_2 , and x_3 . As it can be seen in the workspace window of Fig. 5.22, the values of decision variables x_1 , x_2 , and x_3 are 1.0, 0.5, and 1.0, respectively. It should be noted that in addition to the optimal solution of



Fig. 5.22 The MATLAB code and the solution points



Fig. 5.23 The optimal solution of function f(x)

decision variables, we need the maximum value of objective function f(x). Hence, the command x = linprog(f, A, b, Aeq, beq, lb, ub) should be changed to [x, fval] = linprog(f, A, b, Aeq, beq, lb, ub).

As it can be seen in Fig. 5.23 the minimum of -f(x) is -7.5, and so, the maximum of this function will be 7.5.

If we don't use the semicolon (;) at the end of the last command line, the results will appear immediately after the commands at the same page (Fig. 5.24). In general, if a command line terminates with semicolon, the output associated with that statement will not be displayed.

```
Command Window
  >> % The objective function
  f=-[2 1 5];
  * The inequality constraints
  A=[1 2 0;2 0 2];
  b=[4;5];
  % The equality constraints
  Aeq=[1 1 1];
  beg=[2.5];
  %The lower bounds
  lb=[1;0.5;0];
  %The upper bounds
  ub=[2.5;2;3];
  >> [x,fval]=linprog(f,A,b,Aeg,beg,lb,ub)
  Optimization terminated.
  x =
      1.0000
      0.5000
      1.0000
  fval =
     -7.5000
fx >> +
```

Fig. 5.24 The optimal solution in the command window

The Optimization Toolbox also can be simply applied to solve the given linear problem. In this case, open the Optimization Tool by writing the Optimtool in the command window, and then, choose *linprog-Linear programming* from the *Solver* section. Then, input the objective function and its constraints in the associated sections and apply *Start* button to solve the problem (Fig. 5.25).

If there are no lower or upper bounds on the desired decision variables, an empty set as lb = []; or ub = []; should be used in MATLAB.

Example 5.10 Solve Example 2.3 using MATLAB. The objective function is;

$$\max R(\$) = (n_{p_1} \times 20 \$) + (n_{p_2} \times 25 \$)$$

And, the constraints are;

$$n_{p_1} \leq 25; \quad n_{p_2} \leq 35; \quad 2n_{p_1} + 3n_{p_2} \leq 140$$

Solution: The objective function in the matrix format can be written as;

$$\mathbf{f}(x) = -\begin{bmatrix} 20 & 25 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} n_{p1} \\ n_{p2} \end{bmatrix}$$

X 5 🗆 🕂

X 5 🗆 🕂

Cotimization Tool		- <u>.</u> x
File Help		
Problem Setup and Results		Options >>
Solver: Sinprog - Linear programming Algorithm: Large scale		Bopping criteria Max iterations Wide default IS
Problem		O Specify
£ [-[215]	Function tolerance: 👻 Use default: 1e-8	
Constraints		🔿 Specify:
Linear inequalities: Ar 120;202	b: 45	Display to command window
Linear equalities: Aeg: 111	beg 25	Level of display: off -
Bounds Lower 10.50	Uppen 2.5;23	Show diagnostics
rupenzasen running. Cöpertvie function valkeis -7.499999999999359 Optimization terminated.		Chart Routh (
Final point:		
Index -	Value	
Profit ~	1	
	2	0.5
	3	1
		···

Fig. 5.25 Solving problem using optimization tool

```
Command Window
>> % The objective function
f=-[20 25];
% The inequality constraints
A=[1 0;0 1;2 3];
b=[25;35;140];
[X,fval]=linprog(f,A,b)
Optimization terminated.
x =
    25.0000
    30.0000
fval =
    -1.2500e+03
ft >>
```

Fig. 5.26 The maximum profit R(\$) and values of n_{p_1} and n_{p_2}

Subject to;

$$\begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \\ 2 & 3 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} n_{p1} \\ n_{p2} \end{bmatrix} \le \begin{bmatrix} 25 \\ 35 \\ 140 \end{bmatrix}$$

The MATLAB codes for this linear optimization problem are shown in Fig. 5.26. Based on the results, the maximum profit of \$1,250 and the values of variables n_{p_1} and n_{p_2} at the optimal points are 25 and 30, respectively. Figures 5.26 and 5.27
5.2 MATLAB

Optimization Tool			
File Help			
Problem Setup and Results			
Solver: linprog - Linear	programming		•]
Algorithm: Large scale			•
Problem			
f: -[20 25]			
Constraints:			
Linear inequalities: A:	[1 0;0 1;2 3]	b: [25;35;140]	
Linear equalities: Aeq:		beq	
Bounds: Lower:		Upper	
Specify point: Run solver and view results Start Pause	Stop		
Current iteration: 5			Clear Results
Optimization running. Objective function value:	.999999410425		i I I
Final point:			
Index ~		Value	
	1		25 30
	2		30

Fig. 5.27 The optimal solutions using optimization tool

File Ed	t Text Go Cell Tools Debug Desktop Wind	ow Help	5 K
10	■ š ங 🛍 🤊 (* 🍓 🖅 - 🗛 💠 fe,	🕨 - 🕄 🖹 🖷 🎕 🗊 💵 🏭 Stack: Base 👻 f.	\$ ⊞□日₽[
* 🗃 🖼	- 1.0 + ÷ 1.1 × 🐼 🔊 🔍		
1 -	<pre>x=linspace(0,25,30); y=linspace(0,35,2</pre>	5);	
2 -	<pre>[X,Y]=meshgrid(x,y);</pre>		
3 -	f=20*X+25*Y;		
4 -	[m n]=size(X);		
5 -	for i=1:m		
6 -	for j=1:n		=
7 -	if (2*X(1,j)+3*Y(1,j)>140)		1
8 -	f(1,j)=nan;		
9 -	end		
10 -	end		
11 -	- end		
12	ŧΧ.		
13	8Y		
14 -	<pre>surf(x,y,f)</pre>		
15 -	<pre>xlabel('npl');ylabel('np2');</pre>		-
Untitled	5 × Plot.m ×		
		script	18 Col 14 OVR

Fig. 5.28 MATLAB codes to plot feasible region

show the optimization procedure using Command Window and Optimization Tool, respectively.

Figure 5.28 shows the MATLAB codes that is used to plot the feasible area and the feasible region which is presented in Fig. 5.29.



The first line in Fig. 5.28 includes the linspace function which generates linearly spaced vectors. In the case of this example, the command x = lin-space(0,25,30) generates a row vector x in which 30 points are linearly spaced between 0 and 25. As constraints of this problem are restricted to $n_{p_1} \le 25$ and $n_{p_2} \le 35$, the values of 25 and 35 are chosen in the linspace functions. The second line includes the meshgrid function that transforms the vector x and y into a set of arrays X and Y. The rest of codes are used to apply the last constraints in this problem and then plot the feasible area.

Example 5.11 Apply MATLAB to solve the Example 5.3 for demand discharge Q_2 ($Q_A = 14$, $Q_B = 18$, and $Q_C = 20$) when there is no pump station.

Solution: As the objective function in the matrix format is;

$$Z = \begin{bmatrix} 10 & 15 & 10 & 15 & 10 & 15 & 10 & 15 & 10 & 15 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} l_{0,1,1} \\ l_{0,1,2} \\ l_{1,2,1} \\ l_{1,2,2} \\ l_{2,3,1} \\ l_{2,3,2} \\ l_{2,4,1} \\ l_{2,4,2} \\ l_{1,5,1} \\ l_{1,5,2} \end{bmatrix}$$

The hydraulic constraint for users A, B and C in the demand discharge Q_2 are considered as inequality constraints and can be written as;



0.0830 0.0426 0.0314 0.0161 0.0060 0.0031 0 0 0 0 0.0830 0.0426 0.0314 0.0161 0 0 0.0099 0.0051 0 0 0.0830 0.0426 0 0 0 0 0 0 0.0123 0.0063 $\lceil l_{0,1,1} \rceil$ $l_{0,1,2}$ $l_{1.2.1}$ $l_{1,2,2}$ 100 $l_{2,3,1}$ х 100 < $l_{2,3,2}$ 100 $l_{2,4,1}$ $l_{2,4,2}$ $l_{1.5.1}$ l1.5.2

And, the length constraints which are considered as equality constraint are;

- -

The lower bounds (*lb*) and upper bounds (*ub*) in this problem can be defined as;

The MATLAB codes and the estimated results for this linear optimization problem are shown in Fig. 5.30. In addition, this problem is solved using the Optimization Tool of MATLAB and the input values as well as the achieved results are shown in Fig. 5.31.

Command Window	-+ 🗆 🖈 🗙 Workspace -+ 🖬 🗖
>> edit >> WaterDist	🔗 Editor - C/L Ebsan-Mina Files/Ebsan/Books and Papers/2. Books/L Ebsan's Book/S. Optimization Book/Used Files/MATLAB Example 📼 🗐 🛛 😂
Optimization terminated.	File Edit Test Go Cell Tools Debug Desktop Window Help
x =	
388.5149 401.4851 1000.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000 0.0000	1 2 The objective function is; 3 - 4*[0 15 10 15 10 15 10 15 10 15]; 4 The hydraulic constraints as equality constraints arears; 5 - A*[0.0830 0.0424 0.0314 0.0141 0.0060 0.0031 0 0 0;0.0830 0.0426 0.0314 0.0161 0 0 0.009 6 - b*[100:100:100]; 7 Whe length constraints as inequality constraints are; 8 - Aeeg[1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 0 0 0 0 0;0 0 0 0
0.0000 fval =	10 WThe lower bounds: 11 - 1b=(0:0:0:0:0:0:0:0); 12 WThe upper bounds: 13 - ub=(1:00:1:00:1:00:1:00:1:00:1:00:1:00:1:0
5.3007e+04 % >>	15 - {x,fval}=linprog(f,A,b,Aeq,beq,lb,ub) 16 17
	18 19 Pohom × Utetted/ × WaterDist.m* ×
	script Ln 20 Col 1 OVR

Fig. 5.30 MATLAB codes and achieved results

Optimization Tool	same man and the			
File Help				
Problem Setup and Results				
Solver: linprog - Linear	programming			•]
Algorithm: Medium scale -	simplex			•
Problem				
f: [10 15 10 15 10 15 10 15 1	1015);			
Constraints: Linear inequalities: A:	[0.0830 0.0426 0.0314 0.0161 0.0060 0.0031 0 0 0 0.0.0830 0.0426 0.0314 0	b	[100:100:100]	
Linear equalities: Aeg	[11000000000001100000000001100000000011000	beg	[1000:1000:1000:1000:1000];	
Bounds: Lower:	[0.0.0.0.0.0.0.0.0]	Upper	[1000;1000;1000;1000;1000;1000;1000;100	
Let algorithm choose p Specify point Run solver and view results Start Pause	Stop			
Current iteration: 0 Objective function value: 5300 Optimization terminated.	7.42574257426			Clear Results
AT.				
Final point:				
Index *	Value 1 2 3 4			398.515 × 601.485 II 1,000 0
	¢			1 000 -

Fig. 5.31 Apply optimization tool

Table 5.10 compares the estimated results of LINGO, Excel, and MATLAB for water distribution network Example. These results include the pipe lengths and minimum values of piping cost Z.

Table 5.10 The optimized	Pipe segment	LINGO	Excel	MATLAB
results	$l_{0,1,1}$	398.51	396.21	398.51
	$l_{0,1,2}$	601.48	603.79	601.48
	$l_{1,2,1}$	1,000	1,000	1,000
	$l_{1,2,2}$	0.00	0.00	0.00
	$l_{2,3,1}$	1,000	1,000	1,000
	l _{2,3,2}	0.00	0.00	0.00
	$l_{2,4,1}$	1,000	1,000	1,000
	$l_{2,4,2}$	0.00	0.00	0.00
	$l_{1,5,1}$	1,000	1,000	1,000
	$l_{1,5,2}$	0.00	0.00	0.00
	min $Z(\$)$	53,007.43	53,018.95	53,007.42

5.2.2 Solving Unconstrained Nonlinear Optimization Problems

To find the minimum of an unconstrained nonlinear optimization problem, the function fminsearch can be applied as follows;

- 1. x = fminsearch(fun, x0); solve the minimization problem by considering the starting point x0.
- 2. [x, fval] = fminsearch(fun, x0); find the minimum of function f at the solution point x.

The following problem shows the application of above function in MATLAB to find the minimum value of an unconstrained nonlinear equation.

Example 5.12 Solve Example 3.4 using MATLAB and compare the results with the outcomes of LINGO, Fibonacci and golden section methods.

$$\min f(x) = 3x^2 - 4x + 5.5$$

Solution: The MATLAB code and result are presented in Figs. 5.32 and 5.33, respectively. The result shows that the optimal solution is 4.1667 and at the point x = 0.6667, which is the same as the outcomes of LINGO. In addition, the achieved result from Fibonacci and golden section methods are (0.647,4.167) and (0.66,4.166) respectively.

It is important to note that this problem also can be simply solved using the Optimization Tool. Figure 5.34 shows the process of input data and the solution to the problem using this toolbox.

Example 5.13 Solve Example 3.8 using MATLAB and compare the results with the univariate method. The objective function in this problem is;

$$\mathbf{f}(x) = 1.25x_1 - 0.45x_2 + x_1^4 + x_1x_2 + x_2^2$$



Fig. 5.32 MATLAB codes



Fig. 5.33 The results of optimization analysis

Solution: Figures 5.35 and 5.36 show the process of solving this unconstrained nonlinear optimization problem and its solution, respectively. As it can be seen in Fig. 5.35, the fminsearch function with the starting points (0,0) is applied and the result shows the minimum value is -0.9832 at the solution point -0.7751, 0.6126. The optimal solution from LINGO is -0.9831 at point (-0.775, 0.612), and the univariate method resulted in minimum of -0.9831 at (-0.7745, 0.6084).

5.2 MATLAB

A Optimization Tool		
File Help		
Problem Setup and R	lesults	
Solver: fminsearch -	- Unconstrained nonlinear minimization	•
Problem		
Objective function:	@(x) (3*x.^2-4*x+5.5);	•
Start point:	0	
Run solver and view	results	
Start Paus	se Stop	
Current iteration: 24		Clear Results
Current iteration: 24	•	Clear Results
Optimization running. Objective function valu Optimization terminates the current x satisfies and F(X) satisfies the o		
Final point:		
*		
		0.667
•		

Fig. 5.34 Solve unconstrained nonlinear optimization problem using optimization tool



Fig. 5.35 MATLAB codes

It is important to note that the *hold on* command can be used to add another plot to the existing graph. In other words, hold on keeps the present plot and its axis properties and then adds the new graph to the existing graph. In the case of this problem, plot3 also is applied to add the minimum of function f(x) as a single point (red point) on the graph (Fig. 5.36).



Fig. 5.36 Function f(x) and the minimum point



Fig. 5.37 Apply optimization tool to find the optimal solutions

This problem also can be solved simply by using the Optimization Tool in MATLAB. Figure 5.37 shows the solver function, objective function, starting point, and the results of optimization analysis.

5.2.3 Solving Constrained Nonlinear Optimization Problems

To find the minimum value of a constrained nonlinear problem, the "fmincon" solver of MATLAB can be used in the following forms;

- 1. x = fmincon(fun, x0, A, b), find the minimum of function f(x) which is described by the term "fun" at starting point x0 and subject to linear inequality $Ax \le b$.
- 2. x = fmincon(fun, x0, A, b, Aeq, beq), find the minimum of function f(x), described by term "fun", at starting point x0 and subject to linear inequality $Ax \le b$ and linear equality Aeq x = beq.
- 3. x = fmincon(fun, x0, A, b, Aeq, beq, lb, ub), find the minimum of function f(x) at starting point x0 and subject to linear inequality $Ax \le b$ and linear equality Aeq x = beq with the lower and upper bounds *lb* and *ub*, repectively.
- 4. [x, fval] = fmincon(fun, x0, A, b), return the minimum of function f(x) at the solution point x subject to linear inequality $Ax \leq b$.
- 5. [x, fval] = fmincon(fun, x0, A, b, Aeq, beq), return the minimum of function f(x) at the solution point x subject to linear inequality $Ax \le b$ and linear equality Aeq x = beq.
- 6. [x, fval] = fmincon(fun, x0, A, b, Aeq, beq, lb, ub), return the minimum of function f(x) at the solution point x subject to linear inequality $Ax \le b$ and linear equality Aeq x = beq with the lower and upper bounds *lb* and *ub*, respectively.

It is important to note that the function "fun" accepts a scalar like x and returns a scalar f(x). The fmincon function can be used as [x, fval] = fmincon(@myfun, x0, A, b, Aeq, beq, lb, ub), in which @myfun is defined as;

Function f = myfun (x)f = f(x)

The following examples represent the process of using fmincon function in solving nonlinear optimization problems.

Example 5.14 Apply MATLAB to determine the maximum value of function f(x) as;

$$\max f(x) = \exp(-x_1^3 + x_1 - 2x_2^2)$$

Subject to the following constraints;

$$x_1 + x_2 \le 0.15 2x_1 - x_2 \le 0.85$$

Solution: Figure 5.38 shows the behavior of function f(x) against both decision variables x_1 and x_2 in the range of $x_1, x_2 \in [-1, 1]$.

The required steps to solve this nonlinear optimization problem using MAT-LAB are;

- 1. Write an *m*-file as shown in Fig. 5.39, and save it with the name of "objfunc.m";
- 2. Write a new *m*-file for the constraints, starting points, and fmincon function as is shown in Fig. 5.40.



Fig. 5.38 Function f(x) against two variables x_1 and x_2

1	8		¥ 1	h 10	17	6) T	- 6	4 +	- 10	fo,) *) 🖷	-	1 1	111	Stack	Base	-	f
+=	Ç,	-	1.0	+	÷	1.1	×	N	9 0												
1		*The	e ob	jecti	ve	funct	ion;														
2	Ę	fund	ctio	nf=	• Ob	jfund	:(x)														
3 -	L	f=-	(exp	(-x (1	.).^	3+x (1)-2*	x(2)	^2))	;											

Fig. 5.39 The objective function *m*-file

Fi	e	Ed	lit	Te	xt	G	0	Cell	To	ols	D	ebug	1	Des	ktop	1	Wind	dov	v	H	elp					
: 1	1	8			¥	1	10	5	6	120	5	•	- 6	M	-		fo	.		•	•	*	-	働	山	细
: •		ç 📳	-	- 1	L.0		+	÷	1.1		×			3	0											
1			*C	on	sti	rai	nts	3;																		
2	-		A	-	[1	1;	2 -	-1];																		
3	-		b	-	[0]	.15	;0.	.85]	;																	
4																										
5			\$0	pt	im:	iza	tic	n																		
6	-		x 0	=	[;0	1;		\$ 3	ta	rti	ng	gue	233	at	τ	he	30	lu	iti	on					
7	-		(x	,f	val	1]	= 1	Emir	con	(00	Obj	fun	c, :	×0,	A, I);										

Fig. 5.40 The constraint *m*-file

It should be noted that as both constraints are linear, they are formulated as matrix inequality in the form of $Ax \le b$. The optimal solution for this nonlinear problem occurs in $x_1 = 0.3221$, $x_2 = -0.1721$, and $f(x_1, x_2) = -1.2579$. Hence,



Fig. 5.41 The function f(x) and its maximum value after applying constraints

File Help					
Problem Setup and R	tesults				
Solver: fmincon	- Constrai	ned nonlinear minimization			•
Algorithm: Interior	point				•
Problem					
Objective function:	©Objfund				•
Derivatives:	Approximated by solver		•]		
Start point:	[0,0]				
Constraints:					
Linear inequalities:	A:	[1 1;2 -1];	b	[0.15;0.85];	
Linear equalities:	Aeq:		beq		
Bounds:	Lower		Upper		
Nonlinear constrain			oppe		
Derivatives:	it runction.	Approximated by solver			-
		Approximated by solver			
Run solver and view r	results				
	e S	top			
Start Paus					
Start Paus					Clear Results
Start Paus Current iteration: 14					Clear Results
Current iteration:	-				
Current iteration: 14	 	2321859733 ; satisfied.			
Current iteration:	 ve: -1.25790 . Constraints	2321859733 satsfied. of the current step is less than			Clear Results
Current iteration:	 ve: -1.25790 . Constraints	satisfied.			
Current iteration: 13 Optimization running. Objective function valu Local minimum possible. fimicon stopped becau Final point:	 ve: -1.25790 . Constraints	satisfied.			
Current iteration:	 ve: -1.25790 . Constraints	satisfied.	2 0.322		

Fig. 5.42 Apply Optimtool in solving nonlinear optimization problem

the maximum of function f(x) is 1.2579. Figure 5.41 shows the function f(x) and its maximum value after applying desired constraints.

This problem also can be solved using Optimtool in MATLAB. In this case, the procedure of solving desired nonlinear optimization problem by applying Optimtool is shown in Fig. 5.42.



Fig. 5.43 Function f(x) in a specific range

Example 5.15 Apply MATLAB to solve Problem 3.13 and compare results with the GRG method. The objective function and constraints are;

$$\max f(x) = x_1^2 + 3x_1 - x_2$$

Subject to the below constraints;

$$\begin{cases} x_1^2 + 4x_2 \le 15\\ 2x_1^2 - 3x_2 \le 20\\ x_1 \ge 0, x_2 \ge 0 \end{cases}$$

Solution: As f(x) and its constraints are nonlinear, we have nonlinear programming and the nonlinear solver like fmincon should be applied to find the optimum solution. In the case of this problem, the negative function of f(x) should be used to convert problem into a minimization problem. Afterward, two different m-files must be written for the objective function and constraints and saved under the work path of MATLAB. Figure 5.43 shows the behavior of function f(x) versus two decision variables x_1 and x_2 .

The necessary steps to solve this problem in MATLAB briefly are;

- 1. Write an *m*-file under the name of "objfunc.m" for the objective function as is shown in Fig. 5.44. It is important to note that the name of m-file should be exactly same as "Objfunc". To become more familiar with the command "function", please see the help feature of MATLAB.
- 2. Write an m-file as Confun.m for the constraints (Fig. 5.45). The current m-file also should be saved under the name of "confun".
- 3. To solve this optimization problem, we can either use the "fmincon" function in command window (Fig. 5.46) or apply the Optimtool of MATLAB.



Fig. 5.44 The objective function m-file

File	Edit Text Go Cell Tools Debug Desktop Window Help
: 🖸	😂 🔜 🐇 🍡 🏥 ヴ (*) 🌭 📨 - 👫 🍬 寺 代, 💌 - 🗟 🔊 🖷 🇌 🗊 🕮 細 Stack: Base 👻 fig.
+	[3] - 1.0 + ÷ 1.1 × ∞ ∞ □ [3] ∞ [3] [
1	- function [c, ceq] = Confunc (x)
2	<pre>%Nonlinear inequality constraints</pre>
3 -	$c = [x(1).^{2+4}x(2)-15;2*x(1).^{2}-3*x(2)-20];$
4	%Linear inequality constraints
5 -	_ceg=[];
6	

Fig. 5.45 The constraint m-file

-	18	🛃 👗 🐂 🖏 🤊 (*) 🍇 🖅 - 🙌 🖛 🗰 ft; 💌 - 🛃 🖓 🦏 🗊 🕼 Stack: Base
-		
1		$ $ - 1.0 + $ $ \div 1.1 × $ $ \otimes $ $ \otimes $ $ 0
1	-	<pre>[x,fval] =fmincon(@Objfunc,[0 0],[],[],[],[],[],[],[],@Confunc);</pre>
2		
3		\$Plot
4		
5	-	x=linspace(0,5,500);
	-	<pre>[X1 X2]=meshgrid(x, x);</pre>
7		
-	-	f=X1.^2+3*X1-X2;
9		
10		I1=find(X1.^2+4*X2>15);
11	-	f(I1)=nan;
12		
13		I2=find(2*X1.^2-3*X2>20);
14		f(I2)=nan;
15 16	_	fi muna
10		figure; mesh(X1,X2,f);
18		view([-120,22]);
19		%box on:
20	-	<pre>xlabel('x1');</pre>
21		ylabel('x2');
22		<pre>title('Plot of f=X(1).^2+3*X(1)-X(2)');</pre>
23	-	hold on
24	-	plot3 (3.3710, 0.9091, 20.5675, 'r*')

Fig. 5.46 MATLAB codes to solve desired constrained nonlinear problem



Fig. 5.47 The function f(x) and its optimal solution after applying constraints

It should be noted that the @Objfunc, and the @Confunc call defined objective function and desired constraints respectively, are used to find the optimal solutions. The optimal solution for this nonlinear problem occurs at $x_1 = 3.3710$, $x_2 = 0.9091$, and $f(x_1, x_2) = -20.5675$. Hence, the maximum of function f(x) is 20.5657. Figure 5.47 shows the function f(x) and its optimal solution after applying the constraints.

4. As already noted, the Optimtool of MATLAB also can be applied to find the optimum solution of desired nonlinear optimization problem. Figure 5.48 shows the process of solving this problem using this toolbox.

5.2.4 Solving Multiobjective Optimization Problems

The aforementioned weighting and ε -Constraint methods in Chap. 4 are two of the most traditional optimization approaches to solve the multiobjective optimization problems by transferring a multi-objective problem to a single objective one and solving the problem until finding the set of solutions. Although many researchers have used these techniques in optimization analyses, there are some practical limitations and difficulties about them in particular for solving complex optimization problems. For example, in the case of the weighted method, although it is simple to implement, a selection of weights requires prior information in which lack of this information can result in unacceptable solution and resolving the problem by considering the new weights. In addition, this method is not capable to determine points on the concave portion of the frontier and sometimes it is sensitive to the shape of Pareto front. In contrast to the traditional techniques, evolutionary methods like Genetic algorithm (GA) are known as robust and powerful methods that have been used so far by many researchers to solve complex

Optimization Tool				
File Help				
Problem Setup and Res	ults			
Problem				
Objective function:	Objfund	>		-
Derivatives: A	pproxim	ated by solver		•]
Start point: [0,	,0]			
Constraints:				
Linear inequalities:	A:		b:	
Linear equalities:	Aeq		beq	
Bounds:	Lower:		Upper:	
Nonlinear constraint fu	unction:	@Confunc		
Derivatives:		Approximated by solver		•]
Run solver and view resu	ults			
Start Pause		op		
Current iteration: 5		op		Clear Results
Optimization running.				
Dbjective function value: - Local minimum found that s	-20.5675 satisfies 1	43391717493 the constraints.		
Ontimization completed be	cause th	e objective function is non-decreasion in		
Final point:				
1 -	_	2	-	_
		3.371		0.909
é		<u> </u>		,

Fig. 5.48 The optimal solutions using Optimtool of MATLAB

optimization problems with multiple conflicting objectives. The Genetic algorithms methods are population based and they use a population of solution in each iteration and outcome also will be a population of solutions, while the traditional approaches are able to produce only one solution in each iteration and so, the outcomes is a single value. The main advantages of evolution methods for multiobjective optimization problems can be written as (Simonovic 2009; Deb 2008, 2009);

- 1. Less sensitivity to the shape of Pareto front,
- 2. Ability to produce multiple-objective solutions in a single iteration,
- 3. The outcomes are not affected by the initial solution (unlike non-linear optimization methods which are gradient based and need initial starting points).

MATLAB applies genetic algorithm to find the Pareto optimal solution for a multiobjective optimization problem. The appropriate function of MATLAB in this case is "gamultiobj" that uses genetic algorithm to perform a multiobjective minimization (optimization) and obtains local Pareto set. This function can be used in the following forms;

- 1. X = gamultiobj(FINESSFCN, NVARS); determine Pareto set X for the objective function which is described in FITNESSFCN. The second factor NVARS shows the number of decision variables for the problem.
- 2. X = gamultiobj(FINESSFCN, NVARS, A, b); find the local Pareto front subject to linear inequality $Ax \le b$.



Fig. 5.49 Objective functions $f_1(x)$ and $f_2(x)$ versus decision variable x

- X = gamultiobj(FINESSFCN, NVARS, A, b, Aeq, beq); obtain local Pareto set X subject to linear inequality Ax ≤ b, and linear equality Aeq x = beq.
- 4. X = gamultiobj(FINESSFCN, NVARS, A, b, Aeq, beq, lb, ub); find the optimal solution in the form of Pareto curve subject to linear inequality $Ax \le b$ and linear equality $Aeq \ x = beq$ with the lower and upper bounds lb and ub, repectively.
- 5. [X, FVAL] = gamultiobj(FITNESSFCN, NVARS, ...); returns the value of all of the objective function which are described in FITNESSFCN.

The following examples shows the application of "gamultiobj" solver in solving multiobjective optimization problems.

Example 5.16 Solve Example 4.1 using MATLAB and find the Pareto front as well. The objective functions for the example problem are;

$$f_1(x) = 6(x-7)^2 + 2x + 17$$

$$f_2(x) = (x-2)^3 + 23$$

Subject to the following constraint;

 $2 \le x \le 10$

Solution: Figure 5.49 illustrates how two objective functions are changing against the only decision variable in this problem. As it can be seen in the figure, by increasing variable x, one objective is decreasing while the other one is increasing.

At first, we need to generate an m-file for these two objective functions as shown in Fig. 5.50 and save it with the same name of the function f which is "Mobjfunc".

File	Edit	t	Text	Go	0 (Cell	To	ols	De	bug	De	sktop	D	Wind	ow	He	lp						
1	8		*	-	-	*)	6		1) •	-	+	-	fo		•	Ð	*	1	-	D)	1	1
+3	F	-	1.0		+	÷	1.1		×	1	**	0											
1	Ę.	fun	cti	on	f =	Mo	bjf	unc	(x)														
2 -			f (1) =	6*	(x-	7).	^2+	2**	+17	7;												
3 -	L		f (2) =	(x	-2)	.^3	+	23;														
4																							

Fig. 5.50 The objective function m-file



Fig. 5.51 Apply "gamultiobj" solver

File Edit Debug	Parallel Desktop Window Help			
1 🗃 🕹 🐂 🛍	🤊 🍽 🎒 🗊 😰 Vurrent Folder: C:\Program Files\MATLA8\R2012a\bin			
Shortcuts 🛃 How to	Add 🗷 What's New			
Curr 🏎 🗖 🎽 🗙	Command Window	+1	•	• >
🈹 « bin 🕨 🔻 🔎	» f			
Name * Na	f = 170.9993 23.0000 30.8333 135.9235 38.8755 72.6572 113.3049 24.4271 170.9993 23.0000 150.6146 23.0487 62.9996 35.9706 30.8333 135.9235 46.1396 55.7331 34.2530 90.8370 fs >>			

Fig. 5.52 Multiobjective optimization results

In the next step, the function "gamultiobj" should be applied to find the optimal solutions and Pareto front. Figure 5.51 shows the appropriate command lines for solving this multiobjective optimization problem.

For the sake of convenience, the results of this optimization analysis are only presented for a limited number of population size (Fig. 5.52). However, the Pareto front for a bigger population size (population of size 50) are presented in Fig. 5.53.



Fig. 5.53 The pareto front

Example 5.17 Apply MATLAB to solve Example 4.2 and determine the Pareto optimal solutions. The objective functions for the example problem are;

min
$$f_1(x_1, x_2) = 1.5(x_1 - 1)^2 + (x_2 + 1)^2$$

min $f_2(x_1, x_2) = 0.35(x_1 + x_2 - 1)^2 + (2x_2 - x_1)^2 + 4$

Subject to the following constraints:

$$\begin{array}{l}
0 \le x_1 \le 5 \\
0 \le x_2 \le 6 \\
2x_1 - x_2 \le 6 \\
x_1 - 4x_2 \le 0
\end{array}$$

Solution: Figure 5.54 illustrates how the objective functions varies against two decision variables x_1 and x_2 in the specific range of $x_1, x_2 \in [-10, 10]$.

To arrive at a solution, the same process as was applied in the previous example is followed. First, we need to write an m-file for all objective functions and constraints, and then, apply "gamultiobj" solver to find the optimal solutions. Figure 5.55 shows the appropriate m-file for both objective functions $f_1(x_1,x_2)$ and $f_2(x_1,x_2)$.

As constraints are linear in this problem, it is not necessary to write a separate m-file and they can be written as shown in Fig. 5.56.

The problem is solved using the MATLAB and a part of estimated results are presented in Fig. 5.57. As it can be seen in this figure, by reducing the first objective, the values of second one are increased simultaneously.



Fig. 5.54 Objective functions $f_1(x)$ and $f_2(x)$ versus decision variables x_1 and x_2

File	Ed	it T	ext	Go	(Cell	Too	ols	Debug	De	skto	p 1	Wind	ow	H	lelp								
1	6		*	Rh.		=)	6	1	1	- 44	+	-	fo,			- •) *			D)	1	细	Sta	k B
+	ç 🔚	-	1.0		+	÷	1.1)	: 🛛	×	0	Ļ												
1	Ę	func	tic	on 1	=	Мо	bjfı	inc (x)															
2 -		f(1)	=	1.5	5* ((x (1)-:	1).^	2)+(x(2)	+1)	.^2	;											
3 -	L	£(2)	=	0.3	85*	((x	(1) -	+x (2)-1)	.^2)	+((2*x	(2)	-x	(1)).'	2)	+4;						
4																								

Fig. 5.55 The objective functions m-file



Fig. 5.56 The constraints and "gamultiobj" solver

MATLAB R2012a		
File Edit Debug	Parallel Desktop W	/indow Help
1) 🗃 🕹 🐂 💼	2 () 2 2	Current Folder: C:\Program Files\MATLAB\R2012a\bin
Shortcuts I How to		
	Command Window	
and the second se	f =	
🎍 « bin 🕨 🔻 🔎	1 -	
Name +	1.8444	4.0063
m3iregistry	1.5928	4.0839
🗉 🧴 registry	1.8811	4.0025
🗉 🌲 util	1.9044	4.0010
E 🍶 win64	1.8617	4.0046
deploytool.bat	1.9241	4.0003
insttype.ini	1.7012	4.0396
Icdata.xml Icdata.xsd	1.5562	4.1084
Icdata.xsd	1.5449	4.1190
license.bt	1.6262	4.0688
matlab.bat	1.9446	4.0000
▲ matlab.exe	1.4994	4.1608
mbuild.bat	1.7959	4.0141
mcc.bat	1.7805	4.0173
强 mex.bat	1.5123	4.1449
mex.pl	1.6431	4.0651
🚳 mexext.bat	1.7337	4.0296
mexsetup.pm	1.8196	4.0099
mexutils.pm	1.7239	4.0322
mw_mpiexec	1.5854	4.0879
ProductRoots	1.7590	4.0222
worker.bat	1.6700	4.0515
	1.5169	4.1398
	1.6593	4.0542
	1.6050	4.0801
	1.7155	4.0344
	1.5718	4.0979
	1.5020	4.1574
	1.8172	4.0126
Details ^	fx 1.7494	4.0246

Fig. 5.57 The optimization results



Fig. 5.58 The pareto front

Figure 5.58 shows the Pareto optimal solutions for this example. Based on the Pareto curve, the decision-maker can make a trade-off decision for the problems that the optimum value cannot be simply determined at a single point in the design space.

5.3 Problems

Problem 5.1 Solve Problem 2.1 using LINGO and MATLAB.

Problem 5.2 Find the maximum value of function f(x) in Problem 2.3 using LINGO and MATLAB.

Problem 5.3 Minimize function f(x) using LINGO and MATLAB an compare your results with the outcomes of Simplex method.

Problem 5.4 Apply LINGO and MATLAB to solve Problem 2.5.

Problem 5.5 Determine the optimal pumpage for a confined aquifer with onedimensional steady-state flow and fixed hydraulic heads along the boundaries in Problem 2.6 by applying LINGO and MATLAB.

Problem 5.6 Solve Problem 2.7 using LINGO and MATLAB.

Problem 5.7 Minimize f(x) on the interval [-4,2] using LINGO and MATLAB in Problem 3.5 and compare your results with the Fibonacci method.

Problem 5.8 Find the minimum of function f(x) by applying LINGO and MAT-LAB in Problem 3.7 and compare your results with the outcomes of Newton method.

Problem 5.9 Solve Problem 3.12 using LINGO and MATLAB and see how your results are different from the results of Lagrange multiplier method.

Problem 5.10 Apply MATLAB to find the Pareto front for Problem 4.1.

Problem 5.11 Find the optimal solutions in Problem 4.2 using MATLAB and compare your results with the results of weighted method.

Problem 5.12 Solve Problem 4.3 by applying MATLAB.

Problem 5.13 Apply MATLAB to find the optimal solution in Problem 4.8.

References

Coleman T, Branch MA, Grace A (1999) Optimization toolbox for use with MATLAB: user's guide version 2. The MathWorks, Inc

Deb K (2008) Introduction to evolutionary multiobjective. In: Branke J et al (eds) Multiobjective optimization: interactive and evolutionary approaches. Springer, Berlin, p 416

- Deb K (2009) Multi-objective optimization using evolutionary algorithms. Wiley, United Kingdom, p 515
- Simonovic SP (2009) Managing water resources: methods and tools for a systems approach. UNESCO Publishing, London, p 640

Chapter 6 Reservoir Optimization and Simulation Modeling: A Case Study

Abstract This chapter presents a combination of optimization (LINGO) and simulation (HEC-ReSim) models to determine monthly operating rules for the Zayandehrud reservoir system in Iran. Based on the optimized flow determined in the single-objective framework, system behavior was simulated over 47 years. The results show that optimizing the operation of Zayandehrud reservoir could increase its storage by 88.9 % as well as increase the reliability index of regulated water for all downstream demands by more than 10 %.

6.1 Introduction

A reservoir is a natural or artificial lake to storage water; it keeps the water level at a controlled level, and releases it regularly to supply downstream requirements. The most important applications of reservoirs are: flood control, agricultural and environmental water supply, domestic and industrial water supply, hydroelectric power generation, and recreational activities. However, due to increasing water demands across the world and difficulties in building new dams, it is important to enhance the efficiency of reservoir operation based on optimization analyses. In other words, we need to determine the appropriate operating policies to find the amount of water that should be released in different periods according to downstream needs. The major points that need to be considered in any reservoir optimization analysis are:

A part of this chapter is published in the Water International journal as follows: Ziaei. M, TeangShui. L, Goodarzi. E, (2012). Optimization and simulation modeling for operation of the Zayandehrud reservoir. Water International Journal, Taylor & Francis. Vol. 37, No. 3. pp. 305–318.

E. Goodarzi et al., *Introduction to Optimization Analysis in Hydrosystem Engineering*, 195 Topics in Safety, Risk, Reliability and Quality 25, DOI: 10.1007/978-3-319-04400-2_6, © Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2014

- 1. Determine the main objective function in a reservoir optimization analysis (e.g., minimizing spills, maximizing releases, or minimize the cost to maximize benefits),
- 2. Obtain decision variables that should be optimized (e.g., water levels or releases),
- 3. Determine the constraints of the problem (e.g., inflows, outflows, dead storage) properly.

In general, various mathematical programming methods such as linear or nonlinear techniques are applied to optimize operation of reservoirs. However, regarding the uncertainties of hydrological and hydraulic variables, it is difficult to draw a solid operational program that controls all decision variables. It should be noted that each reservoir system includes a number of unique characteristics due to its particular geographic location, local climate conditions, and downstream requirements; and hence it needs to be studied individually.

Optimizing the operation of existing water resources and structures is of particular importance in arid and semi-arid countries such as Iran where water demand is on the rise. Because of the high geographical variability of rainfall in Iran, reservoir operation occupies an important place in the usage of water resources. An efficient approach to defining reservoir operation is to use optimization models in combination with simulation models (Ngo et al. 2007). The main advantage of simulation models is that they provide insight into how the real system might perform over time under varying conditions.

In this chapter the combination of optimization and simulation studies for long periods on ZayandehRud reservoir located in central part of Iran is presented. Many areas of Iran, in particular central regions, have recently been suffering draught, with large proportions of the country's crops and livestock perishing while it is difficult to supply the industrial and agricultural water demand. Thus, obtaining appropriate operation policies and scenarios can help managers with decision making to attain optimum allocation of water resources based on priorities and downstream demands. The main objectives of the ZayandehRud reservoir study regarding a monthly simulation–optimization model are:

- 1. To derive an optimal operational policy for assessing the amount of allocated water to all downstream demands (agricultural, domestic, industrial, and environmental) with regards to minimizing shortages, and
- 2. To simulate reservoir conditions using optimized data record of 47 years (1957–2003) for the Zayandehrud reservoir.

6.2 Optimization Analysis

Optimization or optimality is the expression that is referring to the study of minimizing or maximizing a real function by selecting the values of real or integer variables systematically from within an acceptable interval. This concept

essentially is used for improving the efficiency of system and gains the best available values of some objective function in the problem area. As described in previous chapters optimization problems can be divided into two fundamental parts: the objective function, and the set of constraints. The objective function describes the performance criteria of the system. Constraints describe the boundaries and restrictions under which the system or process is being analyzed. In general, constraints include physical characteristics of the reservoir system such as storage capacities, diversion or stream flow requirements for various purposes, and mass balance. An optimal solution is a set of values of the decision variables that satisfy the constraints and provides an optimal value of the objective function.

LINGO, one of the simplest tools commonly used to formulate, solve, and analyze different linear and non-linear optimization problems, has been applied as an optimization model throughout this study. LINGO is capable of modeling all systems (large or small) for linear or non-linear problems. It creates related groups for solving the problem in which these groups are determined based on the inherent defined problems such as discharge, precipitation, demand, time period, etc. Then, LINGO allows the placing of similar objects into a *set* and uses a single statement for all elements of a set. This model allows a user to quickly input model formulation, assess the correctness or appropriateness of the formulation based on the solution, quickly make minor modifications to the formulation, and repeat the process. Many researchers such as Bozorg Haddad et al. (2008) and Montazar et al. (2010) have applied LINGO to arrive at an optimal allocation plan of surface and ground water for various types of hydrosystems.

Application of optimization techniques to reservoir operation problems has been a major focus of water resource management for some time (for comprehensive surveys, see Wurbs 1993 and Labadie 2004). Bower et al. (1962) recommend two rules for determining releases over a specific period: a Standard Operation Policy (SOP) and a hedging rule. The SOP calls for a target release in each period, if possible. If insufficient water is available to meet the objective, the reservoir releases all the available water and becomes empty; if too much water is available, the reservoir can fill up and spill the excess water. Different optimization models include linear, nonlinear and dynamic programming, which have been used to recognize the hedging rules with respect to the economic return or other system products such as water supply reliability (Hashimoto et al. 1982; Shih and ReVelle 1995; Neelakantan and Pundarikanthan 1999; Shiau and Lee 2005). The linearbased models are still popular and effective tools in dealing with optimization problems (Rani and Moreira 2009). Linear Programming (LP) is concerned with solving problems where all relations among the variables include the constraints and the objective function, and that all underlying models of real-world processes are linear. Latif and James (1991) presented a linear programming-based conjunctive model and applied it to the Indus basin in Pakistan to maximize the net income of irrigators. Peralta et al. (1995) developed a linear programming-based simulation optimization model to obtain sustainable groundwater extractions over a period of five decades, under a conjunctive water use scenario. Shih and Revelle (1995) investigated a discrete hedging rule for water supply operation during droughts and impending droughts by applying a mixed integer linear programming model. Devi et al. (2005) presented a linear programming model for optimal water allocation in a large river basin system. They applied the model to the transboundary Subernarekha River in India. Loucks and Beek (2005) introduced and compared various methods of water resource system optimization based on linear programming in the LINGO model. Sudha et al. (2007) studied the effects of optimization on the efficiency of water use in agriculture and highlighted what is needed for optimizing reservoir operation.

6.3 Simulation Analysis

One of the most efficient ways of analyzing water resource systems is applying simulation models. These models work based on physical relatives with a series of operational rules to simulate new conditions and system behavior under a specified policy. HEC's ResSim reservoir simulation program is a computer program applicable for hydrologic and hydraulics of reservoir system simulation. This model is also used for research in water resources management to survey the connection between decisions support system and GIS. HEC-ResSim developed by the United States Army Corps of Engineers (USACE) is the new extension of the HEC-5. This model is commonly used for simulation of flood control and conservation systems alternative analysis. HEC-ResSim, reservoir simulation program applies reservoir operation for critical state variables with operational investigation or variance purposes as constraints. The reservoir simulation models for flood control are generally defined based on single guide curves that cause for the creation of optimum realization of benefits (Timothy and Curran 2003). This program simulates reservoir operation, including all characteristics of a reservoir and channel routing downstream. The model also allows users to define alternatives and run simulations simultaneously to compare results. On this basis, HEC-ResSim as a simulation tool is able to manage drought situations where the objective is to access the impacts of different drought rules, their timing, and impacts to activate emergency measures. Computations can be performed, and the results are viewed within the simulation module. In this case, many problems require determination of the properties of the output of a system given the input and transfer function. When the transfer function is simple, the properties of the output can be obtained analytically. But when transfer function is complex, the derivation of the properties of output maybe difficult (Olani 2006). Hec-ResSim involves three main functions that are called modules and are briefly described as:

- 1. Watershed setup, contains system elements and basic geographic information,
- 2. Reservoir network, used to create a water resource network, and
- 3. Simulation module that performs, identifies, and manages outputs of simulation or optimization runs.

Each module has a unique purpose and an associated set of functions accessible through menus, toolbars, and schematic elements. HEC-ResSim allows the change of the background layer to show the physical layout of the system. i.e., it is possible to import an Arc GIS shape file of watershed into the HEC-ResSim and put in the background of program. Input data of HEC-ResSim include stream flow, demands (i.e., domestic, Industrial, agricultural withdrawals), power generation (if is available) and reservoir operations. Necessary data for reservoir operation includes providing adequate data of reservoir capacity, evaporation and diversions, capacity of spillway and elevation-volume curves. The main parts of ResSim program can be written as bellow:

- 1. Schematic which is a part of watershed module and include a schematic network of streams and rivers of watershed.
- 2. Module Elements to show different element in a network such as reservoirs, reaches, junctions, and diversions.
- 3. Operation Scheme that includes necessary criteria for reservoir release decisions.
- 4. Alternatives; this option allows to user to compare estimated results.
- 5. Analysis Tools to analyze the results of simulation and also preparing summary reports and HEC-DSSVue.

This model has been applied for simulating the history of events, especially for flood and drought periods (Hanbali 2004). Babazadeh et al. (2007) considered the performance of a storage dam by HEC-ResSim simulation model under various scenarios in present conditions and different periods considering sedimentation. Other researchers who have used this model for simulation are Olani (2006) and Klipsch (2003). The main computer programs for reservoir system modeling using simulation and optimization were reviewed by Ejeta and Mays (2002) and Wurbs (1993). Karamouz and Vasiliadis (1992) investigated a non-linear optimization model along with simulation model to analyze the long-term performance of a reservoir system. Reservoir simulation models for flood control are generally defined based on single rule curves that bring about optimized benefits (Timothy and Curran 2003).

6.4 Case Study

Water demands change from year to year and month to month. There are many physical, social, economic, and political reasons for these alternations. In recent years, significant climatic changes have been observed in many parts of the world, including more severe floods, greater precipitation, and even unusual droughts in many areas of the world. These changes have considerably influenced the water demands in many parts of the world including Iran that many regions of which are classified as arid ore semi arid. Iran has a variable climate and it has an arid



Fig. 6.1 The schematic view of ZayandehRud basin (Molle and Mamanpoush 2012)

climate in the central regions and most of the relatively scant annual precipitation falls from October through April and in some parts of the country, annual precipitation average is 25 cm (~ 8 in.) or less. Due to limited water resources, optimal operation of these resources is unavoidable. Latest estimates show, the demand for water in Iran will be 116.2 billion cubic meters in 2020 with a population of 100 millions where agriculture and fishery fields are the greatest water consumers (Babazadeh et al. 2007). Obviously, it is necessary to do more research toward storage and management of water resources to meet different demands in the country. In Iran, reservoirs are usually constructed to provide multiple purposes, such as irrigation, municipal and industrial water supply, and hydropower generation. Because of the high geographical variability of rainfall in the country, reservoir operation occupies an important position in the usage of water resources. So, understanding reservoir behavior and optimal release are crucial for envisaging drought period and maximizing the annual net benefit. The final output expected from water management studies is an optimization and simulation model that will be used to assess given situations and constraints.

The Basin of ZayandehRud River is located in the west central part of Iran and is the major water source for Isfahan Province. This river is one of the most important rivers of Iran and the largest river in Isfahan Province. It starts in the Zagros Mountains and flows 400 km eastward before ending in the Gavkhouni Marsh, a seasonal salt lake, in the south-east of Isfahan City (Fig. 6.1). It is important to note that the ZayandehRud reservoir also is known as Chadegan reservoir since it is located in Chadegan area.

The River basin has an area of $41,500 \text{ km}^2$, altitudes change from 3,974 to 1,466 m above mean sea level (msl), annual average rainfall (precipitation) is 130,



Fig. 6.2 The schematic view of ZayandehRud basin (Molle and Mamanpoush 2012)

Table 6.1 Physical	Characteristics	Description
characteristics of ZayandehRud dam	Type of dam	Concrete arch dam
Zayandenitad dani	Elevation from foundation (m)	100
	Crest length (m)	450
	Type of spillways	Gated spillway
	Reservoir gross capacity (MCM)	1,470
	Min elevation of operation (MCM)	210
	Effective capacity (MCM)	1,250
	Regulated annual water (MCM)	1,200
	Irrigated area (ha)	95,000
	Area of reservoir (km ²)	4,130

and monthly average temperature range of 3-29 °C. Managing optimum operation of Zayandehrud Reservoir is unavoidable because of high limitations of available water resources and recently severe droughts in the province of Isfahan. The ZayandehRud Dam and its physical characteristics are shown in Fig. 6.2 and Table 6.1, respectively.

Isfahan is a generally arid region, with agriculture, industry, and municipalities all dependent on the river as an economical source of water that seems insufficient to meet the need for water. So, there are many transbasin diversions constructed from other basins which are delivering water to the reservoir. Since many years ago there has been severe shortage of water, an optimal exploitation from available water sources has become the most important and intricate problem in the Zayandehrud basin. To deal with varying flow of the river, reservoirs have been built and inevitably the government has done several transbasin diversion projects such as; Koohrang 1, Koohrang 2, and Cheshme Langan with a total of 900 million cubic meters annual input has been implemented. Another transbasin diversion plan, the Koohrang 3 which is ongoing will have annual input of 250 MCM. The most important project of transferring water which is under study is called the Behesht Abad, consisting of, reservoir dam, tunnel with 5.5 m diameter and 65 km length with 1,100 MCM average annual input.

6.5 Optimization Model

The main objective of this study is to maximize the total reservoir release by considering domestic, industrial, and environmental aspects as major priorities over the planning horizon. Hence, the objective function of the problem can be written as follows:

$$\max Z = \sum_{i=1}^{N} R_i \tag{6.1}$$

where, R_i is the regulatory water release of the *i*th month and N is the planning horizon (total months of optimization, in this case N = 564).

It is important to note that Eq. 6.1 is used for single-objective optimization and solving it results in maximizing the dam's total regulatory water within 564 months. The general form of the intended linear optimization model can be written as:

$$F(x) = c_1 x_1 + c_2 x_2 + \dots + c_N x_{N=\underline{c}}^T \underline{x}$$

$$(6.2)$$

where $c_1, c_2, ..., c_N$, are real numbers, c^T is the transposed vector of vector c, and vectors c and x are defined as:

$$\underline{c} = \begin{bmatrix} c_1 \\ \vdots \\ c_N \end{bmatrix} \quad \text{and} \quad \underline{x} = \begin{bmatrix} x_1 \\ \vdots \\ x_N \end{bmatrix}$$

where $x_1, x_2, ..., x_N$ are the problem decision variables. So, Eq. 6.1 can be written as:

$$\max Z = \sum_{i=1}^{N} R_i = (R_1 + R_2 + \dots + R_N) = \underline{c}^T \underline{x} = K$$
(6.3)

The requirement values for each month of the period are constant and known, and hence, the second term of Eq. 6.3 is constant and its value is considered as *K*. Therefore, the amounts of coefficient matrixes and decision variable are as follows:

$$\underline{c} = \begin{bmatrix} +1\\ \vdots\\ +1 \end{bmatrix} \text{ and } \underline{x} = \underline{R} \begin{bmatrix} R_1\\ \vdots\\ R_N \end{bmatrix}$$

As reservoir water balance must be preserved in all stages of optimization, the reservoir continuity equation is considered the main constraint in this case. The reservoir continuity equation can be written as:

$$S_{i+1} = S_i - R_i + I_i \quad i = 1, 2, \dots, N$$
(6.4)

where S_i is the reservoir volume in the month, S_{i+1} is the reservoir volume in the (i + 1)th month, R_i is the released volume of water from the reservoir in the *i*th month, and I_i is the inflow to the reservoir in the *i*th month.

6.5.1 Boundary Conditions

1. Based on the policies of the Ministry of Energy of Iran, the priority demands in ZayandehRud basin are domestic, industrial and environmental, and should be fully supplied in the planning horizon. In other words, the minimum allowed release of the dam must supply the total needs of the mentioned priorities in each month. Equation 6.5 shows the boundary conditions in this case:

$$(D_I + D_E + D_D)_i \le R_i \le (D_I + D_E + D_D + D_A)_i \tag{6.5}$$

where D_I is the industry requirement, D_E is the environmental requirement, D_D is the domestic requirement, and D_A is the agricultural requirement.

Equation 6.5 demonstrates that the agricultural water demand will be sacrificed during shortage and all the water in this sector will be dedicated to other sectors to minimize priority deficiencies.

- 2. The maximum reservoir capacity equals 1,250 MCM and $0 \le S_i \le S_{max}$.
- 3. The starting month for optimization is January and the Zayandehrud reservoir is almost half full in January of different years. So, it is assumed that the reservoir is half full at the beginning of optimization, or $S_1 = 580$ (MCM).

6.6 Finding Outlier Data

Outlier data means the data that are significantly higher or lower than normal range of time-series data. For extreme data that appear to be high or low outliers they can be tested with the Bulletin 17B detection procedure as follows. Based on long term optimization in this study (47 years), finding outlier data is necessary.

Table 6.2 Initial	Statistical parameters	Quantity
information for outlier test	Mean	2.099
	Standard deviation	0.337
	Y _{oh}	3.158
	Y _{ol}	1.041
	n	564
	k	3.138

- 1. Use the sample size (*n*) to obtain the value of the detection deviate K_0 (in this study, regarding to the 564 inflow data, K_0 is 3.148,
- 2. Compute the mean (\bar{Y}) and standard deviation (S_y) of the logarithms of the series data,
- 3. Compute the value of the detection criterion for high outliers (Y_{oh}) :

$$Y_{oh} = \bar{Y} + K_0 S_y \tag{6.6}$$

- 4. Compare the logarithm of the extreme data being considered (Y_h) with the criterion (Y_{oh}) . If $Y_h > Y_{oh}$, then the data can be considered a high outlier,
- 5. For low outlier data, compute the value of the detection criterion as follows.

$$Y_{ol} = \overline{Y} - K_0 S_y \tag{6.7}$$

6. Compare the algorithm of the extreme data being considered (Y_1) with the criterion (Y_{ol}) . If $Y_1 < Y_{ol}$, then the data can be considered a low outlier. In this case, the coefficients and data are as follows (McCuen 2005).

For this example, Table 6.2 illustrates the initial information that is required for Bulletin 17B procedure.

Based on the initial information in Table 6.2, the outlier test was performed and the results are shown in Table 6.3. The results of outlier test show that there is no outlier data for ZayandehRud basin.

6.7 Simulation by HEC-ResSim

Rank	Inflow to ZayandehRud	Log of data	High outlier test	Low outlier test
1	82	1.913	No high outlier data	No low outlier data
2	93	1.968	No high outlier data	No low outlier data
3	140	2.146	No high outlier data	No low outlier data
4	301	2.478	No high outlier data	No low outlier data
5	286	2.456	No high outlier data	No low outlier data
6	228	2.357	No high outlier data	No low outlier data
7	157	2.195	No high outlier data	No low outlier data
8	92	1.963	No high outlier data	No low outlier data
9	52	1.716	No high outlier data	No low outlier data
10	48	1.681	No high outlier data	No low outlier data
11	57	1.755	No high outlier data	No low outlier data
12	104	2.017	No high outlier data	No low outlier data
•				
557	315.5242	2.499	No high outlier data	No low outlier data
558	206.4787	2.3148	No high outlier data	No low outlier data
559	138.0758	2.140	No high outlier data	No low outlier data
560	75.99744	1.880	No high outlier data	No low outlier data
561	44.21952	1.645	No high outlier data	No low outlier data
562	37.11744	1.569	No high outlier data	No low outlier data
563	43.23456	1.635	No high outlier data	No low outlier data
564	58.4496	1.766	No high outlier data	No low outlier data

Table 6.3 Outlier test for inflow data to ZayandehRud reservoir

6.7 Simulation by HEC-ResSim

Simulation of reservoir system by ResSim is based on utilizing physical information of the reservoir, importing inflow data and downstream demands. The steps of simulating process in this study can be summarized according to following steps:

- 1. Collecting necessary data and reservoir modeling, The required data for the ZayandehRud reservoir has been collected from the administration for 47 water years (1957–2003).
- 2. Develop a schematic view of the watershed and create major parts of basin such as location of reservoir(s), junctions, and etc. shown in Fig. 6.3. Geo-referenced map files of the ZayandehRud basin (identified in step one) is used as schematic background of the model.
- 3. HEC-ResSim contains seven methods for routing streamflow (Coefficient, Muskingum, Muskingum-Cunge 8-pt Channel, Muskingum-Cunge Prismatic Channel, Modified Puls, SSARR, and Working R&D Routing), for flow routing in the main channel and major tributaries. As the study area is located in an arid climate, the effect of flooding is ignored.



Fig. 6.3 Reservoir network modules of HEC-ResSim for ZayandehRud reservoir

4. Providing operational and physical data for any reservoirs in the watershed. The physical data of reservoir involves; the length and elevation of crest of dam, the capacities of outlet structures, pool storage definition of reservoir, etc.

During simulation by ResSim, various types of data should be applied in which they are classified as follows in this study:

- 1. Time-series data; monthly inflow to ZayandehRud reservoir is used for 47 years (1957–2003), and
- 2. Physical data include; elevation-storage-area of the ZayandehRud reservoir, reach between reservoir and sources of demands in downstream, outlet capacity curves for spillway, and junctions and diversions between the reach and demands (agricultural, environment, and industrial). The top and bottom elevations of the Zayandehrud reservoir are 2,060 and 2,005 m, respectively.

In addition, the following constraints are considered for desired case of study:

- 1. Evaporation of surface water,
- 2. The sediment profile of 50 years has been used at the beginning of the simulation period (administration of dam),
- 3. Simulation period is 47 years (1957–2003),
- 4. Operation policy is based on demands in downstream of reservoir, and
- 5. Based on the previous studies, the amount of seepage in the ZayandehRud reservoir is negligible, so, in this study it has been ignored.

Table 6.4 The values of	Month	New rule curve	Current rule curve
current and new rule curve based on the optimized data	January	73	73
bused on the optimized data	February	74	74
	March	132	185
	April	197	276
	May	218	314
	June	296	395
	July	237	311
	August	243	315
	September	192	241
	October	190	250
	November	131	179
	December	75	75

6.8 Study Results

6.8.1 Reservoir Operation Policy

Reservoir-river operation is based on specific policies that present practical guidelines for the amount of stored or released water from the reservoir to meet project requirements. A rule curve comprises static policies and practical guidelines to determine specific operation policies for downstream flow requirements and reservoir operation. In this study, LINGO 11.0 was applied for the single-objective optimization, and total releases were optimized by the model from 1957 to 2003.

After that, the optimized monthly averages of regulatory release were used to attain the new rule curve for ZayandehRud reservoir which will be used as a guideline for dam administration to find the best water allocation to downstream demand, and optimal water distribution to different sectors to minimize deficiency. Table 6.4 and Fig. 6.4 show the proposed and the new rule curves for different months of the year.

6.8.2 Operation Policy Performance

Evaluating reservoir operation policy performance is an important step in an optimization model. A major indicator is the reliability index (a), which was defined as the probability that the system output is satisfactory or the probability that the system will not fail in a given period. Reliability can also be defined as a probability of providing a specific percentage of water for demand in the given time period. Hashimoto et al. (1982) investigated reservoir operation system performance with a reliability index and presented Eq. 6.8:



Fig. 6.4 The proposed and the new rule curve

Table 6.5 Reliability index for ZayandehRud reservoir

Reliable month	IS	Percentage of reliable months (%)				
Opt.	Non-opt.	Opt.	Non-opt.			
463	402	82.1	71.3			

$$a = \frac{\text{The number of months with standard supply}}{\text{Total months}} \times 100$$
(6.8)

Reliability analysis has shown that the reliability index of regulatory water increased 10.8 % for priority demands (Table 6.5).

6.8.3 Optimization Outcomes

The regulatory dam releases were evaluated by executing a simulation model for optimized and non-optimized conditions. The values of water elevation and storage volume before and after optimization analysis (from 1999 to 2001), as sample results, are presented in Tables 6.6 and 6.7. The trend of varying water elevation and water storage volume under optimization and non-optimization conditions also are shown in Figs. 6.5 and 6.6, respectively.

As the volumes of reservoir storage are 636.1 and 336.8 MCM for optimizedand non-optimized operation, respectively, the reservoir storage volume increased about 88.9 % under the optimized operation condition.

Increasing the average storage in the reservoir allows dam administrators to distribute water based on priorities and decrease deficiencies in draught seasons. Furthermore, optimization results signified that the reservoir is full for 33 months

	1999		2000		2001			
Months	Opt.	Non-opt.	Opt.	Non-opt.	Opt.	Non-opt.		
January	2,009.7	2,009.7	2,009.5	2,009.5	2,014.7	2,014.7		
February	2,009.8	2,009.8	2,010.1	2,010.1	2,016.4	2,016.4		
March	2,013.3	2,011.4	2,012.9	2,010.2	2,019.5	2,017.4		
April	2,024.2	2,018.1	2,016.7	2,009.6	2,027.3	2,021.3		
May	2,027.3	2,014.5	2,016.3	2,009.5	2,032.9	2,022.3		
June	2,020.6	2,009.5	2,010.0	2,009.5	2,031.6	2,013.1		
July	2,009.8	2,009.5	2,009.5	2,009.5	2,024.7	2,009.5		
August	2,009.5	2,009.5	2,009.5	2,009.5	2,012.9	2,009.5		
September	2,009.5	2,009.5	2,009.5	2,009.5	2,009.5	2,009.5		
October	2,009.5	2,009.5	2,009.5	2,009.5	2,009.5	2,009.5		
November	2,009.5	2,009.5	2,009.5	2,009.5	2,009.5	2,009.5		
December	2,009.5	2,009.5	2,010.8	2,010.8	2,009.5	2,009.5		

Table 6.6 The variations of water elevation under optimized and non-optimized conditions in1999–2001

 Table 6.7
 The variations of storage volume (MCM) under optimized and non-optimized conditions in 1999–2001

	1999		2000		2001	
Months	Opt.	Non-opt.	Opt.	Non-opt.	Opt.	Non-opt.
January	99.1	99.1	97.5	97.5	147.7	147.7
February	99.8	99.8	102.7	102.7	166.4	166.4
March	134.3	115.1	129.5	103.9	204.3	177.8
April	268.7	186.2	169.6	98.8	319.4	226.6
May	317.6	147.2	164.9	97.5	421.3	239.8
June	220.7	97.5	102.3	97.5	396.1	133.5
July	99.8	97.5	97.5	97.5	276.6	97.5
August	97.5	97.5	97.5	97.5	131.7	97.5
September	97.5	97.5	97.5	97.5	97.5	97.5
October	97.5	97.5	97.5	97.5	97.5	97.5
November	97.5	97.5	97.5	97.5	97.5	97.5
December	97.5	97.5	109.7	109.7	97.5	97.5

(5.9%) and four months (0.7%), and empty for 76 months (13.5%) and 181 months (32.1%) under optimized and non-optimized conditions, respectively (Table 6.8).

6.9 Discussions

As the Zayandehrud reservoir is located in a semi-desert area and the annual average precipitation in Esfahan Province is only 130 mm per year, there is a constant shortage in the Zayandehrud basin; and even with optimized operation,


Fig. 6.5 Water elevations in optimized and non-optimized conditions



Fig. 6.6 Water storage volume in optimized and non-optimized conditions

Table 6.8 The number ofmonths that reservoir is fullor empty		Opt.	Non-opt.
	Number of months reservoir is full	33	4
	Percentage that the reservoir is full (%)	5.9	0.7
	Number of months reservoir is empty	76	181
	Percentage that the reservoir is empty (%)	13.5	32.1

6.9 Discussions

Months	Demands	Optimized	Non-optimized
January	73	69	67
February	74	72	72
March	185	136	178
April	276	219	271
May	314	255	303
June	395	302	335
July	311	225	232
August	315	209	186
September	241	149	116
October	250	138	110
November	179	106	95
December	75	70	68
Annual (sum)	2,688	1,952	2,033
Supply (percent)		72.6	75.7
Number of month with deficit		101	162
Reliability (%)		82.1	71.3

Table 6.9 The mean of regulated water in 47-year for total demands (MCM)

downstream needs cannot be completely accommodated. However, the important point is finding the best policy to allocate water between downstream demands using optimization analysis considering the priorities (drinking water, industrial and environmental).

Table 6.9 shows the total regulatory volume to supply downstream operation demand under both non-optimized and optimized operation conditions. The results demonstrate that the annual regulating volumes of the Zayandehrud dam are 2,033 MCM for non-optimized conditions, but decrease to 1,952 MCM under optimized operation. Under the optimized and non-optimized operating conditions on average, 72.6 and 75.7 % of downstream demand would be met, respectively. The results reveal that water allocated for the agricultural sector is sacrificed by getting distributed among other sectors in the optimization process, so the total release is reduced here. According to the results, about 70 % of downstream requirements were supplied under optimal and non-optimal conditions in different months of the 47 year period.

Figure 6.7 shows the average of the total regulatory volume under the nonoptimized and optimized operating conditions in conjunction with total downstream demands. By considering 70 % supply of downstream demand in all months, there would be 101 months of shortage in optimized condition, while, there are 162 months of shortage under non-optimized conditions. It can be concluded that the reliability of system would be 82.1 and 71.3 % in the optimized and non-optimized conditions, respectively. Figure 6.8 shows the average of optimized and non-optimized regulatory volume for drinking, industrial and environmental purposes of ZayandehRud reservoir. The results demonstrate that the annual regulatory volume to meet the drinking, industrial and environmental needs under



Fig. 6.7 Total downstream demands and the average of total regulatory volume



Fig. 6.8 Average of regulatory volume for drinking, industrial and environmental needs

non-optimized and optimized operational conditions are 1,039 and 111 MCM per year, respectively. On average, 93.6 and 87.5 % of the required water for domestic, industrial and environmental purposes was met under the optimized and non-optimized operating conditions, respectively. Although deficiency still exists under the optimized condition for all priorities and it is only 6.4 %; however,



Fig. 6.9 The regulated volume of water for agricultural sector

under the non-optimized condition it is 12.5 %. This was overcome by the use of supplementary wells in the domestic and industrial water supply network and mostly applied during peak water requirement.

Furthermore, it can be observed that the Zayandehrud reservoir cannot supply the required needs of priorities for 99 and 206 months under optimized and non-optimized operating conditions, respectively. So, the reliability index is 82.4 and 63.5 % under optimized and standard operating conditions, correspondingly. In other words, under standard condition, 63.5 % of the water supply would be on the safe side, while in the optimal operating condition 82.4 % of the required water can be provided.

Finally, the achieved results revealed that the annual regulatory volume of the ZayandehRud dam to meet agricultural needs under non-optimized and optimized conditions were 994 and 840 MCM per year, respectively. The agricultural demand was supplied by 56 % under the optimized and 66.3 % under the non-optimized conditions. In other words, during the planting season, the agricultural sector would have faced 44 and 33.7 % deficit in irrigation supply in optimized and non-optimized operating conditions, respectively. Increased deficiency under the optimized condition is due to considering the lowest priority in the agricultural sector and allocating its water to other parts with higher priorities during shortage. The reliability indexes of agricultural water supply were 71.3 and 52.1 % under non-optimal and optimal operation conditions, correspondingly. These values demonstrate that the water allocated to the agricultural sector is sacrificed and distributed among other priorities (Fig. 6.9).

6.10 Conclusions

This chapter focused on the operation of the ZayandehRud reservoir using a combination of LINGO and HEC-ResSim optimization and simulation models. Study results prove that the applied methods can efficiently optimize the rule curves for operating the existing reservoir in a single-objective framework. In addition, optimizing resulted in increasing reservoir storage by about 88.9 %, increasing the time that the reservoir is full by about 5.2 %, and decreasing the time that the reservoir is empty by about 18.6 %. Although optimizing ZayandehRud reservoir results in a 3.1 % reduction of total supply, it also causes 10.8 % increased reliability index of regulatory water for all requirements. Furthermore, optimization resulted in an increase of 6.1 % of water supply and 19 % reliability index to supply priorities (drinking water, industrial and environmental).

References

- Babazadeh H, Sedghi H, Kaveh F, Mousavi Jahromi H (2007) Performance evaluation of Jitoft storage dam operation using HEC-RESSIM 2.0. Paper presented at the eleventh international water technology conference, IWTC11
- Bozorg Haddad O, Afshar A, Mariño MA (2008) Honey-bee mating optimization (HBMO) algorithm in deriving optimal operation rules for reservoirs. J Hydroinformatics 10(3):257–264
- Bower BT, Hufschmidt MM, Reedy WW (1962) Operating procedures: their role in the design of water-resource systems by simulation analyses. In: Maass A, Hufschmidt MM, Dorfman R, Thomas HA Jr, Marglin SA, Fair GM (eds) Design of water resources systems. Harvard University Press, Cambridge
- Devi S, Srivastava DK, Mohan C (2005) Optimal water allocation for the trans-boundary Subernarekha River. India J Water Resour Plan Manage 131(4):253–269
- Ejeta MZ, Mays MW (2002) Computer models for integrated hydrosystems management in regional water system management water conservation, water supply and system integration. The Netherlands
- Hanbali F (2004) HEC-ResSim reservoir model for Tigris and Euphrates River Basins in Iraq. US Army Corps Engineers
- Hashimoto T, Stedinger JR, Loucks DP (1982) Reliability, resilience, and vulnerability criteria for water resource system performance evaluation. Water Resour Manage 18(1):14–20
- Karamouz M, Vasiliadis HV (1992) Bayesian stochastic optimization of reservoir operation using uncertain forecasts. Water Resour Manage 28(5):1221–1232
- Klipsch JD (2003) HEC-RESSIM: reservoir system simulation. California, USA, US Army Corps of Engineers
- Labadie J (2004) Optimal operation of multi-reservoir systems: state of the art review. Water Resour Plann Manage ASCE 130(2):93–111
- Latif M, James LD (1991) Conjunctive use to control water logging and salinization. J Water Resour Plan Manage 117(6):611–628
- Loucks DP, Beek EV (2005) Water resources system planning and management, optimization models. United Nations Educational, Scientific Cultural organization (UNESCO), Delft Hydraulics, Netherlands, pp 81–132
- McCuen R (2005) Hydrologic analysis and design. New Jersey: Pearson Prentice Hall

- Molle F, Mamanpoush A (2012) Scale, governance and the management of river basins: a case study from Central Iran. Geoforum 43(2012):285–294
- Montazar A, Riazi H, Behbahani SM (2010) Conjunctive water use planning in an irrigation command area. Water Resour Manage 24(3):577–596
- Neelakantan TR, Pundarikanthan NV (1999) Hedging rule optimization for water supply reservoirs system. J Water Resour Plann Manage 13(2):409-426
- Ngo LL, Madsen H, Rosbjerg D (2007) Simulation and optimization modelling approach for operation of the Hoa Binh reservoir, Vietnam. J Hydrol 336:269–281
- Olani WT (2006) Operational analysis of the cascaded Wadecha-Belbela reservoir system. Arbaminch University
- Peralta RC, Cantiller RRA, Terry JE (1995) Optimal large scale conjunctive water use planning: a case study. J Water Resour Plann Manage ASCE 121(6):471–478
- Rani D, Moreira MM (2009) Simulation-optimization modeling: a survey and potential application in reservoir systems operation. Water Resour Manage 24(6):1107–1138
- Shiau JT, Lee HC (2005) Derivation of optimal rules for a water supply reservoir through compromise programming. Water Resour Manage 19:111–132
- Shih JS, ReVelle C (1995) Water supply operations during drought: a discrete hedging rule. Eur J Oper Res 82(1):163–175
- Sudha V, Venugopal K, Ambujam NK (2007) Reservoir operation management through optimization and deficit irrigation. Irrigat Drain Syst 22(1):93–102
- Timothy W, Curran PE (2003) Situational reservoir simulation. Paper presented at the watershed system 2003 conference
- Wurbs RA (1993) Computer models for water resources planning and management. US Army Corps of Engineers, Institute for Water Resources

Chapter 7 Reservoir Operation Management by Optimization and Stochastic Simulation: A Case Study

Abstract Population increase and socio-economic mobility has escalated the water demand for various purposes and has put stress on existing water resources across the world, in particular in arid and semi-arid regions. Hence, managing the optimum use of water resources is a crucial issue and it is imperative to adopt realistic policies to ensure water is used more efficiently in various sectors. This chapter presents an optimization analysis to determine monthly operating rules for the Doroudzan Reservoir located in southern Iran. Different strategies under limited water availability conditions have been analyzed by running an optimization model based on observed and synthetic inflow data, and the performance indicators of each strategy are presented. Each strategy includes a minimum requirement release in the optimization process and results in a specific operation policy. In this study, LINGO is applied to determine optimum operational parameters and the synthetic inflows are generated using the Monte Carlo simulation method. The results demonstrated that the applied methods could efficiently optimize the current operational policy of an existing reservoir in a singleobjective framework.

7.1 Introduction

Increasing water demands, higher standards of living, growing population, climate variability, and water resource limitations have caused conflicting issues among water consumers and put stress on existing water resources across the world

A part of this chapter is published in the Water International journal as follow; Goodarzi. E, Ziaei. M, Shokri. N, (2013). Reservoir operation management by optimization and stochastic simulation. Journal of Water Supply: Research and Technology (AQUA) IWA Publishing, 62.3: 138–154.

E. Goodarzi et al., *Introduction to Optimization Analysis in Hydrosystem Engineering*, 217 Topics in Safety, Risk, Reliability and Quality 25, DOI: 10.1007/978-3-319-04400-2_7, © Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2014

(Ganji et al. 2007). Arid and semi-arid areas of the developing world are suffering from insufficient water supply and lack of adequate quantities and quality of water resources. Therefore, proper management of water resources and providing comprehensive programs to optimize available water supplies plays an important role in satisfying existing demands. Constructing dams to create reservoir and storing water allow distribution at the right time in downstream districts. Reservoirs have significant roles in water resource engineering in which their proper design, construction and maintenance contribute considerably toward fulfilling water supply requirements and minimizing the risk of water shortages. In recent years, applying optimization techniques to reservoir operation by mathematical tools has become a major focus of water resource engineers. Reservoir operation consists of several control variables that define strategies for guiding a sequence of releases to meet downstream demands. Wurbs (1993) and Labadie (2004) presented comprehensive reviews about reservoir operation models and their applications in water resources engineering. Bower et al. (1962) recommended Standard Operation Policy (SOP) and the hedging rule to determine necessary releases over desire planning horizon. The SOP releases only require demand in each time period. In other words, if sufficient water is not available to meet the objective, the reservoir releases all the available water and empties, and if there is excess water the reservoir can fill and spill the surplus water. Hence, applying SOP method will not result in preserving water for future requirements, while the hedging rule attempts to store available water and use it in the upcoming periods.

Different optimization models including linear, nonlinear and dynamic programming are using the hedging rule with respect to the economic return or the other system products such as water supply reliability (Hashimoto et al. 1982; Shih and ReVelle 1995; Neelakantan and Pundarikanthan 1999; Shiau and Lee 2005). However, the linear based models are still popular and effective tools in dealing with optimization problems (Rani and Moreira 2009). A Linear Programming (LP) solves problems that have linear relations among their variables including the constraints, objective functions, and all of the underlying models. Latif and James (1991) maximized the net income of irrigators using a linear programming-based conjunctive model for the Indus basin in Pakistan. The main objective of their study was finding the optimal ground-water extraction for stabilizing the water table below land surface, while supplementing the surface irrigation supply at the same time. Peralta et al. (1995) developed a linear programming-based simulation optimization model to obtain sustainable groundwater extractions over a period of five decades, under a conjunctive water use scenario for the Mississippi River Valley alluvial aquifer in northeastern Arkansas. Based on the results of this study, a number of optimal water-use strategies are computed for alternative management scenarios from 1990 to 2039. Shih and Revelle (1995) investigated a discrete hedging rule for water supply operations during droughts and impending droughts by applying a mixed integer linear programming model. Devi et al. (2005) presented a linear programming model for optimal water allocations in a large river basin system and applied the model to the Transboundary Subernarekha River in India. The main purpose of their study was finding the maximum annual benefits from irrigation and hydropower and also determining optimal water allocations during the dry and wet years. Loucks and Beek (2005) compared various optimization methods in water resources engineering based on linear programming. In this study, they have tried to address specific water resources planning and management problems, and also introduce optimization methods for infrastructure design and operating policies. Sudha et al. (2008) developed a mixed integer linear programming (MILP) model and used five different management strategies to test their new developed model. The results of their study showed that an appropriate management strategy with deficit irrigation, which supplies less water in noncritical growth periods and maximum water during stress sensitive periods, is the best viable solution to increase the performance of system. Ngo et al. (2007) discussed a combination of optimization and simulation models as an efficient approach for defining reservoir operation. In this study, a simulation model with real-coded GA and shuffled complex evolution (SCE) is applied for optimizing a reservoir operation in Vietnam. The results of this study demonstrated that the applied method can be used efficiently to optimize the rule curves for operating the reservoir in a multi-objective framework. Ejeta and Mays (2002) and Wurbs (1993) reviewed the main simulation and optimization computer programs for reservoir system modeling. Karamouz and Vasiliadis (1992) investigated a nonlinear optimization model, along with a simulation model, to analyze the long-term performance of existing reservoirs. In another study, Sattari et al. (2009) investigated the efficiency of the Eleviyan irrigation dam in Iran by setting up the optimization model that maximized the water release for irrigation purposes after municipal water needs were met. In their study, three phases were considered to investigate the efficiency of desired irrigation dam as; (1) setting up the optimization model using recorded inflows prior to the construction of the reservoir, (2) applied inflows generated by the Monte Carlo simulation method, and (3) using inflows after the construction of the reservoir. The results of their study demonstrated that the operation policy was effectively attained during the operation period.

This study presents an optimization analysis to determine monthly operating rules for the Doroudzan Reservoir in the semi-arid area of Iran. The efficiency of this reservoir was investigated in seven different strategic alternatives by maximizing amounts of water released downstream. Each strategy includes a minimum required release in the optimization process and resulted in a specific operational policy. In other words, an optimal operational policy for assessing the amount of allocated water to all downstream demands (domestic-industrial, agricultural, and power generation) are derived based on available data in the period 1986–2006 (21 years). It is important to note that demands are considered to be constant over the desired planning horizon and they have not been changed from year to year. In addition, due to the complete development of downstream areas of the Doroudzan Reservoir over previous years and also the recent droughts in Iran, building any new industries or expanding agricultural area has been halted. Therefore, the applied data for downstream demands are approximately the same as the demands in 2012.



Fig. 7.1 Schematic view of Doroudzan Reservoir basin that extends between $51^{\circ} 43'$ and $52^{\circ} 43'$ E longitude and $30^{\circ} 08'$ and $31^{\circ} 00'$ N latitude

Furthermore, the optimization model was re-run using synthetic inflow data to determine the effect of alternative scenarios on the reservoir operation in a period longer than the observed data. Then, the achieved results through both observed and synthetic inflow data were compared to evaluate the optimized results in both conditions.

7.2 Materials and Methods

7.2.1 Study Area

Doroudzan Dam is one of the most important dams in southern Iran. The preliminary studies and investigations of the dam site were carried out between 1963 and 1966 and the dam construction was started in 1970 and completed in 1974. The basin of this multipurpose earth-fill dam is situated near the city of Shiraz on the Kor River and in the Bakhtegan lake catchment area (Fig. 7.1). The elevation of the highest watershed point is 3,749 m above mean sea level (MSL) and is located in the northwestern region of the watershed. The total volume and dead storage of the reservoir are 993 and 133 million cubic meters (MCM), respectively.

Basic technical information concerning Doroudzan Dam is shown in Table 7.1. The dam is a major source of water, supplying 112,000 hectares of agricultural land and the domestic-industrial and power plants requirements of Shiraz, the capital of Fars province, and Marvdasht and Zargham, two other main cities in the province.

Table 7.1 Physical abaracteristics of Deroudzen	Туре	Earth-fill
characteristics of Doroudzan Reservoir	Height	57 m
Keseivoli	Crest length	710 m
	Crest width	10 m
	Fill volume	$4.8 \times 10^{6} \text{ m}^{3}$
	Volume	$993 \times 10^{6} \text{ m}^{3}$
	Dead storage	$133 \times 10^{6} \text{ m}^{3}$
	Spillway type	Ogee spillway

Table 7.2 The constant monthly downstream demands of Doroudzan	Months	Domestic- industrial	Agriculture	Power plant	Total demands
Reservoir (MCM)	Jan	2.82	0	48.41	51.24
Reservoir (MCM)	Feb	3.21	0	55.82	59.03
	Mar	3.74	103.42	56.15	163.31
	Apr	3.91	104.04	61.41	169.36
	May	3.74	167.91	59.33	230.99
	Jun	4.03	155.32	125.14	284.49
	Jul	4.1	136.3	114.86	255.26
	Aug	4.22	144.34	117.25	265.81
	Sep	4.18	141.4	56.91	202.49
	Oct	3.47	25.32	53.76	82.55
	Nov	3.33	20.1	37.54	60.97
	Dec	3.41	0	39.42	42.82

All inflows, reservoir storage, evaporation, and releases from 1986 to 2006 have been collected by the Fars Ministry of Energy Data Center land based/surface data collection. Team members collected all available hydro-meteorological data including inflows, water elevation, rainfall, temperature, etc. for each station along the Kor River, and the recorded data were ported in Microsoft Excel for data quality assurance and quality control. Table 7.2 and Fig. 7.2 present the constant monthly downstream demands and monthly inflow data over the observation period of 252 months. As monthly inflows are less than the average of inflows (97.49 MCM) in 172 of 252 months, it can be concluded that dry periods are more dominant than wet periods in the area of study.

7.2.2 Linear Programming and LINGO

Linear programming (LP) is a popular method and the most widely used technique for optimization models. The popularity of linear programming is because of its efficient solution algorithms, its availability of generalized computer software packages, and its applicability to wide ranges of water resources problems (Wurbs 2005). Problems such as determining the size of a reservoir, finding the best



Fig. 7.2 Inflow time series and its average in the period 1986–2006

system yield, and obtaining optimum releases are handled commonly through LP application (Loucks et al. 1981). LINGO is a comprehensive tool for modeling all systems (large or small) for linear or non-linear problems as decribed previously in Chap. 5. It provides a fully integrated package that includes a powerful language for expressing optimization models and a full featured environment for building and editing problems. Furthermore, it creates related groups for solving the problem based on the inherent defined problems such as discharge, precipitation, demands, and time period. LINGO allows the placing of similar objects into a set and uses a single statement for all elements of a desire set. This model allows a user to quickly input the model formulation, assess the correctness or appropriateness of the formulation based on the solution sought, quickly make minor modifications to the formulation, and repeating the process until a solution is reached. Many researchers such as Bozorg Haddad et al. (2008) and Montazar et al. (2010) applied LINGO to evolve an optimal allocation plan of surface and ground water for various hydrosystem types. In another study, Ziaei et al. (2012) combined LINGO and HEC-ResSim models to determine monthly operating rules for the Zayandeh-Rud Reservoir system in central part of Iran as described in detail in Chap. 6. In their study, system behavior was simulated over 47 years and the results showed that optimizing the operation of Zayandeh Rud Reservoir could increase its storage by 88.9 %, and increase the reliability index of regulated water for all downstream demands by over 10 %. In this study, LINGO is used to determine optimum operational parameters of the Doroudzan Reservoir for different strategies and the results are presented in the following sections.

7.2.3 The Optimization Model and Constraints

Optimization methods are designed to provide the best values of system design and obtain high performance solutions. Hence, the results can increase efficiency of system outcomes and reduce conflict in operating policies (Loucks and Beek 2005). The main objective of this study is to maximize the total reservoir release after fully meeting the domestic-industrial demands and considering different priority coefficients for agricultural and power plant segments over the desired planning horizon. The mathematical form of objective function in this study is considered as follow:

$$\max Z = \sum_{i=1}^{21} \sum_{j=1}^{12} R_{i,j}$$
(7.1)

subjected to

$$S_{i,j+1} = S_{i,j} + I_{i,j} - E_{i,j} - R_{i,j} - SP_{i,j}$$
(7.2)

and

$$\begin{cases} S_{i,j} \le S_{max} \\ S_{i,j} \ge S_{min} \end{cases} \forall_i \text{ and } \forall_j$$

$$(7.3)$$

where Z is a target function, R_{ij} is release supplies to downstream, S_{ij} is the initial storage in the reservoir, I_{ij} is inflow into the reservoir, E_{ij} is evaporation from reservoir surface, R_{ij} is release supplies to downstream, and SP_{ij} is spill from the reservoir in year *i* and month *j*. S_{max} and S_{min} are the maximum and minimum storage volumes of the reservoir. In addition, it is assumed that reservoir volume is not sensitive to the precipitation variable.

Equation 7.1 has been used for single-objective optimization and its solution will result in maximizing total regulatory releases for 252 months period of record. It should be noted that reservoir water balance must be preserved in all stages of optimization, and thus the reservoir continuity equation is considered as the main constraint in this case study. The assumed constraints for the applied LP model in this study are as follows:

- 1. The water budget equation that includes reservoir input (inflow and precipitation), outflow (domestic-industrial, agricultural, power plant releases, evaporation and spill from the reservoir), and stored water at the end of previous storage period (Eq. 7.2).
- 2. As the portion of reservoir capacity below dead storage is not used for operational purposes, the water volume in the reservoir should always be above the

dead storage. In the case of Doroudzan Reservoir, the dead storage is 133 MCM and then $S_{i,j} \ge 133$ MCM.

- 3. To minimize unnecessary spills from the reservoir at the time that the stored water in the reservoir exceeds the total capacity, the maximum water volume in the reservoir is assumed to be equal to the total reservoir volume. Thus, $S_{i,j} \leq 993$ MCM.
- 4. As the maximum inflows into the reservoir typically occur between January and April (Fig. 7.3a), January is assumed as the initial optimization month and the average water volume in January over 21 years was considered as the initial condition in the optimization model. Therefore, $S_{1,1} = 654.77$ MCM.
- 5. Different management strategies have been applied to select the appropriate release policy for Doroudzan reservoir. According to downstream demands (domestic-industrial, agricultural and power plant sectors), the minimum allowable releases are considered as follows:

$$D_{i,j} + \alpha A_{i,j} + \beta V_{i,j} \le R_{i,j} \le D_{i,j} + A_{i,j} + V_{i,j}$$
(7.4)

where $D_{i,j}$ is the sum of domestic and industrial demands, α is priority coefficient of agricultural segment $A_{i,j}$, and β is priority coefficient of power plant sector $V_{i,j}$ in year *i* and month *j*. It is important to note that the hydroelectric generation is not only an in-stream water user, it is also a large consumptive user of water at the plant.

The Doroudzan reservoir cannot supply the necessary water for all demands simultaneously and there is always a deficiency in providing downstream needs. Therefore, different management policies have been considered to find the appropriate operational policy with the maximum reliability for monthly releases. The model was run for seven management strategies which imply different minimum requirements, as follows:

- Strategy 1: Only supplying domestic-industrial requirements ($\alpha = 0$, and $\beta = 0$).
- Strategy 2: Supplying domestic-industrial needs plus 25 % of agricultural requirements ($\alpha = 0.25$, and $\beta = 0$).
- Strategy 3: Supplying all domestic-industrial needs plus 50 % of agricultural demand ($\alpha = 0.5$, and $\beta = 0$).
- Strategy 4: Supplying all domestic-industrial requirements plus 75 % of agricultural needs ($\alpha = 0.75$, and $\beta = 0$).
- Strategy 5: Supplying domestic-industrial needs plus 25 % of agricultural and 25 % of power plant requirements ($\alpha = \beta = 0.25$).
- Strategy 6: Supplying domestic-industrial needs plus 50 % of agricultural and 25 % of power plant requirements ($\alpha = 0.5$, and $\beta = 0.25$).
- Strategy 7: Supplying domestic-industrial needs plus 25 % of agricultural and 50 % of power plant demand ($\alpha = 0.25$ and $\beta = 0.5$).

Table 7.3 The agricultural and power plant coefficients in different strategies	Strategy	Agricultural coefficient (α)	Power plant coefficient (β)
	1	0.0	0.0
	2	0.25	0.0
	3	0.5	0.0
	4	0.75	0.0
	5	0.25	0.25
	6	0.5	0.25
	7	0.25	0.5

The values of α and β are summarized for all adopted strategies in Table 7.3. In this study, the values α and β have been determined according to the dam's administrative recommendations and demands pattern history in the study area. As the highest priority in this study is domestic-industrial, the coefficient of $D_{i,j}$ is considered one in all strategies. The second and third priorities are agricultural and power plant, respectively, and so the allocated priority coefficients for these two demands are considered less than domestic-industrial needs. The values of α and β demonstrate that the agricultural and power plant segments will be sacrificed during shortage and a portion of the available water in these sectors will be dedicated to other sectors to minimize deficiencies in main priority areas.

7.2.4 Reliability Index

In order to assess the operational performance of reservoir water delivery systems, several performance criteria can be applied to characterize demand scenarios, system alternatives and operation policies. In the example of reservoir system considered herein, there is a single variable deciding whether the system performance is reliable or not over the desired planning horizon. If water supply is not lower than water demand, the system is reliable and downstream demands will be met (Kundzewicz and Kindler 1995). In this case, the reliability index (η) is a major indicator which is defined as the probability of the system not failing in a given period. Hashimoto et al. (1982) investigated reservoir operation system performance with a reliability index as follow:

$$\eta = \frac{N_M}{N_T} \times 100 \tag{7.5}$$

where, N_M is the number of months with standard supply, and N_T is the total months over desired planning horizon.

In this study, the total and monthly reliability of the system have been considered to find the most reliable strategies and also the most supply deficit months over the desired planning horizon.

7.3 Results and Discussion

The main purpose of this chapter is to obtain monthly operational rules for Doroudzan Reservoir in southern Iran. The optimization model was run using observed and synthetic inflows data, and optimal operation policies were derived for assessing the amount of allocated water to all downstream demands including domestic-industrial, agricultural, and power plants.

7.3.1 Optimization Analysis Based on Observed Inflows

The operation of reservoirs is based on some specific policies that present practical guidelines for the amount of stored or released water to meet project requirements. A rule curve is a kind of static policy and practical guideline for determining specific operational policies based on downstream needs. In this study, LINGO was applied for a single-objective optimization, and the total releases were optimized by the model for 252 months. The optimized monthly averages of regulatory release in seven water supply strategies are presented in Table 7.4. These results can be applied as guidelines to find the appropriate way to distribute water among different sectors with minimum deficiency.

Figures 7.3 and 7.4 compare the total monthly demands, the monthly demands in each strategy, the average monthly inflows, and the monthly averages of optimized and non-optimized releases in all adopted strategies and demonstrate how optimization changes the monthly distribution of regulatory releases in different strategies compared to the total demands and non-optimized releases. Based on the results, the Doroudzan Reservoir cannot supply the necessary water for all demands simultaneously and dam administrators have to choose the appropriate operation policy based on downstream needs. Therefore, different strategies are considered to supply downstream demands based on historical inflows, existing water in the reservoir, and minimum downstream requirements.

According to Fig. 7.3a, the inflows into the reservoir decrease from April to June, while the total demands increase during this period. These months are the most critical months and the optimized releases have downward trends in strategies 1, 2, 3, and 5 (see Figs. 7.3b–d and 7.4b). In these cases, low inflows force the optimization model to only provide the minimum requirements in desired strategy and store more water to be released in the following months, such as July, August, and September that include high demands. On the other hand, the optimized releases are increased by increasing minimum requirements in strategies 4 and 7, and so, dam administrators have to release much more water in these strategies to supply downstream needs. As much more water should be released, the volume of stored water will be decreased significantly (see Fig. 7.5 and Table 7.6).

In addition to release, the yearly averages of stored water in the non-optimized and optimized conditions are estimated for all adopted strategies and the results are



Fig. 7.3 Comparison of total monthly demands and monthly average of observed release with total demands in each strategy and **a** monthly average of inflows, **b** monthly average of optimum releases in strategy 1, **c** strategy 2, and **d** strategy 3

Month	Strategies								
	1	2	3	4	5	6	7		
Jan	49.90	50.84	46.63	30.47	49.51	45.48	33.95		
Feb	56.37	56.37	54.03	34.11	57.04	52.38	41.09		
Mar	148.11	131.47	137.63	119.13	136.05	128.10	119.06		
Apr	153.60	149.44	142.35	124.71	139.81	143.47	123.99		
May	113.35	116.30	128.64	164.94	117.37	97.62	157.29		
Jun	57.45	77.38	91.35	161.59	84.17	122.48	158.62		
Jul	87.82	89.87	98.39	147.62	111.74	126.02	145.65		
Aug	141.24	126.21	139.53	145.37	135.02	146.61	145.32		
Sep	155.27	163.69	153.88	122.41	145.83	125.63	113.28		
Oct	75.02	79.09	60.41	31.32	71.25	67.26	37.67		
Nov	60.97	58.46	51.91	34.35	52.74	49.69	37.28		
Dec	42.82	42.82	37.19	25.93	41.41	37.19	28.74		

 Table 7.4 Monthly average of optimum reservoir releases in different strategies (MCM)

presented in Table 7.5. According to this table, optimization increased the total stored water in the reservoir by 2.9, 4.54, 7.04, 6.69, and 1.75 % in strategies 1, 2, 3, 5, and 6, respectively, while stored water decreased about 34.9 and 33.92 % in strategies 4, and 7, respectively.



Fig. 7.4 Comparison of monthly demands and monthly average of observed release with total demands in each strategy and monthly average of optimum releases in **a** strategy 4, **b** strategy 5, **c** strategy 6, and **d** strategy 7

These results showed that much more water must be released to provide downstream needs in strategies 4 and 7. Figure 7.5a–d shows the yearly variations of optimized and non-optimized stored water in strategies 1, 4, 5 and 7, respectively.

Besides the monthly averages of releases and stored water, the monthly values of optimized and non-optimized releases and stored water during two certain dry and wet years are also presented based on a particular criterion. In this case, if more than 75 % of monthly inflows through a specific year are less than the average of inflows in the period of 1986–2006 (97.49 MCM), that year is considered as a dry year; and if less than 50 % of monthly inflows in a certain year are less than the average of inflows during planning horizon, the desired year is considered as a wet year.

As the study area is located in a semi-arid region where dry periods are more dominant than wet periods, two different thresholds are considered to determine the wet and dry years. In the case of Doroudzan Reservoir, the years 1993 and 2001 are selected as wet and dry years, respectively, and the associated inflows of each year in conjunction with the average of inflows in the period of 1986–2006 are shown in Fig. 7.6.

Figures 7.7 and 7.8 show the monthly values of optimized and non-optimized releases and stored water for strategies 3 and 6 for desired dry and wet years. As



Fig. 7.5 Comparison of yearly average of observed stored water and optimum stored water in a strategy 1, b strategy 4, c strategy 5, and d strategy 7

can be seen from these figures, the optimized releases during a dry year can only provide the minimum requirement of downstream, while there are more releases and additional storages in the reservoir during a wet year.

7.3.2 Reliability Analysis

If no water is discharged from the reservoir or if the allocated water to the downstream area is below demand requirements, the released flow does not meet demands and a deficit exists. In this study, the performance of Doroudzan Reservoir was assessed before and after optimization by applying Eq. 7.5. Results showed that there are 211 deficit months and the reliability of system was only 16.27 % before optimization, while optimization analysis increased the reliability index in all adopted strategies (Table 7.6). Although there is still deficiency under optimized conditions, optimization resulted in fewer deficit months, and the reliability is considerably lower in strategies 4 and 7 rather than the other adopted strategies. This decreased reliability indicates that the system will face serious problems when supplying domestic-industrial and 75 % of agricultural needs or domestic-industrial, 25 % agricultural needs, and 50 % power plant requirements in

Date	Observed	Strategy						
		1	2	3	4	5	6	7
1986	501.34	723.35	703.05	718.84	405.93	692.73	697.55	398.22
1987	821.36	596.85	618.11	682.41	268.84	658.29	684.70	258.59
1988	836.53	815.49	840.26	850.78	462.36	822.50	809.45	433.48
1989	691.67	797.49	806.13	813.76	351.32	845.32	792.95	309.59
1990	714.21	744.56	726.39	696.04	283.99	777.96	747.66	273.49
1991	696.23	685.19	656.81	637.85	311.41	685.84	729.64	300.18
1992	832.32	491.65	501.17	526.83	324.87	486.91	514.98	323.11
1993	908.84	785.58	761.43	855.59	518.20	827.70	803.99	505.05
1994	672.02	624.63	682.97	695.02	375.02	709.24	651.64	333.28
1995	764.99	580.63	615.00	651.36	400.57	614.25	589.70	399.15
1996	761.82	793.06	757.22	837.51	418.05	799.31	784.83	398.77
1997	599.58	637.30	714.50	696.98	330.11	709.22	688.32	288.37
1998	723.18	663.40	691.48	700.43	472.61	699.54	730.99	476.66
1999	663.91	793.75	812.07	849.16	709.10	843.63	824.71	733.76
2000	412.78	894.41	898.00	848.95	628.35	876.44	760.72	696.05
2001	383.37	765.08	751.35	729.31	402.05	756.45	471.67	394.05
2002	740.06	756.67	769.13	816.35	725.82	763.77	685.18	724.74
2003	762.72	752.14	742.80	764.62	685.58	759.67	734.52	696.48
2004	756.66	704.76	715.47	771.58	624.46	742.43	717.78	680.55
2005	731.39	798.39	861.70	832.90	590.17	861.40	816.67	644.74
2006	589.70	582.91	600.40	613.85	193.33	606.58	581.70	356.33
Ave.	693.56	713.68	725.02	742.39	451.53	739.96	705.68	458.32

Table 7.5 Yearly average of observed and optimum stored water in different strategies (MCM)



Fig. 7.6 Monthly inflows in two certain wet and dry years in conjunction with monthly average of inflows in the period 1986–2006



Fig. 7.7 Monthly values of optimized and non-optimized releases and stored water in strategies 3 and 6 during dry year (2001)



Fig. 7.8 Monthly values of optimized and non-optimized releases and stored water in strategies 3 and 6 during wet year (1993)

strategies 4 and 7, respectively. In this condition, the dam's administrator has to provide the necessary water from other available water sources to supply downstream needs with higher reliability. For example, supplementary wells can be used to overcome deficiency during peak water demand periods.

Strategy	Number of deficit months	Reliability (%)	Variation of stored water (%)
Observed	211	16.27	_
1	65	74.00	2.90
2	77	69.00	4.54
3	103	59.00	7.04
4	177	29.76	-34.90
5	93	63.10	6.69
6	123	51.19	1.75
7	169	32.94	-33.92

Table 7.6 The number of deficit months, reliability of system, and changing the mean of total stored water in comparison to non-optimized condition

Table 7.7 Monthly reliability in optimized and non-optimized conditions

Month	Observed release	Strategie	Strategies						
		1	2	3	4	5	6	7	
Jan	19.05	95.24	95.24	90.48	52.38	95.24	76.19	52.38	
Feb	14.29	95.24	95.24	90.48	57.14	95.24	76.19	57.14	
Mar	23.81	90.48	76.19	76.19	47.62	76.19	66.67	47.62	
Apr	52.38	90.48	85.71	76.19	38.10	76.19	76.19	47.62	
May	23.81	47.62	38.10	28.57	28.57	33.33	14.29	28.57	
Jun	0.00	19.05	14.29	4.76	19.05	4.76	9.52	23.81	
Jul	0.00	33.33	23.81	14.29	19.05	23.81	19.05	28.57	
Aug	0.00	52.38	38.10	33.33	14.29	33.33	28.57	14.29	
Sep	0.00	76.19	76.19	61.90	14.29	61.90	42.86	19.05	
Oct	0.00	90.48	95.24	66.67	0.00	80.95	66.67	4.76	
Nov	4.76	100.00	95.24	80.95	9.52	80.95	66.67	19.05	
Dec	57.14	100.00	100.00	85.71	57.14	95.24	71.43	52.38	

On the other hand, the importance of deficit magnitude has also been considered to find the most harmful months over the desired planning horizon. Hence, the optimized releases are compared with the total water demands in all 252 months and monthly reliabilities are presented in Table 7.7. Although optimization increased the reliability index in most months, its values are almost under 40 % in May–August. Since there are high water requirements and also low inflows between May and August (Fig. 7.3a), these months are recognized as the most harmful months, in particular for agricultural and power plant segments. However, it can be concluded that the achieved results prove the success of optimization analysis to supply minimum requirements associated with each strategy and also provide appropriate operational policies for Doroudzan Reservoir.

Figures 7.9a–d compare the monthly reliability in optimized and nom-optimized conditions for all adopted strategies. These figures show how the reliability of the system in each strategy varies in comparison to the other strategies. For

Monthly reliability (%)



Fig. 7.9 Monthly values of optimized and non-optimized releases and stored water in strategies 3 and 6 during wet year (1993)

example, Fig. 7.9c shows the system is not very reliable in Strategy 7 in comparison to strategy 1, while it is more reliable than Strategy 4.

7.3.3 Optimization Analysis Based on Synthetic Inflow Data

In this study, in addition to the observed inflow data which were applied to evaluate optimum releases for different strategies by an LP model, a period longer than the recorded 252 months is examined by using synthetic data to determine the effect of alternative scenarios on the reservoir operation. It is important to note that using synthetic data in optimization analysis is necessary to see the changes in the reservoir operation policies in a longer period. Synthetic inflows were generated for a longer period of 432 months by the Monte Carlo method based on the statistical characteristics of the 252 months of observed inflow data. Then, the LP model was re-run in strategies 1 and 5. For this alternative, only strategies 1 and 5 were considered for optimization analysis based on synthetic inflow data. In the next step, the optimized values of releases were obtained from historical and synthetic inflow data for both strategies 1 and 5.

In the first phase, the most common statistical distributions including Normal, Gamma, Gumbel, Log-normal, and Pareto were fitted to 252 monthly observed inflow data and the best distribution was selected based on the goodness-of-fit test. To find the best fitting statistical distribution, the Kolmogorov–Smirnov (KS) and Chi Square tests were applied and the results are presented in Table 7.8.

Table 7.8 Goodness-of-fit test for observed data	Distribution	Kolmogorov-Smirnov	Chi square
test for observed data	Normal	0.207	240.35
	Gamma	0.135	62.49
	Gumbel	0.155	115.37
	Lognormal	0.086	31.73
	Pareto	0.223	84.95



Fig. 7.10 Optimum releases and synthetic optimum releases in strategy 1 (1993–2003)

According to this table, the distribution yielding the smaller KS value, herein the Log-normal distribution, was selected and synthetic inflow data were generated for 432 months. Figures 7.10 and 7.11 compare the optimum releases and synthetic optimum releases in strategies 1 and 5, respectively, from 1993 to 2003. Furthermore, variations of stored water in strategy 1 were calculated by the applied optimization model using both data sets, and the results are plotted in Fig. 7.12 for the period of 1993–2003.

7.3.4 Performance of the Model

There are a number of ways in statistics to quantify the difference between values implied by an estimator and the true values of the quantity being estimated. In this case, three common techniques are the mean error (ME), mean absolute error (MAE) and root-mean-square error (RMSE), which can be applied to measure differences between values predicted by a model or an estimator and the observed

t



Fig. 7.11 Optimum releases and synthetic optimum releases in strategy 5 (1993–2003)



Fig. 7.12 Variations of stored water in strategy 1(1993–2003)

values. Mean Error indicates whether the forecasts are biased, MAE measures the average magnitude of the errors in a set of forecasts, and RMSE is a quadratic scoring rule which measures the average magnitude of the error. Lower values of

	RMSE	ME	MAE
$R_{Opt.}$ versus R_{opt-s} in strategy 1	1.26	-0.36	0.79
$R_{Opt.}$ versus R_{opt-s} in strategy 5	1.18	-0.32	0.82
$S_{Opt.}$ versus S_{opt-s} in strategy 1	22.34	4.11	19.31

Table 7.9 Performance summary of the synthetic and observed values

Table 7.10 Monthly average of optimum and synthetic optimum releases in strategies 1 and 5

Month	Strategy 1 (MCM)		Strategy 5 (MCM)		
	Optimum release	Synthetic optimum release	Optimum release	Synthetic optimum release	
Jan	49.90	50.12	49.51	49.68	
Feb	56.37	56.66	57.04	57.36	
Mar	148.11	148.46	136.05	136.41	
Apr	153.60	154.18	139.81	140.41	
May	113.35	114.13	117.37	117.71	
Jun	57.45	57.81	84.17	84.67	
Jul	87.82	88.52	111.74	112.25	
Aug	141.24	141.55	135.02	135.51	
Sep	155.27	155.29	145.83	145.76	
Oct	75.02	75.23	71.25	71.42	
Nov	60.97	61.09	52.74	52.83	
Dec	42.82	43.15	41.41	41.72	

RMSE, ME, and MAE indicate a better fit between the model's predictions and the observed data. In this study, ME, MAE, and RMSE are used to quantitatively evaluate the performance of the applied model and estimate deviations of optimum releases (R_{opt}) and stored water (S_{opt}) from synthetic optimums release (R_{opt-s}) and stored water (S_{opt-s}). A performance summary of the predicted and observed values is presented in Table 7.9.

RMSE, MAE, and ME values between optimum release (R_{opt}) and synthetic optimum releases (R_{opt-s}) are calculated as 1.26, 0.79, and -0.36 in strategy 1, and 1.18, 0.82, and -0.32 in strategy 5, respectively. As it can be seen from Figs. 7.10, 7.11 and 7.12, and also Table 7.10, the outcomes of the LP optimization model using observed and synthetic data are well resembled and confirm each other. Table 7.10 presents the monthly averages of synthetic and normal optimized releases in strategies 1 and 5. Although the results of simulation do not always get used because of inflow regime variations due to climate changes and also recent droughts in Iran, they can be applied by dam administrators for future implementation operation policies to create new operational plans as part of novel management strategies within an acceptable range.

7.4 Conclusions

This chapter focused on the Doroudzan Reservoir operation using observed and synthetic inflow data in different strategies. The objective function of the applied LP model was maximizing allocated water for various downstream needs by considering the domestic-industry as main priority and assuming various priorities coefficients for agriculture and power plant segments. Different strategies were analyzed by running the optimization model for observed inflows during 252 months, and then seven different operation policies within each strategy's performance figured out. The achieved results can be briefly summarized as;

- 1. There were 211 deficit months before optimization and the reliability of system was only 16.27 %, while optimization analysis increased the reliability index from a minimum of 29.76 % in strategy 4 to a maximum of 74 % in strategy 1.
- 2. The optimization increased the stored water in the reservoir by 2.9, 4.54, 7.04, 6.69, and 1.75 % in strategies 1, 2, 3, 5, and 6, respectively.
- 3. The Doroudzan Reservoir cannot supply the necessary water for all demands simultaneously and dam administrators have to choose the appropriate strategy based on available water and downstream priorities. However, the optimization analysis increased efficiency and decreased the conflict in the management of tradeoffs between available water and downstream demands.
- 4. Furthermore, the optimization model was re-run based on the synthetic inflow data to consider the performance of the model based on synthetic inflows and obtaining appropriate operation policies. The results demonstrated that the outcomes of the LP optimization model using observed and synthetic data are well resembled and confirm each other. Therefore, it can be concluded that applying synthetic data in optimization analysis is useful to see the changes in the reservoir operation policies in a longer period.

It can be concluded that optimization with mathematical modeling techniques can enhance reservoir operation efficiency throughout scientific allocation of the available water, and determine the appropriate operational releases regarding downstream demands.

References

- Bozorg Haddad O, Afshar A, Mariño MA (2008) Honey-bee mating optimization (HBMO) algorithm in deriving optimal operation rules for reservoirs. J Hydroinform 10(3):257–264
- Bower BT, Hufschmidt MM, Reedy WW (1962) Operating procedures: their role in the design of water-resource systems by simulation analyses. In: Maass A, Hufschmidt MM, Dorfman R, Thomas HA Jr, Marglin SA, Fair GM (eds) Design of water resources systems. Harvard University Press, Cambridge
- Devi S, Srivastava DK, Mohan C (2005) Optimal water allocation for the trans-boundary Subernarekha River. India J Water Resour Plan Manage 131(4):253–269

- Ejeta MZ, Mays MW (2002) Computer models for integrated hydrosystems management. In: Lund JR, Cobacho R, Cabrera E (eds) Regional water system management water conservation, water supply and system integration. Taylor & Francis, London, pp 259–304
- Ganji A, Khalili D, Karamouz M (2007) Development of stochastic dynamic Nash game model for reservoir operation I. The symmetric stochastic model with perfect information. J Adv Water Resour 30(3):528–542
- Hashimoto T, Stedinger JR, Loucks DP (1982) Reliability, resilience, and vulnerability criteria for water resource system performance evaluation. J Water Resour Manage 18(1):14–20
- Karamouz M, Vasiliadis HV (1992) Bayesian stochastic optimization of reservoir operation using uncertain forecasts. J Water Resour Manage 28(5):1221–1232
- Kundzewicz ZW, Kindler J (1995) Multiple criteria for evaluation of reliability aspects of water resource systems. Modeling and management of sustainable basin-scale water resource systems. In: Proceedings of a boulder symposium, July 1995, IAHS Publ. No. 231
- Labadie J (2004) Optimal operation of multi-reservoir systems: state of the art review. J Water Resour Plan Manage ASCE 130(2):93–111
- Latif M, James LD (1991) Conjunctive use to control water logging and salinization. J Water Resour Plan Manage 117(6):611–628
- Loucks DP, Beek EV (2005) Water resources system planning and management. United Nations Educational, Scientific Cultural organization (UNESCO), Delft Hydraulics Institute, Netherlands
- Loucks DP, Stedinger JR, Haith DA (1981) Water resource systems planning and analysis. Prentice-Hall Inc., New Jersey
- Montazar A, Riazi H, Behbahani SM (2010) Conjunctive water use planning in an irrigation command area. J Water Resour Manage 24(3):577–596
- Neelakantan TR, Pundarikanthan NV (1999) Hedging rule optimization for water supply reservoirs system. J Water Resour Manage 13(2):409–426
- Ngo LL, Madsen H, Rosbjerg D (2007) Simulation and optimization modelling approach for operation of the Hoa Binh reservoir. Vietnam J Hydrol 336:269–281
- Peralta RC, Cantiller RRA, Terry JE (1995) Optimal large scale conjunctive water use planning: a case study. J Water Resour Manage ASCE 121(6):471–478
- Rani D, Moreira MM (2009) Simulation-optimization modeling: a survey and potential application in reservoir systems operation. J Water Resour Manage 24(6):1107–1138
- Sattari MT, Apaydin H, Ozturk F (2009) Operation analysis of Eleviyan irrigation reservoir dam by optimization and stochastic simulation. Stoch Environ Res Risk Assess 23:1187–1201
- Shih JS, ReVelle C (1995) Water supply operations during drought: a discrete hedging rule. Eur J Oper Res 82(1):163–175
- Shiau JT, Lee HC (2005) Derivation of optimal rules for a water supply reservoir through compromise programming. J Water Resour Manage 19:111–132
- Sudha V, Venugopal K, Ambujam NK (2008) Reservoir operation management through optimization and deficit irrigation. J Irrig Drain Syst 22(1):93–102
- Wurbs RA (1993) Computer models for water resources planning and management. US Army Corps of Engineers, Institute for Water Resources. Water Resources Support Center, Alexandria, Virginia
- Wurbs RA (2005) Comparative evaluation of generalized river/reservoir systems models. Texas Water Resources Institute, Texas, pp 65–82
- Ziaei M, Shui LT, Goodarzi E (2012) Optimization and simulation modeling for operation of the Zayandeh Rud Reservoir. Water Int J 37(3):305–318

Chapter 8 Using Optimization in Wellfield Operations: An Implementation Case Study at Tampa Bay Water

Nisai Wanakule and Alison Adams

Abstract This chapter includes simulation–optimization analysis of water supply in central Florida using integrated surface and groundwater modeling to allocate groundwater pumping that is protective of the natural ecosystem while meeting water supply demands of over 2 million people using a mix of surface water, groundwater and desalinated water.

8.1 Introduction

Tampa Bay Water is Florida's largest wholesale water supplier, serving more than 2.3 million people with annual average demand between 220 and 262 million gallons per day (mgd). It was established in 1974 as the West Coast Regional Water Supply Authority by State Legislation through a five-party agreement among Hillsborough, Pinellas and Pasco counties and the cities of St. Petersburg and Tampa. The city of New Port Richey joined the Agency in 1984 as a nonvoting member. The Agency's mission has been to develop, store, and supply water for municipal purposes in such a manner that gives priority to reducing adverse environmental effects of excessive or improper withdrawals of water from concentrated areas. Conflict between meeting water demands and preventing harm to wetland and lake systems was intensified in the early 1990s, making it difficult under the existing Authority's organization to manage wellfields effectively. In 1996, the Authority was mandated by the Legislature to develop regional water solutions and a comprehensive answer to the water needs of the Tampa Bay area. As a result, two actions occurred, (1) the Authority was reorganized into Tampa Bay Water and obtained ownership and control over the regional groundwater supply facilities, and (2) Southwest Florida Water Management District

N. Wanakule · A. Adams

Tampa Bay Water, 2575 Enterprise Rd, Clearwater FL 33763, US

E. Goodarzi et al., *Introduction to Optimization Analysis in Hydrosystem Engineering*, 239 Topics in Safety, Risk, Reliability and Quality 25, DOI: 10.1007/978-3-319-04400-2_8, © Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2014

(SWFWMD) and the Authority and its Member Governments entered into a new agreement, the Partnership Agreement, which required new water sources be developed. It also required a reduction in pumpage from eleven existing wellfields in three phases: an immediate reduction from 192 mgd to 158 mgd; then to 121 mgd by 2003; and finally to 90 mgd by 2008. In return, SWFWMD committed up to \$183 million to assist with developing new, alternative water supply sources.

In response to groundwater cutbacks to relieve wetland stress and develop an environmentally sustainable water supply system, Tampa Bay Water developed the following initiatives:

- (a) The revised Master Water Plan, which included the surface water supply system and surface water treatment plant to treat water withdrew from area rivers and from the then to-be-constructed off-stream reservoir.
- (b) The Optimized Regional Operations Plan (OROP), an integrated ground water-surface water model to schedule well pumpage among eleven wellfields with an objective of maximizing surficial aquifer water levels.
- (c) The Phase I Mitigation Plan, which provided a rehydration plan for hydrologically-stressed wetlands and lakes.

As the new water supply sources of the Master Water Plan came on-line, the OROP model and the Phase I Mitigation Plan were designed to ensure that water production would not result in unacceptable adverse environmental impacts and that historical impacts from groundwater production were addressed.

A Master Water Plan developed prior to the reorganization in 1998 was modified to include many new projects with a very challenging time schedule. The Plan included new water treatment facilities and conveyance for that supply to be developed in the Tampa Bay area to enable mandated wellfield cutbacks and meet growing demand. Components of the plan also included additional infrastructure to interconnect the 11 consolidated wellfields, the hemisphere's largest seawater desalination plant with a permitted capacity of 28.75 mgd; an "enhanced surface water system" comprised of three supply sources, a 15.5 billion gallon (BG) offstream reservoir and a new 72 mgd regional surface water treatment facility (which has been expanded to a 120 mgd permitted surface water treatment facility); a redesigned and refurbished wellfield; and more than 80 miles of interconnecting pipelines. The program was projected to meet the regions needs with environmentally sustainable, diversified, drought proof and/or drought resistant and cost effective new sources as well as aggressive water conservation efforts to reduce demands by up to 17 mgd. Figure 8.1 shows the current facilities after Phase I of the Master Plan had been completed.

The OROP was designed to minimize production impacts to wetlands and lakes by rotating among sources in response to target levels set in surficial aquifer monitoring wells. These target levels were determined by statistical correlations between minimum levels established for wetlands and lakes and surficial aquifer water levels. The establishment of minimum wetland and lake levels was based on



Fig. 8.1 Locations of Tampa Bay Water facilities in 2013

regulatory criteria that relate environmental health to indicators of historical wetland and lake levels (known as historical normal pool).

The Phase I Mitigation Plan began with a study that assessed wetland hydrologic impacts, and predicted wetland water level recovery, based on aerial photointerpretation, GIS analysis and integrated surface water—groundwater modeling. Based on the results of that study, rehydration plans were being developed for those wetlands that were predicted not to recover to their minimum levels (on a long-term average basis) after the Master Water Plan projects were operational. These mitigation plans included surface drainage alterations (e.g. ditch blocks, water control structures), rehydration with reclaimed water or excess surface water, and possibly groundwater augmentation.

In 1998, about 71 % of the demand was met by 12 regional wellfields with the remaining 29 % met by the use of a surface water reservoir owned and operated by City of Tampa. Eight of the 12 Tampa Bay Water's regional wellfields were interconnected which, if the supplies were adequate, would facilitate the rotation of pumpage based on environmental, physical and regulatory constraints. It was obvious that Tampa Bay Water had to start implementing an innovative water supply management program to effectively manage the existing wellfields and the up-coming new water sources in an environmentally sustainable manner.

8.2 Optimized Regional Operation Plan

8.2.1 Background

The Optimized Regional Operations Plan (OROP) is a key component of the Operations Plan. The OROP is a custom-built application which incorporates an optimization model and utilizes output from various models, current hydrologic and pumpage data, and a set of operating constraints to manage the 11 wellfields under the Consolidated Permit (also known as the Central System Facilities), the Brandon Urban Dispersed Wells (BUDW), and the Carrollwood wells (Fig. 8.2) through the development of weekly production schedules. The models used to provide input to the optimization model include the Integrated Hydrologic Model (through the development of a unit response matrix or URM), a group of artificial neural network models, surface water forecasting tools, and short-term demand forecasting models. Input to the optimization model includes demands, surface water availability and scheduled withdrawals from the Hillsborough River/Tampa Bypass Canal system, Alafia River and Regional Reservoir, and scheduled production from the seawater desalination facility. The optimization model schedules production from the Central System wellfields based on current hydrologic conditions, operational constraints, permit limits, forecasted treated surface water reliably available from the regional surface water treatment plant, and reliably available desalinated seawater, to meet forecasted Member Government demands, and seeks to optimize groundwater levels based on targets at a selected set of surficial aquifer and Upper Floridan Aquifer monitoring wells called control points. It also adheres to operating policies and infrastructure physical limits as well as complies with conditions of the Consolidated and other water use permits. Policy issues are addressed by using weights to assign preferences to maximize groundwater levels at the control point locations.





The output of the optimization routine is a weekly schedule prioritizing pumpage from all active production wells of the Central System Facilities.

The OROP is formulated as a linear programming (LP) model. Constraints that govern the optimization model generally fall into one of four categories—physical constraints (e.g., pump capacities, conveyance facilities), regulatory constraints (e.g., wellfield pumping limits, specified water levels), operational constraints (e.g., water quality, minimum production limits), and demand constraints. An additional set of constraints that represents the integrated surface/groundwater hydrologic system is required to complete the optimization formulation.

The hydrologic model, which is based on the physical characteristics of the surface and groundwater systems, simulates changes in water levels due to changes in pumpage and rainfall. The pumpage/water-level relationships are based on the Integrated Hydrologic Model (IHM) Northern Tampa Bay application providing a unit response for each production/monitor well combination which relates pumpage changes to water-level changes.

Water quality constraints are included in both the physical constraint and regulatory constraint categories. Tampa Bay Water produces a "finished" product that meets not only Safe Drinking Water act requirements but also additional standards and requirements defined in the Agency's governance documents.

8.2.2 Optimization Formulation

The objective of this optimization problem is to maximize ground-water levels at specified locations in the surficial aquifer system (SAS) while satisfying the projected water demands and complying with regulatory requirements, given the system constraints. The primary decision variables for each time period are the pumping rates at each production well withdrawing from the Upper Floridan Aquifer system (UFAS). The secondary decision variables (also called state variables) are the ground-water levels in monitoring wells for both the SAS and UFAS. The problem is subjected to two general constraint sets and three specific constraint sets. The general constraint sets consist of a system of equations describing the surface and ground-water hydrology and the variable bounds. Tampa Bay Water's Integrated Hydrologic Model of the Northern Tampa Bay area is currently used to simulate the physical system hydrology. The specific constraint sets consist of the demand constraints, the regulatory constraints on water levels and pumpage specified in the water use permits (WUPs), and operation/maintenance and water quality constraints of the infrastructure system. The optimization routine determines the wellfield and well production schedule based on the water demands projected for each of the points of connection and reliably available treated surface water and desalinated seawater. Before the problem is formulated mathematically, a set of notations must be defined as;

- *i* An index of an element in the set R^u or R
- t An index for time period corresponding to the week number in the simulation model, ($t \le 0$ refers to time index prior to the start of simulation)
- $h_{i,t}^{u}$ The SAS water level at location *i* at the end of time period *t*
- $h_{i,t}$ The UFAS water level at location *i* at the end of time period *t*
- ω_i The assigned weight to enable priority factors applied to reduce environmental stress preferentially at location *i*
- R^{μ} A set of monitoring wells in SAS where water levels are being maximized
- *R* A set of regulatory monitoring wells specified in WUPs
- H_i Regulatory water level in the UFAS at the monitoring well *i*
- $q_{j,t}$ Average weekly pumping rate from the *j*th well for time period *t*
- $d_{n,t}^r$ Pipe flow from the *n*th source to the *r*th point of connection during time period *t*
- D_t^r Water demand for the *r*th point of connection for time period *t*
- w_n A set of production wells for the *n*th wellfield
- j An index of an element in the set w_n
- P_n^y Regulatory 12-month average withdrawal for wellfield *n*
- P_n^m Regulatory peak month withdrawal for wellfield n
- P_n^m Regulatory peak month withdrawal for well *j*
- W_t The week number in water year (commence on Oct 1 each year) for time period t
- C_j^{Fe} Level of measuring iron concentration (mg/l) in production well j C_j^{H2S} Level of measuring hydrogen sulfide concentration (mg/l) in production
- C_j^{H2S} Level of measuring hydrogen sulfide concentration (mg/l) in production well j
- $\underline{Q}_{j}, \overline{Q}_{j}$ The lower and upper production limits (by the maintenance requirement, or well capacities, or the peak shaving program) for the *j*th well, Q^{cc} The Cypress Creek Pumping Station capacity
- $\underline{\underline{O}}_{n}^{wf}, \overline{\underline{O}}_{n}^{wf}$ Minimum and maximum limits (required to maintain line pressure or to stay in the venturi calibration ranges) for the *n*th wellfield

All pumping rates, production limits, demand requirements, and flow quantities are in mgd, and also all of water levels are in feet NGVD. In addition to the above notation, the following abbreviations are used to identify source and demand points (Table 8.1).

Moreover, WF^c is a set of Consolidated Permit Wellfields as cr, cc, cb, sp, mb, s21, nwh, cm, ew, st and np, and also SCHI is South-Central Hillsborough Intertie.

The problem in this case can be expressed mathematically as follows:

$$\max Z = \sum_{i \in \mathbb{R}^u} \sum_{t=1}^T \omega_i h_{i,t}^u$$
(8.1)

cr	Cross Bar Ranch Wellfield	сс	Cypress Creek Wellfield	cb	Cypress Bridge Wellfield
sp	South Pasco Wellfield	mb	Morris Bridge Wellfield	<i>s</i> 21	Section 21 Wellfield
nwh	Northwest Hillsborough Wellfield	ст	Cosme Odessa Wellfield	ew	Eldridge Wilde Wellfield
st	Starkey Wellfield	np	North Pasco Wellfield	bu	Brandon Urban Dispersed Wells
sch	South-Central Hillsborough Wellfield	Crw	Carrollwood wells	cot	Purchased water from City of Tampa
СС	Cypress Creek Water Treatment Plant (WTP)	MB	Morris Bridge WTP	LB	Lake Bridge WTP
LP	Lake Park WTP	NW	Northwest Hillsborough WTP	СМ	Cosme WTP
LR	Little Road WTP	MT	Maytum WTP	PD	West Pasco Point of Connection– Pasco Distribution System
OD	Odessa Water Treatment Plant– Pasco Distribution System	СН	Central Hillsborough Regional Water Treatment Facility (replaced Highview)	MP	South Pasco Meter Pit
PK	Pinellas County Distribution System (Keller WTP and Regional System)	LT	Lithia Water Treatment Plant	RWTP	Regional Surface Water Treatment Plant
SDP	Seawater Desalination Plant	TBC	Hillsborough River/ Tampa Bypass Canal pump station	ALF	Alafia River pump station
TBRR	Tampa Bay Regional Reservoir	CBTM	Cypress Bridge Transmission Main	NCHI	North-Central Hillsborough Intertie

Table 8.1 Abbreviations to identify source and demand points

Subject to the following constraints;

1. Demand constraints:

Some wellfields and Points of Connection (POC) are interconnected to the "Regional System" as shown in Fig. 8.3. This constraint set must satisfy not only demands at Points of Connection but also the physical representation of the Regional System, namely, the quantity and direction of pipe flow. All demands used in this formulation are projected demands obtained from the Short-Term Water Demand Forecasting System Model.

The pipe flow and demand constraints are written at each POC as follows:


Fig. 8.3 OROP control points

(a) Morris Bridge WTP

$$d_{cc,t}^{MB} \ge D_t^{MB} \quad \forall t = 1, \dots, T \tag{8.2}$$

$$\sum_{j \in w_{mb}} q_{j,t} - d_{mb,t}^{CC} = 0 \quad \forall t = 1, \dots, T$$
(8.3)

(b) Lake Bridge WTP

$$d_{cc,t}^{LB} \ge D_t^{LB} \quad \forall t = 1, \dots, T$$
(8.4)

$$\sum_{j \in w_{cb}} q_{j,t} - d_{cb,t}^{CC} = 0 \quad \forall t = 1, \dots, T$$
(8.5)

8 Using Optimization in Wellfield Operations

(c) Lake Park WTP

$$d_{mp,t}^{LP} + d_{s21,t}^{LP} + d_{cot,t}^{THIC} \ge D_t^{LP} \quad \forall t = 1, \dots, T$$
(8.6)

$$\sum_{j \in w_{s21}} q_{j,t} - d_{s21,t}^{LP} + q_{nw7,t} = 0 \quad \forall t = 1, \dots, T$$
(8.7)

(d) Cosme WTP

$$d_{nwh,t}^{CM} + d_{mp,t}^{CM} + d_{cc,t}^{CM} + \sum_{j \in w_{cm}} q_{j,t} \ge D_t^{CM} \quad \forall t = 1, \dots, T$$
(8.8)

(e) Northwest Hillsborough WTP

$$d_{nwh,t}^{NW} \ge D_t^{NW}, \quad \forall t = 1, \dots, T$$
(8.9)

$$\sum_{j \in w_{nwh}} q_{j,t} - q_{nw7,t} + \sum_{j \in w_{crw}} q_{j,t} - d_{nwh,t}^{NW} - d_{nwh,t}^{CM} = 0, \quad \forall t = 1, \dots, T$$
(8.10)

- (f) Keller WTP (has been combined with Pinellas County Distribution System)
- (g) Pinellas County Distribution System

$$d_{cc,t}^{PK} + \sum_{j \in w_{ew}} q_{j,t} \ge D_t^{PK}, \quad \forall t = 1, \dots, T$$
 (8.11)

(h) Little & Maytum WTPs—Equations (8.12) and (8.13) reflect the new West Pasco Infrastructure

$$d_{cc}^{LR} + d_{mt}^{LR} \ge D_t^{LR}, \quad \forall t = 1, \dots, T$$
(8.12)

$$\sum_{j \in \{w_{st} \cap w_{np}\}} q_{j,t} - d_{mt}^{LR} \ge D_t^{MT}, \quad \forall t = 1, \dots, T$$
(8.13)

(i) Pasco Interties

$$d_{cc}^{PD} \ge D_t^{PD}, \quad \forall t = 1, \dots, T$$
(8.14)

$$d_{cc}^{OD} \ge D_t^{OD}, \quad \forall t = 1, \dots, T$$
(8.15)

(j) Regional (Cypress Creek WTP) and sub-regional pipe flow water balance

$$d_{cc,t}^{PK} + d_{cc,t}^{MP} + d_{cc,t}^{CM} + d_{cc,t}^{PD} + d_{cc,t}^{OD} + d_{cc,t}^{LR} = \sum_{j \in w_{cr}} q_{j,t} + \sum_{j \in w_{cc}} q_{j,t} + d_{CBTM,t},$$

$$\forall t = 1, \dots, T$$

$$d_{cc,t}^{LB} + d_{cc,t}^{MB} + d_{CBTM,t} - d_{mb,t}^{CC} - d_{cb,t}^{CC} - d_{NCHI,t} = 0, \quad \forall t = 1, \dots, T$$
(8.17)

$$\sum_{j \in w_{sp}} q_{j,t} + d_{cc,t}^{MP} - d_{mp,t}^{CM} - d_{mp,t}^{LP} = 0, \quad \forall t = 1, \dots, T$$
(8.18)

(k) Finished water clear wells

$$d_{NCHI,t} = d_{SDP,t} + d_{RWTP,t} + d_{COT,t}^{US301} - d_{cc,t}^{CH}, \quad \forall t = 1, \dots, T$$
(8.19)

(1) Raw water tanks and high service pump station

$$d_{SCHI,t} = d_{RWTP,t} - d_{TBC,t}, \quad \forall t = 1, \dots, T$$
(8.20)

(m) Flow from Tampa Bay Regional Reservoir

$$d_{TBRR,t} = d_{SCHI,t} - d_{ALF,t}, \quad \forall t = 1, \dots, T$$
(8.21)

(n) Central Hillsborough Water Treatment Facility and Lithia WTP

$$d_{cc,t}^{CH} \ge D_t^{CH}, \quad \forall t = 1, \dots, T$$
(8.22)

$$d_{cc,t}^{LT} + \sum_{j \in w_{bu}} q_{j,t} + \sum_{j \in w_{sch}} q_{j,t} \ge D_t^{LT}, \quad \forall t = 1, \dots, T$$
(8.23)

In constraints (8.20) and (8.21), $d_{TBC,t}$, $d_{ALF,t}$, $d_{SDP,t}$, and $d_{TBRR,t}$ are the forecasted availability of surface water supply at Tampa Bypass Canal pump station, Alafia River pump station, Seawater Desalination Plant, and the C.W. Bill Young Regional Reservoir, respectively.

- 2. Regulatory and facility constraints:
 - (a) WUP's regulatory levels for non-cumulative weekly average (swing level)

$$h_{i,t} \ge H_i - 3, \quad \forall i \in R; t = 1, \dots, T$$
 (8.24)

(b) WUP's regulatory levels for cumulative weekly average (minimum level)

$$\left(\sum_{\tau=-W_{-1}}^{t} h_{i,\tau}\right) / W_t \ge H_i, \quad \forall i \in R; t | W_t > 8$$
(8.25)

(c) Weekly minimum and maximum production by wellfield (facility constraints, rule-curves, venturi limits)

$$\underline{\underline{O}}_{n}^{wf} \leq \sum_{j \in w_{n}} q_{j,t} \leq \overline{\underline{O}}_{n}^{wf}, \quad \forall n \in WF^{c} \cup \{bu\}; t = 1, \dots, T$$
(8.26)

(d) 12-month running average total pumpage from the Consolidated Permit Wellfields. This permit constraint can be expressed as,

$$\sum_{n \in WF^c} \sum_{j \in w_n} \sum_{\tau=t-51}^t q_{j,\tau} \le 52P^y, \quad \forall t = 1, \dots, T$$
(8.27)

(e) Peak month for each wellfield (4-week basis)

$$\sum_{j \in w_n} \sum_{\tau = \max(1, t-3)}^{t} q_{j,\tau} \le \min(4, t) P_n^m, \quad \forall n \in WF^c \cup \{bu\}; t = 1, \dots, T$$
(8.28)

(f) Peak month for each well (4-week basis)

$$\sum_{\tau=\max(1,t-3)}^{t} q_{j,\tau} \le \min(4,t) P_j^m, \quad \forall j \in w_n; n \in WF^c \cup \{bu\}; t = 1, \dots, T \quad (8.29)$$

(g) Cypress Creek Pumping Station capacity

$$\sum_{j \in w_{cr}} q_{j,t} \sum_{j \in w_{cc}} q_{j,t} \le Q^{cc}, \quad \forall t = 1, \dots, T$$
(8.30)

(h) Saltwater intrusion

Constraint equations to address saltwater intrusion are expressed in the same manner as regulatory wells. Equations (8.24) and (8.25) are applied at saltwater intrusion monitoring wells using the long-term mean values of water levels as the minimum levels.

(i) South Central Hillsborough Wellfield permit condition

$$\sum_{j \in w_{sch}} \sum_{\tau=t-51}^{t} q_{j,\tau} \le 52 P_{sch}^{y}, \quad \forall t = 1, \dots, T$$
(8.31)

$$\sum_{j \in w_{sch}} \sum_{\tau = \max(1, t-3)}^{t} q_{j,\tau} \le \min(4, t) P_{sch}^{m}, \quad \forall t = 1, \dots, T$$
(8.32)

(j) Carrollwood Wells peak month limitation based on Lake Carroll stage

$$\sum_{j \in w_{crw}} \sum_{\tau = \max(1, t-3)}^{t} q_{j,\tau} \le \min(4, t) P_{crw}^{m}, \quad \forall t = 1, \dots, T$$
(8.33)

 $P_{crw}^{m} = \begin{cases} 0.820 \text{ mgd, if Lake Carroll monthly level} \ge 34.5 \text{ ft NGVD} \\ 0.707 \text{ mgd, otherwise.} \end{cases}$ (8.34)

(k) Water quality

One of Tampa Bay Water's obligations is to deliver Quality Water to its Member Governments. In order to meet this requirement, the Operations Department staff identified four wellfields in which certain wells exhibit a history of poor raw water quality with respect to iron and hydrogen sulfide concentrations. In order to address this raw water quality issue which is not addressed in the treatment of groundwater, Operations Department staff developed maximum concentrations of iron and hydrogen sulfide for the effluent from these wellfields. Constraint set 35 was formulated based on long-term observations of iron and sulfide concentrations $(C_j^{Fe}$ and $C_j^{H_2S})$ from wells Cross Bar Ranch Wellfield, Morris Bridge Wellfield and South Pasco Wellfield.

$$\sum_{j \in w_n} q_{j,t} C_j^{Fe} \le 0.2 \sum_{j \in w_n} q_{j,t}, \quad \forall n \in \{cr, mb\}; \ t = 1, \dots, T$$

$$\sum_{j \in w_n} q_{j,t} C_j^{H_2S} \le 1.0 \sum_{j \in w_n} q_{j,t}, \quad \forall n \in \{mb, sp\}; \ t = 1, \dots, T$$
(8.35)

- 3. Other operating constraints: (requested by Operations Department)
 - (a) Minimum flow from Eldridge-Wilde wellfield

$$\sum_{j \in w_{ew}} q_{j,t} \ge 10, \quad \forall t = 1, \dots, T$$
(8.36)

(b) Balance flows in pipelines for COSME cutoff

$$d_{cc,t}^{MP} = d_{cc}^{CM}, \quad \forall t = 1, \dots, T$$
 (8.37)

(c) Lake Park venturi minimum

$$d_{mp,t}^{LP} \ge 4, \quad \forall t = 1, \dots, T$$
 (8.38)

(d) Flow range for Maytum water treatment plant

$$2.5 \le \sum_{j \in \{w_{st} \cap w_{np}\}} q_{j,t} \le 10, \quad \forall t = 1, \dots, T$$
(8.39)

4. Physical System: (derived from IHM model)

$$g(h^u, h, q) = 0$$
 (8.40)

5. Upper and lower bounds:

$$\underline{Q}_{j} \leq q_{j,t} \leq \overline{Q}_{j}, \quad \forall j \in w_{n}; n \in WF^{c} \cup \{bu, sch\}; t = 1, \dots, T$$
(8.41)

6. Non-negativity: (unidirectional flow pipes)

$$\begin{aligned} d_{cc,t}^{r} &\geq 0, \quad \forall r \in \{PK, OD, PD, CM, MP, LB, MB, CH, LR, LT\}; \ t = 1, \dots, T \\ d_{nwh,t}^{CM} &\geq 0, \ d_{mp,t}^{CM} > 0, \ _{nwh,t}^{NW} \geq 0, \ d_{mp,t}^{LP} \geq 0, \ d_{s21,t}^{LP} > 0, \ _{mb,t}^{CC} \geq 0 \quad \forall t = 1, \dots, T \\ d_{mt,t}^{LR} &> 0, \ _{cb,t}^{CC} = 0, \ d_{COT,t}^{THIC} \geq 0, \ d_{COT,t}^{US301} \geq 0, \ = 1, \dots, T \\ d_{ALF,t} \geq 0, \ d_{TBC,t} \geq 0, \ d_{RWTP,t} \geq 0, \ d_{SDP,t} \geq 0, \ d_{NCHI,t} \geq 0 \quad \forall t = 1, \dots, T \end{aligned}$$

$$(8.42)$$

8.3 Implementation Details

8.3.1 Unit Response

Equation (8.40) represents the physical system constraint that consists of the set of equations describing the surface and ground-water hydrology. Theoretically, the Integrated Hydrologic Model (IHM) could be embedded as a constraint function within the optimization routine. Due to the run times of the IHM, this is not practical since each optimization iteration requires as many functional evaluations as the number of decision variables. In addition, the embedded approach would require a nonlinear optimizer to solve the optimization problem. An alternative, the *unit response* method, is used to represent the functional constraint with an equivalent linear response system of equations predetermined using IHM. The development of the unit response matrix for OROP is described in Wanakule (2009).

Let,

- $\varphi_{i,j}$ a matrix element of the (SAS or UFAS) water level from the base scenario at location *i* at the end of time period *t*
- $u_{i,j}$ a (SAS or UFAS) unit response matrix as defined in Eq. (8.3) for the monitoring location *i* and production well *j*
- $\Delta q_{j,t}$ a matrix element represents the increase in pumpage from the base scenario at the *j*th well during the time period τ

The constraint (8.40) is replaced by two sets of system equations relating pumpage increments to water levels in each aquifer layer and is expressed as follows:

$$h_{i,t}^{u} = \varphi_{i,t}^{u} - \sum_{j} \sum_{k=1}^{t} u_{i,j,k}^{u} \, \Delta \, q_{j,t-k+1}, \quad \forall i \in \mathbb{R}^{u}; t = 1, \dots, T$$
(8.43)

$$h_{i,t} = \varphi_{i,t} - \sum_{j} \sum_{k=1}^{t} u_{i,j,k} \, \varDelta \, q_{j,t-k+1}, \quad \forall i \in \mathbb{R}; t = 1, \dots, T$$
(8.44)

The incremental pumpage, $\Delta q_{j,t}$, is related to the decision variables $q_{j,t}$ as $\Delta q_{j,t} = q_{j,t} - v_{j,t}$ where $q_{j,t}$ is the pumpage from the base scenario or the initial projection of the pumpage schedule.

Note that the objective function can now be explicitly expressed in terms of pumpage decision variables by substituting the expression (8.43) into equation (8.1) to yield;

Minimize
$$Z = \sum_{i \in \mathbb{R}^{u}} \omega_{i} \sum_{t=1}^{T} \left(\sum_{j} \sum_{k=1}^{t} u_{i,j,k}^{u} \, \varDelta \, q_{j,t-k+1} \right)$$
 (8.45)

8.3 Implementation Details

Investigation of the unit response time profiles found that SAS drawdowns at various monitoring wells recover from a pumpage pulse differently depending on the nearby hydrogeology and the distance between the pulsed and observation well pair. For a longer lag-time response, rainfall will play a major role in influencing water-level responses. Hence, the resting (e.g., non-pumping) drawdown profile or the calculated responses from the pumpage no longer apply. To take advantage of differences in drawdown volumes at various monitoring sites, the time summation in (8.45) should be shortened to include the time profile up to the next expected effective rainfall (EERF) week. The expected number of weeks for effective dryspell (T') will vary from week to week and can be predetermined from the twelve long-term rainfall gages in the region. This can be achieved by changing the terminal week number on the time summation, T, in the above equation to T'. In addition, the equation can be simplified if this time summation is predetermined such that:

$$\hat{u}_{i,j,\tau} = \sum_{k=\tau}^{T'} u_{i,j,k}^u, \quad \text{for } \tau = 1...4$$
 (8.46)

and the objective function can be rewritten as:

$$Minimize Z = \sum_{i \in \mathbb{R}^{u}} \omega_{i} \sum_{\tau=1}^{4} \left(\sum_{j} \hat{u}_{i,j,\tau}^{u} \Delta q_{j,\tau} \right)$$
(8.47)

8.3.2 Solving the Optimization Problem

Each week OROP is run. The solution is optimized over the upcoming four-week period using the incremental analysis approach. With the incremental analysis, the prevailing hydrologic conditions are not used directly to derive the optimum solution. Instead, a set of preferential weights for control points is used to establish priority pumping sites. The current formulation provides for this preferential selection through a set of weighting factors, ω_i , which are assigned based on the surficial aquifer status at each control point at the start of the four-week period. A modified approach to the weighting formulation was approved as part of the July 2003 OROP annual report. The original function was modified to consider the natural range of wetland water-level fluctuations at all associated OROP control points.

Basically, the weight at each monitoring site is calculated by applying the current field measured water level to the functional relationship for that site. Since weights are predetermined and constant over the duration of the optimization routine, the optimum solution is limited to only a short-term (4-week) projection. Since the solution is optimized over a four-week period, a sequence of these short-term solutions may not yield the optimal operation in the long run. This is because

the short-term solution lacks some knowledge of seasonal demand patterns. To overcome this constraint, the optimization model is run in two steps, a long-term (52-week) projection and the short-term (4-week) projection. The long-term projection is made without the weighting factors to first establish the upper and lower bounds of production at each wellfield, taking into account seasonal variations in demand. These bounds become the operational rule-curves for the short-term projection. All constraints for the short-term and long-term cases are the same with the following exceptions:

- 1. The time index and the summation for constraints with a time-averaged function must be adjusted (corresponding to time span of the stress period); that is, since the time span for a stress period of the short-term (one week) and long-term (4 week) model are different, the constraint function involving time-averages in the two models will have different running and terminal indices (e.g., the annual average for the one-week stress period will be averaged over 52 values compared with 13 values for the four-week stress period) and,
- 2. The upper and lower bounds for production values by well and wellfield are different (the short-term case being constrained by the rule-curve results determined in the long-term case).

8.3.3 Current OROP Implementation Procedure

8.3.3.1 Inputs to OROP

1. Demand at 12 Points of Connection (POC)

Each Friday morning, weekly demands for each of the 12 delivery points used in OROP are forecasted using the Short-term Demand Forecast application. Results are reviewed by Source Rotation or Operations Department staff and either accepted or changed. Factors for consideration to make a change to the demand forecast include recent weather trend or an infrastructure change at a POC that has not been captured by the model (e.g., increased hydraulic capacity, new connection, temporary connection, and temporary maintenance activity by member government such as free chlorine burn). The OROP data base automatically picks up the results and stores them for use in the weekly OROP production run. Staff can further revise the demand forecast prior to actually running OROP.

- 2. Alternative sources availability and use
- (a) On Wednesdays Operations Manager and Source Rotation Manager discuss SWTP production options for the upcoming week, decide the appropriate production quantity and use of reservoir (storage or withdrawal). On Fridays, Source Rotation staff enters this quantity into the OROP database for use in the weekly OROP production run. Factors for consideration include annual budget

and current (year to date) production, near term (next week) and next month surface water availability, reservoir level, season, total system demand, infrastructure constraints (e.g., scheduled maintenance, source water quality, chemical deliveries).

- (b) Each Friday morning, weekly rates in mgd of surface water availability for the Alafia River, Lower Pool TBC, and Middle Pool TBC are forecasted for four weeks into the future by Source Rotation staff; the OROP data base automatically picks up the results and stores them for use in the weekly OROP production run.
- (c) Each Friday morning, weekly rates in mgd for the desalination facility are determined and entered into the OROP data base. Factors for consideration include water quality, intake water temperature, blending ratios with treated surface water, seasonal demands, scheduled maintenance and TECO activities which affect production.
- (d) Operations staff informs Source Rotation staff if Tampa Bay Water plans to purchase water from the City of Tampa and the quantity. Source Rotation staff enters this data into the OROP data base. Factors for consideration include season, surface water availability, the City's ability to deliver, and budget.
- 3. Wellfield production constraints

When scheduling the weekly OROP production run, the Operations staff has the opportunity to consider additional constraints at the wellfield level, either turning a wellfield off, setting a production minimum or production maximum. These are not permanent constraints and are available to handle short term operational problems. If there are not additional specific constraints for the week, then this information is not used by OROP.

4. Wells on-line status

Within the OROP database are the well status tables. Data is stored regarding the status of all production wells, regarding on-line or off-line, permanent or temporary, and the reason for being off-line (e.g., bacteriological testing, water quality, mechanical problems, electrical problems). The Operations staff maintains the wells on-line/off-line status, which can be updated prior to the weekly OROP production run.

- 5. Water level data and predicted water levels at control points and 18 UFAS wells
 - (a) Continuous water-level data are collected at all OROP control point monitor wells and sent to the Enterprise database through wireless transmission. The data are subjected to automated quality control/quality assurance procedures and stored. The OROP database retrieves the most current water-level data for all control point wells automatically through stored-procedures in the database.

- (b) Predictive water levels for the 18 UFAS wells and 42 control points are currently generated by the groundwater artificial neural network (ANN) models developed by staff. The OROP database retrieves these predicted water levels and stores them for use in the weekly OROP production run.
- 6. Current pumpage
 - (a) Daily production for all active wells is collected and stored in Tampa Bay Water's SCADA database. This production data is processed through our automated quality control/quality assurance procedures and stored in the Enterprise database for use. The OROP database retrieves current pumpage data for all production wells in order to determine well peak month current quantities and the 12-month running average to compare against program constraints.
 - (b) Initial value for well production is taken from the last seven days of actual production prior to the OROP weekly run.

8.3.3.2 OROP Output

- 1. OROP Detailed Report includes demand summary, surface water availability, wellfield pumpage rates, well priorities, control point weights, etc.
- 2. OROP Operators Report provides well priorities and pumpage rates, and wellfield rates for first two weeks of four week schedule; summarizes alternate sources availability for the upcoming two weeks.
- 3. OROP Schematic of Weekly Flows.

8.4 Summary of Models

The current OROP uses Gurobi Optimization program as, a commercial solver for linear programming (LP), quadratic and quadratically constrained programming (QP and QCP), and mixed-integer programming (MILP, MIQP, and MIQCP). The OROP programming code is written in AMPL (Fourer et al. 2002), a high level, comprehensive, and powerful algebraic modeling language for mathematical programming. AMPL is the software originally developed by AT&T Bell Laboratories that uses common notation and familiar concepts to formulate optimization models and examines solutions while the software manages communication with an appropriate solver and databases. The language acts as a shell script that allows efficient prototyping, change and/or experimentation with the model. AMPL supports most commercial solvers including Gurobi. The OROP model application has been re-developed and deployed under a Microsoft WindowsTM application using Visual Basic Dotnet programming language. This allows the

application to conform to Tampa Bay Water's Information System technical requirements, facilitates use of the application by the Operations staff, and improves software maintenance and documentation. The OROP solution or the weekly pumping schedule is obtained via Tampa Bay Water's Decision Support System (DSS). The optimization model was approved by the District as part of the original OROP report (1998).

OROP develops an optimized well production schedule for the upcoming fourweek period. In addition to constraint parameter data and current well production rates, the optimization model requires weekly information for the forecasted inputs. These inputs include weekly demands forecasts at each of the points of connection, projected UFAS and SAS water levels, and weekly forecasted surface water availability. Since the original OROP was implemented, Tampa Bay Water has developed additional modeling tools which provide weekly input to OROP.

8.4.1 Weekly Demand Forecast Models

Demand delivered to the points of connection is one piece of input data that is required to be forecasted. In 2002, Tampa Bay Water developed a set of short-term forecasting models for eleven points of connection. These models were subsequently implemented as part of the OROP process beginning in 2003. In 2005, the performance of these models was evaluated. This evaluation concluded that reasonable weekly forecast could be generated from the models using the average of the six daily models. The study included a recommendation to evaluate alternate forecasting methods. Performance of these models was highly dependent upon obtaining reliable real-time rainfall data for three NOAA rainfall stations and rainfall forecasts. Not all of the NOAA stations used to develop the models provide real time rainfall data accessible to Tampa Bay Water. In some cases delays of up to three months were experienced. In addition, Tampa Bay Water explored several approaches for obtaining improved rainfall forecast for one-week, twoweeks and four-week periods, but to date have not found suitable rainfall products readily available. Documentation and evaluations of these models can be found in previous OROP annual reports.

In 2006, Tampa Bay Water implemented a new set of short-term demand forecasting models. Seven autoregressive with exogenous variable (ARX) models for 11 points of connections were developed (Asefa and Adams 2007). The models estimate aggregated demands by demand planning areas and use a disaggregation algorithm to determine demands at point of connections. Variables include recent demands, several rainfall measures (including rain amount, number of rainy days in a week, and number of consecutive dry days), and a temperature threshold. Model inputs are based on observed data; no forecasts of model inputs are currently conducted. For two points of connection (Central Hillsborough and Morris Bridge) there are insufficient data available to develop ARX models; the naïve forecast (previous week's demand) is used to forecast Central Hillsborough

demands. The Morris Bridge POC demands are currently based on the City of Tampa's request for water. The agency continues to investigate short-term rainfall forecasting methods which could be incorporated into the new ARX models to improve the near-term demand forecast. During Water Year 2010, these models will be evaluated and revised, if necessary, based on additional period of record data.

8.4.2 Groundwater Level Forecast Models

In 2004, Tampa Bay Water developed a set of artificial neural network models to predict water levels at the set of surficial aquifer control points and set of UFAS monitor wells. In 2005, Tampa Bay Water began implementing these models to replace the use of the ISGW model for predicted UFAS and SAS water levels used in the optimization model.

8.4.3 Surface Water Availability Models

Tampa Bay Water has two water use permits authorizing withdrawals from surface water sources. The Hillsborough River/Tampa Bypass Canal (HRTBC) water use permit was originally issued in 1999 and authorized diversions from the Hillsborough River during high flow times (Hillsborough Reservoir discharge > 100 cfs) and withdrawals from the Tampa Bypass Canal Lower and Middle Pools while requiring a minimum flow of 11 cfs over TBC structure S-160. In 2007, this water use permit was modified to remove the minimum flow over S-160 requirement, base withdrawals from the Tampa Bypass Lower Pool on pool stage, and increase the Hillsborough River diversion percentage while maintaining a minimum flow of 100 cfs over the dam. Tampa Bay Water placed the Tampa Bypass Canal withdrawal facilities and pump station into service in September 2002.

The Alafia River water use permit was issued in 1999 and authorized withdrawals of up to 10 % of available flow to a maximum of 51.8 mgd when the river flow is above the permit threshold of 80 mgd.

The following Alafia withdrawal rules (SWFWMD 2012) establish the baseline flow:

- 1. Average daily river flow at Lithia gage is multiplied by a factor of 1.117 to account for additional watershed contribution between the gage and Bell shoals withdrawal point,
- 2. Recent weekly spring flows of Buckhorn. and Lithia Spring major are then added,
- 3. Annual average daily withdrawal of 5.06 mgd of existing Mosaic water use permit is added.

If baseline flow is less than 128 cfs (82.7 mgd) for the previous day, there will be no withdrawal. If baseline flow for previous day is between 128 cfs and 142 cfs (92.4 mgd), the difference between baseline flow and 128 cfs is the allowable withdrawal. If baseline flow for previous day is more than 142 cfs, 10 % of baseline flow up to a maximum of 60 mgd will be allowed.

Tampa Bay Water placed the Alafia River withdrawal facilities and pump station into service in February 2003.

In 2002, Tampa Bay Water began development of models to forecast surface water availability from the Hillsborough River/Tampa Bypass Canal system. The Hillsborough River/TBC watershed is a very complex hydrologic system including groundwater and surface water interactions, several major tributaries, spring discharges, and man-made routing and flow control structures. The purpose of the HRTBC models was to generate streamflow predictions for the major tributaries to the lower Hillsborough River basin and to route these flows through the lower Hillsborough River and Tampa Bypass Canal. The resulting predicted TBC flow rates and associated water surface elevations were used to predict the quantity of surface water supply available for withdrawal, treatment and distribution. Flow generation models for the Hillsborough River gauges were developed using artificial neural network (ANN) modeling techniques. An assessment of these neural network models was performed for the July 2005 OROP annual report. Results of this assessment showed that the models did not perform as well during Water Year 2004 as during the initial testing and validation of the models. A second evaluation of these ANN models was conducted in 2006. The results of this evaluation indicated that the surface water flow models demonstrated good performance based on known upcoming rainfall and the hydraulic models showed good performance based on known stream flow. However, once upcoming rainfall was considered unknown, stream flow model performance degraded considerably.

A weekly Markov flow model was first developed for the Alafia River at the Lithia gauge as described in the OROP Annual Report for Water Year 2001. The focus of the Alafia River water availability model was on prediction of flow for the Alafia River at the Lithia gauge. Since the flow component from Lithia Springs is both small and relatively invariant, when compared to Alafia River flow at the Lithia gauge, short term predictions for Lithia Springs flows are treated as a constant equal to the last weekly observation.

Each week the Markov model was used to forecast Alafia River flow at the Lithia gauge for the next four upcoming weeks. These results along with the last measurement made for Lithia Springs were entered into the equation to determine the forecasted flow at the Alafia River Pump Station. The last step of the weekly forecast was to apply the WUP withdrawal rules to the forecasted flow to obtain the projected surface water availability for the next 4 weeks. This procedure was followed every week, i.e. updating the last 3 weeks of the previous weekly forecast and projecting one more week into the future. Staff discontinued use of this model after new surface water forecasting models were developed.

In 2007, Tampa Bay Water developed new surface water artificial neural network models to forecast river flows for the Hillsborough River (Morris Bridge

gauge), Trout Creek, Cypress Creek, and Alafia River. The current models used to provide input into OROP were developed using a GLUE-based (generalized likelihood uncertainty estimate) neural network approach and generate weekly forecast for up to 4 weeks. Inputs to the models include past stream flow, rainfall and water levels of shallow and deep aquifers. Documentation of this approach is provided in Appendix D. The models are developed using MATLAB[®]. Water use permit withdrawal rules are applied to the results of the forecasted flows to determine the amount of surface water expected to be available for the upcoming four-week OROP period. These models are currently used to provide surface water availability input data for OROP.

8.5 Control Points

Thirty-one surficial aquifer monitor wells were established as control points for the initial optimization model as described in the first revision of OROP report (Tampa Bay Water 1998c). Historical data were used to perform correlation analyses and to develop regression relationships that formed the basis for the weighting function at each site. Since implementation of the OROP in January 1999, changes have been made to the original set of 31 control points. These changes are documented in subsequent OROP annual reports. Currently, there are forty SAS and two UFAS monitor wells which are used as control points in the optimization routine (Fig. 8.3). Target groundwater levels have been established for all of the control points in the vicinity of the 11 wellfields, the Brandon Urban Dispersed Wells and the Carrollwood Wells.

One of the tasks for the OROP annual update was a re-evaluation of the correlation and regression analyses that were performed at the control point locations. An evaluation was conducted later to determine if the wetland/control point regression analyses needed to be updated annually. The results indicated that conducting regression updates every other year is sufficient for control points that have been active for several years. As a result, the bi-annual update to the control point target levels has been adopted as the current practice since.

8.5.1 Preferential Weights for Objective Function

The primary purpose of the optimization problem is to seek a pumpage scenario that given demands, operational and system constraints and availability of alternative supplies will minimize water-level drawdown at specific locations (i.e., control points). An optimization routine has been setup with an objective function that will maximize the weighted sum of the water levels at all 42 OROP control points.

The preferential weights ω_i enable priority factors to be applied to enhance water levels preferentially at the wetland associated with the *i*th SAS monitoring site or control point. This weighting factor is predetermined for each control point based on the most recent water-level reading, and remains constant throughout the optimization simulation period (4 weeks). Actual water levels at the monitor wells (based on observed data) are compared to the target levels every week. Individual weighting factors for each site are updated every week based on observed water levels, and are used in revising the four-week short-term analysis for pumping distributions. The weights are based on relative measures of water levels compared to the target levels set at each monitor well and are applied to reflect the deviation between actual and target levels. The weights function as a ranking system for the optimization algorithm that causes the search for an optimal solution to preferentially reduce drawdown (in support of increased water levels) at locations with greater weight, thereby driving those water levels toward their target levels. Equal weights apply to all cases in which current water levels are equal to or above their respective targets. The weighting system is strongly non-linear where sites with large water-level deficits receive considerably higher weight than those where current water levels are near their targets. In certain cases, actual water levels may be above their target levels, which would result in a preference for production in that vicinity as compared to other locations in the region where water levels are below target levels. The current weighting function is expressed in the functional form of a piecewise linear on semi-logarithmic scale as follows:

$$\log(\omega) = \begin{cases} \left[\frac{(H_{max}-b)}{(H_{max}-H_T)}\right] & \text{if } b > H_T \\ 1 + \left[\frac{(H_T-b)}{(H_T-H_{NL})}\right] & \text{if } H_{NL} \le b \le H_T \\ 2 + 2\left[\frac{(H_{NL}-b)}{6}\right] & \text{if } b < H_{NL} \end{cases}$$
(8.48)

where H_{max} is the period of record (POR) maximum water level and H_{NL} is the lowest elevation of the natural fluctuation range, which has been determined to be 8 feet below the H_{max} .

This weighting function provides three different semi-logarithmic linear equations for three regimes of water-level fluctuations. The piecewise weighting function will bind the weighting factor at H_{max} , H_T , H_{NL} , and $(H_{NL} - 6)$ to 1, 10, 100, and 10,000, respectively. The rate of change in weighting factor after the water level drops below H_{NL} will be the same for all wells. When H_T is lower than H_{NL} , the function reduces to two equations since the second piece of the linear equation is no longer applicable. The remaining third function is modified to maintain a constant slope and becomes:

$$\log(\omega) = 1 + 2\left[\frac{(H_T - b)}{6}\right] \quad if \ b < H_T \tag{8.49}$$

Figure 8.4 depicts the current functional relationship of the weighting factor and water level for the same OROP well and wetland pair. Under this functional



Fig. 8.4 The piecewise linear weighting function on semi-logarithmic scale

relationship, the weighting factor is unbounded or undefined when measured water level in the control well is above H_{max} or below H_{NL} . If the water level is above H_{max} , the weighting factor becomes insignificant which will rotate production to nearby wells. If the water level drops below H_{NL} , the weighting factor becomes very large and will force production away from nearby wells, even if the drawdown response is relatively small.

8.6 Environmental Management Plan Wetland Referrals

As part of the Consolidated Permit for the 11 Central System wellfields, Tampa Bay Water implements an Environmental Management Plan (EMP). The EMP requires monitoring of wetland hydrology and ecology and periodic review of environmental conditions at wetlands that could potentially be affected by water production. Hydrologic parameters at monitored wetlands are statistically compared to reference and control sites semi-annually at the end of both the spring (dry) and fall (wet) seasons. Sites that fail this statistical test are called "outliers" and are tabulated and tracked during future semi-annual tests. In compliance with Special Condition 3 of the 2011 Consolidated Water Use Permit, Tampa Bay Water staff modified the protocol for the interaction between the EMP and OROP. Based on this protocol, no action is required for the first two consecutive failures of the outlier test. If a wetland site fails a third consecutive outlier test a sitespecific analysis is performed to determine if there is an adverse environmental impact and if it is attributable to wellfield pumpage. If adverse impacts due to wellfield pumpage are confirmed, then the wetland site is referred to OROP to attempt to relieve the impact. Actions undertaken within OROP could include the adjustment of an OROP control point target level or the addition of a new control point. (If it is determined that a change in OROP will not have a "meaningful effect", a referred wetland may also go directly to the Phase 2 Mitigation program, with no recommended change in OROP.)

References

- Asefa T, Adams A (2007) Short-term urban water demand forecasting models in action: challenges from model development to implementation to real-time operation, ASCE World Environmental & Water Resources Congress, Tampa, Florida, 5–19 May 2007
- Asefa T, Wanakule N, Adams A (2007) Field-scale application of three types of neural networks to predict groundwater levels. J Am Water Resour Assoc 43(5):1245–1256. doi:10.1111/j. 1752-1688.2007.00107
- Fourer R, Gay DM, Kernighan BW (2002) AMPL: a modeling language for mathematical programming, 2nd edn. Duxbury Press/Brooks/Cole Publishing Company, Wisconsin
- SWFWMD (2012) Final agency action transmittal letter: individual water use permit No. 20011794.002, dated November 27
- Wanakule N (2009) Development and Validation of the New Unit Response Matrix for the Optimized Regional Operations Plan (OROP) Model, Tampa Bay Water, Clearwater, Florida

The following tables briefly show the most of important optimization studies in water resources engineering.

Author(s)	Date	Title
Buras	1963	Conjunctive operation of dams and aquifers
Young	1967	Finding reservoir operation rules
Hall and Butcher	1968	Optimal timing of irrigation
Hall et al.	1968	Optimization of the operation of a multipurpose reservoir by dynamic programming
Aron	1969	Optimization of conjunctively managed surface and groundwater resources by dynamic programming
ReVelle et al.	1969	The linear decision rule in reservoir management and design 1. Development of the stochastic model
Burt	1970	Groundwater storage control under institutional restrictions
Harboe et al.	1970	Optimal policy for reservoir operation
Aron and Scott	1971	Dynamic programming for conjunctive use
Burt and Stauber	1971	Economic analysis of irrigation in sub-humid climate
Dudley et al.	1971	Optimal intra-seasonal irrigation water allocation
Heidari et al.	1971	Discrete differential dynamic programming approach to water resources systems optimization
Biere and Lee	1972	A model for managing reservoir water releases
Trott and Yeh	1973	Optimization of multiple reservoir system
Argaman et al.	1973	Design of optimal sewerage systems
Aguado and Remsen	1974	Groundwater hydraulics in aquifer management
Aguado et al.	1974	Optimal pumping for aquifer
Becker and Yeh	1974	Optimization of real-time operation of a multiple reservoir system
Cohon and Marks	1975	A review and evaluation of multiobjective programming techniques
Mishra	1975	Optimization of conjunctive use of ground water and surface water
Becker et al.	1976	Operations models for central valley project

(continued)		
Author(s)	Date	Title
Alley et al.	1976	Aquifer management under transient and steady-state conditions
Dudley et al.	1976	Reliability, trade-offs and water resources development modeling with multiple crops
Fults et al.	1976	A practical monthly optimum operations model
Futagami et al.	1976	FEM coupled with LP for water pollution control
Willis	1976	Optimal groundwater quality management: well injection of waste water
Alperovits and Shamir	1977	Design of optimal water distribution systems
Gorelick et al.	1979	Management model of a groundwater system with a transient pollutant source
Willis	1979	A planning model for the management of groundwater quality
Croley and Rao	1979	Multi-objective risks in reservoir operation
Tauxe et al.	1979	Multi-objective dynamic programming with application to reservoir
Murray and Yakowitz	1979	Constrained differential dynamic programming and its application to multireservoir control
Maji and Heady	1980	Optimal reservoir management and crop planning under deterministic and stochastic inflows
Bras and Cordova	1981	Interseasonal water allocation in deficit irrigation
Becker and Yeh	1981	Improved hourly reservoir operation model
Giles and Wunderlich	1981	Weekly multipurpose planning model for TVA reservoir system
Rydzewski and Rashid	1981	Optimization of water resources for irrigation in east Jordan
Vedula and Roger	1981	Multiobjective analysis of irrigation planning in river basin development
Quindry et al.	1981	Optimization of looped water distribution systems
Khepar and Chaturvedi	1982	Optimum cropping and groundwater management
Becker et al.	1982	Central Arizona project operation
Hashimoto et al.	1982	Reliability, resiliency and vulnerability criteria for water resource system performance evaluation
Yaron and Dinar	1982b	Optimal allocation of water on a farm during feed season
Khanjani and Busch	1983	Optimal irrigation distribution systems with internal storage
Wasimi and Kitanidis	1983	Real-time forecasting and daily operation of a multireservoir system during floods by linear quadratic Gaussian control
Can and Houck	1984	Real-time reservoir operations by goal programming
Shamir et al.	1984	Optimal annual operation of a coastal aquifer
Stedinger et al.	1984	Stochastic dynamic programming models for reservoir optimization
Tsakiris and Kiountouzis	1984	Optimal intraseasonal irrigation water distribution
		(continued)

(continued)

Author(s)	Date	Title
Ozden	1984	A binary state DP algorithm for operation problems of multireservoir systems
Grygier and Stedinger	1985	Algorithms for optimizing hydropower system operation
Pereira and Pinto	1985	Stochastic optimization of a multireservoir hydroelectric system: a decomposition approach
Yeh	1985	Reservoir management and operation models: a state-of- the-art review
Mariño and Loaiciga	1985	Dynamic model for multireservoir operation
Casola et al.	1986	Optimal control model for groundwater management
Lefkoff and Gorelick	1986	Design and cost analysis of rapid aquifer restoration systems using flow simulation and quadratic programming
Wanakule et al.	1986	Optimal management of large-scale aquifers: methodolog and applications
Tung	1986	Groundwater-management by chance-constrained model
Bosch et al.	1987	A review of methods in evaluating the economic efficience of irrigation
Chávez-Morales et al.	1987	Planning model of irrigation district
Jonesm et al.	1987	Optimal control of nonlinear groundwater hydraulics usin differential dynamic programming
Karamouz and Houck	1987	Comparison of stochastic and deterministic dynamic- programming for reservoir operating rule generation
Yaron et al.	1987	Irrigation scheduling—theoretical approach and applicatio problems
Georgakakos, and Marks	1987	New method for the realtime operation of reservoir system
Kitanidis	1987	A first-order approximation to stochastic optimal control or reservoirs
Trezos and Yeh	1987	Use of stochastic dynamic programming for reservoir management
Ahlfeld et al.	1988	Applications of optimal hydraulic control to groundwater systems
Benedini	1988	Developments and possibilities of optimization models
Dudley	1988	A single decision maker approach to irrigation reservoir and farm management decision making
Galeati and Gambolati	1988	Optimal dewatering schemes in the foundation design of a electronuclear plant
Foufoula-Georgiou and Kitanidis	1988	Gradient dynamic programming for stochastic optimal control of multidimensional water resources systems
Nix and Heaney	1988	Optimization of storm water storage-release strategies
Georgakakos	1989a	Extended linear quadratic Gaussian control for the real tim operation of reservoir systems
Georgakakos	1989b	Extended linear quadratic Gaussian control: further extensions

267

(continue	

(continued)	Date	Title
Author(s)		
Kitanidis and Andricevic	1989	Accuracy of the first-order approximation to the stochastic optimal control of reservoirs
Ponnambalam et al.	1989	An application of Karmarkar's interior-point linear programming algorithm for multireservoir operations optimization
Yaron and Dinar	1982a, b	Optimal allocation of farm irrigation water during peak seasons
Sobel	1989	A multi-reservoir model with a myopic optimum
Andricevic	1990	A real-time approach to management and monitoring of groundwater hydraulics
Andricevic and Kitanidis	1990	Optimization of the pumping schedule in aquifer remediation under uncertainty
Bardossy et al.	1990	Fuzzy regression in hydrology
Kelman et al.	1990	Sampling stochastic dynamic-programming applied to reservoir operation
McLaughlin and Velasco	1990	Real-time control of a system of large hydropower reservoirs
Paudyal and Gupta	1990	Irrigation planning by multilevel optimization
Paudyal et al.	1990	Optimal hydropower system configuration based on operational analysis
Protopapas and Georgakakos	1990	An optimal control method for real-time irrigation scheduling
Vedula and Mohan	1990	Real-time multipurpose reservoir operation:a case study
Dariane and Hughes	1991	Application of crop yield functions in reservoir operation
Dougherty and Marryott	1991	Optimal groundwater management (Simulated annealing)
Lee and Kitanidis	1991	Optimal estimation and scheduling in aquifer remediation with incomplete information
Onta et al.	1991	Multistep planning model for conjunctive use of surface and groundwater resources
Tao and Lennox	1991	Reservoir operations by successive linear programming
Yuan et al.	1991	A study on the optimal allocation model of limited irrigation water
Pereira and Pinto	1991	Multi-stage stochastic optimization applied to energy planning
Braga et al.	1991	Stochastic optimization of multiple-reservoir-system operation
Afzal et al.	1992	Optimization model for alternative use of different quality irrigation water
Chang et al.	1992	Optimal time-varying pumping rates for groundwater remediation: application of a constrained optimal control algorithm
Culver and Shoemaker	1992	Dynamic optimal control for groundwater remediation with flexible management periods
Finney et al.	1992	Quasi-three dimensional optimization model of Jakarta basin

(continued)

Author(s)	Date	Title
Ko et al.	1992	Multiobjective optimization of reservoir systems operation
Ratzlaff et al.	1992	Optimal design of ground-water capture systems using
		segmental velocity-direction constraints
Vedula and Mujumdar	1992	Optimal reservoir operation for irrigation of multiple crops
Karamouz and Vasiliadis	1992	Bayesian stochastic optimization of reservoir operation using uncertain forecast
Mohan and Raipure	1992	Multiobjective analysis of multireservoir system
Crawley and Dandy	1993	Optimal operation of multiple-reservoir system
Culver and Shoemaker	1993	Optimal control for groundwater remediation by differential dynamic programming with quasi-Newton approximations
Datta	1993	Operation models for single and multipurpose reservoirs— a review
Karatzas and Pinder	1993	Groundwater management using numerical simulation and the outer approximation method for global optimisation
Kuczera	1993	Network linear programming codes for water-supply headworks modeling
Marryott et al.	1993	Optimal groundwater management
Tejada-Guibert et al.	1993	Comparison of 2 approaches for implementing multireservoir operating policies derived using stochastic dynamic programming
Wurbs	1993	Reservoir-system simulation and optimization models
Cardwell and Ellis	1993	Stochastic dynamic programming models for water quality management
Ahlfeld and Heidari	1994	Groundwater management with fixed charges
Simpson et al.	1994	Genetic algorithms compared to other techniques for pipe optimization
Mannocchi and Mecarelli	1994	Optimization analysis of deficit irrigation systems
Shyam et al.	1994	Optimal operation scheduling model for a canal system
Shih and ReVelle	1994	Water-supply operation during drought: continues hedging rule
Cieniawski et al.	1995	Using genetic algorithms to solve multiobjective groundwater monitoring problem
Peralta et al.	1995	Optimal large scale conjunctive water use planning: a case study
Sun et al.	1995	Generalized network algorithm for water-supply-system optimization
Shih and ReVelle	1995	Water supply operation during drought: A discrete hedging rule
Lamond and Boukhtouta	1995	Optimizing future hydropower production using Markov decision processes
Lund and Israel	1995	Optimization of transfers in urban water supply planning

	ued)

Author(s)	Date	Title
Agarwal and Roest	1996	Towards improved water management in Haryana State: final report of the Indo-Dutch operational research Project on Hydrological Studies
Datta and Dhiman	1996	Chance constrained optimal monitoring network design for pollutants in groundwater
Hallaji and Yazicigil	1996	Optimal management of coastal aquifer in Southern Turkey
Keshari and Datta	1996	Multiobjective management of a contaminated aquifer for agricultural use
Raman and Chandramouli	1996a, b	Deriving a general operating policy for reservoirs using neural network
Rizzo and Dougherty	1996	Design optimisation for multiple management period groundwater remediation
Vedula and Kumar	1996	An integrated model for optimal reservoir operation for irrigation of multiple crops
Nitivattananon et al.	1996	Optimization of water supply system operation
Wurbs	1996	Modelling and analysis of reservoir system operation
Liang et al.	1996	A comparison of two methods for multiobjective optimization for reservoir operation
Raman and Chandramouli	1996a, b	Deriving a general operating policy for reservoirs using neural network
Dandy et al.	1996	An improved genetic algorithm for pipe network optimization
Yang et al.	1996a	Water distribution network reliability: connectivity analysis
Garcia and Rivera	1996	Optimal estimation of storage-release alternatives for stormwater detention systems
Chang and Wang	1997	A fuzzy goal programming approach for the optimal planning of metropolitan solid waste management systems
Fontane et al.	1997	Planning reservoir operations with imprecise objectives
Huang and Mayer	1997	Pump-and-treat optimization using well locations and pumping rates as a decision variable
Khaliquzzaman and Chander	1997	Network flow programming model for multireservoir sizing
Mainuddin et al.	1997	Optimal crop planning model for an existing groundwater irrigation project in Thailand
Misirli and Yazicigil	1997	Optimal ground-water pollution containment with fixed charges
Mujumdar and Ramesh	1997	Real-time reservoir operation for irrigation
Sepaskhah and Kamgar- Haghighi	1997	Water use and yield of sugarbeet grown under every-other- furrow irrigation with different irrigation intervals
Oliveira and Loucks	1997	Operating rules for multireservoir systems
Archibald et al.	1997	An aggregate stochastic dynamic programming model of multireservoir systems

(continued)

Author(s)	Date	Title
Savic and Walters	1997	Genetic algorithms for the least-cost design of water distribution networks
Papa and Adams	1997	Application of derived probability and dynamic programming techniques to planning regional stormwater management systems
Alidi	1998	A goal programming model for an integrated solid waste management system
Carvallo et al.	1998	Irrigated cropping optimization
Emch and Yeh	1998	Management model for conjunctive use of coastal surface water and groundwater
Garg and Ali	1998	Two-level optimization model for lower Indus Basin
Haastrup et al.	1998	A decision support system for urban waste management
Wang and Zheng	1998	Ground water management optimization using genetic algorithms and simulated annealing: formulation and comparison
Evers et al.	1998	Integrated decision making for reservoir, irrigation, and crop management
Jain et al.	1998	Reservoir operation studies of Sabarmati system, India
Galan and Grossmann	1998	Optimal design of distributed wastewater treatment networks
Chang and Chen	1998	Real-coded genetic algoritsed flood control reservoir management
Hajilal et al.	1998	Real-time operation of reservoir based canal irrigation systems
Bear et al.	1999	Seawater Intrusion in Coastal Aquifers—Concepts, Methods and Practices
Philbrick and Kitanidis	1999	Limitations of deterministic optimization applied to reservoir operations
Wardlaw and Barnes	1999	Optimal allocation of irrigation water supplies in real time
Wardlaw and Sharif	1999	Evaluation of genetic algorithms for optimal reservoir system operation
Das and Datta	1999a	Development of multiobjective management models for coastal aquifers
Das and Datta	1999b	Development of management models for sustainable use of coastal aquifers
Agarwal	2000	Optimal design of on-farm reservoir for paddy-mustard cropping pattern using water balance approach
Cheng et al.	2000	Pumping optimization in saltwater-intruded coastal aquifers
Das and Datta	2000	Optimisation based solution of density dependent seawater intrusion in coastal aquifers
Mousavi and Ramamurthy	2000	Optimal design of multi-reservoir systems for water supply
Needham et al.	2000	Linear programming for flood control in the Iowa and Des Moines rivers
Paul et al.	2000	Optimal irrigation allocation: a multilevel approach
		(continued)

	ued)
(

(continued)		
Author(s)	Date	Title
Sharif and Wardlaw	2000	Multireservoir systems optimization using genetic algorithms: case study
Simonovic	2000	Tools for water management: one view of future
Acreman	2000	Managed flood releases from reservoirs: issues and guidance. Center for Ecology and Hydrology, UK
Yang et al.	2000	Optimization of regional water distribution system with blending requirements
Diogo et al.	2000	Three dimensional optimization of urban drainage system
Jairaj and Vedula	2000	Multireservoir system optimization using fuzzy mathematical programming
World Commission on Dams	2000	Dams and development: a new framework for decision- making
Anwar and Clarke	2001	Irrigation scheduling using mixed integer linear programming
Archibald et al.	2001	Controlling multi-reservoir systems
Chandramouli and Raman	2001	Multireservoir modeling with dynamic programming and neural networks
Das and Datta	2001	Application of optimization techniques in groundwater quantity and quality management
Eschenbach et al.	2001	Goal programming decision support system for multiobjective operation of reservoir systems
Faber and Stedinger	2001	Reservoir optimization using sampling SDP with ensemble streamflow prediction (ESP) forecasts
Haouari and Azaiez	2001	Optimal cropping patterns under water deficits
Singh et al.	2001	Optimal cropping pattern in a canal command area
Reca et al.	2001a	Optimisation model for water allocation in deficit irrigation systems. I. Description of the model
Reca et al.	2001b	Optimisation model for water allocation in deficit irrigation systems. II. Application to the Bembezar irrigation system
Deb	2001	Multi-Objective Optimization using evolutionary Algorithms
Savic and Walters	2001	Evolutionary computing in water distribution and wastewater systems
Dahe and Srivastava	2002	Multireservoir multiyield model with allowable deficit in annual yield
Ghahraman and Sepaskhah	2002	Optimal allocation of water from a single purpose reservoir to an irrigation project with pre-determined multiple cropping patterns
Hsiao and Chang	2002	Dynamic optimal groundwater management with inclusion of fixed costs
Hsu and Cheng	2002	Network flow optimization model for basin-scale water supply planning
Palmer et al.	2002	An application of water conflict resolution in the Kum river basin, Korea
		basin, Korea (continued)

(continued)

Author(s)	Date	Title
Sethi et al.	2002	Optimal crop planning and conjunctive use of water resources in a coastal river basin
Shangguan et al.	2002	A model for regional optimal allocation of irrigation water resources under deficit irrigation and its applications
Shim et al.	2002	Spatial decision support system for integrated river basin flood control
Teixeira and Mariño	2002	Coupled reservoir operation-irrigation scheduling by dynamic programming
Shangguan et al.	2002	A model for regional optimal allocation of irrigation water resources under deficit irrigation and its applications
Tilmant et al.	2002	Optimal operation of multipurpose reservoir stochastic dynamic programming
Alaya et al.	2003	Optimization of Nebhana reservoir water allocation by stochastic dynamic programming
Barlow et al.	2003a	Conjunctive management model for sustained yield of stream-aquifer systems
Barros et al.	2003b	Optimization of large-scale hydropower system operations
Benli and Kodal	2003	A non-linear model for farm optimization with adequate and limited water supplies application to the south-east Anatolian project (GAP) region
Kuo et al.	2003	Comparative study of optimization techniques for irrigation project planning
Nema and Gupta	2003	Multi-objective risk analysis and optimization of regional hazardous waste management system
Cheung et al.	2003	Multiobjective evolutionary algorithms applied to the rehabilitation of a water distribution system: a comparative study
Keedwell and Khu	2003	More choices in water distribution system optimization
Chen	2003	Real coded genetic algorithm optimization of long term reservoir operation
Karamouz et al.	2003	Water resources systems analysis
Rao et al.	2003	Optimal groundwater management in deltaic regions using simulated annealing and neural networks
Tu et al.	2003	Optimization of reservoir management and operation with hedging rules
Chang et al.	2003	Optimization of operation rule curves and flushing schedule in reservoir
Barros et al.	2003a, b	Optimization of large-scale hydropower system operations
Cunha and Ribeiro	2004	Tabu search algorithms for water network optimization
Karamouz et al.	2004a, b	Monthly water resources and irrigation planning: case study of conjunctive use of surface and groundwater resources
Labadie	2004	Optimal operation of multireservoir systems: state-of-the- art review
Mantoglou et al.	2004	Management of coastal aquifers based on nonlinear optimization and evolutionary algorithms

273

	ued)

(continued)		
Author(s)	Date	Title
McPhee and Yeh	2004	Multiobjective optimization for sustainable groundwater management in semiarid regions
Mujumdar et al.	2004	Irrigation water allocation in canal command areas
Park and Aral	2004	Multi-objective optimization of pumping rates and well placement in coastal aquifers
Draper and Lund	2004	Optimal hedging and carryover storage value
Ghahraman and Sepaskhah	2004	Linear and non-linear optimization models for allocation of a limited water supply
Karamouz et al.	2004a, b	Analysis of hydrologic and agricultural droughts in central part of Iran
Van Zyl et al.	2004	Operational optimization of water distribution systems using a hybrid genetic algorithm
Mousavi et al.	2004a	A stochastic dynamic programming model with fuzzy storage states for reservoir operations
Wu	2004	A benchmark study on maximizing energy cost saving for pump operation
Cembrano et al.	2004	Optimal control of urban drainage systems. a case study
Mousavi et al.	2004b	Application of an interior-point algorithm for optimization of a large-scale reservoir system
Azaiez et al.	2005	A chance-constrained multi-period model for a special multi-reservoir system
Bhattacharjya and Datta	2005	Optimal management of coastal aquifer using linked simulation optimization approach
Kapelan et al.	2005	Optimal sampling design methodologies for water distribution model calibration
Gorantiwar and Smout	2005	Multilevel approach for optimizing land and water resources and irrigation deliveries for tertiary units in large irrigation schemes
Mousavi et al.	2005	Reservoir operation using a dynamic programming fuzzy rule-based approach
Qahman et al.	2005	Optimal and sustainable extraction of groundwater in coastal aquifers
Reis et al.	2005	Multi-reservoir operation planning using hybrid genetic algorithm and linear programming (GA–LP): an alternative stochastic approach
Smout and Gorantiwar	2005	Multilevel approach for optimizing land and water resources and irrigation deliveries for tertiary units in large irrigation schemes. I: Method
Tospornsampan et al.	2005	Optimization of a multiple reservoir system using a simulated annealing—a case study in the Mae Klong system, Thailand
Wang et al.	2005	Stochastic multiobjective optimization of reservoirs in parallel
Yurtal et al.	2005	Hydropower optimization for the lower Seyhan system in Turkey using dynamic programming
		(continued)

	ued)

Author(s)	Date	Title
Sepaskhah and Akbari	2005	Deficit irrigation planning under variable seasonal rainfall
Loucks and van Beek	2005	Water resource systems planning and management: an introduction to methods, models and applications
Tu et al.	2005	Optimization of water distribution and water quality by hybrid genetic algorithm
Abrishamchi et al.	2005	Case study: application of multicriteria decision making to urban water supply
Maqsood et al.	2005	ITOM: an interval-parameter two-stage optimization model for stochastic planning of water resources systems
Simonovic and Nirupama	2005	A spatial multi-objective decision-making under uncertainty for water resources management
Farmani et al.	2005	Trade-off between total cost and reliability for Anytown water distribution network
Karamouz	2005	Qualitative and quantitative planning and management of water allocation with emphasis on conflict resolution
Keedwell and Khu	2005	A hybrid genetic algorithm for the design of water distribution networks
Abarca et al.	2006	Optimal design measures to correct seawater intrusion
Archibald et al.	2006	Modeling the operation of multireservoir systems using decomposition and stochastic dynamic programming
Booker and O'Neill	2006	Can reservoir storage be uneconomically large?
Haddad et al.	2006	Honey-bees mating optimization (HBMO) algorithm: a new heuristic approach for water resources optimization
Karmakar and Mujumdar	2006	Grey fuzzy optimization model for water quality management of a river system
Katsifarakis and Petala	2006	Combining genetic algorithms and boundary elements to optimize coastal aquifers' management
Kumar et al.	2006	Optimal reservoir operation for irrigation of multiple crops using genetic algorithms
Karamouz et al.	2006	System dynamics-based conflict resolution model for river water quality management
Lee et al.	2006	Two-stage stochastic linear programming model for coordinated multi-reservoir operation
Lund	2006	Drought storage allocation rules for surface reservoir systems
Prasad et al.	2006	Optimal irrigation planning under water scarcity
Reddy and Kumar	2006	Optimal reservoir operation using multi-objective evolutionary algorithm
Sethi et al.	2006	Optimal crop planning and water resources allocation in a coastal groundwater basin, Orissa, India
Gill et al.	2006	Multiobjective particle swarm optimization for parameter estimation in hydrology
Mannocchi and Todisco	2006	Optimal reservoir operations for irrigation using a three spatial scales approach

(con	
(

Author(s)	Date	Title
Purves	2006	2006 annual review of planning variables for water supply and demand assessment: A review of the changes in demand assumptions for future water options for the ACT
Cervellera et al.	2006	Optimization of a large scale water reservoir network by stochastic dynamic programming with efficient state space discretization
Smout et al.	2006	Performance-based optimization of land and water resources within irrigation schemes. II: application
Gorantiwar et al.	2006	Performance-based optimization of land and water resources within irrigation schemes. I: Method
Suen and Eheart	2006	Reservoir management to balance ecosystem and human needs: Incorporating the paradigm of the ecological flow regime
Dandy et al.	2006	Sustainability objectives for the optimization of water distribution networks
Chang et al.	2007	Multi-step-ahead neural networks for flood forecasting
Ferreia da Silva and Haie	2007	Optimal locations of groundwater extractions in coastal aquifers
Grunow et al.	2007	Supply optimization for the production of raw sugar
Hsu and Wei	2007	A multipurpose reservoir real-time operation model for flood control during typhoon invasion
Joubert et al.	2007	An optimization model for the management of a South African game ranch
Karterakis et al.	2007	Application of linear programming and differential evolutionary optimization methodologies for the solution of coastal subsurface water management problems subject to environmental criteria
Moradi-Jalal et al.	2007	Reservoir operation in assigning optimal multi-crop irrigation areas
Nandalal and Bogardi	2007	Dynamic programming based operation of reservoirs: applicability and limits
Smith et al.	2007	Optimization of hydropower resources: current practices and opportunities for improvement
Reddy and Kumar	2007	Multi-objective particle swarm optimization for generating optimal trade-offs in reservoir operation
Yang et al.	2007	Multiobjective planning of surface water resources by multiobjective genetic algorithm with constrained differential dynamic programming
Abolpour and Javan	2007	Optimization model for allocating water in a river basin during a drought
Hajkowicz and Collins	2007	A review of multiple criteria analysis for water resource planning and management

(continued)

Author(s)	Date	Title
Ganji et al.	2007	Development of stochastic dynamic Nash game model for reservoir operation. I: The symmetric stochastic model with perfect information
Fedra et al.	2007	Water resources management: Economic valuation and participatory multi-criteria optimization
Ayvaz and Karahan	2008	A simulation/optimization model for the identification of unknown groundwater well locations and pumping rates
Baltar and Fontane	2008	Use of multiobjective particle swarm optimization in water resource management
Hsu et al.	2008	Optimization and capacity expansion of a water distribution system
Kale et al.	2008	Optimal design of pressurized irrigation subunit
Azamathulla et al.	2008	Comparison between genetic algorithm and linear programming approach for real time operation
Minciardi et al.	2008	Multiobjective optimization of solid waste flows: environmentally sustainable strategies for municipalities
Karamouz and Araghinejad	2008	Drought mitigation through long-term operation of reservoirs: Case study
Karamouz et al.	2008	Dealing with conflict over water quality and quantity allocation: A case study
Cetinkaya et al.	2008	Optimization methods applied for sustainable management of water-scarce basins
Castelletti et al.	2008	Water reservoir control under economic, social and environmental constraints
Li et al.	2008	Modeling of the flow changes due to reservoir operations and the impacts on aquatic ecosystem downstream
Baltar and Fontane	2008	Use of multiobjective particle swarm optimization in water resources management
Barros et al.	2008	Planning and operation of large-scale water distribution systems with preemptive priorities
Dandy et al.	2008	Optimizing the sustainability of water distribution systems
Ayvaz	2009	Application of harmony search algorithm to the solution of groundwater management models
Bar et al.	2009	Use of a dynamic programming model to estimate the value of clinical mastitis treatment and prevention options utilized by dairy producers
Karamouz et al.	2009	Probabilistic reservoir operation using bayesian stochastic model and support vector machine
Rejani et al.	2009	Simulation–optimization modelling for sustainable groundwater management in a coastal basin of Orissa, India.
Sarker and Ray	2009	An improved evolutionary algorithm for solving multiobjective crop planning models
Yang et al.	2009	Multi-objective planning for conjunctive use of surface and subsurface water using genetic algorithm and dynamics programming

277

	ued)

(continued)		
Author(s)	Date	Title
Yoo	2009	Maximization of hydropower generation through the application of a linear programming model
Madsen et al.	2009	Energy optimization of well fields
Han et al.	2009	A multi-objective linear programming model with Interval parameters for water resources allocation in Dalian City
Rosenberg and Lund	2009	Modeling integrated decisions for a municipal water system with recourse and uncertainties: Amman, Jordan
Herstein et al.	2009a	Evaluating environmental impact in water distribution system design
Herstein et al.	2009b	Environmental input-output (EIO)-based multi-objective design of water distribution systems
Afshar et al.	2010	Large-scale nonlinear conjunctive use optimization problem: decomposition algorithm
Chiu et al.	2010	Optimal pump and recharge management model for nitrate removal in the Warren Groundwater Basin, California
Moghaddasi et al.	2010	Long-term operation of irrigation dams considering variable demands: case study of Zayandeh-rud Reservoir, Iran
Rani and Moreira	2010	Simulation–optimization modeling: a survey and potential application in reservoir systems operation
Singh	2010	Decision support for on-farm water management and long- term agricultural sustainability in a semi-arid region of India
Hakimi-Asiabar et al.	2010	Deriving operating policies for multi-objective reservoir systems:Application of Self-Learning Genetic Algorithm
Reichold et al.	2010	A simulation–optimization framework to support sustainable watershed development by mimicking the predevelopment flow regime
Huang and Liu	2010	Multiobjective water quality model calibration using a hybrid genetic algorithm and neural network-based approach
Safavi et al.	2010	Simulation-optimization modeling of conjunctive use of surface water and groundwater.
Arena et al.	2010	A simulation/optimization model for selecting infrastructure alternatives in complex water resource systems
Alemu et al.	2011	Decision support system for optimizing reservoir operations using ensemble streamflow predictions
Gaur et al.	2011	Analytic elements method and particle swarm optimization based simulation–optimization model for groundwater management
Divakar et al.	2011	Optimal allocation of bulk water supplies to competing use sectors based on economic criterion – An application to the Chao Phraya River Basin, Thailand
Moeini et al.	2011	Fuzzy rule-based model for hydropower reservoirs operation
		(continued)

Author(s)	Date	Title
Caxaria et al.	2011	Small scale hydropower: generator analysis and optimization for water supply systems
Hejazi and Cai	2011	Building more realistic reservoir optimization models using data mining—a case study of Shelbyville reservoir
Afshar et al.	2011	Particle swarm optimization for automatic calibration of large scale water quality model (CE-QUAL-W2): application to Karkheh reservoir, Iran
Mortazavi et al.	2012	Multiobjective optimization of urban water resources : Moving toward more practical solutions
Deschaine et al.	2011	Optimised planning for management of integrated surface water and groundwater systems
Li et al.	2011	Modelling the impacts of reservoir operations on the downstream riparian vegetation and fish habitats in the Lijiang River
Karamouz et al.	2011	Development of a demand driven hydro-climatic model for contingency planning during drought: a case study
George et al.	2011	An integrated hydro-economic modelling framework to evaluate water allocation strategies I: Model development
Zhang et al.	2011	Water quantity and quality optimization modeling of dams operation based on SWAT in Wenyu River Catchment, China
Sun et al.	2011	Optimization of yield and water-use of different cropping systems for sustainable groundwater use in North China Plain
Afshar	2012	Large scale reservoir operation by constrained particle swarm optimization algorithms
Broitman et al.	2012	One size fits all? An assessment tool for solid waste management at local and national levels
Huang et al.	2012	Optimization of the irrigation water resources for agricultural sustainability in Tarim River Basin, China
Mouatasim	2012	Boolean integer nonlinear programming for water multireservoir operation
Ziaei et al.	2012	Optimization and simulation modeling for operation of the Zayandehrud reservoir
Eum et al.	2012	Integrated reservoir management system for flood risk assessment under climate change
Lee et al.	2012	A watershed-scale design optimization model for stormwater best management practices
Dehdari et al.	2012	Comparison of optimization algorithms for reservoir management with constraints—a case study
Singh	2012b	Optimal allocation of resources for the maximization of net agricultural return
Chen et al.	2012	Adapting the operation of two cascaded reservoirs for ecological flow requirement of a de-watered river channel due to diversion-type hydropower stations

	ued)
(

Author(s)	Date	Title
Goodarzi et al.	2013	Reservoir operation management by optimization and stochastic simulation
Ramos et al.	2013	Optimization of retention ponds to improve the drainage system elasticity for water-energy nexus
Geng and Wardlaw	2013	Application of multi-criterion decision making analysis to integrated water resources management
Damodaram and Zechman	2013	Simulation–optimization approach to design low impact development for managing peak flow alterations in urbanizing watersheds
Price and Ostfeld	2013	Iterative linearization scheme for convex nonlinear equations: application to optimal operation of water distribution systems
Kang and Lansey	2013	Scenario-based robust optimization of regional water and wastewater infrastructure
Zhang et al.	2013	Optimal operation of multi-reservoir system by multi-elite guide particle swarm optimization
Afshar et al.	2013	Multiobjective calibration of reservoir water quality modeling using multiobjective particle swarm optimization (MOPSO)
Kurek and Ostfeld	2013	Multi-objective optimization of water quality, pumps operation, and storage sizing of water distribution systems
Shammout et al.	2013	Participatory optimization scenario for water resources management: a case from jordan
Guo et al.	2013	Multi-objective optimization of the proposed multi- reservoir operating policy using improved NSPSO
Zagonari	2013	An optimization model for integrated coastal management: development and a case study using Italy's Comacchio municipality
Giustolisi et al.	2013	Operational optimization: water losses versus energy costs
Kourakos and Mantoglou	2013	Development of a multi-objective optimization algorithm using surrogate models for coastal aquifer management
Huang et al.	2013	A stochastic optimization approach for integrated urban water resource planning
Damodaram and Zechman	2013	Simulation–Optimization approach to design low impact development for managing peak flow alterations in urbanizing watersheds
Pianosi et al.	2013	Tree-based fitted Q-iteration for multi-objective Markov decision processes in water resource management
Shokri et al.	2013	Reservoir operation for simultaneously meeting water demand and sediment flushing: stochastic dynamic programming approach with two uncertainties

References

- Abarca E, Vázquez-Sunñé E, Carrera J, Capino B, Gámez D, Batlle F (2006) Optimal design measures to correct seawater intrusion. Water Resour Res 42:W09415
- Abolpour B, Javan M (2007) Optimization model for allocating water in a river basin during a drought. J Irrig.Drain Eng 133(6):559–572
- Abrishamchi A, Ebrahimian A, Tajrishi M (2005) Case study: application of multicriteria decision making to urban water supply. J Water Resour Plan Manage 131(4):326–335
- Acreman M (2000) Managed flood releases from reservoirs: issues and guidance. Center for Ecology and Hydrology, UK. http://www.dams.org/docs/kbase/contrib/opt056.pdf
- Afshar MH (2012) Large scale reservoir operation by constrained particle swarm optimization algorithms. J Hydro-environ Res 6(1):75–87
- Afshar A, Zahraei A, Mariño MA (2010) Large-scale nonlinear conjunctive use optimization problem: decomposition algorithm. J Water Resour Plann Manage ASCE 136:59–71
- Afshar A, Kazemi H, Saadatpour M (2011) Particle swarm optimization for automatic calibration of large scale water quality model (CE-QUAL-W2): application to Karkheh reservoir, Iran. Water Resour Manage 25:2613–2632
- Afshar A, Shojaei N, Sagharjooghifarahani M (2013) Multiobjective calibration of reservoir water quality modeling using multiobjective particle swarm optimization (MOPSO). Water Resour Manage 27(7):1931–1947
- Afzal J, David HN, Weatherhead EK (1992) Optimization model for alternative use of different quality irrigation water. J Irrig Drainage Eng ASCE 118:218–228
- Agarwal A (2000) Optimal design of on-farm reservoir for paddy-mustard cropping pattern using water balance approach. M.Tech. Thesis, Indian Institute of Technology, Kharagpur, India
- Agarwal MC, Roest CWJ (1996) Towards improved water management in Haryana State: final report of the Indo-Dutch operational research project on hydrological studies. CCS Haryana Agricultural University, Hisar, International Institute for Land Reclamation and Improvement, Wageningen, DLO Winand Staring Centre for Integrated Land, Soil and Water Research, now Alterra Green World Research, Wageningen, p 80
- Aguado E, Remsen I (1974) Groundwater hydraulics in aquifer management. J Hydraul Eng ASCE 100:103–118
- Aguado E, Remson I, Pikul MF, Thomas WA (1974) Optimal pumping for aquifer dewatering. J Hydraul Div ASCE 100:860–877
- Ahlfeld DP, Heidari M (1994) Applications of optimal hydraulic control to groundwater systems. J Water Resour Plann Manage ASCE 120:350–365
- Ahlfeld DP, Mulvey JM, Pinder GF, Wood EF (1988) Contaminated groundwater remediation design using simulation, optimization, and sensitivity theory. 1: model development. Water Resour Res 24:431–441
- Alaya AB, Souissi A, Tarhouni J, Ncib K (2003) Optimization of nebhana reservoir water allocation by stochastic dynamic programming. Water Resour Manage 17:259–272
- Alemu ET, Palmer RN, Polebitski A, Meaker B (2011) Decision support system for optimizing reservoir operations using ensemble streamflow predictions. J Water Resour Plann Manage ASCE 137:72–82
- Alidi AS (1998) A goal programming model for an integrated solid waste management system. Arab J Sci Eng 23:3–16
- Alley WM, Aguado E, Remson I (1976) Aquifer management under transient and steady-state conditions. Water Resour Bull 12:963–972
- Alperovits E, Shamir U (1977) Design of optimal water distribution systems. Water Resour Res 13(6):885–900
- Andricevic R (1990) A real-time approach to management and monitoring of groundwater hydraulics. Water Resour Res 26:2747–2755

- Andricevic R, Kitanidis PK (1990) Optimisation of the pumping schedule in aquifer remediation under uncertainty. Water Resour Res 26:875–885
- Anwar AA, Clarke D (2001) Irrigation scheduling using mixed integer linear programming. J Irrig Drainage Eng ASCE 127:63–69
- Archibald TW, McKinnon KIM, Thomas LC (1997) An aggregate stochastic dynamic programming model of multireservoir systems. Water Resour Res 33(2):333–340
- Archibald TW, Buchanan CS, Thomas LC, McKinnon KIM (2001) Controlling multi-reservoir systems. Eur J Oper Res 129:619–626
- Archibald TW, McKinnon KIM, Thomas LC (2006) Modeling the operation of multireservoir systems using decomposition and stochastic dynamic programming. Naval Res Logis 53:217–225
- Arena C, Mazzola MR, Scordo G (2010) A simulation/optimization model for selecting infrastructure alternatives in complex water resource systems. Water Sci Technol 61(12):3050–3060
- Argaman Y, Shamir U, Spivak E (1973) Design of optimal sewerage systems. ASCE J Environ Eng Div 99(EE5):703–716
- Aron, G. (1969) Optimization of conjunctively managed surface and groundwater resources by dynamic programming. Water Resources Center Contribution, vol 129. University of California, p 158
- Aron G, Scott VH (1971) Dynamic programming for conjunctive use. J Hydraul Div ASCE 97:705–721
- Ayvaz MT (2009) Application of harmony search algorithm to the solution of groundwater management models. Adv Water Resour 32:916–924
- Ayvaz MT, Karahan H (2008) A simulation/optimization model for the identification of unknown groundwater well locations and pumping rates. J Hydrol 357:76–92
- Azaiez MN, Hariga M, Al-Harkan I (2005) A chance-constrained multi-period model for a special multi-reservoir system. Comput Oper Res 32:1337–1351
- Azamathulla H, Wu FC, Ghani AA, Narulkar SM, Zakaria NA, Chang CK (2008) Comparison between genetic algorithm and linear programming approach for real time operation. J Hydro-Environ Res 2:172–181
- Baltar AM, Fontane DG (2008) Use of multi-objective particle swarm optimization in water resources management. J Water Resour Plann Manage 134(3):257–265
- Bar D, Tauer LW, Bennett G, González RN, Hertl JA, Schulte HF, Schukken YH, Welcome FL, Gröhn YT (2009) Use of a dynamic programming model to estimate the value of clinical mastitis treatment and prevention options utilized by dairy producers. Agric Syst 99:6–12
- Bardossy A, Bogardi I, Duckstein L (1990) Fuzzy regression in hydrology. Water Resour Res 26:1497–1508
- Barlow DPM, Ahlfeld P, Dickerman DC (2003) Conjunctive management model for sustained yield of stream-aquifer systems. J Water Resour Plann Manage ASCE 129:35–48
- Barros M, Tsai FT-C, Yang S, Lopes JEG, Yeh WW-G (2003a) Optimization of large-scale hydropower system operations. J Water Resour Plan Manage ASCE 129(3):178–188
- Barros MTL, Tsai FTC, Yang SL, Lopes JEG, Yeh WGJ (2003b) Optimization of large-scale hydropower system operations. J Water Resour Plann Manage 129:178–188
- Barros MTL, Zambon RC, Barbosa PSF, Yeh WW-G (2008) Planning and operation of largescale water distribution systems with preemptive priorities. J Water Resour Plan Manage ASCE 134(3):247–256
- Bear J, Cheng AHD, Sorek S, Ouazar D, Herrera I (1999) Seawater intrusion in coastal aquifers concepts, methods and Practices. Kluwer Academic, Dordrecht
- Becker L, Yeh WW-G (1974) Optimization of real-time operation of a multiple reservoir system. Water Resour Res 10(6):1107–1112
- Becker L, Yeh WW-G (1981) Improved hourly reservoir operation model. J Water Resour Plan Manage Div ASCE 107-WRI:283–287

- Becker L, Yeh WW-G, Fults D, Sparks D (1976) Operations models for central valley project. J Water Resour Plan Manage div ASCE 102-WR1:101–115
- Becker L, Graves AL, Yeh WW-G (1982) Central Arizona project operation, experience in operation of hydrosystems. Water Resources Publications, Littleton, CO, pp 3–23
- Benedini M (1988) Developments and possibilities of optimization models. Agric Water Manage 13:329–358
- Benli B, Kodal S (2003) A non-linear model for farm optimization with adequate and limited water supplies application to the south-east Anatolian project (GAP) region. Agric Water Manage 62:187–203
- Bhattacharjya RK, Datta B (2005) Optimal management of coastal aquifer using linked simulation optimization approach. Water Resour Manage 19:295–320
- Biere AW, Lee AM (1972) A model for managing reservoir water releases. Am J Agric Econ 54:411–421
- Booker JF, O'Neill JC (2006) Can reservoir storage be uneconomically large? J Water Resour Plann Manage ASCE 132:520–523
- Bosch DJ, Eidman VR, Oosthuizen LK (1987) A review of methods in evaluating the economic efficiency of irrigation. Agric Water Manage 12:231–245
- Braga BPF Jr, Yeh WW-G, Becker L, Barros MTL (1991) Stochastic optimization of multiplereservoir-system operation. J Water Resour Plan Manage ASCE 117(4):471–481
- Bras RL, Cordova JR (1981) Interseasonal water allocation in deficit irrigation. Water Resour Res 17:866–874
- Broitman D, Ayalon O, Kan I (2012) One size fits all? An assessment tool for solid waste management at local and national levels. Waste Manage (Oxford). http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j. wasman.2012.05.023
- Buras N (1963) Conjunctive operation of dams and aquifers. J Hydraul Div ASCE 89:111-131
- Burt OR (1970) Groundwater storage control under institutional restrictions. Water Resour Res 66:1540–1548
- Burt OR, Stauber MS (1971) Economic analysis of irrigation in subhumid climate. Am J Agric Econ 53:33–46
- Can EK, Houck MH (1984) Real-time reservoir operations by goal programming. J Water Resour Plann Manage ASCE 110:297–309
- Cardwell H, Ellis H (1993) Stochastic dynamic programming models for water quality management. Water Resour Res 29(4):803–813
- Carvallo HO, Holzapfel EA, Lopez MA, Mariño MA (1998) Irrigated cropping optimization. J Irrig Drainage Eng ASCE 124:67–72
- Casola WH, Narayanan R, Duffy C, Bishop AB (1986) Optimal control model for groundwater management. J Water Resour Plann Manage ASCE 112:183–197
- Castelletti A, Pianosi F, Soncini-Sessa R (2008) Water reservoir control under economic, social and environmental constraints. Automatica 44(6):1595–1607
- Caxaria GA, Mesquita e Sousa D, Ramos HM (2011) Small scale hydropower: generator analysis and optimization for water supply systems. World Renewable Energy Congress 2011 (Theme: Hydropower Applications (HP)), Linköping, Sweden
- Cembrano G, Quevedo J, Salamero M, Puig V, Figueras J, Marti I (2004) Optimal control of urban drainage systems. A case study. Control Eng Pract 12:1–9
- Cervellera C, Chen VCP, Wen A (2006) Optimization of a large scale water reservoir network by stochastic dynamic programming with efficient state space discretization. Eur J Oper Res 171(3):1139–1151
- Cetinkaya C, Fistikoglu O, Fedra K, Harmancioglu N (2008) Optimization methods applied for sustainable management of water-scarce basins. J Hydroinf 10:69–95
- Chandramouli V, Raman H (2001) Multireservoir modeling with dynamic programming and neural networks. J Water Resour Plann Manage ASCE 127:89–98
- Chang F, Chen L (1998) Real-coded genetic algoritsed flood control reservoir management. Water Resour Manage 12:185–198
- Chang NB, Wang SF (1997) A fuzzy goal programming approach for the optimal planning of metropolitan solid waste management systems. Eur J Oper Res 99:287–303
- Chang LC, Shoemaker CA, Liu PLF (1992) Optimal time-varying pumping rates for groundwater remediation: application of a constrained optimal control algorithm. Water Resour Res 28:3157–3173
- Chang FJ, Lai JS, Kao LS (2003) Optimization of operation rule curves and flushing schedule in reservoir. Hydrol Processes 17(8):1623–1640
- Chang FJ, Chiang YM, Chang LC (2007) Multi-step-ahead neural networks for flood forecasting. Hydrol Sci J 52:114–130
- Chávez-Morales J, Mariño MA, Holzapfel EA (1987) Planning model of irrigation district. J Irrig Drainage Eng ASCE 113:549–564
- Chen L (2003) Real coded genetic algorithm optimization of long T reservoir operation. J Am Water Resour Assoc 39(5):1157–1165
- Chen QW, Chen D, Li RN, Ma JF, Blanckaert K (2012) Adapting the operation of two cascaded reservoirs for ecological flow requirement of a de-watered river channel due to diversion-type hydropower stations. Ecol Model. doi:10.1016/j.ecolmodel.2012.03.008
- Cheng AHD, Halhal D, Naji A, Ouazar D (2000) Pumping optimization in saltwater-intruded coastal aquifers. Water Resour Res 36:2155–2165
- Chiu YC, Nishikawa T, Yeh WWG (2010) Optimal pump and recharge management model for nitrate removal in the Warren groundwater basin, California. J Water Resour Plann Manage ASCE 136:299–308
- Cieniawski SE, Wayland J, Ranjithan S (1995) Using genetic algorithms to solve multiobjective groundwater monitoring problem. Water Resour Res 31:399–409
- Cohon JL, Marks DH (1975) A review and evaluation of multiobjective programming techniques. Water Resour Res 11:208–220
- Crawley PD, Dandy GC (1993) Optimal operation of multiple-reservoir system. J Water Resour Plann Manage ASCE 119:1–17
- Croley TE II, Rao KNR (1979) Multi-objective risks in reservoir operation. Water Resour Res 15:1807–814
- Culver TB, Shoemaker CA (1992) Dynamic optimal control for groundwater remediation with flexible management periods. Water Resour Res 28:629–641
- Culver TB, Shoemaker CA (1993) Optimal control for groundwater remediation by differential dynamic programming with quasi-Newton approximations. Water Resour Res 29:823–831
- Cunha M, Ribeiro L (2004) Tabu search algorithms for water network optimization. Eur J Oper Res 157:746–758
- Dahe PD, Srivastava DK (2002) Multireservoir multiyield model with allowable deficit in annual yield. J Water Resour Plann Manage ASCE 128:406–414
- Damodaram C, Zechman EM (2013) Simulation-optimization approach to design low impact development for managing peak flow alterations in urbanizing watersheds. J Water Resour Plan Manage 139(3):290–298
- Dandy GC, Simpson AR, Murphy LJ (1996) An improved genetic algorithm for pipe network optimization. Water Resour Res 32(2):449–458
- Dandy G, Roberts A, Hewitson C, Chrystie P (2006) Sustainability objectives for the optimization of water distribution networks. In: Proceedings of the 8th annual water distribution systems analysis symposium, Cincinnati, 27–30 Aug 2006
- Dandy GC, Bogdanowicz A, Craven A, Maywald A, Liu P (2008) Optimizing the sustainability of water distribution systems. In: Proceedings of WDSA-2008, Kruger National Park, 17–20 Aug 2008
- Dariane AB, Hughes TC (1991) Application of crop yield functions in reservoir operation. Water Resour Bull 27:649–656
- Das A, Datta B (1999a) Development of multiobjective management models for coastal aquifers. J Water Resour Plann Manage ASCE 125:76–87

- Das A, Datta B (1999b) Development of management models for sustainable use of coastal aquifers. J Irrig Drainage Eng ASCE 125:112–121
- Das A, Datta B (2000) Optimisation based solution of density dependent seawater intrusion in coastal aquifers. J Hydrol Eng ASCE 5:82–89
- Das A, Datta B (2001) Application of optimization techniques in groundwater quantity and quality management. Sadhana 26:293-316
- Datta B (1993) Operation models for single and multipurpose reservoirs—a review. Jalvigyan Sameeksha Publ Ind Natl Committee Hydrol 8:1–12
- Datta B, Dhiman SD (1996) Chance constrained optimal monitoring network design for pollutants in groundwater. J Water Resour Plann Manage ASCE 122:180–188
- Deb K (2001) Multi-objective optimization using evolutionary algorithms. Wiley, Chichester
- Dehdari V, Oliver DS, Deutsch CV (2012) Comparison of optimization algorithms for reservoir management with constraints—a case study. J Pet Sci Eng 100:41–49
- Deschaine LM, Guvanasen V, Pinter JD, Townley LR (2011) Optimized planning for management of integrated surface water and groundwater systems. In: Proceedings of the 34th World Congress of the international association for hydro- environment research and engineering: 33rd Hydrology and water resources symposium and 10th conference on hydraulics in water engineering
- Diogo AF, Walters GA, de Sousa ER, Graveto VM (2000) Three dimensional optimization of urban drainage system. Comput Aided Civil Infrastruct Eng 15:409–426
- Divakar L, Babel MS, Perret SR, Gupta AD (2011) Optimal allocation of bulk water supplies to competing use sectors based on economic criterion—an application to the Chao Phraya River Basin. Thailand. J Hydrol 401(1–2):22–35
- Dougherty DE, Marryott RA (1991) Optimal groundwater management. 1. Simulated annealing. Water Resour Res 27:2493–2508
- Draper AJ, Lund JR (2004) Optimal hedging and carryover storage value. J Water Resour Plann Manage 130(1):83–87
- Dudley NJ (1988) A single decision maker approach to irrigation reservoir and farm management decision making. Water Resour Res 24:633–640
- Dudley NJ, Howell DT, Musgrave WF (1971) Optimal intraseasonal irrigation water allocation. Water Resour Res 7:770–788
- Dudley NJ, Reklis DM, Burt OR (1976) Reliability, trade-offs and water resources development modeling with multiple crops. Water Resour Res 12:1101–1108
- Emch PG, Yeh WG (1998) Management model for conjunctive use of coastal surface water and groundwater. J Water Resour Plann Manage ASCE 124:129–139
- Eschenbach E, Magee T, Zagona E, Goranflo M, Shane R (2001) Goal programming decision support system for multiobjective operation of reservoir systems. J Water Resour Plann Manage ASCE 127:108–120
- Eum H, Vasan A, Simonovic SP (2012) Integrated reservoir management system for flood risk assessment under climate change. Water Resour Manage 26:3785–3802. doi:10.1007/ s11269-012-0103-4
- Evers AJM, Elliott RL, Stevens EW (1998) Integrated decision making for reservoir, irrigation, and crop management. Agric Syst 58-4:529-554
- Faber BA, Stedinger JR (2001) Reservoir optimization using sampling SDP with ensemble streamflow prediction (ESP) forecasts. J Hydrol 249:113–133
- Farmani R, Walters G, Savic D (2005) Trade-off between total cost and reliability for Anytown water distribution network. J Water Res Plan Manage 131(3):161–171
- Fedra K, Kubat M, Zuvela-Aloise M (2007) Water resources management: economic valuation and participatory multi-criteria optimization. In: Proceedings of the second IASTED international conference on water resources management, Honolulu, Hawaii, USA ISBN Hardcopy: 98-0-88986-679-9 CD: 978-0-88986-680-5 http://www.actapress.com/Content_ Of_Proceeding.aspx?ProceedingID=449 Aug 2007.

- Ferreia da Silva JF, Haie N (2007) Optimal locations of groundwater extractions in coastal aquifers. Water Resour Manage 21:1299–1311
- Finney BA, Samsuhadi S, Willis R (1992) Quasi-three dimensional optimization model of Jakarta basin. J Water Resour Plann Manage ASCE 118:18–31
- Fontane DG, Gates TK, Moncada E (1997) Planning reservoir operations with imprecise objectives. J Water Resour Plann Manage ASCE 123:154–162
- Foufoula-Georgiou E, Kitanidis PK (1988) Gradient dynamic programming for stochastic optimal control of multidimensional water resources systems. Water Resour Res 24(8):1345–1359
- Fults DM, Logan GR, Hancock LF (1976) A practical monthly optimum operations model. J Water Resour Plann Manage ASCE 102:63–76
- Futagami T, Tamai N, Yatsuzuka M (1976) FEM coupled with LP for water pollution control. J Hydraul Div ASCE 102:881–897
- Galan B, Grossmann IE (1998) Optimal design of distributed wastewater treatment networks. Ind Eng Chem Res 37:4036–4048
- Galeati G, Gambolati G (1988) Optimal dewatering schemes in the foundation design of an electronuclear plant. Water Resour Res 24:541–552
- Ganji A, Khalili D, Karamouz M (2007) Development of stochastic dynamic Nash game model for reservoir operation. I: The symmetric stochastic model with perfect information. Adv Water Resour 30(3):528–542
- Garcia RS, Rivera MEB (1996) Optimal estimation of storage-release alternatives for stormwater detention systems. J Water Resour Plan Manage ASCE 122(6):428–436
- Garg NK, Ali A (1998) Two-level optimization model for lower Indus Basin. Agric Water Manage 36:1–21
- Gaur S, Chahar BR, Graillot D (2011) Analytic elements method and particle swarm optimization based simulation–optimization model for groundwater management. J Hydrol 402:217–227
- Geng G, Wardlaw R (2013) Application of multi-criterion decision making analysis to integrated water resources management. Water Resour Manage 27:3191–3207. doi:10.1007/ s11269-013-0343-y
- Georgakakos AP (1989a) Extended linear quadratic Gaussian control for the real time operation of reservoir systems. In: Esogbue AO (ed) Dynamic programming for optimal water resources systems analysis. Prentice-Hall, Englewood Cliffs, pp 329–360
- Georgakakos AP (1989b) Extended linear quadratic Gaussian control: Further extensions. Water Resour Res 25(2):191–201
- Georgakakos AP, Marks DH (1987) New method for the realtime operation of reservoir systems. Water Resour Res 23(7):1376–1390
- George B, Malano H, Davidson B, Hellegers P, Bharati L, Massuel S (2011) An integrated hydroeconomic modelling framework to evaluate water allocation strategies I: model development. Agric Water Manage 98(5):733–746
- Ghahraman B, Sepaskhah AR (2002) Optimal allocation of water from a single purpose reservoir to an irrigation project with pre-determined multiple cropping patterns. Irrig Sci 21:127–137
- Ghahraman B, Sepaskhah AR (2004) Linear and non-linear optimization models for allocation of a limited water supply. Irrig Drain 53:39–54
- Giles JE, Wunderlich WO (1981) Weekly multipurpose planning model for TVA reservoir system. J Water Resour Plann Manage ASCE 107:495–511
- Gill MK, Kaheil YH, Khalil A, McKee M, Bastidas L (2006) Multiobjective particle swarm optimization for parameter estimation in hydrology. Water Resour Res 42:W07417. doi:10. 1029/2005WR004528
- Giustolisi O, Laucelli D, Berardi L (2013) Operational Optimization: water losses versus energy costs. J Hydraul Eng ASCE 139(4):410–423
- Goodarzi E, Ziaei M, Shokri N (2013) Reservoir operation management by optimization and stochastic simulation. J Water Supply: Res Technol (AQUA) 62(3):138–154. doi:10.2166/ aqua.2013.020

- Gorantiwar SD, Smout IK (2005) Multilevel approach for optimizing land and water resources and irrigation deliveries for tertiary units in large irrigation schemes. II: application. J Irrig Drainage Eng ASCE 131:264–272
- Gorantiwar SD, Smout IK, Vairavamoorthy K (2006) Performance-based optimization of land and water resources within irrigation schemes. J Irrig Drain E-Asce 132(4):332–340
- Gorelick SM, Remson I, Cottle RW (1979) Management model of a groundwater system with a transient pollutant source. Water Resour Res 5:1243–1249
- Grunow M, Günther HO, Westinner R (2007) Supply optimization for the production of raw sugar. Int J Prod Econ 110:224–239
- Grygier JC, Stedinger JR (1985) Algorithms for optimizing hydropower system operation. Water Resour Res 21:1–10
- Guo X, Hu T, Wu C, Zhang T, Lv Y (2013) Multi-objective optimization of the proposed multireservoir operating policy using improved NSPSO. Water Res Manage 27(7):2137-2153
- Haastrup P, Maniezzo V, Mattarelli M, Mazzeo Rinaldi F, Mendes I, Paruccini M (1998) A decision support system for urban waste management. Eur J Oper Res 109:330–341
- Haddad OB, Afshar A, Marino MA (2006) Honey-bees mating optimization (HBMO) algorithm: a new heuristic approach for water resources optimization. Water Resour Manage 20:661–680
- Hajilal MS, Rao NH, Sarma PBS (1998) Real-time operation of reservoir based canal irrigation systems. Agric Water Manage 38:103–122
- Hajkowicz S, Collins K (2007) A review of multiple criteria analysis for water resource planning and management. Water Resour Manage 21(9):1553–1566
- Hakimi-Asiabar M, Ghodsypour SH, Kerachian R (2010) Deriving operating policies for multiobjective reservoir systems: application of self-learning genetic algorithm. Appl Soft Comput 10(4):1151–1153
- Hall WA, Butcher WS (1968) Optimal timing of irrigation. J Irrig Drainage Eng ASCE 94:267–275
- Hall WA, Butcher WS, Esogbue A (1968) Optimization of the operation of a multipurpose reservoir by dynamic programming. Water Resour Res 4:471–477
- Hallaji K, Yazicigil H (1996) Optimal management of coastal aquifer in Southern Turkey. J Water Resour Plann Manage ASCE 122:233–244
- Han Y, Huang YF, Wang GQ, Maqsood I (2009) A multi-objective linear programming model with interval parameters for water resources allocation in Dalian City. Water Resour Manage 25:449–463. doi:10.1007/s11269-010-9708-7
- Haouari M, Azaiez MN (2001) Optimal cropping patterns under water deficits. Eur J Oper Res 130:133–146
- Harboe RC, Mobasheri F, Yeh WW-G (1970) Optimal policy for reservoir operation. J Hydraul Div ASCE 96(HY11):2297–2308.
- Hashimoto T, Stedinger JR, Loucks DP (1982) Reliability, resiliency and vulnerability criteria for water resource system performance evaluation. Water Resour Res 18(1):14–20
- Heidari M, Te Chow VEN, Kokotovic PV, Meredith DD (1971) Discrete differential dynamic programming approach to water resources systems optimization. Water Resour Res 7(2):273–282
- Hejazi MI, Cai X (2011) Building more realistic reservoir optimization models using data mining—a case study of shelbyville reservoir. Adv Water Resour 34(6):701–711
- Herstein LM, Filion YR, Hall KR (2009a) Evaluating environmental impact in water distribution system design. ASCE J Infrastruct Syst 15(3):241–250
- Herstein LM, Filion YR, Hall KR (2009b) Environmental input-output (EIO)-based multiobjective design of water distribution systems. CCWI 2009, Sheffield, UK, 1–3 Sept 2009
- Hsiao CT, Chang LC (2002) Dynamic optimal groundwater management with inclusion of fixed costs. J Water Resour Plann Manage ASCE 128:57–65
- Hsu NS, Cheng KW (2002) Network flow optimization model for basin-scale water supply planning. J Water Resour Plann Manage ASCE 128:102–112

- Hsu N-S, Wei C-C (2007) A multipurpose reservoir real-time operation model for flood control during typhoon invasion. J Hydrol 336:282–293
- Hsu N-S, Cheng W-C, Cheng W-M, Wei C-C, Yeh WWG (2008) Optimization and capacity expansion of a water distribution system. Adv Water Resour 31:776–786
- Huang C, Mayer AS (1997) Pump-and-treat optimization using well locations and pumping rates as a decision variable. Water Resour Res 33:1001–1012
- Huang Y, Liu L (2010) Multiobjective water quality model calibration using a hybrid genetic algorithm and neural network-based approach. J Environ Eng 136(10):1020–1031
- Huang Y, Li YP, Chen X, Ma YG (2012) Optimization of the irrigation water resources for agricultural sustainability in Tarim River Basin. China Agric Water Manage 107:74–85
- Huang Y, Chen J, Zeng S, Sun F, Dong X (2013) A stochastic optimization approach for integrated urban water resource planning. Water Sci Technol: J Int Assoc Water Pollut Res 67(7):1634–1641
- Jain SK, Goel MK, Agarwal PK (1998) Reservoir operation studies of Sabarmati system, India. J Water Resour Plan Manage ASCE 124(1):31–38
- Jairaj PG, Vedula S (2000) Multireservoir system optimization using fuzzy mathematical programming. Water Resour Manage 14(6):457–472
- Jonesm L, Willism R, Yehm WWG (1987) Optimal control of nonlinear groundwater hydraulics using differential dynamic programming. Water Resour Res 23:2097–2106
- Joubert JW, Luhandjula MK, Ncube O, le Roux G, de Wet F (2007) An optimization model for the management of a South African game ranch. Agric Syst 92:223–239
- Kale RV, Singh RP, Mahar PS (2008) Optimal design of pressurized irrigation subunit. JIrrig Drainage Eng ASCE 134:137–146
- Kang D, Lansey K (2013) Scenario-based robust optimization of regional water and wastewater infrastructure. J Water Res Plan Manage 139(3):325–338
- Kapelan ZS, Savic DA, Walters GA (2005) Optimal sampling design methodologies for water distribution model calibration. J Hydraul Eng ASCE, VA 131(3):190–200
- Karamouz M (2005) Qualitative and quantitative planning and management of water allocation with emphasis on conflict resolution. Water Research Council, Iranian Water Resources Management Organization, p 428
- Karamouz M, Araghinejad S (2008) Drought mitigation through long-term operation of reservoirs: case study. J Irrig Drain Eng 134(4):471–478
- Karamouz M, Houck MH (1987) Comparison of stochastic and deterministic dynamicprogramming for reservoir operating rule generation. Water Resour Bull 23:1–9
- Karamouz M, Vasiliadis H (1992) Bayesian stochastic optimization of reservoir operation using uncertain forecast. Water Resour Res 28(5):1221–1232
- Karamouz M, Szidarovszky F, Zahraie B (2003) Water resources systems analysis. Lewis Publishers, Boca Raton
- Karamouz M, Kerachian R, Zahraie B (2004a) Monthly water resources and irrigation planning: case study of conjunctive use of surface and groundwater resources. J Irrig Drainage Eng ASCE 130:93–98
- Karamouz M, Torabi S, Araghinejad S (2004b) Analysis of hydrologic and agricultural droughts in central part of Iran. J Hydrol Eng 9(5):402–414
- Karamouz M, Akhbari M, Moridi A, Kerachian R (2006) A system dynamics-based conflict resolution model for river water quality management. J Environ Health Sci Eng 3(3):147–160
- Karamouz M, Moridi A, Fayyazi HM (2008) Dealing with conflict over water quality and quantity allocation: a case study. J Sci Iranica
- Karamouz M, Ahmadi A, Moridi A (2009) Probabilistic reservoir operation using bayesian stochastic model and support vector machine. Adv Water Resour 32:1588–1600
- Karamouz M, Imen S, Nazif S (2011) Development of a demand driven hydro-climatic model for contingency planning during drought: a case study. Water Resour Manage 26(2):329–357
- Karatzas GP, Pinder GF (1993) Groundwater management using numerical simulation and the outer approximation method for global optimisation. Water Resour Res 29:3371–3378

- Karmakar S, Mujumdar PP (2006) Grey fuzzy optimization model for water quality management of a river system. Adv Water Resour 29:1088–1105
- Karterakis SM, Karatzas GP, Nikolos IK, Papadopoulou MP (2007) Application of linear programming and differential evolutionary optimization methodologies for the solution of coastal subsurface water management problems subject to environmental criteria. J Hydrol 342:270–282
- Katsifarakis KL, Petala Z (2006) Combining genetic algorithms and boundary elements to optimize coastal aquifers' management. J Hydrol 327:200–207
- Keedwell E, Khu ST (2003) More choices in water distribution system optimisation. Advances in water supply management (Proceedings of computers & control in the water industry) 16–17 Sept, London, pp 257–265
- Keedwell E, Khu ST (2005) A hybrid genetic algorithm for the design of water distribution networks. Eng Appl Artificial Intell 18(4):461–472
- Kelman J, Stedinger JR, Cooper LA, Hsu E, Yuan SQ (1990) Sampling stochastic dynamicprogramming applied to reservoir operation. Water Resour Res 26:447–454
- Keshari AK, Datta B (1996) Multiobjective management of a contaminated aquifer for agricultural use. Water Resour Manage 10:373–395
- Khaliquzzaman, Chander S (1997) Network flow programming model for multireservoir sizing. J Water Resour Plann Manage ASCE 123:15–25
- Khanjani MJ, Busch JR (1983) Optimal irrigation distribution systems with internal storage. Trans ASAE 26:743–747
- Khepar SD, Chaturvedi MC (1982) Optimum cropping and groundwater management. J Am Water Resour Assoc 18:655–660
- Kitanidis PK (1987) A first-order approximation to stochastic optimal control of reservoirs. Stochastic Hydrol Hydrol 1(3):169–184
- Kitanidis PK, Andricevic R (1989) Accuracy of the first-order approximation to the stochastic optimal control of reservoirs. In: Esogbue AO (ed) Dynamic programming for optimal water resources systems analysis. Prentice-Hall, Englewood Cliffs, pp 373–385
- Ko SK, Fontane DG, Labadie JW (1992) Multiobjective optimization of reservoir systems operation. Water Resour Bul 28:111-127
- Kourakos, G., and Mantogloub, A. (2013) Development of a multi-objective optimization algorithm using surrogate models for coastal aquifer management. J Hydrol 479(4) 13–23
- Kuczera G (1993) Network linear programming codes for water-supply headworks modeling. J Water Resour Plann Manage ASCE 119:412–417
- Kumar DN, Raju KS, Ashok B (2006) Optimal reservoir operation for irrigation of multiple crops using genetic algorithms. J Irrig Drainage Eng ASCE 132:123–129
- Kuo SF, Liu CW, Chen SK (2003) Comparative study of optimization techniques for irrigation project planning. J Am Water Resour Assoc 39:59–73
- Kurek W, Ostfeld A (2013) Multi-objective optimization of water quality, pumps operation, and storage sizing of water distribution systems. J Environ Manage 115:189–197
- Labadie JW (2004) Optimal operation of multireservoir systems: state-of-the-art review. J Water Resour Plann Manage ASCE 130:93–111
- Lamond BF, Boukhtouta A (1995) Optimizing future hydropower production using Markov decision processes. Document of Work 95–44. Laval University, Quebec
- Lee S, Kitanidis PK (1991) Optimal estimation and scheduling in aquifer remediation with incomplete information. Water Resour Res 27:2203–2217
- Lee Y, Kim SKK, Ko IH (2006) Two-stage stochastic linear programming model for coordinated multi-reservoir operation. In: Zimbelman D, Loehlein WC (eds) Proceedings of operations management 2006: operating reservoirs in changing conditions. American Society of Civil Engineers, Sacramento, California, United States, Aug 2006, pp 400–410. ISBN (print): 978-0-7844-0875-9

- Lee JG, Selvakumar A, Alvi K, Riverson J, Zhen JX, Shoemaker L, Lai F (2012) A watershedscale design optimization model for stormwater best management practices. Environ Model Softw 37:6–18
- Lefkoff LJ, Gorelick SM (1986) Design and cost analysis of rapid aquifer restoration systems using flow simulation and quadratic programming. Ground Water 24:777–790
- Li RN, Chen QW, Mynett A, Wu SY, Wang HM (2008) Modeling of the flow changes due to reservoir operations and the impacts on aquatic ecosystem downstream. Advances in Water Resources and Hydraulic Engineering, vol VI, pp 2272–2278
- Li RN, Chen QW, Ye F (2011) Modelling the impacts of reservoir operations on the downstream riparian vegetation and fish habitats in the Lijiang River. J Hydroinformatics 13(2):229–244
- Liang Q, Johnson LE, Yu YS (1996) A comparison of two methods for multiobjective optimization for reservoir operation'. Water Resour Bull 32:333–340
- Loucks DP, van Beek E (2005) Water resource systems planning and management: An introduction to methods, models and applications. Studies and reports in hydrology, United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization, Paris
- Lund JR (2006) Drought storage allocation rules for surface reservoir systems. J Water Resour Plann Manage Manage ASCE 132:395–397
- Lund JR, Israel M (1995) Optimization of transfers in urban water supply planning. J Water Resour Plann Manage-ASCE 121(1):41–48
- Madsen H, Refsgaard A, Falk AK (2009) Energy optimization of well fields. Ground Water 47:766–771 Meteo.pt (2012) IP Portugal http://www.meteo.pt/pt/oclima/acompanhamento/ index.jsp?selTipo=g&selVar=rr&selAno=-1#. Accessed in 2012
- Mainuddin M, Gupta AD, Onta PR (1997) Optimal crop planning model for an existing groundwater irrigation project in Thailand. Agric Water Manage 33:43–62
- Maji CC, Heady EO (1980) Optimal reservoir management and crop planning under deterministic and stochastic inflows. Water Resour Bull 16:438–443. Water Resour Manage 21:1553–1566
- Mannocchi F, Mecarelli P (1994) Optimization analysis of deficit irrigation systems. J Irrig Drainage Eng ASCE 120:484–503
- Mannocchi F, Todisco F (2006) Optimal reservoir operations for irrigation using a three spatial scales approach. J Irrig Drain Eng 132(2):130–142
- Mantoglou A, Papantoniou M, Giannoulopoulos P (2004) Management of coastal aquifers based on nonlinear optimization and evolutionary algorithms. J Hydrol 297:209–228
- Maqsood I, Huang GH, Huang YF (2005) ITOM: an interval-parameter two-stage optimization model for stochastic planning of water resources systems. Stoch Environ Res Risk Assess 19:125–133
- Mariño MA, Loaiciga HA (1985) Dynamic model for multireservoir operation. Water Resour Res 21(5):619–630
- Marryott RA, Dougherty DE, Stollar RL (1993) Optimal groundwater management. 2. Application of simulated annealing to a field-scale contamination site. Water Resour Res 29:847–860
- McLaughlin D, Velasco HL (1990) Real-time control of a system of large hydropower reservoirs. Water Resour Res 26:623–635
- McPhee J, Yeh WW-G (2004) Multiobjective optimization for sustainable groundwater management in semiarid regions. J Water Resour Plann Manage ASCE 130:490–497
- Minciardi R, Paolucci M, Robba M, Sacile R (2008) Multiobjective optimization of solid waste flows: environmentally sustainable strategies for municipalities. Waste Manage (Oxford) 28:2202–2212
- Mishra AL (1975) Optimization of conjunctive use of ground water and surface water. M. Tech. Thesis, Agricultural Engineering Department, Indian Institute of Technology, Kharagpur, India
- Misirli F, Yazicigil H (1997) Optimal ground-water pollution containment with fixed charges. J Water Resour Plann Manage ASCE 123:2–12

- Moeini R, Afshar A, Afshar MH (2011) Fuzzy rule-based model for hydropower reservoirs operation. Int J Elec Power 33(2):171–178
- Moghaddasi M, Araghinejad S, Morid S (2010) Long-term operation of irrigation dams considering variable demands: case study of Zayandeh-rud reservoir, Iran. J Irrigation Drainage Eng ASCE 136:309–316
- Mohan S, Raipure DM (1992) Multiobjective analysis of multireservoir system'. J Water Resour Plan Manage ASCE 118:356–370
- Moradi-Jalal M, Haddad OB, Karney BW, Mariño MA (2007) Reservoir operation in assigning optimal multi-crop irrigation areas. Agric Water Manage 90:149–159
- Mortazavi M, Kuczera G, Cui L (2012) Multiobjective optimization of urban water resources : moving toward more practical solutions. Water Resour Res 48:W03514. doi:10.1029/ 2011WR010866
- Mouatasim AE (2012) Boolean integer nonlinear programming for water multireservoir operation. J Water Resour Plann Manage ASCE 138:176–181
- Mousavi H, Ramamurthy AS (2000) Optimal design of multi-reservoir systems for water supply. Adv Water Resour 23:613–624
- Mousavi SJ, Mahdizadeh K, Afshar A (2004a) A stochastic dynamic programming model with fuzzy storage states for reservoir operations. Adv Water Resour 27:1105–1110
- Mousavi SJ, Moghaddam KS, Seifi A (2004b) Application of an interior-point algorithm for optimization of a large-scale reservoir system. Water Resour Manage 18:519–540
- Mousavi SJ, Ponnambalam K, Karray F (2005) Reservoir operation using a dynamic programming fuzzy rule-based approach. Water Resour Manage 19:655–672
- Mujumdar PP, Ramesh TSV (1997) Real-time reservoir operation for irrigation. Water Resour Res 33:1157–1164
- Mujumdar PP, Vedula S, Karmakar S, Manavalan P, Rao PPN (2004) Irrigation water allocation in canal command areas. J Hydraul Eng Ind Soc Hydraul 10:33–47
- Murray D, Yakowitz S (1979) Constrained differential dynamic programming and its application to multireservoir control. Water Resour Res 15(5):1017–1027
- Nandalal KDW, Bogardi JJ (2007) Dynamic programming based operation of reservoirs: applicability and limits. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge
- Needham JT, Watkins DW Jr, Lund RR, Nanda SK (2000) Linear programming for flood control in the Iowa and Des Moines rivers. J Water Resour Plann Manage ASCE 126:118–127
- Nema AK, Gupta SK (2003) Multi-objective risk analysis and optimization of regional hazardous waste management system. Pract Period Hazard Toxic Radioact Waste Manage (Oxford) 7:69–77
- Nitivattananon V, Sadowski EC, Quimpo RG (1996) Optimization of water supply system operation. J Water Res Plan Manage 122(5):374–384
- Nix SJ, Heaney JP (1988) Optimization of storm water storage-release strategies. Water Resour Res 24(11):1831–1838
- Oliveira R, Loucks DP (1997) Operating rules for multireservoir systems. Water Resour Res 33(4):839–852
- Onta PR, Gupta AD, Harboe R (1991) Multistep planning model for conjunctive use of surface and groundwater resources. J Water Resour Plann Manage ASCE 117:662–678
- Ozden M (1984) A binary state DP algorithm for operation problems of multireservoir systems. Water Resour Res 20(1):9–14
- Palmer RN, Ryu J, Jeong S, Kim YO (2002) An application of water conflict resolution in the Kum river basin, Korea. In: Proceeding of ASCE environmental and water resources institute conference, Virginia, pp 19–22
- Papa F, Adams BJ (1997) Application of derived probability and dynamic programming techniques to planning regional stormwater management systems. Water Sci Tech Pergamon, Oxford, England 36(5):227–234
- Park C, Aral M (2004) Multi-objective optimization of pumping rates and well placement in coastal aquifers. J Hydrol 290:80–99

- Paudyal GN, Gupta AD (1990) Irrigation planning by multilevel optimization. J Irrigation Drainage Eng ASCE 116:273–291
- Paudyal GN, Shrestha DL, Bogardi JJ (1990) Optimal hydropower system configuration based on operational analysis. J Water Resour Plann Manage ASCE 116:233–246
- Paul S, Panda SN, Kumar DN (2000) Optimal irrigation allocation: a multilevel approach. J Irrig Drainage Eng ASCE 126:149–156
- Peralta RC, Cantiller RRA, Terry JE (1995) Optimal large scale conjunctive water use planning: a case study. J Water Resour Plann Manage ASCE 121:471–478
- Pereira MVF, Pinto LMVG (1985) Stochastic optimization of a multireservoir hydroelectric system: a decomposition approach. Water Resour Res 21:779–792
- Pereira MVF, Pinto LMVG (1991) Multi-stage stochastic optimization applied to energy planning. Math Prog 52(2):359–375
- Philbrick RC, Kitanidis PK (1999) Limitations of deterministic optimization applied to reservoir operations. J Water Resour Plann Manage ASCE 125:135–142
- Pianosi F, Castelletti A, Restelli M (2013) Tree-based fitted Q-iteration for multi-objective Markov decision processes in water resource management. J Hydroinform 15(2):258–270
- Ponnambalam K, Vannelli A, Unny TE (1989) An application of Karmarkar's interior-point linear programming algorithm for multireservoir operations optimization. Stoch Hydrol Hydraul 3:17–29
- Prasad AS, Umamahesh NV, Viswanath GK (2006) Optimal irrigation planning under water scarcity. J Irrig Drainage Eng ASCE 132:228–237
- Price E, Ostfeld A (2013) Iterative linearization scheme for convex nonlinear equations: application to optimal operation of water distribution systems. J Water Resour Plann Manage 139(3):299–312
- Protopapas AL, Georgakakos AP (1990) An optimal control method for real-time irrigation scheduling. Water Resour Res 26:647–655
- Purves T (2006) Annual review of planning variables for water supply and demand assessment: a review of the changes in demand assumptions for future water options for the ACT. ACTEW Corporation Ltd., Canberra, ACT 2601, Australia.
- Qahman K, Larabi A, Ouazar D, Naji A, Cheng AHD (2005) Optimal and sustainable extraction of groundwater in coastal aquifers. Stoch Environ Res Risk Assess 19:99–110
- Quindry G, Brill ED, Liebman JC (1981) Optimization of looped water distribution systems. ASCE J Environ Eng Div 107(EE4):665–679
- Raman H, Chandramouli V (1996a) Deriving a general operating policy for reservoirs using neural network. J Water Resour Plan Manage ASCE 122(5):342–347
- Raman H, Chandramouli V (1996b) Deriving a general operating policy for reservoirs using neural network. J Water Resour Plann Manage ASCE 122:342–347
- Ramos HM, Teyssier C, López-Jiménez PA (2013) Optimization of retention ponds to improve the drainage system elasticity for water-energy nexus. Water Resour Manage 27:2889–2901. doi:10.1007/s11269-013-0322-3
- Rani D, Moreira MM (2010) Simulation-optimization modeling: a survey and potential application in reservoir systems operation. Water Resour Manage 24:1107–1138
- Rao S, Thandaveswara BS, Bhallamudi SM, Srivivasulu V (2003) Optimal groundwater management in deltaic regions using simulated annealing and neural networks. Water Resour Manage 17:409–428
- Ratzlaff SA, Aral MM, Al-Khayyal F (1992) Optimal design of ground-water capture systems using segmental velocity-direction constraints. Ground Water 30:6507–6512
- Reca J, Roldán J, Alcaide M, López R, Camacho E (2001a) Optimisation model for water allocation in deficit irrigation systems. I. Description of the model. Agric Water Manage 48:103–116
- Reca J, Roldán J, Alcaide M, López R, Camacho E (2001b) Optimisation model for water allocation in deficit irrigation systems. II. Application to the Bembezar irrigation system. Agric Water Manage 48:117–132

- Reddy MJ, Kumar DN (2006) Optimal reservoir operation using multi-objective evolutionary algorithm. Water Resour Manage 20:861–878
- Reddy MJ, Kumar DN (2007) Multi-objective particle swarm optimization for generating optimal trade-offs in reservoir operation. Hydrol Process 21:2897–2909. doi:10.1002/hyp.6507
- Reichold L, Zechman EM, Brill ED Jr, Holmes H (2010) A simulation-optimization framework to support sustainable watershed development by mimicking the predevelopment flow regime. J Water Resour Plann Manage 136(3):366–375
- Reis LFR, Walters GA, Savic D, Chaudhry FH (2005) Multi-reservoir operation planning using hybrid genetic algorithm and linear programming (GA–LP): an alternative stochastic approach. Water Resour Manage 19:831–848
- Rejani R, Jha MK, Panda SN (2009) Simulation–optimization modelling for sustainable groundwater management in a coastal basin of Orissa. India Water Resour Manage 23:235–263
- ReVelle C, Joeres E, Kirby W (1969) The linear decision rule in reservoir management and design 1. Development of the stochastic model. Water Resour Res 5:767–777
- Rizzo DM, Dougherty DE (1996) Design optimisation for multiple management period groundwater remediation. Water Resour Res 32:2549–2561
- Rosenberg DE, Lund JR (2009) Modeling integrated decisions for a municipal water system with recourse and uncertainties: Amman, Jordan. Water Resour Manage 23(1):85–115
- Rydzewski JR, Rashid HA-H (1981) Optimization of water resources for irrigation in east Jordan. Water Resour Bull 17:367–371
- Sarker R, Ray T (2009) An improved evolutionary algorithm for solving multiobjective crop planning models. Comput Electron Agric 68:191–199
- Savic DA, Walters GA (1997) Genetic algorithms for the least-cost design of water distribution networks. ASCE J Water Resour Plann Manage 123(2):67–77
- Savic DA, Walters GA (2001) Evolutionary computing in water distribution and wastewater systems. In: Proceedings of the world water and environmental resources congress. Orlando, Florida, May 2001. Proceedings on CD
- Sepaskhah AR, Akbari D (2005) Deficit irrigation planning under variable seasonal rainfall. Biosyst Eng 92–1:97–106
- Sepaskhah AR, Kamgar-Haghighi AA (1997) Water use and yield of sugarbeet grown under every-other-furrow irrigation with different irrigation intervals. Agric Water Manage 34:71–79
- Sethi LN, Kumar DN, Panda SN, Mal BC (2002) Optimal crop planning and conjunctive use of water resources in a coastal river basin. Water Resour Manage 16:145–169
- Sethi LN, Panda SN, Nayak MK (2006) Optimal crop planning and water resources allocation in a coastal groundwater basin, Orissa. India Agric Water Manage 83:209–220
- Shamir U, Bear J, Gamliel A (1984) Optimal annual operation of a coastal aquifer. Water Resour Res 20:435–444
- Shammout M, Shatanawi M, Naber S (2013) Participatory optimization scenario for water resources management: a case from Jordan. Water Resour Manage 27(7): 1949–1962
- Shangguan Z, Shao M, Horton R, Lei T, Qin L, Ma J (2002) A model for regional optimal allocation of irrigation water resources under deficit irrigation and its applications. Agric Water Manage 52:139–154
- Sharif M, Wardlaw R (2000) Multireservoir systems optimization using genetic algorithms: case study. J Comput Civ Eng ASCE 14:255–263
- Safavi H, Darzi F, Mariño MA (2010) Simulation-optimization modeling of conjunctive use of surface water and groundwater. Water Resour Manag 24(10):1965–1988
- Shih JS, ReVelle C (1994) Water-supply operation during drought: continues hedging rule. J Water Resour Plann Manage 120(5):613–629
- Shih JS, ReVelle C (1995) Water supply operation during drought: a discrete hedging rule. Eur J Oper Res 82:163–175

- Shim KC, Fontane DG, Labadie JW (2002) Spatial decision support system for integrated river basin flood control. J Water Resour Plann Manage ASCE 128:190–201
- Shokri A, Bozorg Haddad O, Mariño M (2013) Reservoir operation for simultaneously meeting water demand and sediment flushing: stochastic dynamic programming approach with two uncertainties. J Water Resour Plann Manage 139:277–289
- Shyam R, Chauhan HS, Sharma JS (1994) Optimal operation scheduling model for a canal system. Agric Water Manage 26:213–225
- Simonovic SP (2000) Tools for water management: one view of future. Water Int 25:76-88
- Simonovic SP, Nirupama A (2005) A spatial multi-objective decision-making under uncertainty for water resources management. J Hydroinform 7:117–133
- Simpson AR, Dandy GC, Murphy LJ (1994) Genetic algorithms compared to other techniques for pipe optimization. ASCE J Water Resour Plann Manage 120(4):423–443
- Singh A (2010) Decision support for on-farm water management and long-term agricultural sustainability in a semi-arid region of India. J Hydrol 391:63–76
- Singh A (2012b) Optimal allocation of resources for the maximization of net agricultural return. Journal of Irrigation and Drainage Engineering ASCE. http://dx.doi.org/10.1061/(ASCE)IR. 1943-4774.0000474.
- Singh DK, Jaiswal CS, Reddy KS, Singh RM, Bhandarkar DM (2001) Optimal cropping pattern in a canal command area. Agric Water Manage 50:1–8
- Smith BT, Jager HI, Sale MJ (2007) Optimization of hydropower resources: current practices and opportunities for improvement. ORNL/TM-2006/91. Oak Ridge National Laboratory
- Smout IK, Gorantiwar SD (2005) Multilevel approach for optimizing land and water resources and irrigation deliveries for tertiary units in large irrigation schemes. I: method. J Irrig Drainage Eng ASCE 131:254–263
- Smout IK, Gorantiwar SD, Vairavamoorthy K (2006) Performance-based optimization of land and water resources within irrigation schemes. II: application. J Irrig Drainage Eng 132(4):341–348
- Sobel MJ (1989) A multi-reservoir model with a myopic optimum. In: Esogbue AO (ed) Dynamic programming for optimal water resources systems analysis. Prentice-Hall, Englewood Cliffs, pp 309–315
- Stedinger JR, Sule BF, Loucks DP (1984) Stochastic dynamic programming models for reservoir optimization. Water Resour Res 20:1499–1505
- Suen JP, Eheart JW (2006) Reservoir management to balance ecosystem and human needs: incorporating the paradigm of the ecological flow regime. Water Resour Res 42:W03417
- Sun YH, Yeh WWG, Hsu NS, Louie PWF (1995) Generalized network algorithm for watersupply-system optimization. J Water Resour Plann Manage ASCE 121:392–398
- Sun Q, Kröbel R, Müller T, Römheld V, Cui Z, Zhang F, Chen X (2011) Optimization of yield and water-use of different cropping systems for sustainable groundwater use in North China Plain. Agric Water Manage 98:808–814
- Tao T, Lennox WC (1991) Reservoir operations by successive linear programming. J Water Resour Plann Manage ASCE 117:274–280
- Tauxe GH, Inman RR, Mades DM (1979) Multi-objective dynamic programming with application to reservoir. Water Resour Res 15:1403–1408
- Teixeira AS, Mariño MA (2002) Coupled reservoir operation–irrigation scheduling by dynamic programming. J Irrig Drainage Eng ASCE 128:63–73
- Tejada-Guibert JA, Johnson SA, Stedinger JR (1993) Comparison of 2 approaches for implementing multireservoir operating policies derived using stochastic dynamic programming. Water Resour Res 29:3969–3980
- Tilmant A, Faouzi EH, Vanclooster M (2002) Optimal operation of multipurpose reservoir stochastic dynamic programming. Appl Soft Comput 2(1):61–74
- Tospornsampan J, Kita I, Ishii M, Kitamura Y (2005) Optimization of a multiple reservoir system using a simulated annealing—a case study in the Mae Klong system, Thailand. Paddy Water Environ 3:137–147

- Trezos T, Yeh WWG (1987) Use of stochastic dynamic programming for reservoir management. Water Resour Res 23(6):983–996
- Trott WJ, Yeh WWG (1973) Optimization of multiple reservoir system. J Hydraul Div ASCE 99:1865–1884
- Tsakiris G, Kiountouzis E (1984) Optimal intraseasonal irrigation water distribution. Adv Water Resour 7:89–92
- Tu MY, Hsu NS, Yeh WWG (2003) Optimization of reservoir management and operation with hedging rules. J Water Resour Plann Manage ASCE 129:86–97
- Tu M-Y, Tsai FT-C, Yeh WW-G (2005) Optimization of water distribution and water quality by hybrid genetic algorithm. J Water Resour Plan Manage ASCE 131(6):431–440
- Tung YK (1986) Groundwater-Management by Chance-Constrained Model. J Water Resour Plan Manage-ASCE 112(1):1–19
- Van Zyl J, Savic DA, Walters GA (2004) Operational optimization of water distribution systems using a hybrid genetic algorithm. J Water Res Plan Manage 130(2):160–170
- Vedula S, Kumar DN (1996) An integrated model for optimal reservoir operation for irrigation of multiple crops. Water Resour Res 34:1101–1108
- Vedula S, Mohan S (1990) Real-time multipurpose reservoir operation: a case study. Hydrol Sci J 35:447–462
- Vedula S, Mujumdar PP (1992) Optimal reservoir operation for irrigation of multiple crops. Water Resour Res 28:1–9
- Vedula S, Roger P (1981) Multiobjective analysis of irrigation planning in river basin development. Water Resour Res 17:1304–1310
- Wanakule N, Mays LW, Lasdon LS (1986) Optimal management of large-scale aquifers: methodology and applications. Water Resour Res 22:447–465
- Wang M, Zheng C (1998) Ground water management optimization using genetic algorithms and simulated annealing: formulation and comparison. J Am Water Resour Assoc 34:519–530
- Wang YC, Yoshitani J, Fukami K (2005) Stochastic multiobjective optimization of reservoirs in parallel. Hydrol Process 19:3551–3567
- Wardlaw R, Barnes J (1999) Optimal allocation of irrigation water supplies in real time. J Irrig Drainage Eng ASCE 125:345–354
- Wardlaw R, Sharif M (1999) Evaluation of genetic algorithms for optimal reservoir system operation. J Water Resour Plann Manage ASCE 125:25–33
- Wasimi SA, Kitanidis PK (1983) Real-time forecasting and daily operation of a multireservoir system during floods by linear quadratic Gaussian control. Water Resour Res 19(6):1511–1522
- Willis R (1976) Optimal groundwater quality management: well injection of waste water. Water Resour Res 12:47–53
- Willis R (1979) A planning model for the management of groundwater quality. Water Resour Res 15:1305–1312
- World Commission on Dams (2000) Dams and development: a new framework for decisionmaking. Earthscan, London
- Wu ZY (2004) a benchmark study on maximizing energy cost saving for pump operation. In: The 4th international conference on watershed management and urban water supply, 13–15 Dec 2004, Shenzhen, China
- Wurbs RA (1993) Reservoir-system simulation and optimization models. J Water Resour Plan Manage ASCE 119(4):455–472
- Wurbs RA (1996) Modelling and analysis of reservoir system operation. Prentice Hall PTR, Prentice-Hall Inc, New Jersey
- Yang S, Hsu N-S, Louie PWF, Yeh WW-G (1996) Water distribution network reliability: connectivity analysis. J Infrastruct Syst ASCE 2(2):54-64
- Yang S, Sun Y-H, Yeh WW-G (2000) Optimization of regional water distribution system with blending requirements. J Water Resour Plan Manage ASCE 126(4):229–235

- Yang CC, Chang LC, Yeh CH, Chen CS (2007) Multiobjective planning of surface water resources by multiobjective genetic algorithm with constrained differential dynamic programming. J Water Resour Plann Manage ASCE 133:499–508
- Yang C-C, Chang LC, Chen CS, Yeh MS (2009) Multi-objective planning for conjunctive use of surface and subsurface water using genetic algorithm and dynamics programming. Water Resour Manage 23:417–437
- Yaron D, Dinar A (1982a) Optimal allocation of water on a farm during feed season. Am J Agric Econ 64:452–458
- Yaron D, Dinar A (1982b) Optimal allocation of farm irrigation water during peak seasons. Am J Agric Econ 64:681–689
- Yaron D, Dinar A, Meyers S (1987) Irrigation scheduling—theoretical approach and application problems. Water Resour Manage 1:17–31
- Yeh WG (1985) Reservoir management and operations models: a state-of-the-art review. Water Resour Res 21:1797–1818
- Yoo JH (2009) Maximization of hydropower generation through the application of a linear programming model. J Hydrol 376:182–187
- Young GK (1967) Finding reservoir operation rules. J Hydraul Div ASCE 93:297-321
- Yuan HH, Liu ZY, Shao Q (1991) A study on the optimal allocation model of limited irrigation water. In: Proceedings of ICID, vol 1-B. International commission on irrigation and drainage, Beijing
- Yurtal R, Seckin G, Ardiclioglu M (2005) Hydropower optimization for the lower Seyhan system in Turkey using dynamic programming. Water Int 30:522–529
- Zagonari F (2013) An optimization model for integrated coastal management: development and a case study using italy's Comacchio Municipality. Environ Model Assess 18(2):115–133
- Zhang Y, Xia J, Chen J, Zhang M (2011) Water quantity and quality optimization modeling of dams operation based on SWAT in Wenyu River Catchment, China. Environ Monit Assess 173:409–430
- Zhang R, Zhou JZ, Ouyang S, Wang XM, Zhang HF (2013) Optimal operation of multi-reservoir system by multi-elite guide particle swarm optimization. Int J Electr Power Energy Sys JUN 48: 58–68
- Ziaei M, Teang Shui L, Goodarzi E (2012) Optimization and simulation modeling for operation of the Zayandehrud reservoir. Water Int J 37(3):305–318